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ATIEH
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10 Chater Road, Central, Hong Kong
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Cayman Islands
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KONG

Unit 2001, 20th Floor of Golden Centre
No.188 Des Voeux Road Central, Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS AND HEAD
OFFICE IN THE PRC

3-5/F, Yintech Finance Center
88 Xumin East Road

Qingpu District

Shanghai, PRC

LEGAL ADVISOR

As to Hong Kong laws:
Clifford Chance

27th Floor, Jardine House
One Connaught Place
Central, Hong Kong
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Corporate Information

ATIEH

CAYMAN ISLANDS PRINCIPAL SHARE
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Conyers Trust Company (Cayman) Limited
Cricket Square Hutchins Drive

PO Box 2681, Grand Cayman, KY1-1111
Cayman Islands

HONG KONG SHARE REGISTRAR

Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited
Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Center
183 Queen’s Road East, Wan Chai, Hong Kong
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China Merchants Bank, Shanghai Changde Branch
Room 310, Baohua Building

No. 1211, Changde Road

Shanghai, PRC

Bank of Communications Co., Ltd. Hong Kong Branch
Unit B B/F & G/F, Unit C G/F, 1-3/F

16/F Room 01 & 18/F

Wheelock House

20 Pedder Street, Central

Hong Kong

STOCK CODE
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COMPANY’S WEBSITE
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Five-Year Financial Summary

AEMBEREE
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED INCOME BB S U s R
STATEMENT
Year ended December 31,
HE12A31HILEE
2019 2020 2021 2022 2023
20194 20204 20214 20225 20235
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETR ARETRT AR%TT AR%TET
Revenue &= 274,222 708,675 1,451,922 1,850,141 1,965,387
Gross profit ES ] 226,228 635,630 1,258,812 1,614,865 1,643,264
FR(&5E),/
(Loss)/profit for the year pii]| (57,840) 86,682 232,331 460,554 190,719
(Loss)/profit attributable RAREERR
to equity shareholders L (B18),/
of the Company ] (57,574) 86,144 232,178 460,554 190,719
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF S HEABIRRAR

FINANCIAL POSITION

Total assets

Total liabilities

Total equity

Equity attributable to
equity shareholders of
the Company

2019

20194

RMB’000

ARETTT

HmEE 238,916

mes 302,779

FERSHAZR (63,863)
RORERBR

PEfL R (62,835)

As of December 31,

®12H831H
2020 2021 2022 2023
20205 20215 20224 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETn AR®ETT ARETR
606,787 1,183,525 1,363,164 2,458,606
609,896 1,114,303 833,741 943,809
(3,109) 69,222 529,423 1,514,797
2,221) 69,222 529,423 1,514,797
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Chairman’s Statement

ERHE

Dear Shareholders:

In 2023, the Chinese capital market was fraught with challenges,
leading to decline of major indices in the stock market and year-
on-year decrease in overall trading volume in both Shanghai and
Shenzhen stock markets. Nevertheless, thanks to its correct
strategic direction and the relentless efforts of all employees and
the management team, the Company achieved market-defying
growth in 2023 with continuously improved operational efficiency,
record-high performance and revenue, and further enhanced
customer services. We will continue to enhance our operational
capabilities and provide higher-quality, more personalized products
and services, striving to fulfill our vision of “becoming the lifelong
partner in investment and wealth management for our customers”.

Our leading business model lent us a significant edge in the current
market competition environment. Guided by the corporate strategy
of “technology + investment research” dual drivers, the Company
further enhanced operational efficiency and solidified its competitive
moat:

o Firstly, high-quality investment research content is the
cornerstone for serving clients and gaining their continuous
approval. Leveraging a profound understanding of
the securities market, the Company has developed a
comprehensive investor education and training system
offering rudimentary to advanced strategies. We have created
a wealth of original investment research content that provide
diverse support for customized high-end educational courses,
content embedment of financial information software, and
dissemination of content on MCN and integrated media. In
2023, our MCN witnessed an increase in the production of
short videos and the number and the duration of livestream
broadcasts, which in turn drove a significant increase in the
number of followers, views, and interactions, providing the
Company with an enormous competitive advantage in a
market fiercely competing over traffic.
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° Secondly, technological innovations and applications surged
in 2023. The emergence of AIGC and large language models
significantly enhanced creativity and productivity, exerting
a profound impact on the operational requirements and
competitive landscape of various industries. For our clients,
we introduced “Jiuge”, the first digital robo-advisor in the
securities industry jointly developed with Huawei Cloud
and iFlytek, which provides clients with 24/7 capital market
information services. For corporate operations, our technical
team developed a variety of enterprise-level applications to
reduce costs and increase efficiency in business operations.
For instance, we provided practitioners of financial and
economic self-media with abundant topic materials by
automatically generating content text through association.
In 2023, we joined the “Postdoctoral Innovation Practice
Base”, thereby continuously promoting the implementation
of scientific research work by converting research results into
practical applications.

o Finally, the “customer-centric” philosophy is embedded in our
corporate cultures. Both our employees and managers adhere
to this philosophy to effectively cater to customers’ needs
and respond to the complex changes in the market. In 2023,
we significantly increased the number of professional staff
to provide high-quality services. We lead the industry in the
number of licensed employees. In terms of operational results,
we are pleased to see an increase in overall repurchase rate, a
decrease in refund rates, and a further increase in the average
revenue per user (ARPU).

Looking back at 2023, the Chinese securities market experienced
tumultuous fluctuations due to a variety of factors, posing
considerable uncertainties for individual investors. In terms of
serving customers, we have instilled in them the correct investment
philosophy, educating them on cultivating sophisticated investment
thinking and methods, which is instrumental in guiding their
investment behavior in the long term. As for the development of
the Chinese capital market, a series of policies released in 2023
laid a solid foundation for its development. Among them, regulatory
policies such as balancing the primary and secondary markets and
optimizing the arrangements for IPOs and refinancing will effectively
boost the trading volume and liquidity of the secondary market.
Given that our business model is operating more efficiently, | believe
we are well-positioned to capture this significant opportunity for the
development of the Company.
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Chairman’s Statement

ERHE

Going forward, in 2024, we will continue to extensively develop our
core businesses while exploring other emerging businesses:

° Firstly, we will continuously refine and optimize our product
matrix with customers in mind. We will continue to actively
explore new investment advisory models in the financial
industry, gain deeper insights into investors’ actual needs, and
enhance our product mix by meeting users’ multidimensional,
differentiated and personalized needs for investment research,
products and services;

° Secondly, we will explore the new operational model of
traffic pool, leveraging both online and offline channels to
establish a unique omnichannel operating ecosystem. We
will actively explore the traffic pool model in e-commerce and
education training fields, enriching live streaming categories.
Additionally, we will gradually expand our offline business to
steadily build our unique omnichannel operating ecosystem;

° Thirdly, we will collaborate with securities firms to meet
customers’ diverse needs. We will focus on exploring and
innovating investment advisory business and financial
technology and strengthen our own business capabilities by
partnering with securities firms and other financial institutions,
so as to further fulfill customers’ increasingly varied needs
for investment decision-making and financial knowledge
acquisition.

Looking ahead, | believe that the Chinese capital market will
further strengthen the protection of individual investors and
enhance their confidence and trust in the market. This requires in
part positive feedback from market rally and investment returns,
but also the education and guidance provided by various market
players to investors. As such, the Chinese capital market needs to
continuously expand the team of buyer-side investment advisory
institutions that prioritize serving the long-term interests of
customers and meeting their diversified investment needs. | believe
we have taken a solid step in that direction. In the future, we will
firmly stand by our customers, actively embrace market changes
and policy innovations, and continually achieve the strategic
direction of transitioning and upgrading towards buyer-side
investment advisory.
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In 2023, the Company also placed great importance on sustainable
development, promoting the integration of ESG concepts into
corporate governance and business operations. We firmly believe in
the Company’s long-term operation and sustainable development
philosophy, much as we advocate for investors to adopt long-term
value investing and sustainable investment. In 2023, we enhanced
the diversity, equity, and inclusion (“DEI”) of our corporate culture,
promoting the mutual growth of employees and the Company. We
initiated the deployment of postdoctoral workstation construction
to accelerate the recruitment of high-caliber talents and promote
the research and implementation of emerging technologies in the
Company. We continued to focus on promoting investor education,
conducting online investor protection activities such as the “5.15
National Investor Protection Day”. We also visited universities
to deliver financial education lectures to college students, and
conducted poverty alleviation activities such as “Star River Charity”.
All of these have enhanced the Company’s sustainable operating
philosophy and brand building.

Finally, on behalf of the Board, | would like to thank all of our
employees and the management team for their dedication and
contributions, which have enabled the Company to achieve robust
performance amidst incessant challenges. | would also like to
express my heartfelt gratitude to our shareholders and stakeholders
for their long-standing trust and recognition of the Company.

Upholding the mission of “making investment and wealth
management simpler and more professional, and enhancing the
sense of happiness in investment and wealth management”, we
remain steadfast in providing high-quality services for our clients
and creating long-term value for our shareholders. We will also
strive to promote technological innovation and make our due
contribution to the sustainable development of society.

CHEN Wenbin
Chairman of the Board

Hong Kong
April 22, 2024
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Management Analysis and Discussion

EHE 5 TR

BUSINESS REVIEW AND OUTLOOK

Business Review

Being a leading online investment decision-making solution
provider in China, we focus on the online investor content service
market. We offer various software to help individual investors
better understand the financial market and make investment plans
or decisions. We launched our business to equip investors with
financial knowledge and market experience by providing investment
decision-making solutions to customers through a data service
model.

We have refined our traffic operation as the key to customer
acquisition, and we continue to improve this operation model. We
have built a detailed profile of potential users through in-depth
analysis of user behavioral data, including multi-dimensional
indicators such as click-through rate, number of likes and length of
stay. On this basis, we have refined traffic stratification and used
advanced algorithms to ensure that the content reaches different
levels of users accurately, so as to achieve efficient conversion and
stable retention of users. At the same time, we continue to optimize
our content distribution strategy to ensure accurate delivery to
attract and tap new users with potential.

° As at December 31, 2023, we had a total of 374 accounts
operated by MCNs on various internet platforms with
approximately 38.9 million followers, an increase of 2.9
million followers compared to the Corresponding Period.
For the 30 days ended December 31, 2023 alone, we have
obtained approximately 191 million video or page views and
approximately 359 million interactions. Our MCN channels are
highly influential and are widely recognized in the market. Live
streamers of the Company received honors such as “Jiemian
News Popular Live Streamers of 2023” and “Annual Influential
Live Streamers in the Education Sector”.

° As the exclusive title sponsor of CBN'’s live-streaming of 2023
Berkshire Hathaway Annual Shareholders Meeting, we invited
a number of experts and scholars to deconstruct the wealth
concept and interpret value investment views of Buffett and
Munger for investors from multiple dimensions and levels at
the meeting held in May 2023. The total traffic throughout the
network for the live-streaming event was nearly 300 million
views, which further enhanced our brand influence and
reputation.
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Management Analysis and Discussion

We regard innovation and technology research and development
as the core driving forces of our Company. Adhering to the
development belief of “Technology Driven Finance”, we have
strengthened our own research and development strength and
accelerated the process of “Digital Intelligence” transformation by
building our core platform, strengthening our system architecture,
optimizing our application scenarios and launching our digital
robo-advisor “Jiuge”, to further enhance our financial technology
strength in order to seize the first opportunity for the development
of the “Al + investment advisory” field.

° As at December 31, 2023, our R&D department had 544
professional staff, representing 19.6% of the total workforce,
representing an increase of 22% over the Corresponding
Period. The R&D investment was approximately RMB287.4
million for the Reporting Period, representing a YOY increase
of 25.2% over the Corresponding Period and accounting for
approximately 14.6% of the Company’s total revenue.

° In August 2023, we launched the digital robo-advisor “Jiuge”
based on self-developed Jiuzhang Securities Sector Large-
scale Model, providing eight core services including market
analysis and strategy generation to meet the personalized
needs of different investors. We also continuously conduct
transfer learning for different tasks in the financial sector,
constantly strengthening four major professional abilities
including language comprehension and text generation to
improve service efficiency.

o In the course of our exploration and innovation in the field
of artificial intelligence, we entered into in-depth strategic
cooperation with Huawei Cloud and iFlytek to jointly
build a technology innovation laboratory and an artificial
intelligence laboratory. We were granted “First Batch of
Certified Enterprises under the DSSC & High-Quality Digital
Transformation Products Certification” by the China Academy
of Information and Communications Technology, were
successfully selected for the “Fintech 50” of 2023 by KPMG
China, and received the “Outstanding Fintech Company of
the year” of 2023 from Daily Economic News, and the “Best
Technology-Driven Performance Award” in the technology
innovation category by Tencent. We also participated in
events such as Huawei Connect 2023 and the Sixth World
Acoustic Expo and Global 1024 Developer Festival.
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Management Analysis and Discussion

EHE 5 TR

We continued to strengthen our professional investment and
research capabilities, staying in sync with the market, continuously
launched high-quality professional content, cooperated with
financial technology innovation, firmly promoted the dual-driver
strategy of “technology + investment research” and continue to
iterate and upgrade our products and services, so as to provide
customized products and services for investors with different
investment experiences.

We have also actively made breakthroughs in the transformation
of the “buyer’s investment and consultation” field. With
our deep understanding in the capital market of China and
individual investors, we focused on the practical application and
transformation of investment and research content, empowering
products and services through various forms such as courses
and strategy meetings to enhance the investment experience of
customers.

° Jiufang Research Institute is responsible for our investment
research. As of December 31, 2023, Jiufang Research
Institute had 124 professionals with extensive experience
in research, investment and other financial fields. Apart
from conducting 224 surveys of various listed companies,
Jiufang Research Institute has also written 2,140 analytical
articles, covering macro politics and economics, industries,
companies, financial engineering and other fields. Moreover,
the institute designed 100 special courses, comprising
966 course hours with a total duration of 12,018 minutes.
In addition, we held Jiufang Research Institute’s semi-
annual and annual investment strategy release conferences
to analyze investment risks and opportunities, providing
investors with professional advice.

° With our outstanding professional ability, service level and
brand status, we have been awarded the “2023 China
Securities Industry Investor Education Junding Award” by the
Securities Times. The “Junding Award” selection organized
by the Securities Times has been successfully held for 18
consecutive sessions since its establishment in 2006. It is
the most influential and prestigious selection event in the
securities and its related industry, setting benchmarks and
evaluation standards in the industry.
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Management Analysis and Discussion

Adhering to the principle of “customer-centricity”, we are committed
to building a full-life cycle product and companion service system,
and continue to provide customers with warm and professional
services. We deeply understand and respond to customer needs
and provide service experience with emotional value attached to
enhance customers’ sense of acquisition, security and happiness.
We are committed to guiding investors to practice the concept of
“value investment, rational investment and long-term investment”,
in order to reduce irrational investment behavior, this not only helps
to create better and longer-term returns for investors, but also
helps to boost the overall confidence of the capital market. This
coincides with the “enhancing the inherent stability of the capital
market” proposed in the 2024 State Council Government Work
Report. A stable capital market environment will be more conducive
to attracting more medium and long-term funds to enter the market,
thereby providing better services to meet the development needs of
the real economy.

Key Businesses

During the Reporting Period, we generated revenue mainly from the
following offerings:

A. Smartinvest Pro, our proprietary App is offered to our
paying customers in mobile and PC versions to provide our
data services. These data services, including market data
processing, indicator analysis tools, cloud chart viewing, pre-
recorded online investor education courses, livestreaming
broadcasts, express market reviews, as well as various online
high-end premium services, are tailored to the mass affluent
class of individual investors.

B. Smartinvest Info, our proprietary App is offered to our paying
customers in mobile and PC versions to provide our financial
information software services. These services, including
professional, timely and broad financial market related
information, data analysis, and investment decision-making
support, are tailored to customers with greater investment
experience and more complex needs.
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Management Analysis and Discussion

EHE 5 TR

Business Operations

Despite the complex macroeconomic landscape and lacklustre
domestic capital market sliding to an overall downward trend
in the stock market indices and downbeat investor trading
sentiment throughout the year, we have consistently demonstrated
unwavering resilience to overcome difficulties. During the Reporting
Period, the total order amount achieved a steady growth to
approximately RMB2,347.7 million, with a year-on-year growth
rate as high as 17.9%. At the same time, our operating cash flow
was strong, with a net inflow of approximately RMB444.0 million,
representing a significant year-on-year increase of approximately
86.6%, which fully proved that we still maintained a robust
operational stance and a favorable growth momentum amidst the
complexities of the market environment.

The following table sets forth the breakdown of our key operating
metrics for the periods indicated:

ERBLEER

AT ERN BB ZEERNEART
SHRERIE  2FRIEAB2TITES
REERBBHEER  BRMABKREBERE
TIREFET » SREINER » AIREHAR - 485T
BESHEERESIER  ERAYARE2,347.7
BB RERESE17.9%; B &
EMRESRKRRRY  BFRAABEHLNAARE
44408 BT B RIEER#H86.6% @ BLE
ZOEATRMEERTSREPRARE
EBENCEESNR MR -

TREINRFRHABRMEEZELIEZENA
i

Year ended December 31, YOY change
HE=12A31HILEE [l EL D
2023 2022 (%)
20234 20224 (%)
Sales of Smartinvest Pro SHERFEIRIERR
Gross billing (RMB in millions) wWITESRH(ARKEER) 1,364.4 1,173.6 16.3
Standard Package ZHEAE 857.4 845.0 1.5
Premium Package SiHEE (BRRER)
(Super Investor) 499.2 326.2 53.0
Others Hith 7.8 2.4 225.0
Number of paying user HERFE2 40,526 38,159 6.2
Sales of Smartinvest Info SHEA S EIRIBRER
Gross billing (RMB in millions) HITESRH(ARKEER) 983.3 818.0 20.2
Less than 0.1
Standard version R EIN 0.2 D101 102.0
Premium version =R A 630.3 688.4 (8.4)
Deluxe version EEF 352.8 129.5 172.4
Number of paying user HEBEAFH=2 32,279 30,026 7.5
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Management Analysis and Discussion

We achieved growth in both our billing and number of paying
users. During the Reporting Period, the billing from the sales of
Smartlnvest Pro amounted to approximately RMB1,364.4 million,
representing an increase of approximately 16.3% as compared to
the Corresponding Period. The billing from the sales of Smartinvest
Info amounted to approximately RMB983.3 million, representing
an increase of approximately 20.2% as compared to the
Corresponding Period. In addition, the number of our paying users
reached 72,805, representing an increase of approximately 6.8%
as compared to the Corresponding Period. The above increases
were mainly due to the successful iteration and upgrade of our
products, which effectively enhanced the competitiveness of our
products and better catered to the diverse needs of our customers.
We have provided customers with professional, personalized and
proactive services, accompanied by continuous improvements
in our investment research content, which not only increased
customer loyalty, but also effectively stimulated customer renewals
and upgrades.

Refund ratio for our products and services decreased during
the Reporting Period. The refund ratio by payment amounts of
Smartlnvest Pro and Smartinvest Info during the Reporting Period
amounted to 18.5% and 22.0%, respectively, while the refund ratio
of the two offerings was 22.7% and 24.3%, respectively, in the
Corresponding Period.

The decrease of refund ratio was mainly attributable to our
enhanced proactive customer service and companionship. Based
on our in-depth understanding of customer needs, we have been
continuously optimizing the quality of our products and services,
thereby enhancing customer satisfaction. At the same time, the
efficient coordination of multiple departments within the Company
has further improved the service response speed. In addition,
the regulatory authorities have taken strong measures against
securities investment advisors engaging in illegal activities as “rights
protection agents”, which has created a good market environment
governed by law and marketization.

Business Outlook

As a leading online investment decision-making solution provider
in China, we focus on the online investor content service market in
China. We will steadfastly commit to making investment and wealth
management simpler and more professional, and enhancing the
sense of happiness in investment and wealth management, aiming
to become customers’ lifelong partner in investment and wealth
management.
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Management Analysis and Discussion

EHE 5 TR

In 2024, we keep implementing the following strategies, which we
believe will further strengthen our core competitive advantages and
leading market positions:

We will integrate self-media and traditional media, link the public
and private domains of MCN, and cooperate with the opening
of physical reception halls and experience stores to achieve the
full range of online and offline business goals. With focus on
products, we will create a synergistic development relationship
between traffic, brands and products, balancing the three to
precisely identify and convert potential users, enhance user
stickiness, and deepen brand impressions throughout the entire
chain, thereby achieving more efficient and precise customer
reach and interaction. Leveraging traditional media and new media
platforms such as MCN channels, we will form a diversified brand
communication network, jointly promoting the deep integration and
development between brands and users.

Centering on products and MCN multi-dimensional operation

We are committed to building a product-centric network that
promotes the integration of public and private domains, aiming
to create greater value for both brands and users. Based on
our products, we transformed public domain traffic into private
domain users through refined operations, guiding them to our
proprietary App to continuously increase monthly active users
and user stickiness. In collaboration with multiple platforms such
as Douyin, Xiaohongshu, and Video Accounts, we expanded
brand exposure and improved efficiency. Leveraging advanced
live streaming carousel technology, we optimized live streaming
efficiency and enhanced viewer experience, accurately covering
user needs across all time slots. In the short video field, we focused
on enhancement of both content quality and quantity, creating
a content matrix to cater to diverse content needs of users. We
will actively explore the traffic pool model in e-commerce and
education training fields, enriching live streaming categories based
on market and user characteristics, striving to provide users with a
superior and more convenient service experience, thereby building
a highly competitive live streaming ecosystem.

Focusing on traditional media for integration with self-media

We will continue to focus on collaborating with mainstream
television media such as China Business Network (CBN) in
Shanghai and Hubei Satellite TV, aiming to achieve integration of
traditional media and self-media by innovating program formats
and content, reconstructing offline studios, integrating with new
media, incorporating new perspectives, attracting new audiences,
upgrading brand exposure, and coordinating with multiple brands.
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Management Analysis and Discussion

In 2023, we were awarded the “Best Growth Hong Kong Listed
Company on the Financial Value List of 2023” by China Business
Network (CBN), the “Outstanding Partner of 2023” by Shanghai
Media Group (SMG), as well as the “Outstanding Strategic Partner
of the year” and the “Media Integration and Co-Creation Partner”
by Hubei Broadcasting and Television Station.

Experiences and Insights into China capital market and Chinese
individual investors

Our competencies in accurately identifying and satisfying unmet
consumer demands are largely attributable to our experiences
and in-depth understandings in China capital market and Chinese
individual investors. As of December 31, 2023, we had 289
employees with the securities investment advisor qualification
granted by SAC, ranking first among the 81 companies with
Securities Investment Advisory License, according to the
information displayed on the official website of SAC, and 1,678
employees with the securities practitioner qualification. We
attracted talents through our competitive remuneration package,
corporate culture, renowned reputation and clear career path, with
an aim to provide outstanding employees with opportunities to
become team leaders and industry experts.

To meet the needs of different customers and improve the product
and service system

As one of the first institutions in China to obtain securities
investment consulting qualifications and a member unit of the China
Securities Association, after more than 20 years of accumulation
and sedimentation, we have developed into a powerful, hands-
on stock learning platform. Based on the three major systems of
big data, Al computing, and Fintech, we have built an intelligent
investment system. Through investor education courses and
learning software, we have constructed a complete system for
investor education and training, covering everything from beginner
to advanced strategies, which provides stock learning and
services for investors with various needs and in different scenarios,
fully catering to the companion and service needs of investors
throughout their investment lifecycle.
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Management Analysis and Discussion

EHE 5 TR

In the future, we will continue actively exploring new investment
advisory models in the financial industry, with deeper insight into
investor needs, and identifying the differentiated and personalized
needs of different customers in investment research direction,
product design and service mode, so as to enhance our existing
product matrix: (1) optimize online premium products and services,
integrating and upgrading the App to provide users with more
comprehensive functionality and experience; (2) launch small
amount of products, focusing on high frequency user scenarios,
continuously enrich the selection of quantitative tools to assist
clients in investment decision-making, and enhance users’
willingness to purchase and repurchase; (3) provide free tools to
optimize user experience in stock monitoring and tracking, enrich
market functions to increase user stickiness.

We believe these measures will reshape users’ perception of the
Company’s products, promote product standardization, establish
deep user stickiness, and build product strength with technology
and investment research.

App integration and upgrade, technology integration, and new
version experience

With insight into customer needs, we leverage innovations
in Fintech to comprehensively integrate Smartinvest Pro and
Smartinvest Info: (1) we have added four major functions: financial
short video module, live streaming channel, instant messaging tool,
and quantitative mall to focus on “short video + live streaming” in
the financial sector; (2) we have optimized three major sections,
upgraded market tools, improved general search bar, and provided
“butler-style” exclusive service to enhance user friendliness and
service personalization; (3) we have introduced digital robo-
advisor “Jiuge” to empower comprehensive stock diagnosis with
Al and simplify analysis system, creating an exclusive intelligent
investment advisory expert available for consultation at any time,
aiming to enhance the user experience, cater to the needs of
different investors, achieve a synergy where “1+1>2”, and provide
users with professional support throughout their investment life
cycle.
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Management Analysis and Discussion

Establish a small-amount product matrix to capture market hot
spots and investment opportunities

We launched small amount investment advisory products, which
aim to lower the investment threshold and help customers identify
risks and seize opportunities by tracking market dynamics in real-
time, capturing hot spots, and applying professional stock selection
strategies and signal analysis. At the same time, we launched
more lightweight Al quantitative products to meet the needs of
different users, and built a rich product matrix to inject new vitality
into the investment advisory market and providing comprehensive
assistance to investors.

Explore cooperation with securities dealer to provide one-stop
investment decision-making services

We explored cooperation with securities firms and other financial
institutions to provide a solid foundation for catering to the diverse
needs of different types of customers. Additionally, focusing on
exploring and innovating investment advisory services and Fintech,
we optimized business models and improved service quality and
experience for customers, with the view to equip investors with
financial knowledge and market experience through a closed-
loop investor education model and one-stop investment decision-
making solutions.

Continuous investment in R&D to comprehensively promote digital
and intelligent transformation

Combined with years of business understanding and technology
accumulation in the securities field, we continue to build capabilities
of core middle-office, empower business expansions, control
compliance risk, improve operational efficiency, to promote the
digital and intelligent transformation of the Company.

In terms of system architecture, we will continuously strengthen the
microservices as the architecture, DevOps as the methodology, and
cover the whole process end-to-end, including the infrastructure
layer, the core middle office layer and the system application layer,
based on cutting-edge technologies such as Al, big data and cloud
computing. The core technology structure aims to improve the
Company’s operating quality in an all-round, multi-dimensional
and long-term manner, and promote the orderly and compliant
development of the business.
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EHE 5 TR

In terms of application scenarios, we will rely heavily on Al and
big data technologies such as intelligent speech, natural language
processing, text and image recognition, knowledge graphs, and
big data algorithms to develop application scenarios such as digital
human, smart compliance risk control, smart marketing assistance,
branding and public opinion monitoring, to enhance service
standards and improve user experience.

Continuously optimize the digital robo-advisor and embrace “Al +
investment advisory”

Going forward, we will continuously improve our product system,
refine our product value and shape our product competitiveness
around Smartinvest Apps. We will continuously optimize and
upgrade the functions of “Jiuge” to maintain industry leadership.
We will enhance its perception, decision-making, and output
capabilities based on user feedback and market demand, thereby
enhancing its professionalism, rigor, and accuracy. At the same
time, we prioritize data security and privacy protection by employing
advanced encryption technology and protective measures. We will
deepen cooperation with renowned high-tech companies to jointly
create a more comprehensive and efficient intelligent investment
advisory ecosystem.

With the integration of artificial intelligence technology, we
will expand Al application scenarios, enhance employees’
understanding of Al, and apply it in areas such as customer
management, content generation, and risk control compliance,
thereby providing more personalized and intelligent support to
optimize services and internal management, and achieving cost
reduction and efficiency improvement.
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Management Analysis and Discussion

FRYN
EIEE 5 st em
FINANCIAL REVIEW B35 E1RE
Summary of Financial Results MBREHE Year ended December 31,
H#E12A31HLEE
2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREBTR ARBT T
Revenue Wz 1,965,387 1,850,141
Cost of sales SHE KA (322,123) (235,276)
Gross profit EH 1,643,264 1,614,865
Other income Hebg A 231,052 230,373
Sales and marketing expenses HEREHEBEX (957,292) (972,686)
Research and development expenses EER (287,422) (229,528)
General and administrative expenses —BETBEX (419,039) (159,264)
Impairment loss on receivables ERREERX (2,162) -
Profit from operations EEERF 208,401 483,760
Finance costs g 9% (1,660) (2,330)
Profit before taxation B&F Hi iz Fl 206,741 481,430
Income tax it (16,022) (20,876)
Profit for the year ERitaH 190,719 460,554
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Revenue

Our revenue increased by approximately 6.2% to approximately
RMB1,965.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2023, from
approximately RMB1,850.1 million for the year ended December 31,
2022, primarily due to the increase in the revenue from the offering
of Smartlnvest Info through which our financial information software
services is provided. The following table sets forth our revenue by

Wiz

RO KRBEBHBEE2022F12A31 AL FE
WY AREE1,850. 1 BB TEMN6.2%E
HZE2023F 12831 HILEENYARE
1,965 488 T FTERHNEHSRMEREN
HRBH NS ERBERABWREREM - T
REFIRFIREERFIRERL D EEI 5 AU

segment for the years indicated: @wER -
Year ended December 31, YOY change
HBE12A1BILEE FILL &8
2023 2022
20234 20224
% of total % of total
Amount revenue Amount revenue %
g 148 =
&8 BB x| MBS %
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR ARBTT
Smartinvest Pro NFERERR 1,173,934 59.7 1,140,362 61.6 2.9
Smartinvest Info A ERBER 791,452 40.3 707,583 38.3 11.9
Smartnvest Intro BEEE 1 <0.1 2,196 0.1 (100)
1,965,387 100.0 1,850,141 100.0 6.2

Our revenue from Smartinvest Pro increased by approximately 2.9%
to approximately RMB1,173.9 million for the year ended December
31, 20283, from approximately RMB1,140.4 million for the year
ended December 31, 2022, and our revenue from Smartinvest Info
increased by 11.9% to approximately RMB791.5 million for the year
ended December 31, 2023, from approximately RMB707.6 million
for the year ended December 31, 2022, primarily attributable to an
increase in the gross billings and the number of paying users.
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Management Analysis and Discussion

We make our products more competitive through product iteration
and upgrading to increase the number of paying users. We upgrade
our services and strengthen the investment research content to
enhance customer stickiness and increase their willingness to
renew their subscription.

Cost of sales

Our cost of sales increased by approximately 36.9% to
approximately RMB322.1 million for the year ended December 31,
2023, from approximately RMB235.3 million for the year ended
December 31, 2022, primarily due to our staff cost increased from
approximately RMB223.4 million in the year ended December 31,
2022 to approximately RMB307.6 million in 2023, as a result of an
increase in the number of staff in our content development and
production team that provided an expanding scale of content in
support of the operations of our traffic matrix in 2023.

Gross profit and gross margin

As a result of the foregoing, our gross profit increased by
approximately 1.8% to approximately RMB1,643.3 million for the
year ended December 31, 2023, from approximately RMB1,614.9
million for the year ended December 31, 2022. Our gross margin
decreased to approximately 83.6% for the year ended December
31, 2023, from approximately 87.3% for the year ended December
31, 2022, mainly because the rise in our staff cost resulted in the
cost of sales outpacing the increase in our revenue. However, the
significant increase in the number of content development and
production team could effectively reduce the expenditure in traffic
acquisition.

Other income

Our other income increased slightly by approximately 0.3% to
approximately RMB231.1 million for the year ended December 31,
2023, from approximately RMB230.4 million for the year ended
December 31, 2022, primarily due to (i) an increase of RMB11.2
million from other government grants; (ii) an increase of RMB28.2
million in VAT refund, which was in line with the significant increase
in gross billings; and (iii) a decrease of RMB42.0 million in the
revenue from software copyright transfers.
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Management Analysis and Discussion
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Sales and marketing expenses

Our sales and marketing expenses slightly decreased by
approximately 1.6% to approximately RMB957.3 million for the
year ended December 31, 2023, from approximately RMB972.7
million for the year ended December 31, 2022, primarily because
the significant increase in the number of content development and
production team could effectively reduce the expenditure in internet
traffic procurement expenses.

Research and development expenses

Our research and development expenses increased by
approximately 25.2% to approximately RMB287.4 million for the
year ended December 31, 2023 from approximately RMB229.5
million for the year ended December 31, 2022, primarily due to
an increase in staff cost, mainly as a result of the increase in the
number of research and development employees in accordance
with the development of our business along with increasing
demand of related staff.

General and administrative expenses

Our general and administrative expenses increased to RMB419.0
million in 2023 from RMB159.3 million in 2022, primarily due to
several reasons as shown in the table below: (i) share-based
compensation amounted to RMB128.9 million was incurred as we
granted all the Shares under the Pre-IPO RSU Scheme on February
3, 2023, which would be vested over two to five years commencing
from the grant date. In 2022, no such transaction occurred; (ii)
staff cost (share-based compensation excluded) increased from
RMB54.1 million to RMB95.3 million as we recruited more staff to
deal with the expanding business; (iii) listing expenses increased
from RMB17.9 million to RMB22.7 million due to the increase in the
expenditure for listing ceremony and other branding campaign as a
result of the successful listing of the Company’s Shares on March
10, 2023; and (iv) an increase of RMB17.3 million in depreciation
of right-of-use assets as well as an increase of RMB8.0 million
in rental and property fee as we entered into certain new lease
agreements to expand our office area during the Period as
compared to the Corresponding Period.
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Management Analysis and Discussion
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Year ended December 31,

HE12A31HILFEE
2023 2022
20234 2022
Amount % Amount %
&8 16iEE (%) o] 15 EE (%)
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR ARETT
Staff Cost BIHAK 224,209 53.5 54,145 34.0
—Equity-settled share- - DREREEUR S
based compensation AEBNHFMEX
expenses 128,910 30.8 - -
Listing expenses LHpX 22,680 5.4 17,884 11.2
Depreciation of TREEENNE
right-of-use assets 44,209 10.6 26,878 16.9
Taxes and surcharges BIER K NE 25,257 6.0 17,647 11.1
Amortisation of B EESE
intangible assets 2,190 0.5 757 0.5
Rental and property expense & R ¥EH 17,683 4.2 9,635 6.0
Rental exemption FRRENEEER
of COVID-19 - - (4,569) (2.9
Donation B 5,604 1.3 = =
Office and travel expense WARERER 8,815 2.1 7,153 45
Depreciation of property, ME BERRENINE
plant and equipment 7,067 1.7 5,941 3.7
Professional service fee EXRBER 12,272 2.9 2,446 1.5
IT service fee ITHR¥%&E 26,034 6.2 8,618 5.4
Qualification certification fee EBRHE 5,858 1.4 4,472 2.8
Others HA 17,161 4.1 8,257 5.2
Total “t 419,039 100.0% 159,264 100.0%
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Income tax expense

We recognized income tax expense of approximately RMB16.0
million for the year ended December 31, 2023, compared to the
income tax expense of approximately RMB20.9 million for the year
ended December 31, 2022, primarily due to significant increase
in the balance of contract liabilities at the end of the Period as
compared to the balance as of December 31, 2022 which led to the
deferred tax benefits recognised during the Period.

Profit for the Year

As a result of the foregoing, we realized a profit of approximately
RMB190.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2023,
compared to approximately RMB460.6 million for the year ended
December 31, 2022, representing a decrease of approximately
58.6%.

FINANCIAL POSITION

Capital Structure of the Group

By considering the cost of capital and the risks associated with
each class of capital, the Group manages its capital to ensure
that entities in the Group will be able to continue as a going
concern while maximizing the return to shareholders through the
optimization of the debt and equity balance. The capital structure
of the Group consists of debt, mainly including contract liabilities,
financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss and accrued
expenses and other current liabilities, and equity attributable to
owners of the Company, comprising share capital and reserves.
The Group does not have long-term borrowings or other interest
bearing borrowings.
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Management Analysis and Discussion

Liquidity and Financial Resources

Our cash and other liquid financial resources (comprising (i) cash
and cash equivalents including cash on hand and bank deposits;
(i) funds with underlying assets being listed as equity securities;
(iii) wealth management products; (iv) listed equity securities; (v)
asset management plan; and (vi) structured deposit), increased
from approximately RMB1,066.7 million as of December 31, 2022
to approximately RMB2,068.4 million as of December 31, 2023.
Our net cash generated from operating activities increased by
approximately RMB206.1 million to approximately RMB444.0 million
as of December 31, 2023 from approximately RMB237.9 million
as of December 31, 2022. Our business is primarily a cash flow
business, and therefore our cash flows from operating activities are
closely related to, and primarily driven by, our profitability.

Gearing Ratio

As at December 31, 2023, our gearing ratio was 38.4% (as at
December 31, 2022: 61.2%), calculated by dividing total liabilities
by total assets.

CAPITAL EXPENDITURE

Our capital expenditures, consisting of payments for the purchase
of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets, were
incurred mainly for servers, computers, computer software and
office equipment. Our capital expenditures were approximately
RMB11.8 million as of December 31, 2023, compared to
approximately RMB9.8 million as of December 31, 2022.

MATERIAL INVESTMENTS

We have established policies to stipulate the approval process for
the purchase of funds and wealth management products, as well
as the person/department responsible of the implementation of the
policy. Our investment decisions are made on a case-by-case basis
and after thorough consideration of our cash flow and operational
needs. Our financial department initiates every transaction for
the purchase of funds and wealth management products, and is
subjected to review by the office of the Board, the compliance
department and internal legal personnel.
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Management Analysis and Discussion
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The Company adheres to better utilize the surplus cash reserves
and further improve reasonable and effective operation of such
cash reserves to increase the income after meeting capital
requirements of the Group’s daily operation, and to seek long term
steady appreciation of the entrusted assets with the pre-requisite of
stringent monitoring of investment risks.

As at December 31, 2023, the Group held three financial products
with a value of 5% or more of the Group’s total assets, which
accounted for of 8.73% to 11.33% of the Group’s total assets,
respectively. Please see “Notes to the consolidated financial
statements — 14 Financial assets measured at fair value through
profit and loss — Note (vi)” in this Annual Report for further details.

ARABRBHEREEEAEELEESERN
BIRT  BEFtFRABBRREMHE £
TREVSHENSERREE - UL MK
A EBRERERBRIAET SRERE
ENRBBELE-

MR2023F12A31H AEEFE=RER
HAEEMBREESYRULNESHER » Z
=HEREREEBREENLLFNFR8.73%-
11.33% ° E—FHBHESHAEEREE
T EMERM T - 141R A FENEBEEE
FFABENESRERE —KiFE Vi)l e

Realized gains ~ Approximate
o losses for unrealised
thetwelve  GainorLoss  Approximate
Principal month period for the Fair Value Fair value
amount as of ending  YearEnded  Change as of as of
December 31, Investment December31, December31, December 31, December 31, Asset
Name of Counterparty Product Type 2023 Mandate 2023 2023 2023 2023 Ratio"®!
£2023
i B3t EE HE2003%
_ 128318 BENRE
e TERREE  pegw  wRwE oot
128318 EERME  mnseR i 12R318
EDE ERFY AeH  REER gFR  kGIER  ATEEY WATE EEftEn
(RMB'000) (RMB'000) (RMB'000) (RMB'000)
(AR®FT) (AE®FR) (AREFR) (ARETR)

Jinxin Futures Co., Ltd. the Jinxin Jinfu Dingzeng No. 1 200,100 Note 2 0 14,598 14,598 214,698 8.73%

single asset management plan

EEHEARAA TREETRINE- iz

BEEETY
Panhou Weiran (Shanghal) Private Panhou Weiran Wisdom Select Private 283,801 Note 3 (134) (5,354) (5,488) 218,447 11.33%
Fund Management Limited Securities Investment Fund No.10
EERA(LE)HEES BERR-23RE0R (iER
ERARLT AEEsREES
China Galaxy International Galaxy Product No.10 246,850 Note 4 0 3,352 3,352 250,202 10.18%
Asset Management
(Hong Kong) Co., Limited
TERTEREEER SRR 108 (QFIEH4 it
(B#)BRAE RERERR)

Note 1: The asset ratio set out in this table is computed by dividing the fair M1 AERAREELXIEFN2023F12A31H
value of the relevant products as at December 31, 2023 by the total HEREE RN AT ERIAREEN2023F
assets of the Group as at December 31, 2023. 12 A31 BB EstE -

Note 2: The initial subscription amount is RMB10.1 million, and it shall not Misro: ¥BHESEARK,01087T  HEF
exceed RMB330 million during the term of the agreement. FEEHRRNTRIBARKI3ETT o

Note 3: The initial subscription amount is RMB60.1 million, not exceeding Misr3: VIREESBEARKS 108 AIFE
RMBB330 million within 12 months commencing from the date of the WEARLI2EARNTRBAEARKI IE
investment agreement. IT o

Note 4: The initial subscription amount is RMB60 million, not exceeding Misra: ¥BBELSEARKS000ET  BIFE

RMB330 million within 12 months commencing from the date of the
investment agreement.
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Management Analysis and Discussion

The Jinxin Jinfu Dingzeng No. 1 single asset management
plan is issued and operated by Jinxin Futures Co., Ltd. (a third
party independent of the Company and connected persons of
the Company). The Jinxin Jinfu Dingzeng No. 1 single asset
management plan mainly invests in equity assets, debt assets,
futures and derivatives and asset management assets. As of
December 31, 2023, the underlying investment of the Jinxin Jinfu
Dingzeng No. 1 single asset management plan has been made to
equity assets and debt assets.

Jinxin Futures Co., Ltd., is a limited company incorporated
under the laws of the PRC on October 23, 1995, which is held by
Shouguang Meilun Paper Co., Ltd. (“Shouguang Meilun”) as to
35.43% and other nine shareholders independent of the Company,
none of which holds more than 30% equity interest in Jinxin
Manager. Shouguang Meilun is held by Shandong Chenming Paper
Holdings Limited (the H shares of which are listed on the main
board of Stock Exchange (stock code: 1812), the A shares of which
are listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange (stock code: 000488),
the B shares of which are listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange
(stock code: 200488)) as to 62.49% and other five shareholders
independent of the Company, none of which holds more than 30%
equity interest in Shouguang Meilun. As of December 31, 2023, the
total cumulative assets under management (the “AUM”) of Jinxin
Futures Co., Ltd. was approximately RMB510 million.

Panhou Weiran Wisdom Select Private Securities Investment
Fund No.10 is issued and operated by Panhou Weiran (Shanghai)
Private Fund Management Limited (a third party independent of
the Company and connected persons of the Company). Panhou
Weiran Wisdom Select Private Securities Investment Fund No.10
mainly invests in cash management instruments, equity investment
instruments, debt investment instruments, publicly-offered
securities investment funds, financial derivatives, private
securities investment funds hosted by institutions with securities
investment fund custody qualifications, and asset management
plans for securities investment managed by securities and futures
management institutions, bank deposits, warrants or other
investment instruments as permitted in accordance with the terms
of the Fund Agreements. As of December 31, 2023, the underlying
investment of the Panhou Weiran Wisdom Select Private Securities
Investment Fund No.10 has been made to cash management
instruments and private securities investment funds.
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Panhou Weiran (Shanghai) Private Fund Management Limited
(“Panhou Weiran”), is a limited company incorporated under
the laws of the PRC on December 3, 2014, which is held by Xu
Yurong as to 83.33% and Chen Xinyuan as to 16.67%. Panhou
Weiran is primarily engaged in private securities investment fund
management services. As of December 31,2023, the cumulative
AUM of Panhou Weiran is approximately RMB9,213 million.

Galaxy Product No.10 is issued and operated by China Galaxy
International Asset Management (Hong Kong) Co., Limited (a third
party independent of the Company and connected persons of
the Company). Galaxy Product No.10 mainly invests in financial
instruments that are eligible under the QFI scheme. As of December
31, 2023, the underlying investment of the Galaxy Product No.10
has been made to stocks, publicly offered securities investment
funds and cash management instruments.

China Galaxy International Asset Management (Hong Kong) Co.,
Limited (“Galaxy Manager”), is a private company limited by
shares incorporated under the laws of Hong Kong on June 28,
2012, which is wholly owned by CGS International Holdings Limited,
which is wholly owned by China Galaxy Securities Co., Ltd., the
H Shares of which are listed on Stock Exchange (stock code:
6881), and the A shares of which are listed on the Shanghai Stock
Exchange (stock code: 601881). Galaxy Manager has obtained
Type 4 license (for advising on securities) and Type 9 license (for
asset management) from SFC and approval from the CSRC for QFI.
Galaxy Manager is principally engaged in discretionary investment
management (dedicated account management), QFI, investment
advisory and private equity funds; among which QFI invests in
domestic securities permitted by the CSRC. As of December 31,
2023, the AUM of China Galaxy Securities Co., Ltd. under asset
management business is approximately RMB94.566 billion.

For more detailed information on the three products, namely the
Jinxin Jinfu Dingzeng No. 1 single asset management plan, Panhou
Weiran Wisdom Select Private Securities Investment Fund No.10
and Galaxy Product No.10, please refer to the announcements of
the Company respectively dated May 19, 2023 and June 6, 2023.
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Management Analysis and Discussion

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS
OR CAPITAL ASSET

As at December 31, 2023, the Group did not have detailed future
plans for material investments or capital assets.

PLEDGE OF ASSETS BY THE GROUP

As at December 31, 2023, the Group did not pledge any assets as
collateral for bank borrowings or any other financing activities (as at
December 31, 2022: Nil).

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at December 31, 2023, we did not have any material contingent
liabilities (as at December 31, 2022: Nil).

FOREIGN EXCHANGE RISK MANAGEMENT

During the Period, most of transactions denominated in non-RMB
were denominated in U.S. dollars and Hong Kong dollars. The
management team closely monitors foreign currency exchange
risks to ensure that appropriate measures are implemented in a
timely and effective manner. In the past, the Group has not incurred
any significant foreign currency exchange losses in its operations.
As of December 31, 2023, the Group had not used any financial
instruments for hedging purposes. The management team will
continue to closely monitor the Group’s foreign currency exchange
risks and will consider implementing appropriate measures.
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EMPLOYEE AND REMUNERATION POLICY

The following tables set forth the number of our employees by
function as of December 31, 2023:

18 5 R i BN B 3R

TRZBEEHI KB E2023F12831H
HIEEAE :

Number of

Employee Function EEREE employees % of Total

EEAH (BHEESAS(%)
Content Development and Production AAF K EYE 578 20.8
Sales and Marketing HERZH 845 30.5
Research and Development g 544 19.6
Service and Operation PR R EE 414 14.9
Administration T 394 14.2
Total et 2,775 100.0

We believe that on-going and continuous development of our
employees is critical to our success. We provide our employees
with tailored training programmes designed to upgrade their skills
and knowledge. We employ and promote our employees based on
their personal on-the-job performance and development potential.
The remuneration package depends on individual performance,
working experience and prevailing salary levels in the market.

USE OF PROCEEDS FROM THE GLOBAL
OFFERING

The Company was successfully listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange on March 10, 2023, and the Over-allotment Option
(as defined in the Prospectus) was partially exercised on April
2, 2023. The Company issued a total of 59,937,000 new Shares
at an issue price of HK$17.00 per share in connection with its
global offering (the “Global Offering”) and the partial exercise of
the Over-allotment Option, and the gross proceeds raised by the
Company from the issuance of new Shares in connection with
the Global Offering and the partial exercise of the Over-allotment
Option amounted to approximately HK$984.2 million (equivalent
to approximately RMB873.3 million)", after deducting underwriting
commissions and other related expenses in connection with the
Global Offering and the partial exercise of the Over-allotment
Option.
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Management Analysis and Discussion

Set out below are details of the allocation of the net proceeds, and
the unutilized amount of the net proceeds at December 31, 2023.
The net proceeds unutilized are currently held as bank deposits and
will be continuously used according to the plans disclosed in the
Prospectus.

Allocation Net Proceeds

of net from the

Intended use of net proceeds proceeds  Global Offering
FiamRE EHRUE

FEREsERRE FENOE  FERERE
(Approximately

million in HKD)

EHE 5 TR

FIEREFENDIMURFBRIEFER
2023F 12 A31 B ARE A S REFBHIIW
T o R AMBREFHEREELURITERS
XNEBEERBEERBRERMEENTES
)Eﬁ o

Amount of

net proceeds
utilized since Balance of
the Listing Date net proceeds

andupto unutilizedasat Intended timetable for

December 31, December 31,  use of the unutilized net

2023 2023  proceeds

B L EHE
BEF2023F 120235

12A318 12R31H

EBRME *BRFAR  DRARDARERE

FEFE  FERRER  FRNEMRER

(Approximately ~ (Approximately
millionin RMB)  million in RMB)

(WEBER) (WARWEER) (WARBAEER)

i.  Improvement of content production capabilities 20% 196.8 26.8 1479 By December 31, 2024
i REAREMEE 20% 196.8 26.8 1479 R2024512A31A

ii.  Enhancement of the traffic matrix 30% 295.3 262.0 - By December 31, 2024
i, BEREH 30% 295.3 262.0 - R2024%12831R

iii.  Improvement of technology capabilities 30% 295.3 115.9 146.1 By December 31, 2024
il BERATEED 30% 295.3 115.9 1461  M2024F12531R

iv. Investments in external KOLs or external MCNs 10% 98.4 0.2 87.2 By December 31,2024
iv. REMPKOLRIMBMCN 10% 98.4 0.2 872 R2024E12A31A

v.  Working capital and general corporate purposes 10% 98.4 87.3 - By December 31, 2024
v. EEESR-REXRR 10% 98.4 87.3 - 12024%12R318
Total 100% 984.20 4922 381.1

&3 100% 984.22 4922 381.1

Notes: i

(1) The gross proceeds raised by the Company from the Global Offering
and the partial exercise of the Over-allotment Option was converted into
Renminbi upon receipt, being approximately RMB873.3 million.

(2)  The net proceeds from the Global Offering (without taking into
consideration the partial exercise of the Over-allotment Option) were
approximately HK$978.9 million. In April 2023, the Company has
received additional net proceeds of approximately HK$5.3 million for the
Over-allotment Shares.

(1) ARFEREEIREE BB REN DT
EMEENFMSHIARERER - DRIE LR
RARE  HRARKEST33BEETT

@ HERBEMSKENFR(TFARR
AR B 21T H RIT8.OBEE T -
2023F4 H - ANATIGBRACE R UEER
NS FIRFRRKI5.3A BT ©
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Management Analysis and Discussion

EHE 5 TR

COMPLIANCE WITH THE CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE CODE

The Company is committed to implementing the best corporate
governance practices to protect Shareholders’ rights and enhance
corporate value and accountability.

The Company maintains a high standard of corporate governance
practices. The Board does not take risks to make short-term gains
at the expense of the long-term objectives. The Company has
adopted the CG Code contained in Appendix C1 (formerly known
as Appendix 14) to the Listing Rules on Stock Exchange as its own
code of corporate governance since the Listing Date. Save and
except for the deviation from code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code
as disclosed below, the Company has complied with all the code
provisions in the CG Code for the period from the Listing Date to
December 31, 2023.

Pursuant to code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code, companies listed
on the Stock Exchange are expected to comply with, but may
choose to deviate from the requirement that the roles of chairman
of the board and chief executive should be separate and should not
be performed by the same individual. With effect from December
20, 2023, Mr. CHEN Wenbin has served as both the chairman of
the Board and the chief executive officer of the Company. Mr.
CHEN Wenbin is the founder of the Company, who has in-depth
knowledge of the management and business operations of the
Company. The Board believes that vesting the roles of both the
chairman of the Board and the chief executive officer in the same
individual provides the Group with solid and consistent leadership
and enables efficient business planning and decision-making.
The Board also believes that the balance of power and authority
under this arrangement will not be impaired, as all major decisions
must be made after approval and resolution by the Board and
the relevant committees under the Board. All independent non-
executive Directors also provide independent insights to the Board
and monitor the management and operation of the Company. The
Board will periodically review and consider the effectiveness of this
arrangement by taking into account the circumstances of the Group
as a whole.
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Management Analysis and Discussion

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

The Company adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Issuers as set out in Appendix C3 (formerly
known as Appendix 10) to the Listing Rules as its own code of
conduct regarding the Directors’ dealings in the securities of the
Company. The Company has made specific enquiry to all Directors
and all Directors have confirmed that they have complied with the
Model Code for the period from the Listing Date to December 31,
2023.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF OUR
COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

During the period from the Listing Date to December 31, 2023,
neither the Company nor any of the subsidiaries has purchased,
sold or redeemed any of the Company’s securities listed on the
Stock Exchange.

FINAL DIVIDEND

Taking into account the Company’s financial and cash flow
position, the Board has resolved to recommend a final dividend
of HK$0.22 per Share (in cash) for the year ended December 31,
2023. The proposed final dividend of the Company is subject to
the consideration and approval by Shareholders at the AGM. The
Company will publish announcement, circular and notice regarding
the AGM in accordance with the Listing Rules and the Articles of
Association. The Company will also make separate announcement
regarding the record date and date of closure of register of
members for the payment of the proposed final dividend of the
Company. It is expected that the proposed final dividend of the
Company will be distributed before July 10, 2024.

EHE 5 TR
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Management Analysis and Discussion

EHE 5 TR

SIGNIFICANT SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

For details of the significant subsequent events that have occurred
since the end of the Reporting Period, please refer to the “Report
of the Board” in this Annual Report.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Board has established the Audit Committee, which consists of
the independent non-executive Directors, being Dr. ZHAO Guoging
(chairman), Mr. FAN Yonghong and Mr. TIAN Shu. For details of the
Audit Committee, please refer to the “Report of the Board” and
the “Corporate Governance Report”.
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Directors and Senior Management

DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Mr. CHEN Wenbin (BRI #5E4), aged 49, was appointed as
a Director on May 3, 2021. He was re-designated as a non-
executive Director and appointed as the chairman of our Board in
August 2021, and was re-designated as an executive Director and
appointed as our chief executive officer on December 20, 2023.

Mr. Chen has over 20 years of experience in the financial and
investment advisory industry. From July 1997 to July 2005, he
worked at Fuzhou Tianli Investment Consultant Co., Ltd., with his
last position as general manager. Mr. Chen subsequently worked
in certain Group companies of China Finance Online Co., Ltd (a
company previously listed on NASDAQ with ticker symbol: JRJC)
which was a prominent web-based financial information and
service company providing securities investment advisory, data
and analytics services from August 2007 to June 2010, with his
last position as the assistant to chairman. During such period, he
gained experiences in investment product design, development
and marketing. In May 2011, Mr. Chen founded predecessors of
Yintech Holdings (previously listed on NASDAQ from April 2016
to November 2020, ticker symbol: YIN) and was in charge of their
management and overall operation. He has served as the chairman,
chief executive officer and director of Yintech Holdings since its
incorporation in November 2015, and a director of Yinke Holdings
since July 2020. Mr. Chen’s experience in managing Yintech
Holdings, lays the foundation for our Group’s evolvement to the
present state.

Mr. Chen was appointed as the permanent honorary chairman
of the Hong Kong Federation of Fujian Associations in October
2018 and the honorary president of Fuging Shanghai Chamber of
Commerce in November 2019. Since April 2019, he has served as
a part-time professor at the School of Economics and Management
of Dalian University of Technology.

Mr. Chen obtained a double bachelor’s degree in chemical
engineering and international enterprise management from Dalian
University of Technology in China in July 1998 and a degree of
executive master of business administration from Cheung Kong
Graduate School of Business in China in October 2009. He also
obtained a securities investment advisor license granted by the
SAC in 2003.
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Directors and Senior Management

EEREREEE

Mr. CHEN Jigeng (FRELBEE4), aged 42, was appointed as our
non-executive Director on August 20, 2021. He was re-designated
as our executive Director and appointed as our executive president
on December 20, 2023.

Mr. Chen has over 10 years of experience in the financial services
industry. He worked in Beijing Litong Tianxia Technology Co., Ltd.
from January 2010 to March 2010, and in Shanghai Zhuosheng
Information Technology Co., Ltd. Beijing Branch from April 2010
to May 2011. He joined predecessors of Yintech Holdings in May
2011 and has served as vice president of Yintech Holdings since its
incorporation in November 2015.

Mr. Chen has completed the international experimental class

program at Shanghai Advanced Institute of Finance, Shanghai Jiao
Tong University (“SAIF”) in China in 2023.
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Directors and Senior Management

Mr. CAl Zi (AF5E4), aged 38, was appointed as an executive
Director on August 20, 2021. Mr Cai resigned from his position as
chief executive officer with effect from December 20, 2023 and as
executive Director with effect from April 22, 2024.

Mr. Cai has over 10 years of experience in the field of information
technology and finance. He worked in China Securities Xintong
Software Technology (Beijing) Co., Ltd. from December 2007 to
April 2009, in Beijing Litong Tianxia Technology Co., Ltd. from May
2009 to January 2010 and subsequently in Beijing Fortune Xinying
Technology Co., Ltd. and gained experience in product research
and development. He also served as an officer in the National
Security Bureau of Yingkou City from July 2010 to October 2011.
From September 2011 to December 2017, Mr. Cai served as the
deputy general manager of Shanghai Yinsai Computer Technology
Co., Ltd., a subsidiary of Yintech Holdings, primarily responsible
for managing the research and development team. He joined our
Group in January 2018; he has served as an executive director and
general manager of Shanghai Jiufangyun and the general manager
of Shanghai Fudong. Since then, he has participated in the design
of multiple digital financial content and information service products
of our Group, demonstrating his strong product development
capabilities. He was appointed as a deputy chief member of the
committee of Securities Investment Consultation Institutions under
SAC in January 2022.

Mr. Cai obtained a bachelor’s degree of engineering in computer
science and technology from Beijing Jiaotong University in China in
July 2008. He also obtained the securities practitioner qualification
from the Securities Association of China in 2009 and has been a
registered gold analyst since 2012.
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Directors and Senior Management

EEREREEE

Non-executive Directors

Mr. YAN Ming (E&BA3t4), aged 49, was appointed as our non-
executive Director on August 20, 2021.

Mr. Yan served as the general manager of Beijing Jinghua Times
International Culture and Entertainment Co., Ltd. from August 2003
to June 2013. He founded predecessors of Yintech Holdings in May
2011 and served as a non-executive director of Yintech Holdings
from its incorporation in November 2015 until November 2020. Mr.
Yan’s experience in managing Yintech Holdings, lays the foundation
for our Group’s evolvement to the present state. He has been
appointed as a founding chairman of the Hong Kong Federation of
Jiangxi Associations in May 2018. He has also served as a director
of Yinke Holdings since February 2021.

Mr. Yan obtained a bachelor’s degree in finance from Shanxi
University of Finance and Economics in China in December 2011,
and a degree of executive master of business administration from
Cheung Kong Graduate School of Business in China in September
2014. He has been a student of the Entrepreneur Fellow Program
organized by the School of Economics and Management, Tsinghua
University in China since September 2019.
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Directors and Senior Management

Ms. CHEN NINGFENG, aged 55, was appointed as our non-
executive Director on August 20, 2021.

Ms. CHEN NINGFENG worked in Fuzhou Earthquake Resistance
Office from September 1990 to March 1994, where she
successively served as an assistant engineer and an engineer,
primarily responsible for the review of the seismic reinforcement
design of key construction projects and supervision of construction
work. She subsequently served as an engineer in the Fuzhou Urban
and Rural Construction Committee from March 1994 to September
2001, primarily responsible for the review of design drawings of
construction projects and the promotion of new technologies in
the construction industry. From September 2001 to September
2003, Ms. CHEN NINGFENG served as the chief engineer of
Fuzhou Anxinda Engineering Consulting Co., Ltd. and was primarily
responsible for marketing of real estate projects. She also served
as the research consultant for the North America market at
Shanghai Naide Enterprise Management Consulting Co., Ltd. from
September 2005 to February 2011. Ms. CHEN NINGFENG founded
predecessors of Yintech Holdings in May 2011 and served as a
non-executive director of Yintech Holdings from its incorporation
in November 2015 until November 2020. Ms. CHEN NINGFENG’s
experience in managing Yintech Holdings, lays the foundation for
our Group’s evolvement to the present state. She has also served
as a director of Yinke Holdings since February 2021.

Ms. CHEN NINGFENG obtained a bachelor’s degree in industrial
and civil construction from Anhui Jianzhu University (formerly
known as Anhui Institute of Architecture & Industry) in China in July
1990, and a master’s degree in management from the University of
International Business and Economics in China in June 2003. She
also obtained a certificate in continuing studies in financial analysis
and investment management from the University of Toronto in
Canada in May 2005.
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Directors and Senior Management

EEREREEE

Independent Non-executive Directors

Dr. ZHAO Guoging (#ElIE1E 1), aged 44, was appointed as our
independent non-executive Director on February 20, 2023, effective
from February 28, 2023.

Dr. Zhao is currently a partner of Zhonghui Jiangsu Certified Tax
Agents Co., Ltd. since June 2016, and the technician director of
Zhonghui Certified Tax Agents Co., Ltd.. Dr. Zhao has more than
ten years of working experience in taxation authorities in China after
graduation from Yangzhou University, having first served in the
Jiangning Local Taxation Bureau of Nanjing until November 2012
with his last position as the deputy director of the audit bureau
and subsequently served with the State Administration of Taxation
Tax Cadres Training Institute until March 2016. Dr. Zhao currently
serves as an independent non-executive director of Hailan Holdings
Limited (a company previously listed on the Stock Exchange
under the stock code: 2278, and delisted in November 2023) from
December 2018 to November 2023, as an independent director of
Nanjing Develop Advanced Manufacturing Co., Ltd. (a company
listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange, stock code: 688377) since
August 2018, and as an independent director of Piotech Inc. (a
company listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange, stock code:
688072) since January 2021.

Dr. Zhao is a qualified certified public accountant in China. Dr. Zhao
graduated from Yangzhou University with his bachelor’s degree
majoring in taxation in June 2002, obtained his master’s degree
in Business Administration from Nanjing University in March 2012
and obtained his doctorate degree in Business Administration from
Nanjing University in December 2018.
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Directors and Senior Management

Mr. FAN Yonghong (GEE &5, former name: 8K 4L), aged
56, was appointed as our independent non-executive Director on
August 20, 2021, effective from February 28, 2023.

Mr. Fan has extensive experience in financial management. From
1988 to 1998, he held various management positions in China
Construction Bank Corporation and Huaxia Securities Co., Ltd..
Mr. Fan also served as the general manager of China Asset
Management Co., Ltd. from 1998 to 2013. From December 2013 to
April 2015, Mr. Fan served as the chief investment officer of China
Life Asset Management Company Limited. He currently serves as
the executive director of Hongshi Capital Management Co., Ltd.
since March 2016.

Mr. Fan served as the vice chairman of Securities Association
of China from 2007 to 2011 and as a member of the Issuance
Examination Committee of China Securities Regulatory Commission
from 1997 to 2001, where he was involved in the review of listing
applications of PRC companies.

Mr. Fan has served as an independent non-executive director and
the chairman of audit committee of China Feihe Limited (a company
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, stock code: 6186)
since October 2019. He also served as an independent director of
Yintech Holdings from May 2018 to November 2020.

Mr. Fan graduated from the Postgraduate Department of Institute
of Fiscal Finance under the Ministry of Finance (currently known as
the Chinese Academy of Fiscal Sciences) in July 1998 and obtained
a doctor’s degree in economics. Mr. Fan currently serves as an
external postgraduate supervisor of the Chinese Academy of Fiscal
Sciences.
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Directors and Senior Management

EEREREEE

Mr. TIAN Shu (H%F5& ), aged 60, was appointed as our
independent non-executive Director on August 20, 2021, effective
from February 28, 2023.

Mr. Tian has over 19 years of experience in accounting, tax and
consulting. He worked at the General Administration of Customs
prior to working at the preparatory Group of the data center of the
National Electronic Port from September 2000 to June 2001. He
worked at Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu Certified Public Accountants
LLP Beijing Branch from October 2002 to May 2006, with his
last position as a senior manager. He served as the managing
partner of Beijing Hansen Taihe Consulting Co., Ltd. from July
2005 to November 2010. He then worked at Ernst & Young from
November 2010 to June 2020, where he successively served as
a senior manager, executive director and partner. He has served
as the deputy national leader of indirect tax business of Deloitte
Consulting (Shanghai) Company Limited Beijing Branch since July
2020.

Mr. Tian obtained a bachelor’s degree in business economics
from Shanxi Finance and Economics College (renamed as Shanxi
University of Finance and Economics in 1997) in China in July
1986. He also obtained a degree of executive master of business
administration from Cheung Kong Graduate School of Business in
China in September 2010.
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Directors and Senior Management

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

For the biographical details of Mr. CHEN Jigeng, please refer to
“Executive Directors” in this section. Biographical details of other
members of the senior management are as follows:

Mr. ZHANG Pengfei (GRESFREA), aged 41, was appointed as our
vice president in August 2021.

Mr. Zhang worked at Asia Finance (Beijing) Network Technology
Co., Ltd. from February 2006 to November 2007. He served as a
designer and the head of the design department at the content
operation department of Fortune Xinying Technology (Beijing)
Co., Ltd. from December 2007 to February 2010. He joined
predecessors of Yintech Holdings in May 2011 and since then
served as the marketing director of the subsidiaries of Yintech
Holdings until December 2017. He joined our Group in January
2018 and has served as a director of Shanghai Jiufangyun and
Shanghai Fudong since then. He has also served as a director of
Shanghai Yingma since December 2020.

Mr. Zhang obtained a bachelor’s degree in economics from the
Institute of Online Education, Beijing Foreign Studies University in
China in January 2020. He obtained a qualification to engage in
futures business from the China Futures Association in March 2019,
and the securities practitioner qualification from the Securities
Association of China in November 2020.
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Directors and Senior Management

EEREREEE

COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. LEUNG Wing Han Sharon (25884 ), was appointed as our
joint company secretary in October 2023.

Ms. Leung is a Director of Corporate Services of Tricor Services
Limited, a global professional services provider specializing in
integrated business, corporate and investor services. Ms. Leung is
a Chartered Secretary, a Chartered Governance Professional and
a Fellow Member of both The Hong Kong Chartered Governance
Institute and The Chartered Governance Institute in the United
Kingdom.

Mr. TAO Qitao (PFFEEiE5t4), appointed as our joint company
secretary in November 2023.

Mr. TAO has over 12 years of experience in legal profession and
corporate governance, and has developed good understanding
of the Listing Rules and the relevant Hong Kong regulatory
requirements.

Prior to joining the Company in June 2023, Mr. Tao served as a
legal specialist or head of risk control and compliance department
respectively in several companies from July 2011 to July 2017. He
served as a comprehensive legal specialist of Yintech Investment
Holdings Limited from July 2017 to June 2023. He has served as a
comprehensive legal specialist of the Company since June 2023.

During his prior experience, Mr. Tao was deeply involved in many
regulatory matters of listed companies’ compliance. Mr. Tao
passed the National Judicial Examination and has obtained legal
qualification, fund qualification and futures qualification in the
PRC. Mr. Tao obtained his bachelor’s degree in law from Shanghai
University of Political Science and Law in July 2011 in the PRC and
his master’s degree in law from East China University of Political
Science and Law in December 2016 in the PRC.
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Directors and Senior Management

CHANGES IN DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

Pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules, the changes in
particulars of Directors and senior management of the Company
during and after the Reporting Period are set out below:

Ms. WANG Ping ceased to serve as a vice president of the
Company with effect from October 25, 2023.

Mr. CHENG Wei ceased to serve as a vice president of the
Company with effect from October 25, 2023.

Ms. LEUNG Wing Han Sharon was appointed as a joint company
secretary of the Company on October 25, 2023. Please refer to the
announcement of the Company dated October 25, 2023 for details.

Mr. QIAN Di ceased to serve as the chief financial officer and a
joint company secretary of the Company from November 10, 2023.
Please refer to the announcement of the Company dated November
10, 2023 for details.

Mr. TAO Qitao was appointed as a joint company secretary of the
Company on November 10, 2023. Please refer to the announcement
of the Company dated November 10, 2023 for details.

Mr. CAl Zi has resigned from his position as the chief executive
officer of the Company with effect from December 20, 2023 and as
an executive Director with effect from April 22, 2024. Please refer to
the announcements of the Company dated December 20, 2023 and
April 22, 2024, respectively, for details.

Mr. CHEN Wenbin has been re-designated from a non-executive
Director to an executive Director, and has been appointed as the
chief executive officer of the Company with effect from December
20, 2023. Please refer to the announcement of the Company dated
December 20, 2023 for details.

Mr. CHEN Jigeng has been re-designated from a non-executive
Director to an executive Director, and has been appointed as the
executive president of the Company with effect from December
20, 2023. Please refer to the announcement of the Company dated
December 20, 2023 for details.

Save as disclosed above, as of the date of this Annual Report, there
is no change in the information of the Directors or chief executive of
the Company which shall be disclosed pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1)
of the Listing Rules.
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Report of the Board
EEEHRE

The Board is pleased to submit this Report of the Board, together
with the consolidated financial statements of the Group for FY2023.

COMPANY OVERVIEW

The Company is an exempted company incorporated in the
Cayman Islands with limited liability on May 3, 2021. The Shares
were listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange on March 10,
2023 (the “Listing Date”).

OUR BUSINESS

The Group is principally engaged in online investment decision-
making solution services. The Group’s operations and geographic
markets are in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”).

The Company is an investment holding company and the principal
business of its major subsidiaries is set out in Note 1 to the
consolidated financial statements.

SUBSIDIARY

Details of the Company’s subsidiaries are set out in Note 13 to the
consolidated financial statements.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased,
sold or redeemed any of the Company'’s listed securities during the
year ended December 31, 2023.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and to the knowledge of the Directors, the Company has
maintained a sufficient public float from the Listing Date to the date
of this Annual Report as required under the Listing Rules.
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OVERVIEW OF THE COMPANY’S
PERFORMANCE DURING THE REPORTING
PERIOD

As required by Schedule 5 to the Companies Ordinance
(Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong), a fair review of the
Group’s business, including an analysis of the Group’s financial
performance and an explanation of the possible future development
of the Group’s business are set out in the “Chairman’s Statement”
and “Management Analysis and Discussion” of this Annual Report.
Such discussions form part of this Annual Report. Events affecting
the Company since the end of the financial year 2023 are set out
in the “Significant Subsequent Events” of this Annual Report. A
description of the main relationships between the Company and
employees, customers and suppliers, as well as other persons
who have a significant influence on the Company is set out in the
section headed “Environmental, Social and Governance Report” of
this Annual Report.

RESULTS OF THE GROUP

The results of the Group during the Reporting Period are set out in
the Consolidated Statements of Profit or Loss in this Annual Report.

DIVIDEND

On March 26, 2024, the Board of Directors proposed the
payment of a final dividend of HKDO0.22 per Share, amounting to
approximately HK$102.5 million, for the year ended December
31, 2023. The source of the proposed dividend payment is from
the share premium. The proposed final dividend is subject to the
approval by shareholders of the Company at the forthcoming
annual general meeting. (2022: HKDQ.5 per Share).

The Company will publish announcement, circular and notice
regarding the forthcoming annual general meeting in accordance
with the Listing Rules and the Articles of Association. The Company
will also make separate announcement regarding the record date
and date of closure of register of members for the payment of the
proposed final dividend of the Company. It is expected that the
proposed final dividend of the Company will be distributed before
July 10, 2024.

Report of the Board
EEERE

KATRREY AEIREME

REE R BRD (BB EPIE622F ) MR8
BE  AEEXBNAFEORE  BEHEE
BB R IR D AT R A SR A R R AT RE
BROGRE  BRAFERSNEFERE ]
RIEBEBDMMW] o ZFIMBAEAF
EHREN -2 - B2023FHHFEER
BRBENFELRRANSEHERATFERE
MIEAMREE]  ARFHEET - FFR
RUBURAMEARTDEEATLENAL
MEZEENFHA > BREAFERENER

B HERERRE -8 -

FEREHRE
REBMPRE R EERNA T ERE T
A GHARR -

Iz 8

20243260 EEREEREEZE2023
F12A31ALEFENRERESR0.22/E
T BEHNAE10255BET c EEHNKRE
THHREZRRNGEE - BERAREAL
AATRRENSETHRRBF RS Lt
HE o (2022%F : HRR0.558TT) ©

AATBRE EHRAIRAMSERAME T2
BRENBRITHRRBERENAE - BE
RBE - ARATRTKBINEBRARE 2
BRREMERT R EEHERFERLA S
SITHEAS - EHAQATRBERARES
A2024F7 B10 B ATIRE o

LS R TSV 49 |



Report of the Board
ESERE

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the consolidated results and of the assets and
liabilities of the Group for the last five financial years, extracted
from the consolidated financial statements, is set out on page
5 of this Annual Report. The summary does not form part of the
consolidated financial statements.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles
of Association or the laws of the Cayman Islands which would
oblige the Company to offer new Shares on a pro-rata basis to the
Shareholders.

TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION

The Company is not aware of any tax relief and exemption available
to our Shareholders by reason of their holding of the Company’s
securities.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the changes in property, plant and equipment of the
Group during the Reporting Period are set out in Note 10 to the
consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARES IN ISSUE

The Company has one class of shares with a nominal value or par
value of HK$0.00001 each.

On April 2, 2023, the Over-allotment Option (as defined in the
Prospectus) was partially exercised in respect of an aggregate
of 318,500 Shares (the “Over-allotment Shares”) and the Over-
allotment Shares were allotted and issued by the Company at the
offer price of HK$17.00 per Share. Net proceeds from the issuance
of such Over-allotment Shares amounted to approximately HK$5.3
million.

During the Reporting Period, details of the changes in the share
capital of the Company and details of the issued shares of the
Company are set out in Note 21 to the consolidated financial
statements.
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RESERVES

Details of the changes in the reserves of the Group in 2023 are set
out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity and Note 21
to the consolidated financial statements.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVE

As at December 31, 2023, the distributable reserve of the Company
is approximately RMB606.5 million (as at December 31, 2022:
Nil). Details of the changes in equity of the Company during the
Reporting Period are set out in the Consolidated Statements of
Changes in Equity.

As at the date of this Annual Report, the Board was not aware that
any Shareholders had waived or agreed to any arrangement to
waive dividends.

DONATIONS

During the Reporting Period, charitable and other donations made
by the Group amounted to approximately RMB5.6 million (2022:
Nil).

BONDS ISSUED
The Group did not issue any bonds during the Reporting Period.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save as disclosed in this Annual Report, no equity-linked
agreements were entered into by the Group, or existed during the
Reporting Period.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY

In accordance with the Articles of Association and applicable
laws and regulations, each Director, auditor or other officer of the
Company shall be entitled to be indemnified out of the assets of
the Company against all losses or liabilities incurred or sustained
by him or her as a director, auditor or other officer of the Company
in defending any proceedings, in which judgment is given in his/
hers favour or civil or criminal proceedings, or in which he/she is
acquitted.

Such permitted indemnity provision is in force during the Reporting
Period. The Company has maintained liability insurance to provide
appropriate cover for the Directors.
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Report of the Board
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BANK LOANS AND OTHER BORROWINGS

As at December 31, 2023, the Group did not have any bank loans
or other borrowings.

LOANS AND GUARANTEES

For the year ended December 31, 2023, the Group did not provide
any loans or loan guarantees, directly or indirectly, to the Directors,
senior management, controlling shareholders of the Company or
any of their respective connected persons.

ASSET PLEDGE

As of December 31, 2023, the Group did not have any assets
pledged.

CURRENT RATIO

As of December 31, 2023, our current ratio was 2.47 (as at
December 31, 2022: 1.47).

GEARING RATIO

As of December 31, 2023, our gearing ratio was 38.4% (as at
December 31, 2022: 61.2%), calculated by dividing total liabilities
by total assets.

MATERIAL INVESTMENT

Save as disclosed in this Annual Report, we did not make or hold
any material investments during 2023.

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS

On December 22, 2023, JF Information, an indirect wholly owned
subsidiary of the Company, entered into an exclusive option
transfer framework agreement to acquire the entire economic
interest in the assets or businesses of Shanghai Beixun through
contractual arrangements (the “Acquisition”). Upon completion of
the Acquisition, the Company shall have the right to consolidate
the financial results of Shanghai Beixun and its subsidiary into
the Group’s financial information as if they were the Company’s
subsidiaries. For details of the Acquisition, please refer to
“Connected Transactions and Continuing Connected Transaction”
in this Annual Report.

Save as disclosed above, the Group did not have any material

acquisitions or disposals of subsidiaries, or associated companies
for the year ended December 31, 2023.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the Reporting Period, revenue from the Group’s top five
customers accounted for 0.05% (2022: 0.05%) of the Group’s
revenue for the year.

During the Reporting Period, the cost of revenue from the Group’s
five largest suppliers accounted for 17.28% (2022: 31.61%) of the
Group’s total purchases for the same year. For the financial year
2023, the Group’s largest supplier accounted for approximately
4.42% (2022: 13.24%) of the Group’s total purchases for the same
year.

During the Reporting Period, the Group did not have any material
disputes with its customers or suppliers.

EMPLOYEE AND REMUNERATION POLICY

As of December 31, 2023, the Group had 2,775 employees. The
total employee compensation expenses, including Directors’
remuneration, was approximately RMB1,079.6 million in 2023. The
remuneration package depends on individual performance, working
experience and prevailing salary levels in the market.

The Group’s remuneration policies are based on the prevailing
market levels and the performance of each member of the Group
and individual employees. These policies are reviewed on a
regular basis. The Group believes that on-going and continuous
development of our employees is critical to our success. Therefore,
we recognize the importance of maintaining a good relationship
with its employees. We provide our employees with tailored training
programmes designed to upgrade their skills and knowledge.
In addition to salaries, we provide other fringe benefits to our
employees, including year-end bonuses, discretionary bonuses,
allowances and benefits in kind and contributions to pension
schemes.

The Group also adopted the Pre-IPO RSU Scheme to reward the
grantees for their services and contribution to the Group. Please
see paragraph “Pre-IPO RSU Scheme” in this section for further
details.

For details of the Directors and the five highest paid individuals
during the Reporting Period, please refer to Note 7 and Note 8 to
the consolidated financial statements. Details of the remuneration
of the Group’s senior management during the Reporting Period
are set out in Note 8 and Note 24(b) to the consolidated financial
statements.
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RETIREMENT AND EMPLOYEE BENEFIT
PLANS

Details of the Company’s retirement and employee benefits are set
out in Note 5 to the consolidated financial statements.

MAJOR RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The Group’s results of operations are affected by various factors.
Some of the major risks we face include:

() We are subject to extensive and evolving regulatory
requirements in the industries we operate in, non-compliance
with which may result in penalties, limitations and prohibitions
on our future business activities or suspension or revocation
of our licenses, and consequently may materially and
adversely affect our business, financial condition, operations
and prospects;

(i) If we are unable to retain existing customers or attract new
customers to purchase or renew our offerings, or if we fail to
provide offerings to address the needs of our customers as
they evolve, our business and results of operations may be
materially and adversely affected;

(i)  We face significant competition in the industry we operate
in, and if we are unable to compete effectively, we may lose
our market share and our results of operations and financial
condition may be materially and adversely affected;

(iv) We cannot guarantee the profitability of the investment
made by our customers, which are prone to unpredictable
market fluctuations and other factors out of our control, and
consequently our business and results of operations may be
materially and adversely affected by such factors; and

(v)  Refunds or potential refund disputes may negatively affect
our cash flow, financial condition, and reputation. As the
foregoing is not exhaustive, investors are advised to exercise
their own judgment or consult their own investment advisers
before making any investment in our shares.

For more details on other risks and uncertainties faced by the

Group, please refer to the section headed “Risk Factors” in the
Prospectus.
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RELATIONSHIPS WITH KEY STAKEHOLDERS

The Group is committed to operating in a sustainable manner while
balancing the interests of all stakeholders, including substantial
shareholders, employees, customers and suppliers.

SHAREHOLDERS

The Group recognizes the importance of protecting shareholders’
interests and effective communication with shareholders. The
Group believes that communication with its shareholders is a
two-way process and has been proactive on ensuring the quality
and effectiveness of information disclosure, maintaining regular
dialogues with the shareholders and carefully listening to the
views and feedback from the shareholders, which will be achieved
through general meetings, corporate communications, interim and
annual reports and results announcements.

EMPLOYEES

The Group recognizes that employees are valuable assets of the
Group, while achieving and enhancing the value of its employees
contributes to the overall goals of the Group. The Group has
been committed to providing the competitive remuneration
package, attractive promotion opportunities and the respectful and
professional working environment to its employees. The Group pays
social insurance and housing provident funds for its employees in
all material respects under applicable PRC laws, regulations and
rules. The Group also provides holiday gifts and annual health
examinations for its employees. The Group will continue to attract
and retain more talents and new talents will be promoted through
merit-based remuneration packages, onboarding training plans and
promotion opportunities.

CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE WITH
CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS

Save as disclosed in this Annual Report, during the year ended
December 31, 2023, no contract of significance (including contract
of significance for the provision of services) have been entered into
between the Company or any of its subsidiaries and the controlling
shareholders or any of its subsidiaries.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

During the year ended December 31, 2023, no contracts
concerning the management and administration of the whole or any
substantial part of the business of the Company were entered into
or terminated.
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ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND
PERFORMANCE

Being a socially responsible enterprise, the Group strives to strictly
comply with the laws and regulations regarding environmental
protection all the time. During the year ended December 31, 2023,
the Group’s business was in compliance with all relevant laws
and regulations regarding environmental protection in all material
respects.

The Company is aware of the importance of environmental
protection. The Company is committed to providing an Eco-Friendly
energy environment for our employees and formulates energy
conservation and emission reduction policies to minimize the
negative impacts on the environment.

For more details, please refer to “Environmental, Social and
Governance Report” in this Annual Report.

COMPLIANCE WITH RELEVANT LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

To the best of our knowledge, the Group has complied in all
material respects with the relevant laws and regulations that have
a significant impact on the business and operation of the Group.
During the Reporting Period, there was no material breach of or
non-compliance with the applicable laws and regulations by the
Group.

MATERIAL LITIGATION

The Directors are also not aware of any material litigation or claims
that are pending or threatened against the Group during or after the
Reporting Period.

PROFILE OF THE BOARD

The Directors who held office during the Reporting Period and as at
the date of this Annual Report are:

Executive Directors

Mr. CHEN Wenbin (Chairman of the Board, who was
re-designated from a non-executive Director to
an executive Director on December 20, 2023)

Mr. CHEN Jigeng (re-designated from
a non-executive Director to an executive Director
on December 20, 2023)

Mr. CAl Zi (resigned as an executive Director with effect from
April 22, 2024)
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Non-executive Directors

Mr. YAN Ming
Ms. CHEN NINGFENG

Independent Non-executive Directors

Dr. ZHAO Guoqing
Mr. FAN Yonghong
Mr. TIAN Shu

BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

Biographical details of the Directors and senior management of the
Company are set out in the section headed “Directors and Senior
Management” of this Annual Report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each executive Director entered into an appointment letter with the
Company on December 20, 2023 for a term of three years due to
the change of chief executive officer and the re-designation of the
Directors. Either party may terminate the relevant agreement by
giving prior written notice. Please refer to the announcement of the
Company dated December 20, 2023 for further details.

Each non-executive Director entered into an appointment letter with
the Company on August 20, 2021 for an initial term of three years
commencing from the Listing Date. Either party may terminate the
relevant agreement by giving prior written notice.

Each independent non-executive Director entered into an
appointment letter with the Company on February 28, 2023 for an
initial term of three years commencing from the Listing Date. Either
party may terminate the relevant agreement by giving prior written
notice.

The above appointments are subject to the provisions on retirement
by rotation and re-election under the Articles of Association.
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None of the Directors nominated for re-election at the forthcoming
Annual General Meeting of the Company has entered into a service
contract with a member of the Group that the Group cannot
terminate within one year without payment of compensation (other
than statutory compensation).

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in this Annual Report, none of the Directors or
any entity related to the Directors had a material interest, either
directly or indirectly, in any transactions, arrangements or contracts
of significance to which the Company, its holding company or any
of its subsidiaries were parties during the year ended December 31,
2023 or by the end of 2023.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES
OR BONDS

Save as disclosed in this Annual Report, at no time during the
Reporting Period was the Company or any of its subsidiaries
participate in any arrangements to enable the Directors of the
Company to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares
or bonds of the Company or any other corporations; and none of
any the Directors, or their spouses or children under the age of
18, had any right to subscribe for equity or debt securities of the
Company or any other corporations, or had exercised any such
right.

REMUNERATION POLICY AND DIRECTORS’
REMUNERATION

In compliance with Rule 3.25 of the Listing Rules and the Corporate
Governance Code, our Company has established Remuneration
Committee to assist the Board in formulating remuneration policies.
Remuneration is determined and recommended based on the
qualification, position and seniority of each Director’s and senior
management. As for our independent non-executive Directors,
their remuneration is determined by our Board based on the
recommendation from the remuneration committee of our Board.
Details of the remuneration of our Directors, senior management
(which is also our key management) and the five highest paid
individuals are set out in Notes 7 and 8 to the consolidated financial
statements.
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None of our Directors waived or agreed to waive any remuneration
and there was no remuneration paid by our Group to any of our
Directors or the five highest paid individuals as an inducement
to join, or upon joining our Group, or as compensation for loss of
office.

During the Reporting Period, the aggregate amount of remuneration
(including basic salaries, housing allowances, other allowances, and
benefits in kind, contributions to pension plans and discretionary
bonuses) for Directors of the Company was approximately
RMB98.4 million (as set out in Note 7 to the consolidated financial
statements).

INTERESTS OF THE DIRECTORS IN
COMPETING BUSINESS

During the Reporting Period, none of the Directors of the Company
controlled any business that was similar to the principal business
of the Group, directly or indirectly competed or might compete with
the Group’s business and was required to be disclosed pursuant to
the Rule 8.10 of the Listing Rules.

INDEPENDENCE OF THE INDEPENDENT
NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has received the letter of independence confirmation
submitted by each independent non-executive Director pursuant to
the Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules, and the Company considers all
such Directors to be independent.

CONTINUING DISCLOSURE OBLIGATIONS
UNDER THE LISTING RULES

Save as disclosed in this Annual Report, the Company does not
have any other disclosure obligations under Rules 13.20, 13.21 and
13.22 of the Listing Rules.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS AND
CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTION

The Group has entered into the following connected transactions
and continuing connected transaction during the year ended
December 31, 2023:
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One-off Connected Transactions

—RIERAER S

On December 22, 2023, JF Information, an indirect wholly
owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into an exclusive
option transfer framework agreement (the “Exclusive Option
Transfer Agreement”) with Shanghai Xieluo, Shanghai
Beixun, the Existing Registered Shareholders and the New
Registered Shareholders, pursuant to which Shanghai Xieluo
conditionally agreed to sell, and JF Information conditionally
agreed to acquire, the entire economic interest in the assets
or businesses of Shanghai Beixun through contractual
arrangements (the “Ownership”) through the following
arrangements among the relevant parties:

()  Shanghai Xieluo, Shanghai Beixun and the Existing
Registered Shareholders shall enter into a termination
agreement to terminate the then existing series of
contractual arrangements entered into among Shanghai
Xieluo, Shanghai Beixun and the Existing Registered
Shareholders on July 1, 2017, pursuant to which
Shanghai Xieluo was able to exercise control over
Shanghai Berixun and consolidate all the economic
benefits generated by Shanghai Beixun and its
subsidiary;

(i) JF Information, Shanghai Beixun and the New
Registered Shareholders shall enter into a new series
of contractual arrangements (the “New Contractual
Arrangements”), which enable JF Information to be
able to exercise control over Shanghai Beixun and
consolidate all the economic benefits generated by
Shanghai Beixun and its subsidiary upon completion of
the acquisition of the Ownership (the “Acquisition”).
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The Acquisition was conducted considering: (i) Shanghai
Beixun is principally engaged in the value-added
telecommunications business; (ii) Zhangzhong Weishi
(Beijing) Technology Co., Ltd. (EF#HE ALt REERA
7)) (“Zhangzhong Weishi”), the wholly-owned subsidiary of
Shanghai Beixun, is principally engaged in the value-added
telecommunications business, audiovisual network services
and production of radio and television program services; (iii)
Shanghai Beixun has been providing management support
and supervising the business operation of Zhangzhong
Weishi, and will, after the completion of the Acquisition, be
also engaged in the provision of audiovisual network services
and production of radio and television program services; and
(iv) as advised by the PRC legal advisor of the Company,
according to applicable PRC laws and regulations, the value-
added telecommunications business (with certain exceptions)
is subject to restriction on foreign ownership, while the
audiovisual network services and production of radio and
television program services strictly prohibit foreign investment,
and JF Information is thus not permitted to acquire any direct
equity interest in either Shanghai Beixun or Zhangzhong
Weishi. Therefore, the New Contractual Arrangements as part
of the Acquisition have been narrowly tailored to achieve the
Company’s business purpose and minimize the potential for
conflict with relevant PRC laws.

The consideration payable by JF Information for the
Acquisition is RMB38,420,000.00, which shall be paid
in instalments. JF Information has also agreed to assist
Shanghai Beixun in repaying its debt for the amount of
RMB31,875,111.75, and to bear the expenses of the operation
of Shanghai Beixun before the closing of the Acquisition
for the amount of no more than RMB10,000,000.00. As at
the date of this Annual Report, the consideration under the
Exclusive Option Transfer Agreement has been fully settled.
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As Shanghai Xieluo was ultimately held by Mr. CHEN
Wenbin, Mr. YAN Ming and Ms. CHEN NINGFENG, all being
Directors and controlling shareholders of the Company, as
to 36.14%, 23.72% and 21.10%, respectively, at the time
of the Acquisition, the Acquisition constitutes a connected
transaction of the Company.

On April 10, 2024, the Acquisition has been completed.

As discussed with the auditor of the Company, the Directors
are of the view that the Company has the right to consolidate
the financial results of Shanghai Beixun and Zhangzhong
Weishi into the Group’s financial information as if they were
the Company’s subsidiaries, and the auditor of the Company
concur with the Directors’ view that the Company has the
right to direct the key activities of and to obtain benefits from
its involvement in Shanghai Beixun and Zhangzhong Weishi
to such an extent that the Company would consolidate
Shanghai Beixun and Zhangzhong Weishi when preparing
its consolidated financial information. As part of the New
Contractual Arrangements, JF Information, Shanghai Beixun
and the New Registered Shareholders have entered into a
loan agreement (the “Loan Agreement”), pursuant to which
JF Information agreed to extend a loan at the amount of no
more than RMB200,000,000 to Shanghai Beixun and the New
Registered Shareholders. The loan is strictly limited to the
purposes as prescribed under the Loan Agreement, of which
any amount extended to the New Registered Shareholders
will be injected into Shanghai Beixun through subscription of
the equity interest of Shanghai Beixun by the New Registered
Shareholders, and will not confer any benefits to the New
Registered Shareholders. For further details of the Acquisition,
the completion of the Acquisition and the New Contractual
Arrangements, please refer to the announcements of the
Company dated December 22, 2023 and April 10, 2024,
respectively.
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For the period from April 17, 2023 to June 30, 2023, certain
subsidiaries of the Company, including Shanghai Fudong,
Shanghai Shangjie, Shanghai Yingma and Shanghai
Jiufangyun, each being an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Company, have entered into ten property leasing
agreements (the “Property Leasing Agreements”) with
Shanghai Xieyu, an associate of Mr. CHEN Wenbin who was
a then Director, including:

(i)

(i)

(iv)

the property leasing agreement dated April 17, 2023
entered into between Shanghai Fudong and Shanghai
Xieyu, pursuant to which Shanghai Fudong agreed to
lease a property from Shanghai Xieyu for the period from
April 17, 2023 to June 30, 2023 at the consideration of
RMB238,918.35 per month;

the property leasing agreement dated May 8, 2023
entered into between Shanghai Fudong and Shanghai
Xieyu, pursuant to which Shanghai Fudong agreed to
lease a property from Shanghai Xieyu for the period
from May 8, 2023 to August 7, 2023 at the consideration
of RMB158,453.80 per month;

the property leasing agreement dated June 30, 2023
entered into between Shanghai Fudong and Shanghai
Xieyu, pursuant to which Shanghai Fudong agreed to
lease a property from Shanghai Xieyu for the period
from July 1, 2023 to June 30, 2024 at the consideration
of RMB514,833.00 per month;

the property leasing agreement dated June 30, 2023
entered into between Shanghai Fudong and Shanghai
Xieyu, pursuant to which Shanghai Fudong agreed to
lease a property from Shanghai Xieyu for the period from
August 8, 2023 to June 30, 2024 at the consideration
of RMB136,553.80 per month (the “Fourth Leasing
Agreement”);

the property leasing agreement dated May 8, 2023
entered into between Shanghai Shangjie and Shanghai
Xieyu, pursuant to which Shanghai Shangjie agreed to
lease a property from Shanghai Xieyu for the period
from May 8, 2023 to August 7, 2023 at the consideration
of RMB116,800.00 per month;
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(vi) the property leasing agreement dated June 30, 2023
entered into between Shanghai Shangjie and Shanghai
Xieyu, pursuant to which Shanghai Shangjie agreed
to lease a property from Shanghai Xieyu for the
period from August 8, 2023 to June 30, 2024 at the
consideration of RMB138,700.00 per month (the “Sixth
Leasing Agreement”, together with the Fourth Leasing
Agreement, the “Original Leasing Agreements”);

(viiy the property leasing agreement dated May 1, 2023
entered into between Shanghai Yingma and Shanghai
Xieyu, pursuant to which Shanghai Yingma agreed to
lease a property from Shanghai Xieyu for the period
from May 1, 2023 to June 30, 2023 at the consideration
of RMB116,857.03 per month;

(viii) the property leasing agreement dated June 30, 2023
entered into between Shanghai Jiufangyun and
Shanghai Xieyu, pursuant to which Shanghai Jiufangyun
agreed to lease a property from Shanghai Xieyu for
the period from July 1, 2023 to June 30, 2024 at the
consideration of RMB238,918.35 per month;

(ix) the property leasing agreement dated June 30, 2023
entered into between Shanghai Jiufangyun and
Shanghai Xieyu, pursuant to which Shanghai Jiufangyun
agreed to lease a property from Shanghai Xieyu for
the period from July 1, 2023 to June 30, 2024 at the
consideration of RMB116,857.03 per month; and

(x)  the property leasing agreement dated June 30, 2023
entered into between Shanghai Jiufangyun and
Shanghai Xieyu, pursuant to which Shanghai Jiufangyun
agreed to lease a property from Shanghai Xieyu for
the period from July 1, 2023 to June 30, 2024 at the
consideration of RMB4,188.38 per month.

For further details of the Property Leasing Agreements,
please refer to the announcement of the Company dated
June 30, 2023. On December 20, 2023, the Original Leasing
Agreements have been terminated and are no longer
effective. Please refer to “2023 Property Leasing Framework
Agreement” below for details.
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Continuing Connected Transaction

On December 20, 2023, JF Information, an indirect wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into a leasing service
framework agreement (the “2023 Property Leasing Framework
Agreement”) with Shanghai Xieyu, an associate of Mr. CHEN
Wenbin who was a then Director, pursuant to which the Group
shall lease properties from Shanghai Xieyu and/or its associates
for office or office-related use. As the parties would enter into
separate agreements under the 2023 Property Leasing Framework
Agreement, covering the scope of the Original Leasing Agreements,
after the 2023 Property Leasing Framework Agreement took
effect, the Original Leasing Agreements have been automatically
terminated and are no longer effective.

The term of the 2023 Property Leasing Framework Agreement
shall commence on January 1, 2024 and expire on December 31,
2026. For further details of the 2023 Property Leasing Framework
Agreement, please refer to the announcement of the Company
dated December 20, 2023.

The transaction contemplated under the 2023 Property Leasing
Framework Agreement constituted a continuing connected
transaction of the Company (the “Continuing Connected
Transaction”) for the year ended December 31, 2023.

Annual Review by the Independent Non-executive
Directors and the Auditor

Our independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the
Continuing Connected Transaction outlined above, and confirmed
that such Continuing Connected Transaction had been entered
into:

(@ inthe ordinary and usual course of business of our Group;
(b) on normal commercial terms or better; and
(c) in accordance with the relevant agreements governing them

on terms that were fair and reasonable and in the interests of
the Company and the Shareholders as a whole.
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The auditor of the Company has performed the relevant procedures
regarding the Continuing Connected Transaction in accordance
with Hong Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000
(Revised) “Assurance Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews
of Historical Financial Information” and with reference to Practice
Note 740 (Revised) “Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected
Transactions under the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. The
auditor has issued its unqualified letter containing its findings and
conclusions in respect of the Continuing Connected Transaction
disclosed by the Group above in accordance with Rule 14A.56 of
the Listing Rules.

The auditor of the Company has performed agreed-upon
procedures regarding the Continuing Connected Transaction
entered into by the Group during the year ended December 31,
2023 as set out above and states that:

1. nothing has come to its attention that causes it to believe
that the Continuing Connected Transaction has not been
approved by the Board;

2. for transactions involving the provision of goods or services
by the Group, nothing has come to its attention that causes
it to believe that the Continuing Connected Transaction was
not, in all material respects, in accordance with the pricing
policies of the Group;

3. nothing has come to its attention that causes it to believe
that the Continuing Connected Transaction was not entered
into, in all material respects, in accordance with the relevant
agreements governing such transactions; and

4.  with respect to the aggregate amount of the Continuing
Connected Transaction, nothing has come to its attention
that causes it to believe that the Continuing Connected
Transaction has exceeded the annual caps set by the
Company.
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Details of material related party transactions of the Group
undertaken in the normal course of business are set out in Note 24
to the consolidated financial statements. Save as disclosed in this
section and other than connected transactions that are exempted
under Rule 14A.73 of the Listing Rules, none of the related party
transactions as disclosed in Note 24 to the consolidated financial
statements falls under the definition of “Connected Transactions”
or “Continuing Connected Transactions” under Chapter 14A of
the Listing Rules. The Company has complied with the disclosure
requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

Save as disclosed in this Annual Report, during the year ended
December 31, 2023, the Company had no connected transactions
or continuing connected transactions which fell to be disclosed in
accordance with the provisions under Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules in relation to the disclosure of connected transactions and
continuing connected transactions.
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INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF THE
DIRECTORS AND THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE

IN SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

As at December 31, 2023, the interests or short positions of the
Directors and chief executive of the Company in the Shares,
underlying Shares or debentures of our Company or any of its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO),
which have been notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including
interests and short positions which they were taken or deemed to
have under such provisions of the SFO) or required to be recorded
in the register required to be kept by the Company, pursuant to
Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange under the Model Code, were as follows:

EERESTRASRRG - #
AR SRR P AR ER R

:
R

A2023F12H31H » KRR EER RS
BAERARABREMEAEREZE (E&
BAEBSREBERG) BEXVER) MG - 18
ARNIEEZHHEERB(ESZRBER
f5) EEXVERSE TR B8 D ERE B AN T R B
RN EREA S (BRERE(ESFRBER
B NZERNEEFERFERAEENESR
R%XR)  DARARBEZRIBERHD
FEI2E A AT EEENETMAOERRA
2 RRBZESFRIBANE AN T R AT
HRESZSARNT :

Approximate

Number of percentage Long/Short
Name of Directors Type/Nature of interest ordinary shares of equity?” positions
{ERRHERE Y

EEpE ELER MY TEREE =574 138 %A

Mr. CHEN Wenbin Interest in controlled corporation®, 299,925,000 64.35%  Long positions
interests held jointly with another person®

BRI EE RELEERY  EHMA THEHENERY 299,925,000 64.35% &

Mr. YAN Ming Interest in controlled corporation®, 299,925,000 64.35%  Long positions
interests held jointly with another person®

BHELE TEEERERO  EHMA T HERENER 299,925,000 64.35% 3y

Ms. CHEN NINGFENG Interest in controlled corporation®), 299,925,000 64.35%  Long positions
interests held jointly with another person®

CHEN NINGFENGZ+  Z#EZE#EZC - EHMA T HEFANERY 299,925,000 64.35% %R

Mr. CHEN Jigeng Beneficial interest® 14,215,000 3.05% Long positions

RERLE BHERO 14,215,000 3.05% 5}

Mr. CAl Zi Beneficial interest® 7,110,000 1.53% Long positions

TFRE BiERe 7,110,000 1.53% R
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Notes:

Mr. CHEN Wenbin holds all the issued Shares in each of Coreworth
Investments Limited (“Coreworth”) and Embrace Investments Limited
(“Embrace Investments”). Under the SFO, Mr. CHEN Wenbin is
deemed to be interested in the 100,000,000 Shares and the 40,615,000
Shares held by Coreworth and Embrace Investments, respectively.

Mr. YAN Ming holds all the issued Shares in Harmony Creek Investments
Limited (“Harmony Creek”). Under the SFO, Mr. YAN Ming is deemed
to be interested in the 84,310,000 Shares held by Harmony Creek.

Ms. CHEN NINGFENG holds all the issued Shares in Rich Horizon
Investments Limited (‘Rich Horizon”). Under the SFO, Ms. CHEN
NINGFENG is deemed to be interested in the 75,000,000 Shares held
by Rich Horizon.

Each of Mr. CHEN Wenbin, Mr. YAN Ming and Ms. CHEN NINGFENG
has been acting in concert since January 1, 2018. As such, under
the SFO, each of Mr. CHEN Wenbin, Mr. YAN Ming and Ms. CHEN
NINGFENG is deemed to be interested in the Shares held by each other.

Mr. CHEN Jigeng is entitled to receive 14,215,000 Shares pursuant to
the Awards granted to him under the Pre-IPO RSU Scheme, subject to
vesting conditions. Please see paragraph “Pre-IPO RSU Scheme” in this
section for further details.

Mr. CAl Zi is entitled to receive 7,110,000 Shares pursuant to the
Awards granted to him under the Pre-IPO RSU Scheme, subject to
vesting conditions. Please see paragraph “Pre-IPO RSU Scheme” in this
section for further details.

The calculation is based on the total number of 466,087,000 Company’s
Shares in issue as at December 31, 2023.

GEE
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Save as disclosed above, as at December 31, 2023, none of
the Directors or the chief executive of our Company had or was
deemed to have the interests or short positions in the Shares,
underlying Shares or debentures of our Company or any of its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
SFO) which were required to be notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the
SFO (including interests and short positions which they were taken
or deemed to have taken under such provisions of the SFO), or
required to be recorded in the register required to be kept by the
Company pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the
Model Code.

INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF THE
SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS IN SHARES
AND UNDERLYING SHARES

As at December 31, 2023, to the best knowledge of the Directors of
the Company, the following parties (except for the Directors or the
chief executive of the Company) had interests or short positions in
the Shares or underlying Shares of the Company which fall to be
disclosed to the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and
3 of Part XV of the SFO, or required to be recorded in the register
required to be kept by the Company pursuant to section 336 of the
SFO:

Name of Shareholders Type/Nature of interest

BREE, B EREE HE

Coreworth Investments Limited Beneficial interest®
(“Coreworth”)

Coreworth Investments Limited
([ Coreworth )

BESER0

Embrace Investments Limited Beneficial interest®
(“Embrace Investments”)
Embrace Investments Limited

([Embrace Investments])

5oy ol
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Approximate

Number of percentage of Long/Short
ordinary shares equity® positions
G RRHERE LY

TiEREE BaLLe 138 %e
100,000,000 21.46% Long positions
100,000,000 21.46% HE
40,615,000 8.711% Long positions
40,615,000 8.71% %R



Name of Shareholders

KRS, EHE

Harmony Creek Investments Limited
(“Harmony Creek”)

Harmony Creek Investments Limited
(THarmony Creek )

Rich Horizon Investments Limited
(“Rich Horizon”)
Rich Horizon Investments Limited

(['Rich Horizon )

The Core Trust Company Limited
The Core Trust Company Limited

TCT (BVI) Limited
TCT (BVI) Limited

RSU Holding Entity
ERERHECFEER

Type/Nature of interest

ERED HE

Beneficial interest®

Bo N gHEN g

Trustee®

FHAY

Interest in controlled
corporation
2 EEERY

Beneficial interest®
Bit i

Number of

ordinary shares

TiEREE
84,310,000

84,310,000

75,000,000
75,000,000
28,430,000
28,430,000
28,430,000
28,430,000

28,430,000
28,430,000
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Approximate
percentage of
equity®

G RRHERE LY
EpAl
18.09%

18.09%

16.09%
16.09%
6.10%
6.10%
6.10%
6.10%

6.10%
6.10%

Long/Short
positions

138/ %A
Long positions

LSp)

Long positions

4

mp

Long positions
3y

Long positions

Sp)

Long positions

3y
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Notes:

©)

Mr. CHEN Wenbin holds all the issued Shares in each of Coreworth and
Embrace Investments. Under the SFO, Mr. CHEN Wenbin is deemed
to be interested in the 100,000,000 Shares and the 40,615,000 Shares
held by Coreworth and Embrace Investments, respectively.

Mr. YAN Ming holds all the issued Shares in Harmony Creek. Under
the SFO, Mr. YAN Ming is deemed to be interested in the 84,310,000
Shares held by Harmony Creek.

Ms. CHEN NINGFENG holds all the issued Shares in Rich Horizon.
Under the SFO, Ms. CHEN NINGFENG is deemed to be interested in the
75,000,000 Shares held by Rich Horizon.

The Core Trust Company Limited, as a trustee, holds the Shares
underlying the RSUs under the Pre-IPO RSU Scheme through RSU
Holding Entity. RSU Holding Entity is wholly owned by TCT (BVI) Limited,
which is in turn wholly owned by The Core Trust Company Limited.

The calculation is based on the total number of 466,087,000 Company’s
Shares in issue as at December 31, 2023.

Save as disclosed above, as at December 31, 2023, based on
publicly available information, no other person (other than the
Directors and the chief executive of the Company) had interests
or short positions in the Shares or underlying Shares which would
fall to be disclosed to our Company under provisions of Division 2
and 3 in Part XV of the SFO, or which would be required, pursuant
to section 336 of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to
therein.
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PRE-IPO RSU SCHEME

The following is a summary of the principal terms of the Pre-
IPO RSU Scheme approved and adopted by a resolution of the
Board dated June 1, 2021 (the “Adoption Date”) and amended on
February 20, 2023. The Pre-IPO RSU Scheme is not subject to the
provisions of Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules as it does not involve
any grant of share options or awards by our Company after the
Listing.

a. Purpose

The purpose of the Pre-IPO RSU Scheme is to reward the
grantees for their services and contribution to the success
of the Group, and to provide incentives to them to further
contribute to the Group.

b. RSU Awards

An award of RSUs under the Pre-IPO RSU Scheme
(“Award(s)”) gives the participant (the “RSU Participant”) a
contingent right upon vesting of the Award to obtain either
Shares or an equivalent value in cash with reference to the
market value of the Shares underlying such Award on or
about the date of vesting, as determined by the Board in its
sole discretion.

c. Participants

Persons eligible to receive RSUs under the Pre-IPO RSU
Scheme are any director, full-time or part-time employee of
the Group who the Board considers, in its sole discretion, has
contributed or will contribute to the Group (the “RSU Eligible
Persons”). Our Board selects the RSU Eligible Persons
to receive Awards under the Pre-IPO RSU Scheme at its
discretion.

d. Terms

The Pre-IPO RSU Scheme will be valid and effective for
a period of ten (10) years, commencing on the Adoption
Date (the “Scheme Period”), after which period no further
Awards shall be granted or accepted, but the provisions of
the Pre-IPO RSU Scheme shall remain in full force and effect
in order to give effect to the vesting of Awards granted and
accepted prior to the expiration of the Scheme Period.
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Grant and Acceptance

An offer to grant RSUs will be made to a RSU Eligible
Person selected by our Board (the “RSU Selected
Person”) by a letter, in such form as our Board may
determine (the “RSU Grant Letter”). The RSU Grant
Letter will specify the RSU Selected Person’s name,
the manner of acceptance of the RSU, the last date for
acceptance by the RSU Selected Person, the number
of RSUs granted and the number of underlying Shares
represented by the RSUs, the vesting criteria (where
applicable), the vesting schedule and such other terms
and conditions that the Board may determine at its
discretion.

A RSU Selected Person may accept an offer of the
grant of RSUs by signing the RSU Grant Letter and
acceptance notice attached thereto. Upon the receipt
from the RSU Selected Person of a duly executed
acceptance notice, the RSUs are deemed granted
from the date of the RSU Grant Letter (the “RSU
Grant Date”). No amount shall be payable by the
RSU Selected persons for the acceptance of the grant
of RSU. Upon acceptance, a RSU Selected Person
becomes a RSU Participant under the Pre-IPO RSU
Scheme.

JF Wealth Holdings Ltd Annual Report 2023

e.

R IH R =R

ESEUUEBEERAR M
(1 52 BR51 B 3 BE L 4R H £ |) [0 45
ESEMENZRIRDELS
BERATL ([ ZR$IMHEME
BALTDBRERHZRERODE
UWEY - IRHRDEMRE
RAEPIAZREIRDEMEREA
THEM - SRR EMAE
A ZRFRDEMREREA
TEANESLRE  ZRERG
BURHEE RZREIROEM
FRERNAEBROHBE  BEXE
Bl (mER) - RERERRES
SEERE B2 E H AR 5%
o

ZRERMDEMEREALAIEE
32 BRI AR 40 BB AL 5%t R R BB Y Y
BEANIE AN DU A R L R PR AR 42
BUMNELD - FWREIZREIR G
BURRBATECZRAEZNER
BAR  ZRFRDELERS
BXMREIRDEMRERE L2
A (I ZR#IRGEMRLE ) E
R - ZIRBIRGEMEEAL
BAREARHNZREIRHE
U EMRE - EZRE - ZR
FIRDEMEREALTRBERR
MBS X RHIRDEMLT S
ZRERMDEMLSEE -



Our Board may not grant any Awards to any RSU
Selected Persons in any of the following circumstances:

° the requisite approvals for such grant from any
applicable regulatory authorities have not been
obtained;

° the securities laws or regulations require that a
prospectus or other offering documents be issued
in respect of the grant of the Awards or in respect
of the Pre-IPO RSU Scheme, unless our Board
determines otherwise;

° where granting the Awards would result in a
breach by the Group or any of its directors or
senior management of any applicable laws, rules
or regulations; or

° where such grant of any Awards would result in a
breach of the limits of the Pre-IPO RSU Scheme.

Maximum number of Shares pursuant to the Awards

Unless otherwise duly approved by the shareholders of the
Company, the Shares in aggregate underlying all Awards
made pursuant to the Pre-IPO RSU Scheme (excluding the
Awards that have lapsed or been cancelled in accordance
with the rules of the Pre-IPO RSU Scheme) and any other
schemes of the Company shall not exceed 10% of the
number of Shares in issue as at the Adoption Date (the
“Scheme Mandate Limit”).

Upon completion of the Capitalization Issue and the Global
Offering, the number of Shares held by the RSU Holding
Entity shall be 28,430,000 Shares, representing 6.10% of the
issued Shares immediately upon completion of the Global
Offering.
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Rights attached to the Awards

A RSU Participant does not have any contingent interest
in any Shares underlying the RSUs unless and until these
Shares are actually transferred to the RSU Participant from
the RSU Trustee. Further, a RSU Participant may not exercise
voting rights in respect of the Shares underlying the RSUs
prior to their vesting and, unless otherwise specified by our
Board in its entire discretion in the RSU Grant Letter to the
RSU Participant, nor do they have any rights to any cash or
non-cash income, dividends or distributions and/or the sale
proceeds of non-cash and non-scrip distributions from any
Shares underlying the RSUs.

Rights attached to Shares

Any Shares transferred to a RSU Participant in respect of any
Award will be subject to all the provisions of the Articles and
will rank pari passu with the fully paid Shares in issue on the
date of the transfer or, if that date falls on a day when the
register of members of our Company is closed, the first day
of the reopening of the register of members, and accordingly
will entitle the holder to participate in all dividends or other
distributions paid or made on or after the date of the transfer
or, if that date falls on a day when the register of members of
our Company is closed, the first day of the reopening of the
register of members. As at the date of this Annual Report, the
Company has only one class of Shares.

Assignment of Awards

The Awards granted pursuant to the Pre-IPO RSU Scheme
are personal to each RSU Participant, and are not assignable.
RSU Participants are prohibited from selling, transferring,
assigning, charging, mortgaging, encumbering, hedging or
creating any interest in favor of any other person over or in
relation to any property held by the RSU Trustee (as defined
below) on trust for the RSU Participants, the Awards, or any
interest or benefits therein.
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Vesting of Awards

Our Board has the sole discretion to determine the vesting
criteria (if any) and the time schedule when the Awards will
vest, which may also be adjusted and re-determined by our
Board from time to time.

The RSU Participant may be required to execute, after
fulfilment of the vesting period, vesting criteria (if any), certain
documents that the Company considers necessary (which
may include, without limitation, a certification to the Group
that he has complied with all the terms and conditions set
out in the Pre-IPO RSU Scheme and the RSU Grant Letter).
Unless otherwise determined by the Board, in the event that
the RSU Participant fails to execute the required documents
(if any) within the time period as specified by the Company,
the vested Shares will lapse. Unless otherwise determined
by the Board and stated in the RSU Grant Letter, the RSU
Participant is not required to achieve any performance target
before the Award is vested.

Cancellation of Awards

The Board may at any time at its absolute discretion cancel
any Awards granted but not vested. Where the Company
cancels Awards and new Awards are to be issued to the same
RSU Participant, the issue of such new Awards may only be
made with the available Scheme Mandate Limit.

Clawback Mechanism

The Board may, at its absolute discretion, determine such
malus and/or clawback provisions to be applied to an Award
so as to provide, upon the occurrence of the applicable
malus and/or clawback event(s) such as serious misconduct
and fraud. If the Board exercises its discretion under this
provision, it will give the relevant RSU Participant a written
notice of such determination and the Board’s interpretation
of and determination pursuant to this provision shall be final,
conclusive and binding.
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Reorganization of Capital Structure

In the event of an alteration in the capital structure of
the Company whilst any RSU has not vested by way of
capitalisation of profits or reserves, bonus issue, rights issue,
open offer, subdivision or consolidation of shares, reduction
of the share capital of the Company or otherwise howsoever
in accordance with legal requirements and requirements of
the Stock Exchange, such corresponding alterations (if any)
shall be made to the number or nominal amount of Shares
subject to the RSU, to give a RSU Participant the same
proportion (or rights in respect of the same proportion) of
the share capital of the Company as that to which that RSU
Participant was previously entitled.

Alternation of the Pre-IPO RSU Scheme

The terms of the Pre-IPO RSU Scheme may be altered,
amended or waived in any respect by the Board.

Termination of the Pre-IPO RSU Scheme

The Pre-IPO RSU Scheme may be terminated at any time
prior to the expiry of the Scheme Period by the Board
provided that such termination shall not affect any subsisting
rights of any RSU Participant. No further Awards shall be
granted after the Pre-IPO RSU Scheme is terminated but in
all other respects the provisions of the Pre-IPO RSU Scheme
shall remain in full force and effect. Awards granted prior to
such termination and not vested on the date of termination
shall remain valid.
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Appointment of the RSU Trustee

Our Company has appointed The Core Trust Company
Limited as the trustee (the “RSU Trustee”) and the RSU
Holding Entity as the settlor of the Pre-IPO RSU Scheme
to assist in the administration of the Pre-IPO RSU Scheme.
Our Company may (i) direct and procure the RSU Trustee
to transfer the Shares underlying the Award(s) to the RSU
Participant or its wholly owned entity or (ii) pay, or direct and
procure the RSU Trustee to pay, to the RSU Participant in
cash an amount which is equivalent to the value of the Shares
(and, if applicable, the cash or non-cash income, dividends
or distributions and/or the sale proceeds of non-cash
and non-scrip distributions in respect of these Shares) in
accordance with the terms of the Pre-IPO RSU Scheme by
making on-market sales of such Shares or utilising the cash in
the property held on the terms of the trust (the “Trust Funds”)
as determined by the Trustee in its absolute discretion and
after deduction or withholding of any tax, fines, levies, stamp
duty and other charges applicable to the entitlement of the
RSU Participant and the sales of any Shares to fund such
payment and in relation thereto.

Taxes

The grantee shall pay all taxes, stamp duty and other levies
that may be assessed or assessable on any transfer or Shares
or any payments made by our Company or the RSU Trustee
under the Pre-IPO RSU Scheme and all payments required to
be made hereunder by our Company shall be subject to the
deduction or withholding of any payment or transfer of any
kind otherwise due to the grantee, and the grantee agrees
to indemnify and keep our Company (for itself and for any
members of our Group), the Trustee and RSU Holding Entity
indemnified in respect of any such liability, obligation or loss
and accepts any claim in respect of such indemnity may be
satisfied by set-off against any sums due from our Company,
any member of our Group, the Trustee and/or RSU Holding
Entity to such grantee from time to time.
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Rights on a takeover

If a general offer to acquire the Shares (whether by takeover
offer, merger, or otherwise in a like manner) is made to all of
our Shareholders (or Shareholders other than the offeror and/
or any person controlled by the offeror and/or any person
acting in concert with the offeror) and the general offer to
acquire the Shares is approved and the offer becomes or is
declared unconditional in all respects, a RSU Participant’s
RSUs will vest immediately, even if the vesting period has not
yet commenced.

Rights on a compromise or arrangement

If a compromise or arrangement between our Company and
our Shareholders or creditors is proposed in connection
with a scheme for the reconstruction of our Company or
its amalgamation with any other company or companies
and a notice is given by our Company to our Shareholders
to convene a general meeting to consider and if thought
fit approve such compromise or arrangement and such
Shareholders’ approval is obtained, the Board may determine
at its absolute discretion and specify in a notice the period
within which such RSU shall vest and the date on which the
unvested RSU shall lapse.

Rights on a voluntary winding up

If an effective resolution is passed during the Scheme Period
for the voluntary winding-up of the Company (other than for
the purposes of a reconstruction, amalgamation or scheme
of arrangement) prior to the vesting, all outstanding RSUs
shall be treated as having vested immediately to an extent
specified in a notice given by the Company provided that
all unexercised Awards must be exercised and effected
by no later than one business day before the day of the
proposed general meeting to be convened for the purpose
of considering, and if thought fit, approving a resolution
to voluntarily wind-up the Company (or to pass written
resolutions of the shareholders to the same effect).
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Lapse of Awards

Any unvested Award will automatically lapse immediately
where:

o such RSU Participant’s employment or service
terminates for any reason; or

° is concerned during the course of his employment with
our Group (without the prior written consent of our
Company) with any (competitive or other) business other
than that of our Group; or

° such RSU Participant’s ceases to be an Eligible Person
as determined by the Board for any reason; or

° the RSU Participant makes any attempt or takes any
action to sell, transfer, assign, charge, mortgage,
encumber, hedge or create any interest in favor of any
other person over or in relation to any RSUs or any
interests or benefits pursuant to the RSUs; or

o the Company commences winding-up.

Reorganization of capital structure

In the event of any of capitalisation of profits or reserves, bonus
issue, rights issue, open offer, subdivision or consolidation
of shares, reduction of the share capital of our Company,
our Board may make such corresponding adjustments to
the number or nominal amount of Shares underlying the
outstanding RSUs, as the auditors or an independent financial
advisor approved by the Company shall certify in writing.
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Amendment of the Scheme

The terms of the Pre-IPO RSU Scheme may be altered,
amended or waived in any respect by the Board provided
that such alteration, amendment or waiver shall not affect any
subsisting rights of any grantee. Any alteration, amendment
or waiver to the Pre-IPO RSU Scheme of a material nature
shall be approved by the shareholders of the Company. The
Board shall have the right to determine whether any proposed
alteration, amendment or waiver is material and such
determination shall be conclusive.

Termination

Our Board may terminate the Pre-IPO RSU Scheme at any
time before the expiry of the Pre-IPO RSU Scheme Period. No
further RSUs shall be granted after the Pre-IPO RSU Scheme
is terminated but in all other respects the provisions of the
Pre-IPO RSU Scheme shall remain in full force and effect in
respect and all RSUs granted prior to such termination and
not vested on the date of termination shall remain valid. The
Board shall notify the RSU Trustee and all RSU Participants
of such termination and of how the Shares held by the RSU
Trustee on trust and other interests or benefits in relation to
the outstanding Awards shall be dealt with.

Administration of the Scheme

Our Board has the power to administer the Pre-IPO RSU
Scheme, including the power to construe and interpret the
rules of the Pre-IPO RSU Scheme. Any decision of the Board
made in accordance with the rules of the Pre-IPO RSU
Scheme shall be final and binding, provided in each case that
such decision is made in accordance with the Articles and
any applicable laws.
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aa.

The Board has appointed the RSU Trustee to administer
the granting and vesting of RSUs granted to the RSU
Participant pursuant to the Pre-IPO RSU Scheme. Subject to
any applicable laws, regulations and rules, the powers and
obligations of the RSU Trustee will be limited as set forth in
the trust deed, and the RSU Trustee will hold the Trust Funds
in accordance with the terms of the trust deed and the RSU
Trustee will hold the Shares which are part of the Trust Funds.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, the RSU Trustee shall not
exercise any voting rights in respect of any Shares held under
the Trust or as nominee. Subject to compliance with the
laws of the Cayman Islands and the Articles, the Company
shall provide such assistance as may be appropriate or
necessary to enable the RSU Trustee to satisfy its obligations
in connection with the administration and vesting of Awards
granted to the RSU Participant pursuant to the Pre-IPO RSU
Scheme.

General

An application has been made to the Listing Committee of
the Stock Exchange for the listing of, and permission to deal
in, new Shares underlying the RSUs that have been granted
pursuant to the Pre-IPO RSU Scheme.

No Effect on Contract of Employment

The Pre-IPO RSU Scheme shall not form part of any contract
of employment or for services between our Group and any
RSU Participant and the rights and obligations of any RSU
Participant under the terms of his office, employment or
provision of services shall not be affected by the participation
of the RSU Participants in the Pre-IPO RSU Scheme or any
rights which he may have to participate in it and the Pre-IPO
RSU Scheme shall afford such a RSU Participant no additional
rights to compensation or damages in consequence of the
termination of such office, employment or engagement for
any reason.

aa.
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bb. Awards granted bb.

As at the date of this Annual Report, the Company has
granted Awards with an aggregate of 28,430,000 underlying
Shares, representing 6.10% of the issued Shares immediately
upon completion of the Global Offering.

Details of the Awards granted pursuant to the Pre-IPO RSU
Scheme to our Director and employee are set out below:

Position held
Name of Participants within the Group Grant Date
smERE AR BRI R BH
Directors
EF
Mr. CHEN Jigeng Executive Director February 3, 2023
(re-designated from a
non-executive Director with
effect from December 20, 2023)
REREE HTES (K023 125204 2023%2A3A
HHEHTEEZRERHATEE)
Mr. CAl Zi Executive Director February 3, 2023
(Resigned on April 22, 2024)
TFERE HITEE (Ro024F4 22 AFF) 2023%2A3A
Employee
/1
An employee of the Company February 3, 2023
NGl 2023F2A3H
Notes:

(1)  The Awards granted will vest pursuant to the following schedule:
40% of which will be vested upon second anniversary of the grant
date, 20% of which will be vested upon the third, fourth and fifth
anniversary of the grant date, respectively.

(2)  The fair value of the Awards at the RSU Grant Date was
approximately RMB398,992,983. The accounting standards and
policies adopted as well as methodology and assumptions used
are set out in “Note 1 Material accounting policies - (n) Employee
benefits” to the consolidated financial statements.
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As at December 31, 2023, none of the Awards were vested or
cancelled or lapsed and all of the Awards were outstanding.
As all Shares underlying the outstanding Awards have already
been issued to RSU Holding Entity, the outstanding Awards
will not have any dilutive effect on the shareholding of the
Company.

USE OF PROCEEDS FROM THE GLOBAL
OFFERING

The Company was successfully listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange on March 10, 2023, and the Over-allotment Option
(as defined in the Prospectus) was partially exercised on April 2,
2028. For further details of the use of proceeds from the Global
Offering of the Company, please refer to “Management Analysis
and Discussion” in this Annual Report.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company is committed to maintaining high standards of
corporate governance practices. Information on the corporate
governance practices adopted by the Company is set out in the
section headed “Corporate Governance Report” of this Annual
Report.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Board has established the Audit Committee, which consists of
the independent non-executive Directors, being Dr. ZHAO Guoging
(chairman), Mr. FAN Yonghong and Mr. TIAN Shu. The primary
duties of the Audit Committee are to review and supervise the
financial reporting process and internal control of the Company.

The Audit Committee, together with the management and auditor of
our Company, has reviewed the accounting principles and policies
adopted by the Group and the consolidated financial statements for
the year ended December 31, 2023.

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements of the Group have been
audited by KPMG. The firm, a Certified Public Accountant and
registered Public Interest Entity Auditor, will retire at the forthcoming
AGM of the Company and, being eligible, offer themselves for
re-election.
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SIGNIFICANT SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

On January 3, 2023, the Company entered into an equity transfer
agreement to conditionally acquire the entire equity interest of
Shanghai Woruiou Information Technology Co., Ltd. (the “Proposed
Acquisition”). Please see “History, Reorganization and Corporate
Structure — Proposed Acquisition after the Track Record Period” in
the Prospectus for further details. As of March 2024, the Proposed
Acquisition has been terminated.

On March 8, 2024, JF Information, an indirect wholly owned
subsidiary of the Company, entered into an equity transfer
agreement to conditionally acquire the entire equity interest
of Guangfa Insurance (the “Guangfa Acquisition”). The total
consideration payable by JF Information for the Guangfa
Acquisition is RMB52,000,000. Please refer to the announcement of
the Company dated March 8, 2024 for further details.

On March 26, 2024, the Board has approved a plan (the “Proposed
Share Buy-back Plan”) to exercise the general mandate to buy
back Shares. The maximum amount of fund intended to be used
for the Proposed Share Buy-back Plan is HKD200 million and the
maximum number of Shares is 46,608,700 Shares. Please refer
to the announcement of the Company dated March 26, 2024 for
further details.

On April 22, 2024, the Group agreed to extend the term of the
Asset Manage Plan in accordance with the Asset Management
Agreements. Please refer to the announcement of the Company
dated April 22, 2024 for further details.

Save as disclosed in this Annual Report, there were no important
events affecting the Company which occurred from the end of the
Reporting Period to the date of this Annual Report.

On behalf of the Board
Mr. CHEN Wenbin

Chairman
China, April 22, 2024
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The Board is pleased to report to our Shareholders on the corporate
governance of the Company for the year ended December 31,
2023.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CULTURE AND
STRATEGIES

We are a leading online investment decision-making solution
provider in China with a focus on the online investor content service
market. We offer various software to help individual investors better
understand the financial market and make investment plans or
decisions. We declare that the Shareholders are important to the
Board and the Group as a whole, and are committed to providing
diversified and reliable products and services that create value for
Shareholders through sustainable growth and development.

The Board provides guidance on the conduct and behavior of the
employees and business activities of the Group by setting out the
following values and ensuring that these values are integrated into
the Company’s vision, mission, policies and business strategies:

Customer focus, teamwork, concentration, compliance, embracing
changes, innovation, living seriously and working happily.

The Group will continuously review its business strategies and
adjust them when necessary, and keep abreast of the evolving
market conditions to ensure prompt and proactive measures to
respond to changes and meet market demand, thereby promoting
the sustainable development of the Group.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Board is committed to achieving corporate governance
standards. The Board believes that a high standard of corporate
governance is essential in providing a framework for the Group
to protect the interests of shareholders, improve corporate
value, formulate business strategies and policies, and enhance
transparency and accountability.

The Board has adopted the principles and code provisions as set
out in the CG Code and Corporate Governance Report contained in
Appendix C1 (formerly known as Appendix 14) to the Listing Rules.
Continuous efforts are made to review and enhance the Group’s
internal controls and procedures in light of changes in regulations
and developments in best practices.
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The Board has reviewed the Company’s corporate governance
practices and is satisfied that the Company has complied with all
the code provisions of the CG Code for the period from the Listing
Date to December 31, 2023, save and except for the deviation from
code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code as disclosed in the section
below headed “Chairman and Chief Executive Officer” of this
Annual Report.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code as set out in Appendix
C3 (formerly known as Appendix 10) to the Listing Rules as its own
code of conduct regarding Directors’ dealings in the securities of
the Company.

The Company has made specific enquiry to all Directors and all
Directors have confirmed that they have complied with the Model
Code for the period from the Listing Date to December 31, 2023.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Company is led by an effective Board, which assumes
the responsibility of leadership and control and is collectively
responsible for promoting the success of the Company by directing
and overseeing the affairs of the Company. The Directors make
decisions objectively in the best interests of the Company.

The Board strikes a balance between the diversity of skills,
experience and perspectives to meet the requirements of the
Company’s business, and regularly reviews the contributions
required of the Directors to fulfill their responsibilities to the
Company, as well as whether the Directors have spent sufficient
time fulfilling the duties related to their roles and the responsibilities
of the Board. The Board consists of a balanced composition of
executive and non-executive directors (including independent
non-executive directors) so that there is a strong independent
component on the Board that can exercise independent judgment
effectively.
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Board Composition

As at December 31, 2023, the Board comprised the following eight
Directors.

Mr. CHEN Wenbin (Chairman of the Board, who was
re-designated from a non-executive Director
to an executive Director and appointed as
the chief executive officer of the Company
with effect from December 20, 2023)

Mr. CHEN Jigeng (re-designated from a non-executive Director
to an executive Director and appointed as
the executive president of the Company with

effect from December 20, 2023)

Mr. CAl Zi (resigned as the chief executive officer of
the Company with effect from December 20,
2023 and as executive Director with effect
from April 22, 2024)

Mr. YAN Ming

Ms. CHEN NINGFENG

Dr. ZHAO Guoging
Mr. FAN Yonghong
Mr. TIAN Shu

The biographical details of the Directors are set out in the section
headed “Directors and Senior Management” of this Annual
Report. The relationships among the Directors are disclosed in the
biographical details of each Director in the section headed “Directors
and Senior Management” of this Annual Report. Save as disclosed
above, there are no relationships (including financial, business,
family or other material/relevant relationships) among the members
of the Board.

Board Meeting

The Company adopts the practice of holding Board meetings
regularly, at least four times a year either in person or through
electronic means of communication and at approximately quarterly
intervals. Notices of not less than fourteen days are given for all
regular Board meetings to provide all Directors with an opportunity
to attend and include matters in the agenda for regular Board
meetings.

m JF Wealth Holdings Ltd Annual Report 2023

EETHER
HZE2023F12H831H » EE2HLUTSRE
AR

PR MITE (BESEEEFE » R2023F 12820
BEEFHTEEATAHNTE
= WEZEEERATEERT
B)

PRE BRI (FR2023F 12 A20 HHIEHITE
EATEHTES  WEZETA

KATITHER)

FFHEE (R2023F12 B20HEHEARRA T
ZEEHITE s N20245F4 722
HEEHITES)

BRELE

CHEN NINGFENGZ *

HEERL
SEEREE

HEF L

ESNERENAFEREEERSNE
BE -6 ESCBNBREAFERS
[EEReREER |- HHhEESNEET
RE - REXREEN  EBEHE 2B
EEMUER (BEME 2% JKRIHM
BERHERR)

EEEES
RARFAZOBEERRTORESES
Z(RENEREFBAFRINES - AX
BEZRT-R FEFRESSERAR
HADPR+TERBERN - UEZEESER
HERENREERESSSRERTNE
Ig o



Corporate Governance Report

For other Board meetings and Board committee meetings,
reasonable notice is generally given. Minutes of meetings are kept
by the company secretary of the Company with copies circulated to
all Directors for information and records.

If a substantial shareholder or a Director has a conflict of interest
in a matter to be considered by the Board which the Board has
determined to be material, the matter shall be dealt with by holding
a physical Board meeting rather than by a written resolution.
The independent non-executive Directors who and whose close
associates, have no material interest in the transactions, should
attend and vote at such Board meeting.

Fourteen board meetings were convened during the year ended
December 31, 2023 and the attendances of each Director at these
meetings are set out as follows:
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Executive Directors

Mr. CHEN Wenbin (Chairman of the Board,
who was re-designated from a
non-executive Director to an executive
Director on December 20, 2023)

Mr. CHEN Jigeng (re-designated from a
non-executive Director to an executive
Director on December 20, 2023)

Mr. CAl Zi (resigned on April 22, 2024)

Non-executive Directors
Mr. YAN Ming
Ms. CHEN NINGFENG

Independent Non-executive Directors
Dr. ZHAO Guoqing

Mr. FAN Yonghong

Mr. TIAN Shu
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Board Meeting
ExEE;
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14/14
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BREALAE 14/14
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HEF % 14/14
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ANNUAL AND SPECIAL GENERAL MEETINGS

The Board is responsible for maintaining an on-going dialogue
with the Shareholders and in particular, communicates with them
in annual general meetings or other special general meetings and
encourages their participation. One annual general meeting and
no special general meeting was convened during the year ended
December 31, 2023 and the attendances of each Director at the
annual general meeting are set out as follows:

Annual General Meeting

BRFAERHIKE
ESTAERRRRIBEYT - BHEH

BRERBEASHEMBR RS ASERKE
B WRERERSM - REZE2023 F£12 A
31 BIEEE  AQTBBAHAT - ABRRBEK
2 BUYEBHRREBIAE  RESRNI
BEBEARG 2 HETHEHINT ¢

BEREEXE
Attended/
Eligible to attend
E HEREHEH ERE
Executive Directors HITEE
Mr. CHEN Wenbin (Chairman of the Board, =~ BRXMWh%E (EFEFE  RK2023F

who was re-designated from 12520 A A HBTEZFFRHTESE)

a non-executive Director to an

executive Director on December 20, 2023) 11
Mr. CHEN Jigeng (re-designated from REREE (R2023F 12520 HH

a non-executive Director to an executive FPITEERTRHTESE)

Director on December 20, 2023) 11
Mr. CAl Zi (Resigned on April 22, 2024) T F S (R2024F4 522 HEHE) 1/1
Non-executive Directors HHITEE
Mr. YAN Ming BREASLEE 11
Ms. CHEN NINGFENG CHEN NINGFENGZ =+ 11
Independent Non-executive Directors BUERTEE
Dr. ZHAO Guoging HEEEL 11
Mr. FAN Yonghong WELREE 0/1
Mr. TIAN Shu HEFEE 1/1
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Duties, Responsibilities and Contributions of the Board
and Senior Management

The Board is the core function of the Company’s corporate
governance structure. The principal responsibilities of the Board
are to set an overall framework of corporate governance within
which senior management conducts business and to monitor
the Company’s operations. The Company has formulated overall
framework of corporate governance, containing internal guidelines,
internal control policies and procedures.

The Board has formulated a clear policy that stipulates the
circumstances under which senior management should report
to the Board and obtain approval from the Board before making
any decisions or entering into any commitments on behalf of the
Company. The Board regularly reviews corporate governance
practices and updates them as and when appropriate.

The Board, through its committees, directly and indirectly leads and
guides the management, formulates strategies and oversees their
implementation, monitors the Group’s operational and financial
performance, and ensures that sound internal control and risk
management systems are in place.

All Directors, including non-executive Directors and independent
non-executive Directors, have brought a wide spectrum of valuable
business experience, knowledge and professionalism to the
Board for its efficient and effective operations. The independent
non-executive Directors are responsible for ensuring a high
standard of regulatory reporting of the Company and playing a
balanced role for the Board in exercising effective independent
judgment on the Company’s initiatives and operations.

All Directors have full and timely access to all information of the
Company and may, upon request, seek independent professional
advice in appropriate circumstances at the Company’s expenses
for discharging their duties to the Company. Upon reviewing
the implementation and effectiveness of the above, the Board
is satisfied that such mechanism can ensure the availability of
independent views and input to the Board.

The Directors shall disclose to the Company details of other offices
held by them.
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The Board is entitled to make decisions at its discretion on all
significant matters relating to policy matters, strategies and
budgets, internal control and risk management, significant
transactions (particularly transactions that may involve conflicts
of interest), financial information, appointment of the Directors
and other significant operational matters of the Company. The
management is responsible for implementing the decisions of
the Board, directing and coordinating the daily operations and
management of the Company.

The Company has arranged appropriate insurance for the
responsibilities of Directors and senior management, to respond to
any legal proceedings against Directors and senior management
due to the activities of the Company.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Pursuant to code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code, companies listed
on the Stock Exchange are expected to comply with, but may
choose to deviate from the requirement that the roles of chairman
of the board and chief executive should be separate and should not
be performed by the same individual. With effect from December
20, 2023, Mr. CHEN Wenbin has served as both the chairman of
the Board and the chief executive officer of the Company. Mr.
CHEN Wenbin is the founder of the Company, who has in-depth
knowledge of the management and business operations of the
Company. The Board believes that vesting the roles of both the
chairman of the Board and the chief executive officer in the same
individual provides the Group with solid and consistent leadership
and enables efficient business planning and decision-making.
The Board also believes that the balance of power and authority
under this arrangement will not be impaired, as all major decisions
must be made after approval and resolution by the Board and
the relevant committees under the Board. All independent
non-executive Directors also provide independent insights to the
Board and monitor the management and operation of the Company.
The Board will periodically review and consider the effectiveness of
this arrangement by taking into account the circumstances of the
Group as a whole.
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Independent Non-executive Directors

For the period from the Listing Date to December 31, 2023, the
Board at all times met the requirements of the Listing Rules relating
to the appointment of at least three independent non-executive
Directors representing no less than one-third of the Board with
one of whom possessing appropriate professional qualifications or
accounting or related financial management expertise.

The Company has received confirmation from each of
the independent non-executive Directors in respect of his
independence in accordance with the independence guidelines set
out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company is of the view
that all independent non-executive Directors are independent.

Appointment and Re-election

All Directors (including the non-executive Directors) have entered
into service contracts or formal letters of appointment, which set
out the main terms and conditions on their appointments. Their
fixed term of office is three years.

The Company may from time to time elect any person as a Director
either to fill a casual vacancy or to increase the number of the
Directors. Any Director so appointed shall hold office until the
convening of next general meeting of the Company and shall be
eligible for re-election at the meeting, provided that shall not be
included in determining Directors or number of Directors who have
to retire by rotation at the meeting. In accordance with our Articles
of Association, at each annual general meeting, one third of the
Directors for the time being (or if their number is not a multiple of
three, then the number nearest to but not less than one third) shall
retire from office by rotation, provided that every Director (including
those appointed for a specific term) shall be subject to retirement
by rotation at least once every three years. Retired Directors are
eligible for re-election at the general meeting of the Company, at
which retired Directors may fill the vacancy.
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Continuous Professional Development of the Directors

Directors shall keep abreast of the responsibilities as a Director
and of the conduct, business activities and development of the
Company, and advance with the times.

Every newly appointed Director has received a comprehensive,
formal and tailored induction training on the first occasion of his/
her appointment, and subsequently such briefing and professional
development are also available as necessary, to ensure that he/she
has a proper understanding of the operations and business of the
Company and that he/she is fully aware of his/her responsibilities
under statute and common law, the Listing Rules, applicable legal
requirements and other regulatory requirements and the business
and governance policies of the Company.

Pursuant to the applicable code provisions as set out in the CG
Code, all Directors should participate in continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills.
This is to ensure that the informed and relevant contribution
continuously made by them to the Board. During the year ended
December 31, 2023, all Directors, namely Mr. CHEN Wenbin, Mr.
CHEN Jigeng, Mr. CAl Zi, Mr. YAN Ming, Ms. CHEN NINGFENG,
Dr. ZHAO Guoging, Mr. FAN Yonghong and Mr. TIAN Shu, have
participated in continuous professional development by attending
training course or external seminars to develop and refresh their
knowledge and skills in relation to their contribution to the Board.

BOARD COMMITTEES

There are three committees under the Board of the Directors,
namely the Audit Committee (established on February 28, 2023),
the Remuneration Committee (established on February 28, 2023)
and the Nomination Committee (established on February 28,
2023), which are responsible for supervising specific areas of the
Company’s affairs. All the Board committees of the Company have
specific written terms of reference, which clearly define their powers
and responsibilities. The terms of reference of the Audit Committee,
the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee are
published on the Company’s website and the Stock Exchange’s
website.
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The numbers of Committee Meetings attended by each Director ~ #HZE2023F12831BLFE  SEFHFE
during the year ended December 31, 2023 are set out in the ZESERZREHEHNTER
following table.

Audit Remuneration Nomination
Committee Committee Committee
Name of Director meeting meeting meeting
B FrEW Ra
EEna EEEEE EEEER ZEEER
Executive Directors
WITES
Mr. CHEN Wenbin (re-designated from a non-executive
Director to an executive Director on December 20, 2023) N/A 4/4 3/3
BRIMW S (FR20234F 12 520 H I H T EFBHERHTESE) TEA 4/4 3/3
Mr. CHEN Jigeng (re-designated from a non-executive
Director to an executive Director on December 20, 2023) N/A N/A N/A
PREER T4 (F2023F 12 520 A B H#H 1T EFBHERHATESE) TEA TEA TiE
Mr. CAl Zi N/A N/A N/A
FFEE TEA TEA TER
Non-executive Directors
EBITESE
Mr. YAN Ming N/A N/A N/A
BREASEAE TiE TiE R TiE A
Ms. CHEN NINGFENG N/A N/A N/A
CHEN NINGFENGZ £+ TEA TEA TEA
Independent Non-executive Directors
BIEPITES
Dr. ZHAO Guoging 2/2 4/4 3/3
HEEEL 2/2 4/4 3/3
Mr. FAN Yonghong 2/2 N/A N/A
BEREE 2/2 TEA TEA
Mr. TIAN Shu 2/2 4/4 3/3
H&FEE 2/2 4/4 3/3

On December 20, 2023, the chairman of the Board and the 202312 H208  EEEXERBVI
independent non-executive Directors held one meeting without the ~ FTEEBEWEHMEBEHEMNER THT
presence of other Directors. T—REHE
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee comprises three members, all of whom are
independent non-executive Directors, namely Dr. ZHAO Guoging,
Mr. FAN Yonghong and Mr. TIAN Shu. The chairman of the Audit
Committee is Dr. ZHAO Guoqing.

The terms of reference of the Audit Committee are no less stringent
than those set out in the CG Code. The primary duties of the
Audit Committee are to assist the Board in reviewing the financial
information and reporting process, the effectiveness of the risk
management and internal control systems and the internal audit
functions, the scope of the audit and the appointment of the
external auditors, as well as to enable employees of the Company
to raise questions about possible misconduct in the Company’s
financial Report, internal control or other matters.

The Audit Committee is also responsible for fulfilling the functions
set out in code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code.

During the year ended December 31, 2023, the Audit Committee
held a total of two meetings, during which the Audit Committee
has, among other things, performed the duty of reviewing annual
financial results and reports, significant issues relating to financial
reports, operation and compliance control, effectiveness of the risk
management, internal control systems and internal audit functions,
appointment of the external auditors and related work scope,
connected transactions, as well as questions from employees
regarding possible misconduct for the year 2023.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Remuneration Committee comprises three members, namely
Dr. ZHAO Guoging (an independent non-executive Director), Mr.
TIAN Shu (an independent non-executive Director) and Mr. CHEN
Wenbin (an executive Director, who was re-designated from a
non-executive Director with effect from December 20, 2023). The
chairman of the Remuneration Committee is Dr. ZHAO Guoqing.

The primary functions of the Remuneration Committee include
reviewing and making recommendations to the Board on the
remuneration packages of individual executive Directors and senior
management, the remuneration policy and structure for all Directors
and senior management; and establishing a transparent process for
formulating such remuneration policy and structure to ensure that
no Director or any of his/her associates will participate in deciding
his/her own remuneration.
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During the year ended December 31, 2023, the Remuneration
Committee held a total of four meetings. The Remuneration
Committee has performed the following major duties: (1)
reviewing the remuneration policies, remuneration packages
and remuneration structure of the executive Directors and senior
management; (2) reviewing and approving the remuneration of
the Directors and senior management; and (3) determining the
remuneration packages of newly appointed Directors and senior
management.

The Company offers our executive Director and senior management
members various compensation in the form of fees, salaries,
retirement benefit scheme contributions, discretionary bonus,
housing allowances and other benefits in kind, which is determined
based on individual performance, achievement of business targets,
and the performance of the Group. Moreover, the discretionary
bonus is determined based on the annual performance evaluation
by the management, combined with job rank coefficient, salary,
and other factors. Our non-executive Directors and independent
non-executive Directors receive compensation with reference to
their respective positions and duties, including being a member or
the chairman of Board committees. The independent non-executive
Directors receive compensation in accordance with their duties for
the period of their continuing engagement.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Nomination Committee comprises three members, namely Mr.
CHEN Wenbin (an executive Director, who was re-designated from
a non-executive Director with effect from December 20, 2023), Dr.
ZHAO Guoging (an independent non-executive Director) and Mr.
TIAN Shu (an independent non-executive Director). The chairman of
the Nomination Committee is Mr. CHEN Wenbin.

The principal duties of the Nomination Committee include
reviewing the composition of the Board, formulating and making
recommendations to the Board on the appointment and succession
planning of Directors, reviewing the Board Diversity Policy, and
assessing the independence of independent non-executive
Directors.

In assessing the composition of the Board, the Nominating
Committee would take into account various aspects set out in the
Board Diversity Policy of the Company and factors relating to board
diversity.
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In identifying and selecting suitable candidates for directorships,
the Nominating Committee would consider the candidate’s relevant
criteria as set out in the Nomination Policy that are necessary to
complement the corporate strategy and achieve Board diversity,
where appropriate, before making recommendation to the Board.

During the year ended December 31, 2023, the Nomination
Committee held a total of three meetings. The Nomination
Committee has performed the following major duties: (1) reviewing
the structure, size, composition and diversity of the Board; (2)
making recommendations to the Board on the appointment and
re-appointment of Directors; (3) reviewing the policy and procedures
for nomination of Directors; and (4) assessing the independence of
all the independent non-executive Directors.

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Company recognizes the benefits of having a diversified
Board and sees increasing diversity at the Board level as an
essential element in supporting the attainment of the Company’s
strategic objectives and sustainable development. The Company
seeks to achieve diversity of our Board through the consideration
of a number of factors, including but not limited to professional
experience, talents, skills, knowledge, cultural and educational
background, gender, age, ethnicity and length of service.

Our Board Diversity Policy is well implemented as evidenced by
the fact that there are both female and male Directors ranging
from 38 years old to 60 years old, and that our Directors have a
balanced mix of experiences from different industries and sectors,
including overall management, information technology, business
development and finance experiences.

As the Company is committed to maintaining an appropriate
balance of diversified perspectives that are relevant to the
Company’s business growth, we intend to promote gender diversity
when recruiting staff at the middle to senior level in order to develop
a pipeline of female senior management and potential successors
to the Board. In addition, we will engage more resources in training
female staff who have long and relevant experience in our business,
with the aim of promoting them to the senior management or
directorship of the Group.

The Nominating Committee is responsible for reviewing the Board
Diversity Policy, formulating and reviewing measurable objectives
for implementing the policy, and overseeing progress toward
achieving those objectives.
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An analysis of the current composition of the Board based on

measurable objectives is as follows:

Gender

51

Male: 7 Directors
Female: 1 Director

B 78E=E
Z I 1REE

Position

RS

Executive Director: 3 Directors

Non-executive Director: 2 Directors

Independent non-executive Directors: 3 Directors
BTEE 3BES

FHITES 28ES

BAFHITES 38ES

Nationality
B

Chinese: 7 Directors
Canadian: 1 Director

hE 7EES
MEXR 1EES

Corporate Governance Report
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AT

Age
i

31-40: 1 Director
41-50: 4 Directors
51-60: 3 Directors
31-40: 1 BEE
41-50: 4 BEE
51-60: 3BEE

Educational background

BEER

Business management: 3 Directors
Accounting and finance: 3 Directors
Law: 2 Directors

MEEE 38ES

SR IRES
EE2RES

Business experience

[ZE S

Accounting and finance: 3 Directors

Experience related to the Company’s business: 5
Directors

SRR 3RES

BEANREBEBNER 58ES

2023%F 3 NAMEERERAE

RETHENEEHESSEANAREBR

101
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The Nomination Committee and the Board believe that the current
composition of the Board has met the objectives set forth in the
Board Diversity Policy.

The Nominating Committee will review at least annually the Board
Diversity Policy and measurable objectives to ensure the continued
effectiveness of the Board.

Gender Diversity

The Company attaches importance to gender diversity for positions
of all levels of the Group. The following table sets out the gender
ratio of the Group as at December 31, 2023:

Board 2Eg
Senior management SNERE
Employees ==

The Board aims to achieve, and has achieved, a minimum of 12.5%
(1) of female Directors, and considers the above gender diversity to
be satisfactory at present.

DIRECTOR NOMINATION POLICY

The Board has delegated its responsibility and authority for
the selection and appointment of Directors to the Nomination
Committee of the Company.

The Company has adopted a director nomination policy (the
“Director Nomination Policy”) for the Director nomination
procedures, which sets out the selection criteria, nomination
procedures and the Board succession planning considerations
relating to the nomination and appointment of Directors, with the
aim of ensuring that the Board has a balance of corresponding
skills, experience and diversity of perspectives, as well as the
continuity of the Board and appropriate leadership at the Board
level.

The nomination procedures set out in the Director Nomination
Policy are as follows:
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NOMINATION PROCEDURES

(i)

(i)

(i

(iv)

(vi)

(vii)

the Nomination Committee may consult any source it deems
appropriate in identifying or selecting suitable candidates,
such as referrals from existing Directors, advertising,
recommendations from a third-party agency firm and
proposals from the Shareholders of the Company with due
consideration given to the criteria;

the Nomination Committee may adopt any process it deems
appropriate in evaluating the suitability of the candidates,
such as interviews, background checks, presentations and
third-party reference checks;

the proposed candidates will be required to submit necessary
personal information for the Nomination Committee’s
consideration. The Nomination Committee may request the
candidate(s) to provide additional information and documents,
if considered necessary;

upon considering a candidate suitable for the directorship,
the Nomination Committee will hold a meeting and/or by
way of written resolutions to, if thought fit, approve the
recommendation to the Board for appointment;

the Nomination Committee will provide the relevant
information of the selected candidate to the Remuneration
Committee for consideration of the remuneration package of
such selected candidate;

the Nomination Committee will thereafter make
recommendations to the Board in relation to the proposed
appointment, and where a non-executive Director is
considered, the Remuneration Committee will make
recommendations to the Board on the proposed remuneration
package;

the Board may arrange for selected candidate to be
interviewed by members of the Board who are not members
of the Nomination Committee and the Board will thereafter
deliberate and decide the appointment as the case may be;
and
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EEELRE

(viiiy all appointment of Directors will be confirmed by the filing
of the consent to act as Director of the relevant Director (or
any other similar filings requiring the relevant Director to
acknowledge or accept the appointment as Director, as the
case may be) to be filed with the Companies Registry of Hong
Kong and updating the Register of Directors. The Director
shall consent to the public disclosure of their personal data
on any documents or the relevant websites for the purpose of
or in relation to their appointment as a Director.

The Board shall have the final decision on all matters concerning its
recommendation of candidates for election at any general meeting.

The Director Nomination Policy sets out the criteria for assessing
the suitability of proposed candidates and their potential
contributions to the Board, including but not limited to:

° reputation for character and integrity;
° accomplishment and experience in the relevant industries
in which the Company’s business is involved and other

professional qualifications;

° commitment for responsibilities of the Board in respect of
available time and relevant interest;

o diversity in aspects including but not limited to gender, age,
cultural and educational background, professional experience,

perspectives, skills, knowledge and length of service;

° contribution that the candidate(s) can potentially bring to the
Board;

o plans in place for the orderly succession of the Board; and
° whether the independent Director candidates satisfy the
requirements for independence under Article 3.13 of the

Listing Rules.

The Nomination Committee will review the Director Nomination
Policy as appropriate to ensure its effectiveness.
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In accordance with the Board Diversity Policy, the Nomination
Committee periodically reviews the structure, size and composition
of the Board and, where appropriate, gives suggestion on changes
to the Board in response to the Company’s corporate strategy,
thereby ensuring a balanced composition of the Board in terms of
diversity. In reviewing and evaluating the composition of the Board,
the Nomination Committee aims at achieving diversity at all levels
and takes into account various aspects including, but not limited
to, gender, race, language, cultural and educational background,
industry experience and professional experience.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL

The Board recognizes its responsibility for risk management
and internal control systems and reviews their effectiveness.
These systems are designed to manage, rather than eliminate,
the risk of failure to achieve business objectives and can only
provide reasonable, but not absolute, assurance against material
misstatement or loss.

The Board is fully responsible for assessing and determining
the nature and extent of the risks it is willing to take in achieving
the Company’s strategic objectives and for establishing and
maintaining appropriate and effective risk management and internal
control mechanisms.

The Audit Committee assists the Board in leading the management
and overseeing their design, implementation and monitoring of risk
management and internal control systems. The Audit Committee
is responsible for reviewing our financial control, internal control
and risk management systems. The Company has established an
independent internal audit department reporting directly to the
Audit Committee.
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To monitor the ongoing implementation of our risk management
policies and corporate governance measures, we have established
relevant risk management systems and processes and formulated
the following risk management measures:

1. Establishing the Audit Committee to review and monitor our
financial reporting system and internal control procedures;

2. Establishing an internal audit department to conduct
independent and objective supervision, inspection, evaluation
and reporting on the implementation of risk management
policies and internal controls;

3. Having developed and adopted various risk management
procedures and standards and defined executive authority for
key business processes and office functions, including project
management, sales and leasing, financial reporting, human
resources and information technology;

4.  Providing trainings on anti-corruption and anti-bribery
regulations to senior management and employees to enhance
their knowledge and compliance with applicable laws and
regulations, and setting out such issues in the Employee
Handbook, which will be conveyed during staff training with
relevant policy requirements updated from time to time;

5.  Providing training sessions for Directors and senior
management on the relevant requirements of the Listing Rules
and the duties of directors of Hong Kong listed companies.

Each department of the Company is responsible for conducting
the daily work of risk management and the promoting the internal
control assessment to identify the operational management issues
which may have an impact on risks. The Company conducts an
annual self-evaluation to ensure that each department is in proper
compliance with internal control policies.

The management, in coordination with department heads, assesses
the likelihood of risk occurrence, formulates the treatment plans,
monitors the risk management progress and reports to the internal
audit department.
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The management has reported to the Board and the Audit
Committee on the effectiveness of the risk management and the
internal control systems during the Reporting Period. Based on the
internal controls established and maintained by the Group and the
reviews performed by the management and the Audit Committee,
the Board, with the concurrence of the Audit Committee, is of the
opinion that the internal controls and the risk management system
are adequate and effective.

The internal audit department is responsible for providing
internal audit functions and performing independent review of
the adequacy and effectiveness of risk management and internal
control systems associated with our major business processes,
identifying deficiencies and opportunities for improvement,
providing recommendations on remedial measures and reviewing
the implementation status of such remedial measures.

The Board conducts an annual review each year, on risk
management and internal control systems, financial report and
internal audit functions and staff qualifications, experience
and relevant resources. The Board, as supported by the Audit
Committee and the management report, has reviewed the risk
management and internal control systems, including financial,
operational and compliance controls for the year ended December
31, 2023 and, is of the opinion that they are effective and adequate.
The annual review is also involved in financial reporting, staff
qualifications and experience and relevant resources.

The Company has established the reporting procedures, which
are set out in relevant policies and systems, for employees to
raise concerns about possible misconducts in relation to financial
reporting, internal monitoring or other matters.

The Company has established the Insider Registration Management
System (REEMABEAZTEEFE)) to stipulate the scope of
inside information and insiders, the registration, filing and reporting
of insider files, and the confidentiality and liability investigation, etc.
The Company narrows the scope of insiders, reports the inside
information to the regulatory authorities as soon as possible and
makes public announcements in time to shorten the duration of
inside information and prevent insider trading.
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The Company has also formulated the anti-fraud, anti-money
laundering and anti-bribery policies to prevent corruption and
bribery within the Company. The Company has an internal
whistleblowing channel for the Company’s employees to report
any suspected corruption or bribery behaviors. Employees can
also make anonymous reports to the internal audit department,
which is responsible for investigating the reported incidents and
taking appropriate action. The Company continues to carry out
anti-corruption and advocating integrity activities to foster a culture
of integrity and actively organizes anti-corruption training and
inspection to ensure the effectiveness of preventing corruption and
promoting integrity.

During the year ended December 31, 2023, the Company
conducted thirteen anti-corruption training sessions and briefings
for the Directors and employees. During the year ended December
31, 2023, there was no violation related to bribery and corruption in
the Company.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors are aware that they are responsible for the
preparation of the financial statements with the support of the
accounting and finance teams.

The Directors have prepared the financial statements in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Appropriate
accounting policies have also been used and applied consistently,
except for the adoption of revised standards, amendments to
standards and interpretations.

The Directors are not aware of any material uncertainties relating
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubts on the
Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. The Directors
consider that the financial statements truly and fairly reflect
the financial position, results and cash flow of the Group as at
December 31, 2023, and other financial information disclosures and
reports comply with relevant legal requirements.

The statement of the external auditors of the Company regarding

their reporting responsibilities for the financial statements is set out
in the Independent Auditor’s Report of this Annual Report.
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AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

For the year ended December 31, 2023, the remuneration paid and
payable to the external auditors of the Company in respect of audit
services and non-audit services is set out below.

EEELRE
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HZE2023F12831BLLEE » BB
RIEBZREC AR ES AR A T IR
BEETEB Y RN T o

Service Category R RI Fees Paid/Payable

Eft FEAEA

Currency: RMB

&% AR%E

Audit services BEZRH 2,300,000
Non-audit services: FEZRE

IT due diligence FEERBEERAS 200,000

Total st 2,500,000

COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. LEUNG Wing Han Sharon (“Ms. Leung”) has been appointed
as a joint company secretary of the Company with effect from
October 25, 2023. Ms. Leung is a director of Corporate Services
of Tricor Services Limited, and possesses the qualifications of a
company secretary as required under Rule 3.28 of the Listing Rules.

Following Mr. QIAN Di’s resignation as a joint company secretary of
the Company with effect from November 10, 2023, Mr. TAO Qitao
(“Mr. Tao”), an employee of the Company, has been appointed
as a joint company secretary with effect from November 10, 2023.
For biographical details of Mr. Tao and Ms. Leung, please refer to
“Directors and Senior Management” in this Annual Report.

All Directors will have access to the advice and services of the
company secretary on corporate governance and general matters
of the Board.

The two joint company secretaries have confirmed that they have
each received no less than 15 hours of relevant professional training
in accordance with Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules for the year ended
December 31, 2023.
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EEELRE

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Convening Extraordinary General Meeting

Pursuant to Article 58 of the Articles of Association of the Company,
the Board may convene an extraordinary general meeting at any
time as it deems appropriate. Any one or more members holding,
at the date of deposit of the requisition, not less than one-tenth
of the paid-up capital of the Company having the right of voting
at general meetings, shall at all times have the right, by written
requisition to the Board or the secretary of the Company, to require
an extraordinary general meeting to be called by the Board for any
transaction or resolution (if any) specified in such requisition; and
such meeting shall be held within two months after the deposit
of such requisition. If within 21 days of such deposit, the Board
fails to proceed to convene such meeting, the requisitionist(s)
himself/herself (themselves) may do so in the same manner, and all
reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of
the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s)
by the Company.

Proposals at General Meetings

There are no provisions in the Articles of Association or the Cayman
Islands Company Law concerning the procedure for Shareholders
to put forward proposals at general meetings. Shareholders who
intend to put forward a proposal at general meetings may convene
a general meeting according to the procedures set out in above
paragraphs, in order to review the transaction specified in the
requisition.

Inquiries to the Board

Shareholders may send written inquiries to the Company for any
inquiries to the Board. The Company will not normally deal with
verbal or anonymous inquiries.
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Contact Details:

Shareholders may send the above inquiries or requests to the
following address:

Address: 5/F, Yintech Finance Center, 88 Xumin East Road,
Qingpu District, Shanghai, PRC
Unit 2001, 20th Floor of Golden Centre, No.188
Des Voeux Road Central, Hong Kong
(Recipient: Board)

Tel: +86 21 6015 0919

Email: ir@jfcf.com

For avoidance of doubt, Shareholders shall deposit and send
original duly signed written requests, notices or statements or
inquiries (as the case may be) to the above address and provide
their full names, contact details and identification in order to give
effect thereto. The information of Shareholders may be disclosed
as required by law.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS
AND INVESTORS

The Company believes that effective communication with
Shareholders is essential to enhance investor relations and
investors’ understanding of the Group’s business performance and
strategy. The Company is committed to maintaining continuous
communication with Shareholders, particularly through annual
general meetings and other general meetings. At annual general
meetings, the Directors (or their representatives, if appropriate) are
available to meet with Shareholders and answer questions.

The Board has reviewed the Company’s Shareholders
communication activities for the period from the Listing Date to
December 31, 2023 and is satisfied with the implementation and
effectiveness of the Shareholders Communication Policy.

In order to protect the interests and rights of Shareholders, a
separate resolution shall be proposed at a general meeting in
respect of each material matter, including the election of an
individual Director. All resolutions proposed at general meetings will
be voted on by poll in accordance with the Listing Rules and the
poll results will be published on the websites of the Company and
the Stock Exchange after each general meeting.
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EEELRE

SHAREHOLDERS COMMUNICATION POLICY

The Company has established a Shareholder Communication
Policy. The policy is designed to ensure that the Shareholders have
equal and timely access to information about the Company so as to
enable them to exercise their rights in an informed manner and to
enable them to participate actively in the activities of the Company.
The Board has reviewed the implementation and effectiveness of
the Shareholders Communication Policy with satisfactory results.

The Company has established a series of channels to maintain an
ongoing dialogue with its Shareholders, as follows:

Shareholders’ Enquiries

Shareholders should direct their questions about their
shareholdings to the Company’s share registrar.

Shareholders may at any time make a request for the
Company’s information to the extent such information is
publicly available.

Shareholders shall be provided with designated contacts in
order to enable them to make any query in respect of the
Company.

Corporate Communication

112

“Corporate Communication” refers to any document issued
or to be issued by the Company for the information or action
of holders of any of the securities of the Company, including
but not limited to, the directors’ report and annual accounts
together with a copy of the auditor’s report, the interim
report, a notice of meeting, a circular and a proxy form. The
Corporate Communications will be provided to Shareholders
in plain language and in both English and Chinese versions
to facilitate Shareholders’ understanding. Shareholders have
the right to choose the language (either English or Chinese)
or means of receipt of the corporate communications (in hard
copy or through electronic means).

Shareholders are encouraged to provide amongst other

things, in particular, their email addresses to the Company in
order to facilitate timely and effective communications.
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Company’s Website

The Company’s website has a dedicated “Investor Relations”
section: jfwealth.investorroom.com. Information on the
Company’s website will be updated regularly.

Information released by the Company to the website of the
Stock Exchange is also posted on the Company’s website
immediately thereafter. Such information includes financial
statements, results announcements, circulars and notices of
general meetings and associated explanatory documents, etc.

Shareholders’ Meeting

Shareholders are encouraged to participate in the general
meetings or to appoint proxies to attend and vote at meetings
for and on their behalf if they are unable to attend the
meetings.

Appropriate arrangements for the annual general meetings
shall be in place to encourage Shareholders’ participation.

The process of the Company’s general meeting will be
monitored and reviewed on a regular basis, and, if necessary,
changes will be made to ensure that Shareholders’ needs are
best served.

Board members, in particular, the chairmen of Board
committees or their delegates, appropriate management
executives and external auditors will attend annual general
meetings to answer Shareholders’ questions.
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EEELRE

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Board has adopted the Dividend Policy to set out the criteria
based on which the Board may declare and pay dividends to the
Shareholders. Such declaration and payment of dividends shall
remain to be determined at the absolute discretion of the Board
and subject to all applicable requirements (including without
limitation restrictions on dividend declaration and payment) under
the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands and the Articles of
Association of the Company. The Board may from time to time
pay to the shareholders such dividends subject to the Companies
Law of the Cayman Islands and the Articles of Association of
the Company. Any dividends declared by the Company must be
approved by an ordinary resolution of shareholders at a general
meeting and must not exceed the amount recommended by the
Board. Dividends may be distributed in the form of cash or shares
subject to and in accordance with the Companies Law of the
Cayman Islands and the Articles of Association of the Company. In
proposing any dividend payment, the Board shall take into account
the following criteria, including:

° the Group’s actual and expected results of operations and
cash flow and financial position;

o general business conditions and business strategies of the
Group;

° distributable profit, retained earnings and/or distributable
reserves of the Company and the members of the Group;

° the Group’s expected working capital requirements and future
expansion plans;

° the Group’s indebtedness level and liquidity position;

° legal, regulatory and other contractual restrictions on the
Group’s declaration and payment of dividends; and

° other factors that the Board deems appropriate.
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CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

The Articles of Association of the Company were conditionally
adopted pursuant to a special resolution passed on February 23,
2023 and came into force from the Listing Date. For the period from
the Listing Date to December 31, 2023, the Company has not made
any amendment on its Articles of Association. The latest version of
Articles of Association of the Company is set out on the websites of
the Company and the Stock Exchange.

On behalf of the Board

Mr. CHEN Wenbin
Chairman

April 22, 2024
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RIE - HERELGRSE

BOARD STATEMENT

The board of directors (the “Board”) of JF Wealth Holdings Ltd
(the “Company”, together with its subsidiaries, the “Group”)
is the highest responsible and decision-making institution for
environmental, social and governance (“ESG”) matters and
assumes ultimate responsibility for the Company’s ESG strategies
and reporting. It monitors ESG-related matters that may impact
the Company’s business or operations, shareholders and other
stakeholders'. An ESG Committee will be established under the
Board to identify and assess ESG risks related to the Group,
ensure the Group has in place appropriate and effective ESG risk
management and internal control systems, and report on and
review progress towards relevant ESG goals. For details, please
refer to the section “ESG Governance”.

The Group values the suggestions and opinions of all stakeholders
and ensures sufficient channels are in place for communication and
exchange with key stakeholders to discuss and determine important
ESG issues and potential ESG risks the Group may face, thereby
facilitating the continuous enhancement of strategies and policies
related to ESG matters. The Board has reviewed material ESG
issues for the year and approved proposal to adjust the materiality
levels of various ESG issues, thereby ensuring the timeliness and
reasonableness of the materiality matrix. For details, please refer to
the section “Stakeholders and Materiality Assessment”.

The Group has established an ESG goal management system for
indicators such as carbon emissions, pollutant emissions, energy
consumption and water resource management. The Board reviews
the progress of these goals on an annual basis and identifies any
necessary adjustments or improvements to ensure continuous
progress in achieving ESG goals. For details, please refer to the
section “Managing Environmental Footprint”.

1 “Stakeholders” refer to individuals or groups who have a significant
impact on or may be affected by business operations of the Company,
including internal parties such as the Board, management, executives
and general employees, as well as external parties such as shareholders,
business partners, customers, governments and regulatory agencies,
banks and investors, and community groups.
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The Board and all directors guarantee that the information in this
Report does not contain any false representations, misleading
statements or major omissions, and assume responsibility for the
authenticity, accuracy and completeness of the Report. This Report
discloses in detail the progress and achievements of the Group’s
ESG efforts in 2023. The Group undertakes to use its best endeavor
to ensure the accuracy and reliability of all information presented
in the Report, and will manage such information by establishing
internal monitoring and formal review procedures. This Report has
been confirmed and approved by the Board on April 22, 2024.

ABOUT THE REPORT

The Group is pleased to announce the second Environmental,
Social and Governance Report (the “Report”) since its listing.
The Report has been prepared in both English and Chinese
and has been uploaded to the Hong Kong Exchanges
and Clearing Limited (“HKEX”) and the Group’s website
(jffwealth.investorroom.com). If there is any inconsistency between
the English and Chinese versions of this Report, the Chinese
version shall prevail.

The Report comprehensively discloses the policies, measures,
outcomes, and various environmental and social key performance
indicators of the Group in the areas of environment, social, and
governance for the year 2023. Its purpose is to assist various
stakeholders in gaining a deeper understanding of the policies
adopted by the Group, the specific measures implemented, and the
achievements made in key issues such as environment, social, and
governance.

SCOPE OF THE REPORT

The Report discloses in details the environmental, social and
governance performance of the Group for the financial year from
January 1, 2023 to December 31, 2023 (the “Reporting Period”).
The coverage scope of the performance information disclosed for
the year includes the principal operating locations of JF Wealth
Holdings Ltd and its subsidiaries in Shanghai, the PRC. The Group
will regularly review the scope of the Report in accordance with the
principle of importance to ensure that comprehensive and accurate
information is provided to investors and other stakeholders.
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B B REAWE

REPORTING CRITERIA

The Report complies with the “Comply or Explain” requirement of
the “Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide”
(the “Guide”) as set out in Appendix C2 of the Listing Rules issued
by the Stock Exchange, with the four reporting principles set out
therein as the basis of preparation of the Report, i.e., Materiality,
Quantification, Balance and Consistency.

Reporting principles Definition

ERIRA B
Materiality Focuses on reporting of environmental, social
=i and governance issues that have a significant

impact on the Group and various stakeholders.

ENESHAKEREESENEELEESE

WIRE - HERERRE -

Quantification Key performance indicators of historical

21t information must be measurable. Issuers
should set targets to reduce a particular
impact, so that the effectiveness of their
environmental, social and governance policies
and management systems can be assessed
and validated.
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T TRAMERIENER » HERE - ?iﬁ‘ﬂ
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Quantitative information should be
accompanied by a narrative, explaining its
purpose, impacts, and giving comparative
information where appropriate.
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Feedback
ElrE

The members of the Board identify
important environmental, social and
governance issues based on factors such
as the nature of the Group’s business and
the expectations of stakeholders.
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The Group’s social key performance
indicators are derived from statistics

of relevant departments. In addition,

in order to ensure the accuracy of the
environmental key performance indicators,
the Group has commissioned professional
consulting companies to guide the
accounting of relevant data in accordance
with relevant laws, regulations and policies
under the mainland China and Hong Kong.
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Where applicable, the Group incorporates
forward-looking statements in the Report,
and the quantitative information is
accompanied by descriptions and criteria,
methods, assumptions and/or calculation
tools adopted.
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Reporting principles Definition

ERIEA B
Balance The issuer should provide an unbiased picture
T of its performance impartially and avoid

selections, omissions, or presentation formats
that may inappropriately influence a decision
or judgment by the Report readers.
BITARENRTAM2|MEARER - BRABE
ETREMTEREFERERAEAEE -

BRI ZMER o
Consistency The issuer should use consistent
—EM methodologies to allow for meaningful

comparisons of environmental, social and
governance information over time.
BITARERFERA—RNEESRHFE  SRE
HERERENBERAEEERNLE -

COMMENTS & FEEDBACKS

The Group values the comments of our stakeholders, and
stakeholders’ opinions are regarded as crucial drivers for upgrading
the Group’s sustainable development strategy. If you have any
enquiries or suggestions about the content or presentation of the
Report, please contact the Group via the contact details set out in
the “Corporate Information” section of the 2023 Annual Report of
JF Wealth Holdings Ltd.

RIE - HERELGRSE

Feedback
El1fE

The Group comprehensively reports on

its environmental, social and governance
performance and avoids releasing biased
information in the Report.
AEEEABREP2HERRE - tBRE
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The Group ensures that a consistent
method is used to make statistics

on future environmental, social and
governance information to compare with
the information of the previous year and
the year.
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RIE - HERELGRSE

ESG GOVERNANCE

The Group acknowledges its responsibilities on environmental
protection, social responsibilities as a global corporate citizen and
actively fulfills commitments to formulate comprehensive policies to
oversee the performance in environmental protection, employment
practices, supply chain management, product responsibility,
business ethics, and integrity. It integrates ESG governance into
the Group’s governance system. We have implemented ESG policy
in 2023, incorporating the following aspects: (i) the appropriate
risk governance on ESG matters, including environmental, social
and climate-related risks and opportunities; (ii) identification of
key stakeholders and the communication channels to engage with
them; (iii) ESG governing structure; (iv) ESG strategy formation
procedures; (v) ESG risk management and monitoring; and (vi) the
mitigating measures.

Pursuant to our ESG policy, our Board has the overall responsibility
for reviewing and approving the ESG policies, targets and
strategies, overseeing the implementation of our ESG policy and
managing other important ESG matters. Our Board adopts the
following approaches to identify, assess and review material ESG
issues:

° Identify ESG issues: our Board engages key stakeholders,
including our major customers and suppliers, management
team and employees to identify material ESG issues and
risks inherent in our Group’s business operations. Our Board
believes that keeping stable communication with stakeholders
plays an important role in maintaining our business
sustainability.

° Strategic planning: our Board sets up a plan of establishing
risk management and internal control systems, which are
designed to meet our specific business needs and to minimize
our risk exposure.

° Assess ESG performance: apart from assessing the
performance of our Group’s ESG measures through
discussion with our Group’s stakeholders, our Board
engages professional third parties to identify and assess
our performance in respect of environmental protection and
climate change.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

° Review ESG performance: our Board is responsible for
reviewing the progress made against our ESG-related goals
to guide our Group to achieve better ESG performance. We
set systematic risk management practices based on our
ESG policy to ensure financial and operational functions,
compliance control systems, material control, asset
management and risk management operate effectively.

On December 27, 2023, we won the “Social Responsibility Pioneer
Award” of the 2023 Zhiyuan Award of Cailianshe.com.cn (BfE#4t)
for our good performance in corporate governance, fulfillment of
social responsibilities, promotion of industry development, and long
term research in ESG.

On the path of corporate development, the Group has consistently
integrated ESG principles closely with our development strategy,
actively implementing carbon reduction measures, and striving
to incorporate environmental protection principles into daily
operations. The hardware equipment used by the Group strictly
adheres to China’s industry energy efficiency standards to ensure
efficient resource utilization. In cooperation with third-party cloud
servers, we choose green partners that align with our philosophy,
aiming to promote both social and economic benefits while
advancing business development.

In addition, the Group focuses on the transformation of digital
intelligence, and the strength of science and technology can be
sustained and developed. Based on the three major systems of
big data, Al computing, and Fintech, we have built an intelligent
investment system, and through investor education courses
and learning software, we have constructed a complete system
for investor education and training. We combine intelligent
service system with traditional manual service perfectly to
provide customers with efficient, low-cost and convenient
investment education services. The intelligent transformation of
digital intelligence highlights the practical achievements of the
combination of the Group’s team products and ESG concepts,
which has injected a strong impetus into promoting sustainable
development.

ESG Committee

To ensure the more systematic and effective implementation of
ESG governance within the Group, we actively promoted and
continued to implement the ESG Committee management system
during the year. The primary purpose of the ESG committee is
to independently review, on behalf of the Board, management’s
actions on business operation, and ensure the business of our
Group is environmentally and socially sustainable.
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R - HERES

Regulatory Functions
ERERaE

Board of Directors

BExg

ESG Leading Group:
Sustainability Committee
ESGEE/MA :
AHERRESS

W&

N
Board of Directors
EEE
J
N

ESG Leading Group:

Sustainability Committee
ESGEIE/\AH .

HEBEREEE

External Professional
Consultants

ENEEES S

ESG Task Force: the Head
of Business Departments
ESGT {/)\éH:

BEBIFIEE

Regulatory Contents
RERNE

o Takes overall responsibility for assessing the key ESG risks faced by the
Group (such as supplier management, understanding sustainable needs of
society and other major ESG issues related to the Group).
2HEBEMEAEEMHEENBEEESGER (MEEEEE - BTSN
BEELZHEAKEEHBENEIENESGERE) °

° Takes overall responsibility for assessing and determining the nature and
extent of risks, including ESG risks, that the Group is willing to accept
in achieving its strategic objectives, and establishing and maintaining
appropriate and effective risk management and internal control systems.
2HASTAREEASBENERKESRMBEREMANEREEREE
BIEESGRAMR - YR REFSEREUNEISEER AMEZRL

o Assists the Board in leading the management and overseeing their design,
implementation and monitoring of the risk management and internal control
systems.

BYHEEEESEREIEEHR BERRERARERERAMEERL

o Formulates or improves policies and procedures to address significant risks
(including ESG risks in the course of operation).

HETRTEEHERAR (BELEBRETWESCGRER) NBERRERF °

° Regularly reviews the adequacy and effectiveness of the risk management
and internal control systems.

EfNEREERAREERGRARARBA
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External Professional Consultants

SN RER

ESG Task Force:

the Head of Business
Departments
ESGIfE/hA :
BEBHMHEE

Environmental, Social and Governance Report

RIE - HERELGRSE

Conducts annual independent review of risk management and internal
control systems.

REBREERABEERASETFER IR o

Ensures that the procedures used to identify, assess and manage material
risks properly identify key features of the risk management and internal
control systems.
BARAUSRR HEREEEAARNEXZESBFIEREERAFER
AN EEHE -

Continuously assesses and identifies risks that may have potential impact
on the Group’s business and other aspects, including ESG risks in the
course of operation and deficiencies in internal control.
FEMERBNEAREXBRE ST EHITRASBEREZARBIELER
T2 HYESGREE & A ERESHZBR K o

B EEERREMC HBH R o

The ESG Committee may further classify its regulatory contents
in detail into four aspects including ESG strategy, environmental
responsibility, social responsibility and governance.

Regulatory contents related to ESG strategy, actions and goals:

Advise the Board on the effectiveness of the Company’s ESG
strategy, clarity of the Company’s purpose, the application
of its values and its management of environmental and social
risks and opportunities;

Monitor the Company’s ESG performance and execution
ensuring the Company addresses matters of material impact
and is in alignment with accepted sectoral, national and
international standards and any other applicable standards
from time to time;

Oversee appropriate objectives for ESG activities and ensure
key metrics are monitored and fairly reported;

Advise the Board on the appropriateness of ESG related
policies with consideration of their relevance, effectiveness
and alignment with relevant national and international
regulations and public expectations, and update relevant
policies if necessary;

Reports any identified risks to the management.
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IRE  HEREGRE

Review current and emerging ESG trends, relevant
international standards and legislative requirements; identify
how these trends impact the strategy, operations, and
reputation of the Company; and determine if and how these
trends are incorporated into or reflected in the Company’s
ESG policies and objectives;

Approve projects developed in response to the ESG strategy;
and

Make recommendations to the Board on any of the matters
listed above that the ESG committee considers appropriate.

Regulatory contents related to environmental responsibilities:

Review updates on the Company’s progress towards
achieving its targets regarding climate change, waste
management, circularity and other environmental impacts
such as biodiversity, water, and microplastics;

Review management’s approach to climate change
management, the quantification and related targets set to
achieve value chain decarbonization in line with publicly
stated commitments and the Paris Climate Agreement; and

Review management of nature-based risks and related target
setting across the value chain, including management of the
impact of materials and sourcing, manufacturing, distribution,
and customer use and behavior.

Regulatory contents related to social responsibilities:

Review reports from Internal Audit on the adequacy of
testing and controls of the supply chain risk and compliance
framework;

Review updates on the Group’s social impact strategy and
actions ensuring focus on issues of most material impact and
opportunity; and

Review community investment programs and employee
volunteering and charitable giving programs.

Regulatory contents related to governance:

Review the governance and effectiveness of the integration
of environmental and social impact into the Company’s
operations, policies, practices and product development;

JF Wealth Holdings Ltd Annual Report 2023
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

° Consider the application of the values and purpose of the
Company in culture and decision making;

o Consider the ethical conduct of the Company and the
effectiveness of the codes of conduct and application of the
Company’s values and purpose;

° Oversee major internal and external ESG reporting as
required, including information included in the Annual Report
and submissions to external indices and benchmarks;

° Review results of external assurance and fit with relevant ESG
integrated reporting standards;

° Advise the Board on appropriateness of executive and
employee remuneration performance targets;

° Review the results of any reviews or independent audits of the
Company’s performance in regard to ESG matters and review
any strategies and action plans developed by management in
response to issues raised; and

° Engage with stakeholders to solicit external perspectives
and challenges, using stakeholder options and insights to
contribute to boardroom decision making.

ESG MISSION AND VISION

As people’s awareness of climate change, human rights, and social
welfare continues to rise, sustainable development has become
an inevitable global trend. Therefore, the Group responds to the
trend of sustainable development by placing high importance on
and steadfastly fulfilling its ESG responsibilities as a corporate
citizen, committed to achieving its ESG mission. We always adhere
to our original intentions, integrating business development with
ESG, and strive to achieve a perfect balance between the two. We
will continue to contribute to global suitabilities through practical
actions, bringing positive impacts to society.
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RIE - HERELGRSE

RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group has already invested and will continue to invest
substantial resources in establishing and continuously improving the
Group’s risk management system to ensure the stability and safety
of its operations. We are committed to building and maintaining a
risk management and internal control system composed of policies
and procedures suitable for the Group’s business operations,
incorporating the supervision and management of artificial
intelligence, financial reporting risk management, and internal
control risk management. This includes subcategories such as
related party transaction risk management, data and internal control
risk management, data and information security management,
as well as employee qualification and behavioral compliance risk
management, among other important aspects, to ensure effective
monitoring at every step.

To ensure the effective operation of the risk management and
internal control system, we regularly conduct in-depth assessments
and classify identified defects into high, medium, and low risk
levels based on their potential impact. This allows us to precisely
formulate corrective measures and schedules. Upholding the
principle of continuous improvement, we constantly optimize
the risk management and internal control system to ensure its
maximum effectiveness in business operations.

The Group adopts a comprehensive approach of prevention,
control, and monitoring at three levels, constructing a
comprehensive risk management system. We delineate the
responsibilities of the board of directors, internal audit department,
relevant business departments, and subsidiary companies in the
risk management process to ensure that each party performs its
duties and collaborates to address potential risks collectively.
Through these measures, we rigorously control the risks faced
during the Group’s operations, laying a solid foundation for the
Group’s long-term and stable development.

1P} JUF Wealth Holdings Ltd Annual Report 2023
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RIE - HEREORE

The Board of Directors is the highest decision-
making level of risk management, approving
risk assessments of significant decisions and

Board of Directors resolutions of significant risks

gxe EERRAREENRAEALE  BHE
KREWEBTEHEARRWAAT R

Monitoring and ensuring that the internal control

@g system is effective, adequate and appropriate,

4 as well as reporting the monitoring results and
making recommendations to the Board

Audit Committee
ERRBRRADEZERSEN EARE

== = = é
ERZREE BT OEFRERERER L2
S
e=4 Supervising and inspecting the implementation

[C=7
@— of the risk management system, and auditing
the construction of internal control

Internal audit ciepartment e e e |
A RN B

______________________________________

Business departments Subsidiaries of
of the Company the Group

EAVNGSIESE VT AEEZTET AR

Designating part-time risk management
staff to develop and implement the
department's risk control program, and
report risky business management

issues to the internal audit department in
a timely manner

EERREEFRBAS  SIELHT
ZER P B2 v 75 2R 30 K% s 12 P R R
BEFERBNKE EERE

Designating part-time risk management
staff to develop and implement the risk
management operation procedures of the
department, and report risky business
management issues to the internal audit
department in a timely manner
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IRE  HEREGRE

LAWFUL OPERATION

Operating lawfully is the cornerstone of the continued operations
of the Group in various regions. The Group always adheres to
compliance standards, continuously reviews its practices to ensure
good compliance, and provides clear guidelines to employees to
ensure compliance with requirements in all aspects. Any illegal
activities would damage the reputation of the Group and have
significant adverse effects on its business, operational performance,
and financial condition. The Group’s operations are subject to
rigorous regulation under various laws and regulations, including
but not limited to those listed in the table below:

Level
Em

Emissions

235,67

Laws and regulations that have a material
impact on the Group, including but not
limited to the following
HARBEEREXLENERRBAH -
BEERRRNOT

Environmental Protection Law of the PRC
(REARANMBEIRZRESL)

Water Pollution Prevention and Control Law of
the PRC

(FREE A REMBEIKSRBEED

Atmospheric Pollution Prevention and Control
Law of the PRC
(REARAMBRRSHRIEEED

Law of the People’s Republic of China on
the Prevention and Control of Environmental
Pollution by Solid Waste

(FhEE A R B E BRI 5 R IRIR A L)
Air Pollution Control Ordinance (Hong Kong
Environmental Protection Department)
(ERIBRERGRG) (ERRRREE)
Cleaner Production Promotion Law of the PRC
(REARANMBESZEEREL)

Law of the People’s Republic of China on the
Prevention and Control of Noise Pollution
(REARANBIRETRIAE)

IPL]  UF Wealth Holdings Ltd Annual Report 2023
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f o ARERRBTERESR  THERT
EER BRE[BARYE  AHESREM
HHMES  BREERSTHERTER
ER - FAEZTRAEEHARENBEE
BIRE - WHEEXT - EEXARMBOR
MELEBRATNZE - ARENEBEELR
FAEPEERRIINBEEE - BEETR
RTRAFIBHZREEERBRA

Compliance of the Group during
the Reporting Period
HEHAFEEESHRER

During the Reporting Period, the Group did
not violate the relevant laws and regulations
that have a material impact on the Group.
AEERBERRNRBERAEERRTERY
ERRRERERBER -

The Group has formulated relevant policies
to guide the management of environmental
footprint.
AEEEHEHERRAERRBETELIE
E



Level
BE

Employment and
labor standard

BREKEBEREE

Health and safety
REHEZE

Environmental, Social and Governance Report

Laws and regulations that have a material
impact on the Group, including but not
limited to the following
HALEEREXLEHERRBAG -
BEERRRIOT

Labor Law of the PRC
(PEARANBELEE)

Labor Contract Law of the PRC
(PEARANBEEEHERZE)

Law of the People’s Republic of China on the
Protection of Women’s Rights and Interests
(PEARANBER ZEDREE)

Law of the People’s Republic of China on the
Protection of Minors

(pE AR AMBIREF AMREE)
Employment Promotion Law of the PRC
(REARANMBIREREZL)

Tentative Provisions on Payment of Wages
(TEXNETRED

Regulations on the Management of Housing
Funds

(EELESEEMHG)

Labor Dispute Mediation and Arbitration Law
of the PRC
(PEARANBLEFHRABMEE)
Regulation on Work-related Injury Insurances

(TERBRIFH)

Labor Law of the PRC
(REARAFBEILEE)

Fire Prevention Law of the PRC
(REARLFBEDER A

Occupational Health and Safety Management
System

(BERRZ2EERZR)

Special Rules on the Labor Protection of
Female Employees

(LB I EEBRERRIRED

Measures for Ascertainment of Work-related
Injuries

(IEREIEED

Regulation on Work-related Injury Insurances

(TERBRIFH)

RIE - HERELGRSE

Compliance of the Group during
the Reporting Period
HEHREEBESRER

During the Reporting Period, the Group did
not violate the relevant laws and regulations
that have a material impact on the Group.
AEERBERANRBERVAIEBRETEAY
ERERERRES -

The measures and guidelines specified in the
Employee Handbook of the Group ensure
that employees are aware of the policies on
remuneration and dismissal, recruitment and
promotion, working hours, holidays and other
benefits and welfares.

AEB(EEFM) AFTHNERRIES  BIR
EERBREEGMRFE - BEREH - IT#
R REAREMFBERERAIBER

During the year, the Group did not violate
the relevant laws and regulations that have a
material impact on the Group.
AEERAFERTERVARBEEARE
HUMEB AR R IR -

The Group provides guidance in the
Employee Handbook for aspects such as
office safety, office fire safety and personal
safety of employees.
REBARLZE PAEEBZE2REEHE
ARZREHEN(EETFM) R4tis5] -
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IRE  HEREGRE

Level
BE

Product
responsibility
EmEE

Laws and regulations that have a material
impact on the Group, including but not
limited to the following
HALEEREXLEHERRBAG -
BEEFRRRNOT

Civil Code of the PRC
(REARAFBEIREH)

Securities Law of the PRC
(REARAMBIES L)

Interim Measures for the Administration of
Securities and Futures Investment Advisory
Businesses

(B HEREZATEETIVE

Product Quality Law of the PRC
(FEARANBEERESE)

Law of the People’s Republic of China on
Protection of Consumer Rights and Interests
(PEARJNBEDEEERRREL)
Cybersecurity Law of the PRC
(REARAFBRZZRE)

Advertising Law of the People’s Republic of
China

(REARANBIES L)

Data Security Law of the PRC
(REARKNBEIEEZ2E)
Telecommunications Regulations of the PRC
(PEARXNBEBEEM)

Provisions on the Administration of Financial
Information Services

(ZREERBERRT)

LK)} JUF Wealth Holdings Ltd Annual Report 2023

Compliance of the Group during
the Reporting Period
HEHREAEBESRER

During the year, the Group did not violate
the relevant laws and regulations that have a
material impact on the Group.
AEERAFERNRBERVAEEREERY
ERRRERE RS -

The Group has been approved by and filed
with the relevant national authorities, and is
committed to meeting the standard of service
capabilities and product quality.
FEBEENBEBEREBIMERBR  &HE
REBENRBENEERES °



Level
BE

Intellectual
property
B ERE

Anti-corruption
RES

Environmental, Social and Governance Report

Laws and regulations that have a material
impact on the Group, including but not
limited to the following
HALEEREXLEHERRBAG -
BEERRRIOT

Patent Law of the PRC
(REARSFBEFRED

Trademark Law of the PRC

(hE ARAMEIREEL)

Measures for the Administration of Internet
Domain Names

(EERIEEEEITE)

Copyright Law of the PRC
(REARKEMBEIZEREE)

Criminal Law of the PRC
(PEARZNMBEAE)

Anti-Unfair Competition Law of the PRC
(PEARANBRTEERFE)
Anti-Money Laundering Law of the PRC
(PEARANBERREE)

Interpretation for Several Issues Concerning
the Applicable Law in Handling Criminal
Corruption and Bribery Cases issued by the
Supreme People’s Court and the Supreme
People’s Procuratorate
(BEARER e ARBERBERIVERS
HRANSEREREEE TEENEE)

RIE - HERELGRSE

Compliance of the Group during
the Reporting Period
HEHREEBESRER

The Group has not identified any material
infringement by us of any intellectual property
rights owned by third parties, nor any
material infringement by any third party of
any intellectual property rights owned by the
Group.
FEBARBREMEE=ZSHEENETAANERE
REAEREERBR  UREAE=FHEE
E#RENEMUABERFEENEEBR -

The Group has stipulated policies and
responsibilities related to intellectual property
protection.
AEECKITANBERREEBRERE
£ o

During the year, the Group did not receive
any corruption lawsuits against enterprises or
employees, nor did it violate the relevant laws
and regulations that have a material impact
on the Group. The Employee Handbook of
the Group stipulates the relevant policies
and guidelines to prevent bribery, extortion,
fraud and money laundering to ensure
that employees are aware of the relevant
principles and requirements. The Group also
conducts anti-corruption training.
FEBRAFERNRERIHEESESRE
MESHRARE  TREEREAEEEEKR
SENRBERERSES - XEB(EEFM) AT
BREARS 1 BERR - B1ER - ERRF RO R EAENIK
KR¥ES > BRESFEMBERAIRER X
FRRETE
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RIE - HERELGRSE

To achieve harmonious integration between the business objectives
of the Group and its social responsibilities, the Group has
established a comprehensive compliance mechanism to regulate
every detail of behavior by every employee during marketing and
sales processes. This mechanism includes detailed guidance
rules, employee handbooks, content verification procedures, and
the introduction of artificial intelligence compliance systems to
ensure strict adherence to all regulations. Additionally, we regularly
conduct compliance series training for employees to enhance their
awareness and understanding of compliance requirements. To
further strengthen compliance risk control, we have established
three-step preventive measures aimed at ensuring that all activities
during the Group’s operations and product delivery processes
strictly comply with relevant laws and regulations, both in content
and form, including :

o Requiring that all employees communicate with customers or
potential customers only through our official communication
channels to prevent private communications and conceal
improper conduct;

° Verifying the content to be displayed throughout the
marketing process and under our offerings, including
promotion materials and content on Apps and websites, our
pre-recorded online courses and scripts for our livestreaming
broadcasts, for the appropriateness and legality of such
content; and

° Adopting our Al compliance system along with manual
review by our compliance staff to monitor compliance of
contents presented during live interaction scenarios such as
presentations and interactions by our certified lecturers during
livestreaming broadcasts, communications by our one-on-one
consultants while providing one-on-one advisory services,
and communications by other employees with our customers.

The Group requires our stakeholders to abide by our terms, which
prohibit illegal content, such as provocative or inflammatory
languages, full or partial nudity, sexually suggestive language or
body movements, abusive language or actions towards other
users, spam, scams, acts and threats of violence and information
facilitating or promoting illegal transactions or activities, from
being created, shared and transmitted through our Apps. We have
actively taken a series of measures to ensure strict compliance
with relevant laws and regulations. We utilize automated artificial
intelligence for supervision and management, and have established
review and supervision teams to ensure effective implementation
of all regulations. Additionally, we maintain close communication
with stakeholders to jointly promote the deepening of compliance
work. When dealing with non-compliant behavior, we scientifically
formulate sanction measures based on the nature and frequency of
the violations, and require the responsible parties to take corrective
actions.
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STAKEHOLDERS AND MATERIALITY
ASSESSMENT

The Group values its stakeholders and dedicates to understanding
and addressing their views and concerns on environmental, social
and governance issues through constructive communication and
strong relationships. While formulating operation strategies and
sustainability plans, the Group takes into account stakeholders’
expectations on environmental, social and governance issues
through mutual cooperation with stakeholders and their active
engagement. In the process, we have gained great trust of our
stakeholders to enable us to implement our environmental, social
and governance initiatives and relevant strategies in accordance
with their considerations, so as to address any gaps and
deficiencies.

The following table sets out the major concerns, communication
channels, response and feedback of stakeholders:

Types of Major Concerns General Communication
Stakeholders RAEEDS Channels
FirEEn —iRBERE
Employees e Training and career e Direct communication .
== development HIZERB

BB R e Performance

e Remuneration assessment
and benefits BEMERX

M ERTE R e Health examination
¢ Health and safety B
REREZ R e Training courses

YRR

e Consulting about

RIE - HERELGRSE

iR E RS

FEBERHEENE  UHHBEBERMLE
BREVEBERE  TRIEEREHR
BoHERERAENZERREEEE - B
FEEERBRABERRITEE - A5E
BREFOERMESFERENENEES
B ZEENEHRE  HEREREEN
HIE - HULBRET  RAREEHNERE
BBWRMREAZEEERE HERERT
FLA R AR B SEHR L AR R B MR O R T
BZER °

FOESENEIEY - BBEAARNER
[REEER T3

Response and Feedback

R FEsE e 6

Provide a healthy and safe
working environment
REUREE - Z2ENTHERER
e Establish a fair and transparent
promotion and performance
assessment mechanism
BN FERANE FHERE RS
e Organize staff activities

AEEEED

employee comments

EESRE®N

e Safety management

ZEER
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IRE  HEREGRE

Types of Major Concerns General Communication  Response and Feedback
Stakeholders FAEER, Channels R R b
RrEER —RiBERE
Suppliers Standardized supplier e Order/contract e Fulfill contractual obligations
HER management and execution BITERER
procurement process BB/ ER#T e Maintain long-term cooperation
EERHEEEE NI ¢ Direct communication with excellent suppliers
iz HEER HESUEBRIGREASHE
Performance of e Supplier management e Payment on time
contracts on time system RIFFR
REFBTERE HEREEHE e Ensure that services and products
Corporate reputation e Supplier questionnaire comply with quality and safety
ThEEE HERES standards
BRBERERRKBEESLZ2FE
e Complete supplier management
files
BERHHEREEER
Customers Diversified products and e Social media e Establish customer
=R services AR communication channels
ZltNERRRE e Company’s official BYRFERERE
Quality of products website e Product updates and iterations
EmMES NEEH EmBEIHENL

JF Wealth Holdings Ltd Annual Report 2023

Customer service and
satisfaction
EFRBERZE
Customer privacy and
data security
EFBALEENZR
Responsible marketing
BEENEH

Email and telephone
communication
YR EEER
Market activities
miEEE

e Establish the marketing
compliance control system
RUEHAREHER

e Protect data security and
customer privacy security
REHBZ2UREFRAZ2
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RIE - HERELGRSE

Response and Feedback

g 6

Types of Major Concerns General Communication
Stakeholders FAEER, Channels
RrEER —RiBERE
Government/ Compliant business Government visits and
Community operations guides
BUF, & BRNEEEE BF28EE
Contribution to social Attend government
and community meetings
development SHBFEE
ERfHERMERRE Community services
HERE
Media Responsible marketing Annual and interim
Hee BEENEHE results presentations
Participate in social FERTPHESRGS
welfare Social media
SHELE NG RS
News interviews
B

Strictly adhere to laws and
regulations
BIRBFERER
Strengthen data and financial
security management
IREEEERME 2 EE
Actively undertake corporate
social responsibility
BRAELETSET

Fulfill the responsibility of

timely and accurate information
disclosure
BITRGEREERESE
Establish a good communication
mechanism with the media

B BRI R BB
Innovation cooperation with KOLs
EKOLBERRIF&1F

During the Reporting Period, we communicated with stakeholders
to identify potentially significant sustainability issues relating to
the ESG that could affect the Group. We have further classified
these issues into different categories in accordance with the ESG
Reporting Guide and collected relevant information to assess
the impact of these ESG issues on the Group. Through analysis,
we identified and sorted 22 ESG related issues to set up the
Group’s major issue matrix relating to the environmental and social
responsibility.

RB|EHR - RMEFDEEBRE - LIGE5IAR
R HERERFBILAESELER
MEEEATHFERE - RASRBRE -
HERERREESISZEREE-—STOE
RIEEE - WRERBEENUFEZER
B HEREAREHAEENTE - K8
DH - RAEBIE22THIRE - HERERME
HARBELHHETHF B TAKENR
BRHESEEHEBEEAREER -
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Environment

RE

1. Air emissions
BERBEL

2. Greenhouse gas
emissions
BERBHN

3. Waste
management
BERERE

4. Energy use
BEIREA

5. Non-renewable
resource use
THBLEERER

6. Climate change
Riz#1E

Environmental, Social and Governance Report

Employees
BT

7. Employee benefits
ETEH
8. Employee training
and career
development
BT EIIR B
i3
9. Occupational
health and safety
BERREZE
10. Attract and retain
talents
R4 K2 ¥ B A A
11. Employee equality
and diversity
RS FERSEM
12. Prevention of
Child Labor and
Forced Labor
Bi L8 T e sl 45
T

RIE - HEREORE

Product

E&R

13. Product quality 21. Contribution to
and safety society
EmBEEHEZE e Rk

14. Corporate 22. Public welfare
governance and investment
risk management DB

TESREAKRE
b

15. Intellectual
property
protection
AEERRE

16. Customer service
and customer
complaints
handling
EFRBETRE
i)

17. Supply chain
management
(295 %7 A p

18. Evaluation on
Suppliers
HIERIRE

19. Anti-corruption
REFREH

20. Information
security and trade
secrets protection
FEELTRHEEEK
BIRE
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RIE - HERELGRSE

MANAGING ENVIRONMENTAL FOOTPRINT

As a leading online investment decision-making solution provider
in China, we focus on the online investor content service market
in China. The nature of the Group’s business and its operating
methods do not have a significant negative impact on the
environment. Based on environmental conditions, social concerns,
and the Group’s sense of responsibility, the Group actively fulfills its
social responsibilities, actively practices environmental protection
in its daily operations, and contributes to social development.

Pollution Control and Greenhouse Gases

The Group’s business operations do not involve in industrial
production and manufacturing areas, therefore air emissions
during the Reporting Period were only from exhaust emissions
by the self-owned vehicles of the Company in the process of
running and did not involve in air emissions from gas and solid fuel
consumption. The Group encourages its employees to take public
transport means as much as possible in the course of their work
for the purpose of reducing vehicle exhaust emissions. Therefore,
during the Reporting Period, the Group’s air emission intensity was
relatively low as compared to other enterprises with the same size
of employees. During the Reporting Period, the Group’s emission
amount of NOx, SOx and PM increased slightly as compared to last
year, mainly due to the Group partially implemented a work-from-
home arrangement due to the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic
last year, resulting in reduced vehicle usage, whereas during
the year, vehicle usage returned to normal and also due to the
expansion of the Group’s business during the year, which requires
an increase in passenger vehicles usage.

The Group considered that the use of vehicles in our business
operation was minimal and the relevant exhaust emissions and
direct greenhouse gas emissions produced from the Company’s
vehicles were less material to its business and stakeholders
when comparing to other ESG issues, thus it has no plans to set
quantitative emission target for exhaust emissions. If there is a
subsequent change in the business model which involves significant
increase in exhaust emissions generated from the vehicles owned
by the Company, the Group will further evaluate the need to set
quantitative target. Nevertheless, the Group has set a directional
target, that is, to minimize exhaust emissions and optimize emission
reduction measures over the next five years, details of which are
described in the section “Managing Environmental Footprint -
Environment and Natural Resources” below.

I UF Wealth Holdings Ltd  Annual Report 2023
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RIE - HERELGRSE

2023 2022
2023 20225

Emission Emission

Emission density Emission density

amount (gram) (gram/person) amount (gram)  (gram/person)

Types of exhaust gases  Emission source HHE FREE e HHREE

FERER HERUE (%) (%/N) (3) (=/A)
NO Vehicles of the Company

DRER 456.35 0.1644 300.76 0.1266

SO 55.85 0.0201 12.34 0.0052

PM 161.06 0.0580 106.15 0.0447

Note: Emission density =exhaust emission amount during the Reporting
Period/total number of employees as of the end of the Reporting Period

During the Reporting Period, the majority of greenhouse gas
emissions fell into scope 2, indirect energy emissions, which was
a result of the consumption of approximately 5,028 tons of carbon
dioxide equivalent from the Company’s purchased electricity. The
carbon emission density of the Group was 1.82 tons/person during
the year, a slight increase as compared to last year, mainly due to
the Group partially implemented a work-from-home arrangement
due to the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic last year, resulting in
lower office electricity consumption, whereas during the year, office
usage returned to normal and also, the expansion of the Group’s
business during the year, as well as an increase in office operations,
equipment operation and maintenance time, resulting in an increase
in electricity consumption and greenhouse gas emissions.

During the Reporting Period, the electricity consumption was
primarily from office electricity consumption, which is material to the
Group’s business operation, thus a target for scope 2 greenhouse
gas emissions was set: Taking 2022 as the base year, the annual
carbon emission density will be reduced by 5% over the next five
years, including 2023, on the basis that there are no significant
changes in the Group’s business model and business scale. In
order to achieve this target, the Company puts great emphasis
on energy conservation and emission reduction, details of which
are described in the section “Managing Environmental Footprint —
Environment and Natural Resources” below.

i BREmE=REPNERENE BERE
HIRE B4

RBEHA > ABDBEREHFHBEHE
2HEFREESEN  ARAIIBENHEEN
5,028ME —F LR E BT o NEFEEHBRBEN
EER1.82M /A BEFHPMEER
FRERAREZFRIHNTRERE  A&H
BOBERAEIPIER  PRAEELH
R MAFERLEEAREEE I
B FAEEREEBER  WAZEE R
BETRGEEREAMER  SHAESN
o RERREHEHEM o

BREMA - ENERTEREPLERE
EHAKENXBBELAREREER At
EMEHBEE2REREHFBRERR - U
2022 RERE  AEEHERAUREE
RERBEBERBNER L - 2023FEH
WHARREFFERBFRBERDE5% - RE
BZBE  ARAR+2ERERERSE - B
HBEBRTIEEREART -RERRARE
R B FHEA o
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RIE - HERELGRSE

2023 2022
20234 20224
Greenhouse gas Emission Greenhouse gas Emission
emission amount density  emission amount density
(ton) (ton/person) (ton) (ton/person)
Greenhouse gas emission sources mMEREHRE HemiZ & BERBHENRE B E
BERAEBHERR (W) (W8, N) (W) (Mg, X)
Scope 1: vehicles of the Company 10.10 0.004 2.23 <0.001
EE— : AFKRE
Scope 2: purchased electricity 5,028.44 1.81 3,481.99 1.47
gE— - SNEER
Total 5,038.54 1.82 3,484.22 1.47
&t

Note: Greenhouse gas emission amounts are expressed in carbon dioxide
equivalent (ton)

As we are primarily engaged in the provision of online investment
education services, we did not generate any hazardous waste
during the Reporting Period and thus no plan to set a target
for the reduction of hazardous waste. If there is a subsequent
change in the business model which involves the discharge of
hazardous wastes, the Group will further evaluate the need to set
target. Non-hazardous waste we generated includes household
waste generated during daily work of our employees in operation
locations, such as food wraps, drinking cans and bottles, waste
paper products, stationeries and discarded office supplies. The
non-hazardous waste generation intensity of the Group was 2.1189
tons/person during the year, a significant increase as compared
to last year, mainly due to the Group partially implemented a
work-from-home arrangement due to the impact of the COVID-19
pandemic last year, resulting in lower office usage and therefore
less non-hazardous waste was generated, whereas during the
year, office usage returned to normal and also, the expansion of
the Group’s business, an increase in office operation, equipment
operation and maintenance time, with an increase in the number of
hours and situation of non-hazardous waste generation, resulting in
a significant increase in non-hazardous waste production.

m JF Wealth Holdings Ltd Annual Report 2023
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Taking into account the daily business needs of our employees as
well as the environmental impact and burden of waste, we have set
a target of reducing non-hazardous waste to maintain an annual
nonhazardous waste generation intensity of approximately 0.2 tons/
person for the next five years, including 2023, with no significant
changes in the type or scale of the Group’s business, taking 2022
as the base year.

RIE - HERELGRSE

ZREIRBEEEAERDAFRERMAR
BERNFERAE  RARENRIES
BEEVHNERR L2025 REEF » £X
SEEXBERIRRIREERENER
T » BE2023FHENHARRSEF - FEEE
BERVEEREERFEN0.20, A -

2023 2022

20234 20224
Waste Waste
Waste generation Waste generation
production intensity production intensity
BEMELE BEYPELEEE BEEYELEE BEEYELEERE
Waste type (ton) (ton/person) (ton) (ton/person)
FEEMIES (mg) (W, N) (mg) (W8, A)
Non-hazardous waste 5,880.00 2.1189 484.10 0.2038

BEERY

In spite of the small amount of waste produced, waste reduction
and reuse, recycling or other reclamation measures were
implemented internally, which will be described in the section
headed “Managing Environmental Footprint - Environment and
Natural Resources” below.

As the Group’s place of business is in Shanghai, we have adhered
to the “Shanghai Regulations on Household Waste Sorting (L&
HAESEN IR EIEEH), a regulation issued by Shanghai municipal
government for the sorting of household wastes. Household
wastes are classified into four categories: recyclables, harmful
garbage, wet garbage, and dry garbage. The Group is committed
to promoting waste reduction among its employees. We urge
employees to actively fulfill their duty to accurately sort household
waste, ensuring that each type of waste is properly handled.
Furthermore, as the generators of waste, employees must take
on corresponding responsibilities and actively participate in waste
reduction efforts, contributing to environmental protection and
sustainable development.

BEFEEERNOBERE - RMADHEL
AP TS EERIAD AR EEE
Bl E f B G - HRRERRTX
[ERBERN - BARRALR - HH
$8 o

HRAEEEXES 8 RMEERLEE
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RIE - HERELGRSE

RESOURCES MANAGEMENT

The Group attaches great importance to the impact of resource
consumption on the environment and is continuously committed
to resource protection. The Group’s principal place of business is
located in Qingpu District, Shanghai, the PRC, where there is no
issue on sourcing water or geographical water stress for the time
being. The water resources consumption density was 24.79 tons/
person during the year, a slight decrease as compared to last year,
mainly due to the expansion of the Group’s business during the
year, with an increase in office operation, equipment operation
and maintenance time. However, the Group’s water conservation
measures and promotion were well implemented, and the Group’s
employees were also conscious of valuing water resources and
recycling them as much as possible.

Taking 2022 as the base year, assuming there is no material change
in business model, the Company has set a water and electricity
saving target of a 5% reduction in annual water and electricity
consumption over the next five years, including 2023. In order
to achieve these targets, the Group will continue to track energy
and resource consumption and take corrective measures to meet
the Group’s energy saving targets, details of such measures will
be described in the section “Managing Environmental Footprint —
Environment and Natural Resources” below.

giREHE
FEESEEREFRERHRENTE &
BYORERFRE - AREETREBEMIHN
RPBLETERE - & H UKL E R i
KBS - REEXKEFREREER24.79
WA BREFEPETE  TEREAK
FEEEEBER  BAELE - RBET
RAEESEAMER - BEREEKER 5
EEEIY  EEETHERERNBEKE
R BERWRNAKER

L2022 F AR EF » BEREBEXNEERE
b » RDABRREME K - BIEBZEH1E2023
FEANARSFRFEAKERAZSER
D5% c BERZSEE  NEESEEE
MERETR & B R A E R S 3 BRER AU 1F $5 e LA
HEAEENEFEERE  ZE5HEEEFE
BRTYEEREET -RERARER
— B ER AR o

2023 2022

20234 20224
Consumption Consumption
Types of energy and resources Consumption intensity Consumption intensity
fER R ERES HER HIEEE HEE HEZE
Water resources 68,779 tons 24.79 tons/person 63,848 tons  26.88 tons/person
KER 68,7791 24.79WF, A 63,8481 26.88M8, A
Unleaded petrol 3,799 liters  1.37 liters/person 839 liters  0.35 liters/person
DR 3,799 A% 1.378# A 839 AT 0.352H,/ A
Electricity consumption 7,147,740 KWh 2,575.76 4,949,520 KWh 2,084.01
KWh/person KWh/person
EES 7,147,740 2,575.76 4,949,520 2,084.01
TFrORF TFEREF A T BB FTRE /A

Moreover, we do not use packaging materials in the course of
our business as we primarily engage in the provision of online
investment education services.
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ENVIRONMENT AND NATURAL RESOURCES

The nature of our business operations has limited environmental
impact. By providing services, we contribute to a greener, paperless
society. Our corporate values coexist with environmental protection,
and we are dedicated to promptly promoting green management
principles and spreading the concept of sustainable development.
During the Reporting Period, the Group complied with all applicable
environmental laws and regulations and continuously tried to
reduce our carbon emission footprint. We actively encouraged our
employees to take part in building a green working environment and
be responsible for their impacts on the environment, by following
the main principles of reducing, reusing and recycling. The Group’s
leased office building in Shanghai obtained the certificate of green
building design label in April 2021 and fulfilled the requirements
of the LEED rating system certification established by the United
States Green Building Council and verified by Green Business
Certification Inc. in September 2022.

We expect to continue to promote the Group’s green and low-
carbon office working model by implementing green environmental
protection concepts, vigorously promoting online offices and
implementing the transformation to an intelligent operational model.
Meanwhile, we are also committed to increasing environmental
protection and energy-saving design in our offices. We will further
reduce energy consumption and emissions through various
workspace policies and measures in the foreseeable future:

° Formulating policies for energy saving and emission reduction
and assigning teams to implement and monitor them;

° Assessing the use of vehicles for official assignments,
consciously controlling the use of company vehicles, and
calling on employees to travel on public transport as much as
possible;

° Replacing energy-intensive lighting such as high bay light and
fluorescent lamps with high luminous efficacy light set such
as LED lights at printing plants;

° Arranging security team to turn off lights according to
set schedule and requiring all employees to turn off their
computers before leaving offices;

° Installing thermostats for all air conditioners for smarter
control of room temperature and more efficient use of energy
in all premises wherever possible;

RIE - HERELGRSE
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RIE - HERELGRSE

° Reminding employees of energy-saving labels for turning off
lights and air conditioners before leaving work. These labels
are provided in major corridors and rooms throughout the
offices;

° Post conspicuous signs at water points such as washrooms
to remind employees to turn off taps in time and save water;

° Promoting paperless office, reuse of waste paper and
adoption of double-sided printing for printers; and

° Advocating use of recyclables and calling on reducing the use
of disposable tableware and other supplies.

To truly integrate environmental awareness into every aspect

of our operations and identify ESG risks and opportunities, we

will continue to apply the following principles as guidance for

environmental policies and measures in the coming years:

° Continuously improve our resource management by
designing and implementing effective and measurable energy

management measures;

° Promote recycling scheme, seek alternative ways of disposing
of and reducing waste in environmentally friendly ways;

° Reuse materials whenever possible;
° Utilizing natural resources and energy efficiently;

° Consider environmental friendliness and energy efficiency of
any item to be purchased;

° Strictly comply with and fully implement all relevant
environmental laws and regulations;

° Solve environmental issues and incorporate environmental
initiatives into marketing planning; and

° Review the implementation of environmental management
and seek continuous improvement.

m JF Wealth Holdings Ltd Annual Report 2023
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CLIMATE CHANGE

Global warming creates a wide range of risks for business
operation, from disrupted supply chains to business continuity
disruptions to labor challenges. To address these challenges, we
actively identify and monitor environmental, social, and climate-
related risks and opportunities that may affect our business,
strategies, and financial performance. We delve into the short-term
and long-term risks posed by environmental, social, and climate
factors, comprehensively assessing their potential impacts on our
business. Since our business does not involve the operation of any
physical production facilities, we do not currently have any material
liabilities relating to health, work safety and environment, and do
not expect that we will incur any material liabilities in this regard
which could have any material adverse impact on our business
and operating results. We are not required to obtain any approvals
or certificates for the principal business we engaged in that are
applicable to environmental laws and regulations in the PRC.

In the future, we will continue to monitor the impact of
environmental issues such as global warming on our business and
take corresponding measures to ensure that our operations can
progress steadily on the path of sustainable development.

Risk type The impact on the Group
R BREE R HAKEHHE

Physical risk

HiSERE

Acute risks: Personnel vacancy risk:
BN RRE A BT

Risks related to the Our main business is located in Shanghai,

physical effects of
climate change, can
result from events
such as floods and
typhoons.
HRRSLERTER
BWERR  THEAEKR
ReEE B4 EH -

which is a southeast coastal area, where
extreme weather such as typhoons and
storms are more likely to occur. Extreme
weather not only affects the commuting
of our employees and thus affects our
normal operations, but may also cause
casualties in metropolitan areas.
BANEEEBVRLE  AREEEH
B BEERERHRARBEHRELR
B AR TMESXERMEEEHRAMS
ERMPNEREE  EREMHLET &
MABEBT »

RIE - HERELGRSE

RIREE
RREBALXEETREZAR - SEM
FESERET - EBERA M TE TS B B -
RIS E - RAIEMRE B R ] RE
HEMWRE RBERMBREELESFEN
RE - S RAIREERREKES - RIIR
ARNRE - HERAIRE R RAE
et RBER  FEFGELEZHREM
EBTREFENEEE - ANEMNER
THREMNEREERKENEE  RMNEA
BEEARE - THEZZRBREABNEIMNE
REME - XEBEFEMATSEEFEALE
AAEEAREMBRMNEBREERE
ELEERTAEE - RFIFRBNERER
BARSEMNERNTEREEREROH
EHEE

RE > RO HEBIZREESRIZEE
HEMEBNEE  YEBRIVEEERE
RERFPNEBEAETFERRNER
RERITT °

Response methods

FEH 5%

¢ The Group continues to raise concerns
about the relevant weather warnings
issued by the meteorologic bureau, and
requires employees to evacuate timely
in the event of natural disasters or
extreme weather.

o AEERFEBIRZBEMNEERR
BE  REARKERHE BIRRRBLE
RERET RIFRE -
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Risk type The impact on the Group Response methods
EEEER HAKEMTE e ik
Risk of network infrastructure failure: e For all kinds of extreme weather

AR ER R R

Extreme weather is caused by climate
change in the place of business
operation, which results in server
crash or system failure;
FHEBEMBEREBCERNBIRK
R BUERRESREHRLHE

The national backbone network is
interrupted or malfunctioned due to
extreme weather, which prevents
users and customers from accessing
the Group’s online and mobile
platforms.

B R B 48 4% R R KSR BT
HEAFPREFELGBAEBNER
RBEFE -

The network of third-party partners

is interrupted or insufficient due to
extreme weather, which leads to the
interruption of the services we provide
to users and customers.
FE=HEERFNRKRERIR KR E
XTE  BEFEMOAFREFRMEN
PR Ef o
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scenarios, the Group has established
an early warning and hierarchical
response mechanism for emergencies,
weather disasters or safety accidents,
and established a cross-departmental
emergency response coordination
mechanism by formulating emergency
operation plans and cultivating the
awareness of timely replacement of
employees in key positions, to ensure
that the Group’s business continuity
will not be affected by the absence of
employees.
HERERRRRSREIERIRIER
R IEEEREESRESHACEHE
RIEHRBEMH  RRAFHREEN
MBS REEKS B ERPIE
SEEHART > REAREXKER
MIAZEEREMZITE -

The Group arranges special personnel
to pay close attention to the daily
weather forecast of the location of

the network equipment, and timely
inform the management and network
equipment management department of
extreme weather conditions in advance,
so that corresponding and effective
measures can be taken in a timely
manner.
AEBLZHEMAERYBERBRE
FRiE# B R RRIEAR - REFEBIH KR
BRREASANEEERPERBEER
F9 > DUE R RFEREUAE FER e i ©



Risk type
[ BREE R

Chronic risks:
REAMERER

Risks related to the
physical effects of
climate change, such
as continued high
temperatures and
rising sea level.
HRESLCERTER
BEME - WiSESR
K FELEFH -

Environmental, Social and Governance Report

The impact on the Group

HAREHRE

The impact of chronic changes such

as melting glacier and rising sea level
caused by global warming on future
working environment and equipment
operation.

ERESREZUKIRL - B FELEAEE
MRCHARRITERER - RIBETESELE
7

RIE - HERELGRSE

Response methods

P 75 7%

e Pay attention to extreme weather
conditions in various regions in a timely
manner, and promptly inform users
that they may not be able to access the
Group’s online platform due to network

problems.
o REEIZMERBARER  REFSH
HMAF AR KRB ERE LT EAEE

E&FE -

e Establish an unimpeded mechanism of
supplier information, timely learn of the
situation that suppliers cannot provide
services normally, formulate emergency
plans, and confirm the replacement of
service providers.

o EYMEMEEZERG  REEHM
EREEEEREREZER - HIEE
SR BREBRREE -

The Group continues to monitor global
warming, supervise property inspections
and equipment updates in office spaces,
and improve the working environment for
employees.

SEFERIZHEREMR - BB DS
MERE - BHRE XEETITHERE -

2023F 3k NHAMEERERLE QLI
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IRE - HER

Risk type
[ BREE R

Transition risk

B R

Policy and regulation
risks

BURAESR AR

Technological risk

E5 RN

ERlRE

The impact on the Group

HAREERE

Our operating costs have increased
thanks to the government’s
implementation of stricter climate-
related policies and regulations, including
stricter resource use and sustainable
development practices such as carbon
emissions.

BN B E RS N RIRAEBEBER R &
H o BEEBRENEREAURRENRS
AFERRER  ERMNEERLEM
20 o

Changes in Internet technology have
resulted in the complete replacement of
the Group’s products by new technology
products.

BRI EAEREEE RN RME
mE 2 EUL ©
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Response methods

FEE 75 7%

The Group continues to pay attention to
the regulatory trend to ensure that the
emissions of the Group comply with the
latest legal requirements. We will continue
to develop and implement measures in
accordance with the latest climate-related
policies and regulations, thereby promoting
the fulfilment of our commitments on
environmental protection.
FERIEEBY  BREASENHERES
BHUERER - AMEFERREHNNR
IR AR TR HIE R B — RS
it - RERMEITHIRRRENEAGE

The Group continues to encourage research
and development and innovation, focus

on new market trend and the emergence

of new product technologies and attract a
wide range of talents.

SES B ENAR - BETSHBN - F
EEMAEIMEER - EZRAAT -



Risk type
[ BREE R

Market risk
TS EE

Reputational risk

ZERR

Environmental, Social and Governance Report

The impact on the Group

HAREHRE

The changes in market preferences
may lead to a decrease in the market

competitiveness of the Group’s products.

TS RFNECEAREERTERFED
PEAE o

Customers or communities have a poor
impression and evaluation of enterprises
that do not focus on low-carbon and
environmental protection, and therefore
do not invest or purchase their products,
which affects profitability and market
share.
EERMBEEN T EIERIRRNEES
EBRENDRENE  ATRESBE
PENER  RMFERARTHEEE -

RIE - HERELGRSE

Response methods

P 75 7%

Real time tracking of market conditions,
exploring green procurement paths,
selecting third-party partners with strong
commitment and potential in energy
conservation and carbon emission
reduction. Using green technology to
produce green products, increasing the
proportion of green products year by year,
and providing more low-carbon services
and products.

BRERT SRR REFeRBER 2
21 3t R 328 1E B R RN A B HE Ak 5 T R ORR
HHEEINE=FEEEMH - £AKER
MEERBER  BFEENGEEMLLA)
REEMEBRNBRBERER -

Continuously taking measures to reduce
carbon emissions, disclosing and
promoting the Company’s ESG contribution
to society, and calling for carbon reduction
actions.

FERIERBD BN - OtERERE
BEARNESGHEMNERE - WEERRITE °

2023FH AFMEEBRERLAT QLS
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BUILD AN IDEAL WORKPLACE

The Group recognizes that employees are an indispensable part of
our business operations. In order to fulfill our mission and empower
individual investors with the ability to navigate the financial system,
we must establish a product team that is passionate about financial
education, possesses professional competence, and fosters an
atmosphere of inclusivity and equality. By rallying the team’s
strength, we can collectively drive the vibrant development of our
business and provide investors with higher quality services.

The Group strictly adheres to relevant employment laws and
regulations, and is committed to building a comprehensive human
resources management system, covering areas such as talent
acquisition, compensation and performance, career development,
and welfare system establishment. The Group has had in place a
series of regulations and policies, including “JF Wealth Workplace
Code of Conduct,” “Employee Onboarding Management
Regulations,” “Outstanding Employee Selection Methods for JF
Wealth Functional Departments,” “Employee Solatium and Subsidy
Management Regulations,” and “Employee Welfare Management
Regulations for Newly Weds and Employees with New born
Babies”. These regulations provide comprehensive guidance to
employees, and aim to facilitate the integration of new employees
into the JF Wealth family, regulate job responsibilities and duties,
support employee career development and advancement, ensure
welfare benefits and employee care, and provide a well-rounded
system of management and care throughout the employee lifecycle,
and create a favorable workplace environment, and upholds the
corporate values of “Customer-centric, teamwork, focus, integrity,
embrace change, innovation, and living joyfully while working
diligently”.

@ JF Wealth Holdings Ltd Annual Report 2023
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Employment Management

As of December 31, 2023, the total number of employees of the
Group was 2,775, all of whom are working in mainland China. The
number and proportion of employees by different dimensions as of
December 31, 2023 are as follows:

RIE - HERELGRSE

BlEER
HZE20235128310 ' AEBESLES
2,775 N » EHF B KEIE - B TR
E#HEZE2023F 12831 BENEE AER
BT -

2023 2022
2023% 2022%F
Proportion of Proportion of
the Group the Group
Number of to which it Number of to which it
employees belongs employees belongs
Classification Group 1GFRB4ERIZ 1k Fr B8 48 Bl
SRR EEAY 4] EEAK 2 e f5l
Female
Gender fegc 1,176 42.38% 878 36.97%
4 B Male
B 1,599 57.62% 1,497 63.03%
<30
<305% 1,115 40.18% 1,308 55.08%
30-40
Age 30-405% 1,540 55.50% 956 40.25%
Fie 41-50
41-505% 106 3.82% 95 4.00%
>50
>505% 14 0.50% 16 0.67%

2023F Kk NAMEEERBRAS Rkl
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Report

2023 2022
2023 20224
Proportion of Proportion of
the Group the Group
Number of to which it Number of to which it
employees belongs employees belongs
Classification Group {EFTBAAR 2 YRR
SRR EEAY 4L EEAK pand |
Senior management
SEEEIN - 33 1.19% 5 0.22%
Rank Middle management
B HREEAS 251 9.04% 236 9.93%
General staff
—REE 2,491 89.77% 2,134 89.85%
Full-time
Employment type 20 2,736 98.59% 2,375 100.00%
EEER Part-time
FRE 39 1.41% 0 0.00%
Geographical region Mainland China
Hhig FP Bl R R 2,775 100.00% 2,375 100.00%

Note: Due to changes in the age statistics methodology, employee data for the
year 2022 will be categorized and reported by age groups according to
the current year’s age classification.

The Group is committed to hiring the most outstanding and
promising employees in the market. To achieve this, we offer an
attractive compensation and benefits package, systematic training
opportunities, and internal promotion channels. The compensation
package for employees primarily consists of a base salary and
bonuses, with the base salary determined by factors such as
position, qualifications, and experience. To further stimulate
employee motivation, the Group has established a diverse reward
system aimed at encouraging and promoting employees to
demonstrate higher quality and outstanding performance in their
work.

KP4 UF Wealth Holdings Ltd Annual Report 2023
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RIEI D BEET 2022 FiIRFHREDEEFRN -

AEEFIREFET S LRES RAEE
HES Bt RARH/—-RIEERSID
HEFHMBENBR ZASCEIRERANE
ARE FAEEREESFMETETERELRT
BERREBR  HHEATEREBNL - &
BN TAERGN - REERY T SHRENE
BHE  EEBNEDEERRAEREES
MHBWTERRE -



Environmental, Social and Governance Report
IRE  HERELGRE

We formulate procedures for employees’ leaving office (including BMBEEERRESERNMBEEEERHTE
resignation and dismissal) in strict accordance with the labor EERB (EEHBEREEF  URE
contract and relevant laws and regulations to protect the rights EEEZ - EEEBEN > RMFHEHEET
and interests of employees. When employees leave, we conduct  HE# @ UL THREBEEREHEAEENE
interviews with them to understand the reasons for their departure EoNHEHR  FEBEERIBEAES
and their recommendations to the Group. During the Reporting 1,320 A MEAEE29.44% - RBIRHEE
Period, the total number of employee turnover in the Group was SETREHANRLEE AR ELANT
1,329, with a turnover rate of 29.44%. The number and proportion

of employee turnover by different dimensions during the Reporting

Period are as follows:

2023 2022
20234 202245
Number of Proportion of Number of Proportion of
employee the Group to employee the Group to
turnover which it belongs turnover which it belongs
Classification Group i 15 Fr S 48
SERHER mREEANE ZHBl REEEAH Z Eb A5l
Female
Gender gegc 478 25.16% 467 34.72%
4 5l Male
B 851 32.56% 714 32.29%
<30
<30 5% 812 37.09% 720 35.50%
30-40
Age 30-40 % 478 22.19% 424 30.72%
Fie 41-50
41-50 5% 34 22.67% 32 25.00%
>50
>50 7% 5 23.81% 5 25.00%
Geographical region Mainland China
g R KR 1,329 29.44% 1,181 33.21%

Note: Due to changes in the age statistics methodology, employee data for the MisE - AR FERAET DS &L - IR AFEFieE
HEA

year 2022 will be categorized and reported by age groups according to RIBI D FiEr2022 F 1R F iR EI D EB BN
the current year’s age classification.

2023F 8 AFMEEBRERLAT QB
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CARING FOR EMPLOYEES’ SAFETY AND
HEALTH

The Group places a strong emphasis on employee health and
safety, striving to reduce various potential health and safety risks
and create a safe, healthy working environment for employees. To
achieve this, we continuously conduct in-depth risk assessments
and detailed risk investigations in areas or workplaces with
higher occupational hazard risks. In order to ensure the safety of
the working environment for employees and effectively prevent
potential occupational hazards, the Group continuously strengthens
safety procedures, enhances preventive measures, and increases
control efforts. During this Reporting Period, the Group has actively
implemented the following control measures:

° Guide employees to be responsible for office safety, and
explain to employees various prohibited behaviors and safety
precautions about environmental safety, fire safety, traffic
safety and bad weather safety in the Employee Handbook.

° Arrange administrative personnel to conduct regular
inspections on key risk areas such as office buildings, fire-
fighting facilities and escape routes for timely detection and
resolution.

° Maintain the daily sanitation of the workplace, implement
regular disinfection, ventilation, and garbage removal to
maintain a clean working environment.

° Formulate emergency plans for emergencies such as severe
weather and emergencies, and prevent the safety threats to
employees brought by such situations in advance.

The Group attaches great importance to fire safety, and has
formulated the Fire Management System in accordance with the
Work Safety Law of the People’s Republic of China to protect the
safety of people and company property, clarify the main body of
fire safety responsibility, improve the fire safety awareness of all
employees, and implement the approach of prevention comes first
with a combination of prevention and fighting.

@ JF Wealth Holdings Ltd Annual Report 2023
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Fire safety education

and training

: SHBE R R

Work evaluatl_on and ?‘}5()2%,5531-‘5 )|
reward and punishment
mechanism on fire safety

SHE R &2 TAEEY
FER Rl

Emergency evacuation Fi re
plan drill mechanism

BT Management
EESE L

System
SHEIF EIR&IE

Regulations on
management of
warehouse fire safety
REHBZR
BERE
Regulations on

electricity and fire
safety management

Regulations on fire

inspection and checks

HBEKE
RIBERTE

Regulations on
management of safe
evacuation facilities

ZEEAL
Rt EERE

Regulations on
management of fire
hydrant and fire
extinguisher

HIEE K
WNREERE

Regulations for
rectification of
fire hazards

AEAXZS D s
Emm B

During the past three years including the Reporting Period, the
Group reported zero cases of work-related fatalities, and the
number of working days lost due to work-related injuries during
the Reporting Period was 270 days, all of which were due to traffic
accidents happened to employees during commuting, instead of
potential safety hazards in the office environment.

REEAREHERNNBEIFA - NEH
TEMEFARERERTERET  HERANERTES
MIBANTHEEHB270K - HEREENE
YBRPRINBEZRBESY  UFERL

BRREZ2RBREY -
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Employees of the Group enjoy a comprehensive range of benefits
covering medical, retirement, and workers’ compensation
insurance, among others. We strictly adhere to relevant laws and
regulations, contributing a specific percentage of each employee’s
average annual salary from the previous year to employee benefit
plans, ensuring that every employee receives the benefits they
deserve. Additionally, we purchase additional commercial medical
and accident insurance for all employees, provide annual health
check-ups, and offer comprehensive support for their physical
and mental well-being. Recognizing that employees are the most
valuable asset of the Group, in addition to statutory benefits, we
also provide various supplementary benefits such as birthday
perks, wedding benefits, and holiday gift packages to ensure that
every employee feels cared for and valued.

The Group attaches great importance to improving employees’
sense of well-being and actively organizes diverse activities to
enrich their spiritual, cultural and material life. We hold annual
cultural week, annual meeting and holiday activities every year
to enhance team cohesion and create a cultural atmosphere
where employees regard the team as a big family. The Group has
established 14 employee activity clubs including badminton club,
e-sports club, hot roller skating club, football club, and public
welfare club. It is hoped that employees can achieve a balance
between work and life, and achieve a state of happy work and
happy life. During the year, the Group organised following team-
building events:

FEEREEZALENENETE  REER
B RAER - TEREE - RABEBER
HBERER - RESREEN —FEKRI
MNP TENREB DL - AESEFTE
EHER  BREUESHEZZIRENE
MRE - 15 BASEZERESBEREIN
BmEERRREEIIRE  TRHEFER
B 2HUBEERENSVER - ARER
AESREEREENUNE  EEAERANE
®E BATARERHSEFHEZEN &
FEBREN - HEERNUARSEHRAEN
B2R%  EREEBUESHERZIFEIRS

BEE

FEBEREE=EREA  BRASZK
LR EBASERENEHIERNEE
& KMSFRPBAFLE - FEURE
BEES  HEEBEORRED KT EE
BERARRENRE - AKRERRPE
Bt EFHBRA  BAEWBH - BB
RNEHFEI4EREEBHE  FERETU
BRTHEREFHTE  EFRETE R
SEFRRE - AFE - AEEASTUT
EEEE :

JF Wealth Family Day
NFEWMERFFRRE
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JF Wealth Hong Kong Trip In Celebration of Company Listing
NEWMEES EHE

JF Wealth Business Center Bali Trip
NEMEXBHLEES 2k
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Tizla)

— |

\

“Warren Buffett Long Distance Run” Event Held by JF Wealth
hEMERR EIFEREZEEE

NURTURING AND DEVELOPING TALENTS

The Group acknowledges the importance of providing opportunities
for development and training to our employees. It is not only
essential to the career development of our employees but also
ensures and improves the quality of our offerings. Our training
programs are customized to our business needs, equipping our
employees with practical knowledge and skills. We conduct
introductory training for new staff and have periodic training for our
full-time employees, clearly define the requirements for employee
onboarding management, provide standardized and comprehensive
onboarding management system training, protect the legal rights
and interests of both the Company and employees, improve the
efficiency and safety of onboarding processes, and enhance the
overall onboarding experience for new employees. Furthermore,
we offer both online and offline internal training for our employees
to meet their needs for adjusting time to learn in daily life. Offline
training includes: internal training by external lecturers, external
open courses, external study tours and visits, and internal sharing.
Online training includes: a variety of online courses and internal
sharing on the online learning platform App.

k] UF Wealth Holdings Ltd Annual Report 2023
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Employee training indicators

ESENHESR

Percentage of employees trained (%)
EBEZINE (%)

Percentage of employees trained by gender (%)
E SR 25 ZIET L (%)

Female

gegica

Male

B4

Percentage of employees trained by level (%)
&SRB 25> ZAE 7 EE (%)

Senior management

SREEAS

Middle management

PREEAS

General staff

—RIEE

Employee training length indicators

& STl RIEE

Average training hours of employees (hour)
BEFIZ IS ()

Average training hours of employees by gender (hour)
{E SRR 25 F Sl BF R (VNEF)

Female

gegica

Male

B

Average training hours of employees by level (hour)
& SRR 2 5 Al BF R (VNETF)

Senior management

SREEAS

Middle management

PREEAS

General staff

—RIEE

Note: Percentage of employees trained = total number of employees trained
during the Reporting Period/total number of employees as of the end of
the Reporting Period*100%

i

2023
20234F

99.1%

58.2%

41.8%

1.0%

9.1%

89.9%

56.2

54.9

57.2

51.2

40.5

57.8

2022
20224

101.6%

62.3%

37.7%

0.4%

8.2%

91.4%

47.2

44.4

52.0

26.2

48.5

47.3

BEZIEDL=REHAZIIRE AR

HEREHRIEBBLE100%
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Based on the staff’s level and the needs of actual work, the
Group has established a variety of featured training programs.
We encourage our employees to participate in various training
activities on their own, and continue to provide them with more
and better opportunities to enhance their professional skills and
further promote team integration and cooperation. After the
training, we also conduct satisfaction surveys to quickly understand
and respond to our employees’ suggestions and advice, and
immediately adjust or innovate our training programs according to
their needs:

° Business training: Professional financial knowledge and
practitioner training, marketing and new media development
business training, project execution training, etc.

° Leadership training: Training for mid-level and senior
management is designed to foster managers’ awareness
of systematic management, enhance managerial cognition,
boost team effectiveness, and reserve and cultivate quality
management talents for the Group.

° Emotional health training: Training courses for all employees
are designed to help employees diffuse negative emotions
at work and overcome difficulties in their lives. Especially
during the pandemic, we helped employees get rid of
negative emotions brought by isolation and illness so that the
employees could be more enjoyable in work.

o Compliance training: For newly recruited employees, we
provide training on compliance during the sales and marketing
process and during the delivery of our offerings, and organize
relevant examinations to ensure that only employees who
have completed our onboarding training and satisfy our
eligibility standard can engage in the actual practice of sales
and marketing and delivery of our offerings. We also provide
regular training for our employees to keep them abreast of
the latest laws and regulations in securities and investment
advisory practice.

° Anti-corruption and fraud training: We conduct integrity

training for all employees including Directors, to actively
promote a culture of integrity.

@ JF Wealth Holdings Ltd Annual Report 2023

SHEESHBRMNER TESRK  AEER
VT EXBERAEFENEIER - HAISE
BEAEXSHEHRRRINED  BEZHIHE
ERUESEHNRABERENKS &
—SREEBFRBEE - EFINERER - &K
MrMRmRERE  UELARTHBNKE
BENERRESR  DKEBESTEAR
HAFEINGT R

o ENEG  SREXABRENEEE
I - EEEEERT IR R R I
THEFATIRINE -

o  HEENEI : HHPSREREASM
R BEEEERGEESE  BAE
HRA  THEBEMEE - BEEHEN
EEBEEEASL -

o fRHEREIE : SHH2EES  FRE
R REREAETHEPELENTR
BREUAREZERE - LHAERBHE -
HiESEHRRE  AREFRNTR
BRIREE - ERE T LIE MBI AT
T e

o AHEN - HRHMARNES - AR
HEHEREHBRETUREERRN
HENSHREI  AZHFEEEH - 8
RABTREBIFILFESRMNER
BRENESSREESEREEREHEU
EXNVERER - RATR/EERMATE
B AT AR SR REE—E
BHRIERER

o  REAREME: nESTANZE
B THRFERIEEE - BRIEERZR
3k o



Environmental, Social and Governance Report

The Group upholds the concept of mutual growth and integrates
employees’ personal career development with the Company’s
business development, and has developed a dual-channel career
development model of employee management and profession. We
cherish the value of each employee, adhere to the principles of
openness, fairness and justice in promotion, and provide promotion
and development opportunities for dedicated and outstanding
employees.

LABOR STANDARDS

The Group strictly prohibits child labor and forced labor, and
has established clear management procedures to effectively
control recruitment compliance and labor compliance. The
management procedures clearly stipulate that identity documents
such as identity cards should be strictly examined during the
recruitment process, to verify the authenticity of candidates’ age
and other personal information. In addition, to avoid forced labor,
the Company establishes a fair work schedule for employees,
encourages employees to perform their jobs during working hours,
maintains standard working hours (i.e., 40 hours per week), and
provides all employees with reasonable overtime compensation and
leave entitlements, including paid annual leave, sick leave, marriage
leave, maternity leave, work injury leave and funeral leave.

During the Reporting Period, the Group was not aware of any
employment of child labor or forced labor. The Group has never
employed any child labor since its establishment, provided that
the Group still implements corresponding measures in advance to
properly deal with the situation if child labor is found:

o Cease the work of child labor immediately.

° If a child worker suffers from an occupational disease, we
should Report the situation to the local labor bureau, conduct
a health checkup for him or her as soon as possible, and give
priority to treatment until rehabilitation.

° Contact the parents or guardians of the child labor, make
arrangements for sending him or her back to his or her original
residence as soon as possible, and hand back to the custody
of his or her parents or guardians.
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RIE - HERELGRSE

The Group takes a zero-tolerance approach to any form of
discrimination. According to our internal policies, the employees
shall not be discriminated against or deprived of such opportunities
on the basis of gender, ethnic background, religion, color, sexual
orientation, age, family status, retirement, disability, pregnancy
or any other discrimination prohibited by applicable laws and
regulations. The Group seeks to provide equal opportunities given
to employees in respect of recruitment, training and development,
job advancement, and compensation and benefits.

The Group strictly prohibits employees from harassing or
attempting to sexually harass other employees in any form, such
as words, text, images, electronic messages, or physical acts,
through the exercise of their duties. Our management team has
always been pioneers in celebrating gender equality, and provided
multifarious staff welfare initiatives for our female employees such
as a staff motivation fund for International Women’s Day. We also
extend our gender equality policy to our partnerships with MCNs,
where we remain committed to our equality principle and offer a
more balanced career path for female KOLs.

ENHANCING OPERATIONAL CAPABILITIES

Managing Supply Chain Sustainability

The suppliers of the Group are mainly media and agents of media
platforms, content production partners and technology companies,
consisting of marketing service providers and technology
infrastructure providers. To ensure that the purchased goods meet
our needs, the Group has developed procurement guidelines and
standards based on the characteristics of the various products
or services purchased. When evaluating and selecting suppliers,
we comprehensively consider multiple key factors, including the
supplier’s background, reputation, environmental and social risks,
industry experience, and prioritize the quality and price of their
services or products.

All suppliers with whom we have not previously cooperated must
first pass through our rigorous internal supplier qualification process
before signing a supply agreement. Our suppliers span a wide
range of industries and are diverse, so we establish corresponding
framework agreements with suppliers based on industry practices.
The Group always adheres to the principle of ensuring that all
procurement aligns with the best interests and strives to maintain
the integrity of the Group’s supplier management system.
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The Group actively maintains its relationship with the suppliers,
strictly controls supply chain risks, and aims to establish long-
term, stable, robust, and reliable partnerships with compliant
suppliers. The Group has developed comprehensive supply
chain management systems, such as the “Supplier Management
Regulations” and the “Procurement Sample Management
Guidelines” to effectively manage the procurement process, ensure
compliant procurement, and safeguard the interests of both the
Group and the suppliers. The “Supplier Management Regulations”
clearly outline our management principles for all suppliers:

° All suppliers of the Group are required to be added to the
procurement system’s supplier database for centralized
management and categorized labeling. This includes both
suppliers that have established cooperation and suppliers
identified as potential resources, even if cooperation has not
yet occurred.

° In all procurement matters, procurement officers should first
consider the qualified suppliers from the supplier database as
candidate suppliers.

° Suppliers not yet added to the supplier database can only
participate in the quotation process for procurement projects
with a value below RMB20,000. If they are awarded the
contract, they must be added to the database.

The Group conducts project-based assessments and periodic
assessments for all suppliers. The assessment is carried out by the
demand department, the centralized management department and
procurement department, based on the four principles of “cost,
quality, service, and delivery.” Suppliers are graded based on the
assessment results:

Assessment Score

Supplier Rating Managing Criteria
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HrEm TR ERSH EEGE
Excellent Supplier 9 and above o Being included in the longlist of candidate suppliers for sourcing, subject to
meeting project requirements;
BEMER 97 L . ERREEERNARTHIASREEHERREE
o Eligible for the allocation of the maximum order quota;
. ESRRITENEITRER
o Enjoy the privilege to be prioritized in project renewal.
. REBENREZEELAREEE -
Good Supplier 8-8.9 o Enjoy the privilege to be prioritized in sourcing process;
REFHER 8-8.9% . ESFRRREPEZEELEEER

o Enjoy the privilege to be prioritized in order allocation.
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Supplier Rating Assessment Score  Managing Criteria
HrEmaT R ERSH EEFE
Average Supplier 6.5-7.9 o Being entitled to be invited to participate in quotation projects if qualified;

BELER 6.5-7.9% .
L]
°
Restricted Supplier Below 6.5 J
RREER 6.5 LA .
L]
°
L]
°
Problematic Supplier - .
ER{EY - .
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RERFENBER T ARRAFSMALEEE ;

Being entitled to participate in preliminary consultations and project
communications for relevant procurement projects, and to provide
suggestions and opinions.
BRESERBRBIER WA HEAREREE  TREEZENER -
Supplier with a score of below 6.5 on its first assessment will be suspended
temporarily from participating in quotation bidding;
NMEEFHE-RERDHENCSS » BEREHH LS MARENEEER ;
The procurement officer issues a corrective notice to the supplier and
follows up to ensure the supplier’s timely submission of the corrective
Report;

RESHZMES R ERIBH  VREHREHERFRIBHRE

The procurement officer, along with the demand side and the centralized
management department, reviews the corrective Report and submits it

for approval to the head of the procurement department. If approved, the
supplier’s score will be restored to 6.5. If not approved, further corrective
measures will be ordered.

KEERERL BONEENMEREYRS  UE2REBNEEAER
MEH BB ZMET I EMEZ65S s NERTEBABESSES -
If a supplier is found to have forged business licenses, qualification
certificates, or other documents, which upon review reveal significant
issues, engaged in contractual breaches during cooperation with the Group,
violated terms of the “Sunshine Procurement Agreement”, or received
scores below 6.5 in two consecutive assessments, the supplier will be
deemed a problematic supplier;
NMEERBERETIHER EERES Y KEEAFRERE  EX
KESEREENTAR  ER(GARBHZ) KRR IMRERD BIFER
6.57 ' ZMEFEEITHETZMERD;

Problematic supplier will be marked as blacklisted in the procurement
system, and the Group will suspend all cooperation with such supplier;
ERHEBENRBRARTRAERSE  AEEEFEZMAREN TS
1E

If a problematic supplier is involved in significant safety hazards, damages
the Company’s reputation, causes personal injury, or results in financial
losses to the Company, the procurement department will Report it to senior
management for serious handling. If necessary, legal action may be taken
on the matter.
MZEEREHIREAZ2RE - BEQRAELE - ERAFBEISRA
ARERL  KESKLLBSAEERE  BRER JENHZSHRES
AR
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During the Reporting Period, 259 suppliers entered into supply
agreement and engaged in cooperation with the Group, of which
42 suppliers came from Beijing, 155 suppliers came from Shanghai,
3 suppliers came from Hong Kong, and other suppliers were
distributed in other provinces and municipalities directly under the
central government of mainland China. During the Reporting Period,
we did not experience any material disputes with suppliers, and any
interruption in our operations due to a shortage of services or any
significant fluctuations in their prices.

The Group conducted classification, development and selection
of all suppliers, as well as managed contracts, supplier roster
and supplier database, to evaluate supplier performance, monitor
supplier operational risk management and focus on supplier
sustainability management. We have formulated the Measures for
the Administration of Third-Party Services to regulate the conduct
of suppliers and third-party service providers to protect the Group’s
trade secrets and employees’ personal privacy and strengthen the
supply chain management capabilities building.

The Group is committed to building a sustainable supply chain,
continuously enhancing the supply chain’s responsibility, resilience,
transparency, and fairness. We recognize the importance of
managing supply chain ESG risks and incorporate suppliers’
social responsibility performance into our assessment criteria,
integrating responsible procurement and green purchasing values
into our supply chain management system. We identify ESG risks
among key suppliers, particularly those with significant energy
consumption, such as technology infrastructure suppliers. To
effectively manage suppliers’ impacts on sustainable development,
we will continue to take a series of actions in the coming years.
These actions include strengthening communication and
cooperation with suppliers, promoting energy-saving and emission-
reduction measures among suppliers, and optimizing supply chain
structure. These efforts aim to actively contribute to achieving
sustainable development. Our identification process involves the
following steps:

° Actively research the carbon footprint of our suppliers. When
screening new service suppliers, low carbon will be our top
priority criteria;

° Try to calculate the footprint of our suppliers and remind them
to manage the footprint; and

° Upgrade our technology infrastructure and Apps to produce
less environmental footprint.
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Upholding responsible procurement, the Group selects products
and services that have the least negative impact on the
environment, and takes human health and environmental factors
into consideration in procurement.

The Group continues to leverage its advantages in professional
investment research content output and financial technology
innovation. By providing personalized services to individual
investors through differentiated products, it achieves steady growth
in performance. At the same time, it accelerates the transformation
towards “digital intelligence”, launching the smart investment
advisor “Jiuge” to continuously enhance its financial technology
capabilities. We highly value sustainable development, continuously
promoting the integration of ESG concepts into corporate
governance and business operations. Outstanding performance
has earned JF Wealth widespread recognition in the capital markets
and industry, garnering numerous honors and becoming the best
witness in its development journey.

Green Finance Exploration

JF Wealth conducts in-depth exploration and active practice in
the field of green finance, becoming a pioneer in exploring ESG.
Against the backdrop of the digital age, JF Wealth plays a crucial
role in promoting the development of green finance through rapid
innovation and development of digital technologies represented by
big data, blockchain, and artificial intelligence. At the same time,
we guide customers’ investments through ESG indicators, indirectly
promoting sustainable development by investing in companies
that actively fulfill social responsibilities, emphasize environmental
protection, and have good governance.

Product Responsibility

The Group endeavors to provide products and services to help our
customers exercise sound judgment and make informed decisions.
By doing so, we expect to achieve the following goals, which
we believe will improve our customers’ capabilities in use and
management of their funds and ultimately benefit the society as a
whole:

° Equipping our customers with the knowledge and skills to
manage financial resources effectively;

° Improving customers’ risk awareness in the investment
process and helping them prevent financial risk events, which
will foster a healthy financial market; and

° Cultivating the sustainable financial literacy to allow investors
to choose more sustainable investment products in the
market, including those new financial instruments with green
features, further driving the economic and social development.

@ JF Wealth Holdings Ltd Annual Report 2023

FEERBEERE  ERURSEEXEATR
FERVNBRIRY  BHARRERER
BREZMARBEEHERA

AEBFEREEEXRMATALERER
MEAHLNEDS BBEZRELERAE
AREERBEMRCRYE  BREERISE
R ERMEIBEL EE  EHESRE
HFATNT ] HFERASEBBMRED -
HASEERIFERRE  HEHEHESGE
SRAQFRENERLE 2 - HEHR
BRNAIMERSEARATSNTENEZR
W EBRETRSRE  KABRRER
PEREFNEE -

HEBEERERR
NEMEEFCERBHETRARRNE
BB - HARKESGHETE - EHFL
KREST » WEBBUKREERN - B
B - ATESRMBNARNBZ (RN
REFERIFERE - B HREERHBERLED T
EHEENEM - Bl - BABBESGER
K| BERFRE  DBEBREBBETHE
B IERSRENRFB/ENEE B
BEESHENIHERR -

EREE

REEPB N RHERRRE - UBEBEFE
HEEHERABERE - RMHFEHLER
LTER  RMEEESRSEFNESE
RMEEREN  RRERETERSE

o  ARFRUENEENKERMNAEK
ST

o REEFAREBETHEMRES B
BEFEhESRBREN - RESMT
SREEERE R

e BEURKENSREE BREEED
S FREFSAHENREER - B
BEERORENTLEMTA  E—%
EBRENEERE -



Environmental, Social and Governance Report

The Group values the protection of consumer rights and interests,
strictly standardizing its advertising of products and services.
Before publishing promotional contents, we will carefully verify
all contents published on various channels (including web pages,
APPs, videos, etc.) to ensure the contents are accurate and do
not contain information that violates the rights and interests of
a third party. The Group actively organizes special compliance
trainings on false and misleading promotion to raise the employees’
awareness on advertising and ensure the compliance of the
Group’s advertising. The Group rigorously screens suppliers and
regulates their behavior. Clear advertising promotion requirements
are specified in the signed contracts to ensure the integrity,
authenticity, and accuracy of promotional materials, thereby
avoiding violations of laws, regulations, and platform rules.

Based on the nature of the Group’s business, the Group is not
involved in product recalls or product retrieval situations.

Customer Service

The Group values its relationship with customers with an aim to
cultivate long-term and amicable customer relationships. As the
Group primarily engages in the provision of online investment
education services, the services and products provided by the
Group are currently not directly related to the safety and health
of customers. During the Reporting Period, we had achieved a
rapid growth in our revenue, maintaining our industry position
while building a positive brand in the customer Group. During the
Reporting Period, the Group did not receive any complaints and
litigations affecting its business operation and relating to significant
product quality issues, and processed all customer feedbacks.
During the Reporting Period, the Group’s course contents were
highly valued by our customers as the contents were tailored to
their interests and needs. Our customers were satisfied with the
content of our courses, with low complaint rate on unsatisfactory
products or services and unsatisfactory customer support.

The Group has formulated a set of comprehensive complaint
management system, and also formulated “Customer Complaint
Management System”, “Refund Management Procedures” and
other related handling mechanisms. During the delivery of our
offerings, customers are entitled to report certain issues about the
service experience. We maintain a customer complaint interface
in our Apps to ensure a timely response to any complaints from
customers within 24 hours, helping us maintain high quality
control standards for our customer services. In order to comply
with relevant laws and regulations as well as our internal policies,
we implement a comprehensive complaint handling procedure
for all complaints filed through internal and external channels,
which includes general procedures, investigation guidelines,
communication guidance and complaint record management rules,
to ensure that all complaints are handled in a standard manner
and recorded properly. Our complaint handling procedure primarily
includes the following:
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B B REAWE

Acceptance of The After-Sales Department receives customer complaints initiated through various

Complaint channels such as on-site visits, complaint hotlines, email, mail, or referrals from other
departments. Complaints are categorized based on their severity, and customer complaint
files are created. Upon receiving a complaint, the After-Sales Department aims to conduct
a customer follow-up within one business day to understand the relevant details.

RFZHE ERBZEETFBB LM - RFEH - e - F0 - HiaBPEESRERENRSE
WAREBIRFIE R B2 1=RFARH - Liﬁffhpﬁfﬁ? o ERIERTIRFE - MMM ETIEER
ETERFOG o BEMEEER o

Complaint Verification The After-Sales Department promptly verifies the complaint details and provides feedback

and Investigation to the Compliance Department for investigation. Relevant departments are expected to
actively cooperate with the After-Sales Department in verification and the Compliance
Department in reviewing the complaints. The Compliance Department is responsible for
issuing compliance reports regarding customer complaints and notifying the After-Sales
Department and other relevant departments.

RFAERE ERBREZERFER  URBEZESRMAL  HEBMEEBRSEABZERERE
BE  HHEFPRF > SRBELHASREE  BRERIREMBREE -

Handling Complaint The After-Sales Department promptly follows up on the status of handling and maintains
relevant records. Based on the verification results, compliance investigations, and relevant
Group policies, the department actively engages in communication and negotiation with
customers. The After-Sales Department addresses customer complaints through methods
such as appeasing the customers and providing explanations, re-assigning service
personnel, modifying services, issuing product refunds, offering product extensions,
product replacements, or providing complimentary gifts to appease customer emotions.
Relevant departments are expected to actively and closely cooperate with the After-Sales
Department to ensure effective complaint handling and prevent the escalation of complaint

risks.
RERRIE E&DRFRERSES R HEETE  WREZEER SRAEBREEEREG EHE

%ﬁ%ﬁ@%iﬁﬁﬁﬁ  ERNBBTIEMRE  FERBAE  RERY  ERRE -ERE
B FHER BEEnZEHhAEBEFRG  TEEFIEHE  HESBMHEFES BYRE
’%?é%ﬁﬁiz!@%)ﬂﬁ%ﬁ;ﬁﬁﬂ’ﬁ » W0 RF IR IR RS IEAL o
Pursuing Accountability The Compliance Department, in accordance with relevant Group policies, makes
Upon Determination of determinations of non-compliance against relevant departments or individuals. Depending

Non-Compliance on the severity of the non-compliance, corresponding accountabilities are pursued, and the
outcomes of the handling are communicated to the relevant departments.

BRATES ERBRIEEERBEFEHEBETNPIIABETERIAE  RERBRERAMAEEE X
HREZERBREGEM -

Handling situation The After-Sales Department maintains timely communication with relevant service

feedback departments, providing updates on customer status and the progress of complaint

handling. The relevant service departments engage in timely reflection on the identified
issues and adjust customer service approach and content accordingly.

RERRKE ERIMEAMERBMAREER - QEFFIRRERFEEER  AERBEEHF KSR EHE
B YRAREFRBARNERR -

File Management The After-Sales Department creates and maintains customer complaint files, which are
properly safeguarded by dedicated personnel.

REREE ERMEVIRETFNRFER AEAZERE -
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The Group has established corresponding guidelines for complaint
handling and telephone service standards for after-sales services.
Comprehensive training programs are provided to customer service
personnel, covering topics such as service standardization, sharing
of daily business case studies, system operations, and usage.
These training programs aim to improve service quality, ensure
adherence to complaint handling guidelines, and satisfactorily
address customer needs.

In addition to the above policies, we are dedicated to improving the
customer experience by providing high quality and personalized
customer support. Before customers order and purchase our
services, we provide detailed instructions for our customers to
complete mandatory regulatory risk assessment, and to enable
them to read through all the service agreements which set out our
refund policies. The Group insists on the product-driven principle,
values the customer experience, and believes that an open and
transparent refund channel is an important channel for handling
customer complaints. We understand that a more stringent
refund policy may bring higher gross billing and better financial
performance in the short term.

Protecting Intellectual Property

The Group recognizes the critical importance of our trademarks,
trade secrets, patents, copyrights, and other intellectual property
to our business development, as they are the cornerstone of
our success and competitiveness. To ensure the security of
intellectual property, the Group combines laws on the protection of
trademarks, patents, copyrights, and trade secrets with confidential
procedures and contractual provisions, comprehensively protecting
our intellectual property and brand. We effectively utilizes various
resources to supervise the security of the Group’s intellectual
property, accurately identifies intellectual property-related risks,
and thoroughly analyzes their root causes and potential impacts.
Unauthorized use of third-party intellectual property and other
proprietary rights by our customers, employees, or third parties in
marketing activities may lead to customer complaints, regulatory
intervention, and legal disputes, seriously damaging our brand
image and reputation. Additionally, errors or design flaws in the
software we rely on to protect intellectual property may result
in negative user experiences, thereby weakening our ability to
protect intellectual property. Therefore, the Group will remain highly
vigilant to ensure that intellectual property is comprehensively and
effectively protected.
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The Group has worked out effective measures to protect intellectual
property rights so as to reduce the extent to which such risks affect
corporate operations, including:

° We regularly improve and update our intellectual property
management system in line with the development of our
business.

° We seek to maintain registration of intellectual property rights
that are material to our business under appropriate categories
and in appropriate jurisdictions. As of the end of the Reporting
Period, we had registered a total of 7 patents, 88 trademarks,
42 domain names, and 77 copyrights in mainland China and a
total of 6 trademarks in Hong Kong.

o We typically require our employees who may be involved
in the development of intellectual property to execute
agreements assigning such intellectual property to us. While
we may be unsuccessful in executing such an agreement with
each party who in fact develops intellectual property that we
regard as our own, we will take measures to make employees
involved in the development of intellectual property aware
of matters relating to the agreements to the greatest extent
possible.

° We incorporate the terms of intellectual property into our
service agreements with online media platforms to clarify that
the media platforms possess the intellectual property rights
of the contents they provide during the service, while the
intellectual property rights of the contents generated during
our use of the service belong to us or other relevant right
holders, including but not limited to webpages, texts, images,
audios, videos and logos.

° We promote a culture of intellectual property protection
within the Company, where each employee is responsible
for the protection of intellectual property, and we require our
employees to take all necessary measures to protect the
Company’s intellectual property at work as per the Employee
Handbook.

Personal Information Protection and Data Security

The Group considers that sufficient maintenance, storage and
protection of data and other related information is critical to its
business. We have implemented data security policies designed to
protect user privacy, promote a safe environment and ensure the
security of user data. We have developed our internal policies and
procedures with the goal of meeting industry standards and good
practice. During the Reporting Period, there were no administrative
orders or sanctions issued against us for non-compliance with data
privacy and security laws and regulations.
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To ensure the effective operation of the Group’s personal
information protection and information security management
system, the Group has obtained the following qualifications:

Quality Certification/Quality Inspection Report
EEZE HERRBRE

ISO/IEC 27001
ISO/IEC 27701

RIE - HERELGRSE

AEFRAEEBACGERERBBLZ2AS
NBERET  ARECHEUTEE !

Inspection Institution

HRERE

SGS United Kingdom Ltd
CSTC Standards Technical Services Co., Ltd.

BERERMRE AR R

Data Security Management Capability Certification
BER2EBENRE
Information System Security Protection Record Certificate

FEREARZEERFRERREN

The Group’s personal privacy protection guidelines describe how
it uses data and how privacy works when using its services. We
collect personal information and data from users only with their
prior consent, and we provide users with adequate notice as to
the data to be collected, undertake to manage and use the data
collected in accordance with applicable laws and make reasonable
efforts to prevent unauthorized use, loss or leak of user data.
For example, a user will need to provide the username or phone
number when registering an account on our Apps and website.
When a user registers an account, downloads and opens Apps
for the first time, or any modification is made to our personal
privacy protection guidelines, a notice will pop-up on this user’s
device requiring the user to read and consent to our personal
privacy protection guidelines. We disclose our company’s personal
information protection policy to users and explain the purposes,
methods, scope, and rules of information usage, seeking their
consent. We strive to minimize the collection of user information
to only what is necessary for conducting business, avoiding the
excessive collection of unnecessary persona. We use a variety of
technologies to protect the data with which we are entrusted and
have a team of privacy professionals dedicated to the ongoing
review and monitoring of data security practices. For example, we
store all user data in encrypted format and strictly limit the number
of personnel who can access those servers that store user data.
Such information we collect is not accessible by external parties
such as our business partners.

TL Certification Centre Co., Ltd.
EHEARHFHROERAR

Shanghai Information Security Testing
Evaluation and Certification Center
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RIE - HERELGRSE

The Group stores user data within the territory of PRC in
accordance with relevant PRC rules and regulations. We usually
back up such data in our storage server to minimize the risk of data
leakage or loss. We store user information for a reasonable time
frame in accordance with the provisions of the Measures for the
Administration of the Suitability of Securities and Futures Investors,
the Personal Information Protection Law and other laws and
regulations and as necessary for the purpose of our services, and
after such time frame, we will anonymize or delete our stored data,
or will delete upon customers’ requests.

The Group has established an information security management
system highlighted by our data security system and other relevant
technology infrastructures. We dedicate significant resources
to developing and implementing programs designed to protect
sensitive business data and information. We have also implemented
internal rules on data security, formulated emergency plans for
network security incidents and adopted technical measures to
prevent computer viruses, network attack, and network intrusion.

The Group has developed the Rules on Compliance and Security
Management, which include information security management
standards. The Group has also actively organized trainings on
relevant systems such as account management and information
security management and special trainings for technical department
related to network information security, so as to improve staff’s
awareness on network information security and the professional
competence of technical department, thereby providing strong
support to maintain the security of the Group’s network information
environment.

Anti-Corruption and Reporting

The Group has implemented an anti-fraud and corruption policy
to safeguard against any corruption, fraud, and bribery within our
Company. We require that our employees must conduct business
legally and ethically. The Group is committed to creating an “upright”
working environment, conveying positive energy, and setting
corruption, misappropriation, theft of the Company’s assets, and
acceptance of bribes or kickbacks as the “red line” of prohibition
that all employees cannot touch. Any employee whose conduct
falls foul of this line will be dismissed for disciplinary reasons. The
Group has established various policies and regulations, such as the
“Code of Conduct for Management Personnel” and the “Anti-Fraud
Management Measures”, and at the same time, our anti-corruption
and anti-money laundering contents have been incorporated into
the training system for Directors and employees to actively promote
a culture of integrity.
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The anti-corruption and anti-fraud governance of the Group is
supervised by the Board, managed by the Quality Optimization
Center, and implemented throughout various centers and
departments. It aims to establish a favorable culture of integrity,
diligence, and dedication, and thoroughly execute compliance
management top-down. The specific responsibilities for anti-

RIE - HERELGRSE
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corruption and anti-fraud governance are as follows:

The Board

B
Quality Optimization
Center

Responsible for supervising all departments and employees in creating an anti-fraud
cultural environment, and establish a robust internal control system that includes fraud
prevention.

EEERE2ESMANETIEEREEVLRE  EYR2EEAHEREANABEFIER
Act as the responsible department for handling anti-fraud reporting, and is responsible for
accepting reports on all relevant matters from internal and external sources. Dedicated

personnel are assigned to verify and maintain records of these reports.

mEEtPL
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Various centers and

departments

AR BERERTEZIENEEIRNM > BEZER - INEAEHERSENER  YHEAR

Implementing the “Anti-Fraud Management Measures,” cooperating with investigations
and evidence collection in fraud cases. Specifically: the management promotes a culture

of integrity and honesty, establishes and effectively implements internal controls to reduce
the occurrence of fraud, takes appropriate and effective remedial measures against
fraudulent acts, and assumes managerial responsibilities; department heads serve as the
primary individuals responsible for anti-fraud within their respective departments, taking
managerial responsibilities for any fraudulent activities occurring within their departments;
all employees are required to comply with the Company’s code of conduct, regulations,
ethical norms, as well as national and industry-specific laws and regulations, and fulfill their
duties responsibly; if any fraudulent activities or clues are discovered, employees should
Report them through proper corporate channels to safeguard the Company’s interests.
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In the event of fraud cases within the Company, the Group will
actively assess and investigate internal control vulnerabilities, and
improve internal control measures. Individuals found to be involved
in fraudulent activities will be dealt with strictly in accordance with
relevant regulations and policies. If the actions are in violation of
laws and regulations, the Group will refer the matter to the judicial
authorities for legal proceedings and report the outcomes internally
and to necessary external third parties.
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BiE  HBREARE

We make our internal reporting channel available for our employees
to report any fraudulent activities and corruption acts during our
business operation, and the reporting channels and processing
procedures are set out in our Employee Handbook for each
employee to follow. We encourage our employees to report
through our reward mechanism. Any reported incidents will be
investigated and appropriate steps, including legal actions, will be
taken. The Group undertakes to protect the security of the identity
of whistleblowers and to maintain strict confidentiality in relation to
personal privacy or important issues.

The Group actively promotes a culture of integrity by incorporating
the content related to anti-corruption and fraud into the training
system of Directors and employees. During the Reporting Period,
the compliance department arranged a total of 40 business integrity
training sessions and ICAC’s integrity training seminars, pursuant
to which, during the course of conducting investment advisory
business and related businesses, employees shall strictly comply
with the laws and regulations, the provisions of the China Securities
Regulatory Commission and industry self-regulation rules, comply
with social ethics, professional ethics, professional ethics and code
of conduct, be committed to loyalty and diligence, honesty and

credibility, and refuse to transfer unjustified interests to others or

gain unjustified interests from others directly or indirectly.
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Full-stage implementation of a culture of integrity

ERBREEREN

Training for
new employees

#E T

<> Participate in business integrity training

S IFRREEE I

<> Sign the Business Integrity Commitment

BA] (REREARS)

<> Comply with business integrity requirements

During the Reporting Period, there were no cases of corruption,
extortion, fraud or money laundering committed by the Group.

JF Wealth Holdings Ltd Annual Report 2023
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SUPPORTING COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT

Professional Competence Empowers the Financial
Market

The Group is committed to social responsibility and high standards
of corporate governance. Our aim is to contribute to the health
of financial markets by facilitating sound and informed decision-
making by investors. The Group actively responds to national
policies and continues to deepen its involvement in the inclusive
finance field, always integrating investor education into business
development. Through various means such as sponsoring events,
investment forums, and cooperation with educational institutions,
we contribute to improving the accessibility and convenience of
financial knowledge for a wide range of investors.

In May 2023, as the exclusive title sponsor of the live broadcast of
the 2023 Buffett Shareholders Meeting by First Finance, the Group
led investors to witness the conference firsthand and arranged
for a professional investment research team to provide in-depth
interpretations, helping investors gain insight into the investment
philosophies of investment gurus from multiple dimensions and
levels.

Around the National Investor Protection Publicity Day on May 15,
the Group visited several securities firms’ investor education bases,
exchanged experiences in investor education, and jointly organized
“Shareholders Are Here” series activities with local universities to
support investor education and protection.

In June and December 2023, the Group successively held semi-
annual and annual investment strategy conferences, with JF
Financial Research Institute releasing investment strategy reports,
analyzing and predicting future investment risks and opportunities
in depth, and providing professional advice and guidance to
investors.
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RIE - HERELGRSE

The Group continues to strengthen cooperation between
universities and enterprises, partnering with Xinhua Finance
and Economics in the “Financial Talent Creation Camp,” visiting
several renowned universities, delivering speeches, and engaging
in interactive Q&A sessions with students, helping them plan their
personal career skills and development more clearly. Through
deep collaboration between universities, enterprises, and research
institutions, it builds a platform for shared cultivation of talents,
inspiring them to move forward in step with the new era and deeply
integrate investor education with national education.

JF Wealth’s active innovation and practice in investor education
have been well received by the industry, earning the “2023 China
Securities Industry Investor Education Jun Ding Award” from
Securities Times.

Practicing Public Welfare and Giving Back to the Society

Practicing corporate social responsibility is our original intention
and even our perseverance. Just like the development of an
enterprise, public welfare starts without ending. We are committed
to constantly turning mission into strength and responsibility into
undertaking, and practice each public welfare campaign with
practical actions to create an enterprise with ingenuity, love and
warmth.

The Group has been actively giving back to society, warming
impoverished students through the “Starry River Charity” initiative
and contributing to the construction of new school buildings for
autistic children at the “Starry School.”

At the 2023 Qingcongquan “Because of Love, Lighting up Stars”
ceremony, the Group was honored with the “Love Donation Award.”
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IRE - HERELGRE

INDEX TO ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORTING GUIDE
OF THE HONG KONG STOCK EXCHANGE

FRBIXAGRE « HEREBREIES]) AFRSI

FTEHIE - EE

Subject Areas, Aspects

Description
ik

Corresponding Section

HEAEE

A. Environment
A IR

FEEA1: HER

Aspect A1: Emissions

General Disclosure

—RiE

Al

Information on:
ERBRRBERBEHENR  MAKRLHAHE
T EEREERZEVNEESEN

(@) the policies; and

(@) BER s &

(b) compliance with relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant impact
on the issuer relating to air and greenhouse
gas emissions, discharges into water and
land, and generation of hazardous and
non-hazardous waste.

(b) BFHBITABEASENWEBEERRN
HER

Managing Environmental
Footprint
EIRIE R I
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R - HERES
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Subject Areas, Aspects Description Corresponding Section
FEEHIS - BE (i 1HEAZE AR
KPI(s) A1.1 The types of emissions and respective | Pollution Control and
FARENIEE emissions data. Greenhouse Gases
BErkpiE R AR R HE L EUE - SRAERERE
Al1.2 Direct and energy indirect greenhouse gas | Greenhouse Gas
emissions and intensity. Emissions
BEREREEZEAZERBEHEREREE - AERBHEN
A1.3 Total hazardous waste produced and intensity. | Waste
FELEEEREENEEREE - B
Al1.4 Total non-hazardous waste produced and | Waste
intensity. BEEY)
FELEEZEENEEREE -
A1.5 Description of emission target(s) set and steps | Waste
taken to achieve them. REZEYD
BTV MR EBERAERELB S
PRERAY D BR o
A1.6 Description of how hazardous and non- | Waste
hazardous wastes are handled, and a | BEEY)
description of reduction target(s) set and steps
taken to achieve them.
HIEBEEEREEZEEZEVNG L RELFR
RAIVHEERERAEREL B EMKRNS
B o
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Subject Areas, Aspects

TEGRE B\

Description
it

Corresponding Section

HEAEE

Aspect A2: Use of Resources

EmA2: EiRE{ER

General Disclosure A2 Policies on the efficient use of resources, | Resources Management
— T including energy, water and other raw | EREE
materials.
BRERER (BFEER - KREMEMRDH
B »
KPI(s) A2.1 Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by | Resources Management
FASENIER type in total and intensity. ERER
RERESNEER REEEREEERE
Eo
A2.2 Water consumption in total and intensity. Resources Management
BIEKEREE - ERER
A2.3 Description of energy use efficiency target(s) | Resources Management
set and steps taken to achieve them. BREE
WA LM REARZ A ERAEDEL
BRI SR o
A2.4 Description of whether there is any issue in | Resources Management
sourcing water that is fit for purpose, water | EREE
efficiency target(s) set and steps taken to
achieve them.
i SR BUE KR E Al B EmIRRE - AR FTET
VARG BEERAEREL R EAREN
BB o
A2.5 Total packaging material used for finished | Resources Management

products, and with reference to per unit
produced.
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Subject Areas, Aspects Description
FEEHIS - BE (i

Corresponding Section

HEAEE

[BEAS: IRERKRAER

Aspect A3: The Environment and Natural Resources

General Disclosure A3 Policies on minimizing the issuer’s significant | Environment and Natural
— R E impact on the environment and natural | Resources
resources. RIERRAEIR
BIEHRIR R RARERERERZENEEK -
KPI(s) A3.1 Description of the significant impacts of | Environment and Natural
FASEEIRIZ activities on the environment and natural | Resources
resources and actions taken to manage them. | IREBERKXAEIR
M EHHRERRRERNEATZER
ERMEREEZENTE -

[EEA4: RiREL

Aspect A4: Climate Change

General Disclosure

—RIRE

A4

Policies on identification and mitigation of
significant climate-related issues which have
impacted, and those which may impact, the
issuer.
BRREHERRAIRSELELENEARK
HESENBER

Climate Change
RIRRL

KPI(s)
FASAARIER

A4

Description of significant climate-related
issues which have impacted, and those
which may impact the issuer, along with the
corresponding actions taken in response.
BHEERTREEHBRTAEREFENEAR
1ZMEEEE - RELHTE -

Climate Change
RIREE
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Subject Areas, Aspects
TEHE BT

Description
it

Corresponding Section

HEAEE

B. Social
B. #&

Aspect B1: Employment
[BEB1: E{E

General Disclosure

—RiE

B1

Information on:

EETHRAE  BEREH  TEEH &
H - FEME 2ot RERUAREMSFE
RBEFIAY

(@) the policies; and

(@ X &k

(b) compliance with relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant impact
on the issuer relating to compensation
and dismissal, recruitment and promotion,
working hours, rest periods, equal
opportunity, diversity, anti-discrimination,
and other benefits and welfare.

(b) BFHBITABEASEWERZERREN
HER o

Employment Management

ERERE

KPI(s)
BASARIEER

B1.1

Total workforce (full-time or part-time) by
gender, employment type, age group and
geographical region.

MR - EEER (NEBERE) - FEAR
kit BESHNIEESHE -

Employment Management
BREE

B1.2

Employee turnover rate by gender, age group
and geographical region.
MR~ FiRARIRIESI D WEERKALLE -

Employment Management

BREERE

202353 NAMEERERLE EEL



Environmental, Social and Governance Report

IR - HEREGRSE

Subject Areas, Aspects Description Corresponding Section
TEHHE  BE b AR
Aspect B2: Health and Safety
[EmB2: REER2
General Disclosure B2 Information on: Caring for Employees’
—iR R FRARMZ2TIHRERRERES R EB M | Safety and Health
BEW BREE R 2 HEER
(@) the policies; and
(@) Bl &
(b) compliance with relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant impact
on the issuer relating to providing a safe
working environment and protecting
employees from occupational hazards.
(b) BFHBITABEARTENEEEERBRH
BB o
KPI(s) B2.1 Number and rate of work-related fatalities | Caring for Employees’
FASRIERUIEER occurred in each of the past three years | Safety and Health
including the reporting year. BIEEELTZHER
BE=F (BRERFE)BFRAITHMAR
REE= o
B2.2 Lost days due to work injury. Caring for Employees’
ETIEBATIFERS - Safety and Health
BiEEE R 2 HEER
B2.3 Description of occupational health and safety | Caring for Employees’
measures adopted, how they are implemented | Safety and Health
and monitored. BIREE R HERE
TR B R Z 2551 - AR AERES
HAITRERGE
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Subject Areas, Aspects

FTEGRE B\

Description
it

Corresponding Section

HHEAEE

Aspect B3: Development and Training

JBHB3: R

General Disclosure B3 Policies on improving employees’ knowledge | Nurturing and Developing
— T and skills for discharging duties at work. | Talents
Description of training activities. BEERRAS
EERARERTIEBENABR K ENK
R o HEIEIES o
KPI(s) B3.1 The percentage of employees trained by | Nurturing and Developing
FASENIEE gender and employee category. Talents
BUBIRESEHNEINZIEET DL - BERRAT
B3.2 The average training hours completed per | Nurturing and Developing

employee by gender and employee category.

Talents

BURIREEERE D  BEEETKZIIN | BEBREAS
FHIRFH o
Aspect B4: Labor Standards
[EEB4: & T #H|
General Disclosure B4 Information on: Labor Standards
—iRkEE BRAFLEETIRBHILETHN BIE%E
(@) the policies; and
(@ BER: &
(b) compliance with relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant impact
on the issuer relating to preventing child
and forced labor.
(b) BFHBITABEASENEBEERRM
R o
KPI(s) B4.1 Description of measures to review employment | Labor Standards
BASRENURIE practices to avoid child and forced labor. BIELE
e R ESNEE R R E T RIBH%
T o
B4.2 Description of steps taken to eliminate child | Labor Standards
and forced labor practices when discovered. BIEAE

R E SR EBRAT N EERE BB R PR
B o
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report
IRE  HEREGRE

Subject Areas, Aspects Description Corresponding Section
FEEHIS - BE (i HHEAEER
Aspect B5: Supply Chain Management
EEBS: e
General Disclosure B5 Policies on managing environmental and | Managing Supply Chain
— R E social risks of the supply chain. Sustainability
ERMHERNRIRE RS EABBEK EIR A AEE TR
KPI(s) B5.1 Number of suppliers by geographical region. Managing Supply Chain
FASEETIEE R EE D NHEREE o Sustainability
EIEMERETIFEN
B5.2 Description of practices relating to engaging | Managing Supply Chain
suppliers, number of suppliers where the | Sustainability
practices are being implemented, how they | EIR{EHE &M
are implemented and monitored.
M ERREAHERNES  EBNTERE
PINMEBHE - URAEBEHITRERTE -
B5.3 Description of practices used to identify | Managing Supply Chain
environmental and social risks along the | Sustainability
supply chain, and how they are implemented | EIE{FESE A& M
and monitored.
B EBERBIHERESERENREREER
BREVIES] 0 URAMEBEHITRERSE
B5.4 Description of practices used to promote | Managing Supply Chain
environmentally preferable products and | Sustainability
services when selecting suppliers, and how | EIE{HERE A ISE]
they are implemented and monitored.
M EREMRERERE S ARRERRERE
MR - UIRAEBHITRERS % -

m JF Wealth Holdings Ltd Annual Report 2023




Environmental, Social and Governance Report
IRE  HERELGRE

Subject Areas, Aspects Description Corresponding Section
TEHE BT it HEEAZE AN

Aspect B6: Product Responsibility
[EEB6: EmMEE

General Disclosure B6 Information on: Product Responsibility
— Rk FEREERARBNEREZS - B - | EREE
BERRIBEEURBRG AN

(@) the policies; and

(@ B &

(b) compliance with relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant impact
on the issuer relating to health and safety,
advertising, labelling and privacy matters
relating to products and services provided
and methods of redress.

(b) BFHBITABEASENMEBEEERRH

HER -
KPI(s) B6.1 Percentage of total products sold or shipped | Product Responsibility
FASENISE subject to recalls for safety and health | EREE
reasons.

CERCEXERABTERZHEEEERAM
AR EDE °

B6.2 Number of products and service-related | Product Responsibility
complaints received and how they are dealt | EREE
with.

EREEANER K RSHIGREE UREHGE -

B6.3 Description of practices relating to observing | Product Responsibility
and protecting intellectual property rights. EmEE
i B A S 2 ARPE AR E RE R BB ©

B6.4 Description of quality assurance process and | Product Responsibility
recall procedures. EREE
HEERTBRRERERBIWER -

B6.5 Description of consumer data protection and | Product Responsibility
privacy policies, how they are implemented | EREE

and monitored.
HIOEBEEERRERLEBEE - URAEEH
TRERGE -
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

RIE - HERELGRSE

Subject Areas, Aspects Description Corresponding Section
FEEHIS - BE (i HHEAEER
Aspect B7: Anti-corruption
[E®EB7: RE/S
General Disclosure B7 Information on: Anti-Corruption and
— % BRI - B3R - ERFF RO BEN ¢ Reporting
RESRER
(@) the policies; and
(@ BE &k
(b) compliance with relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant impact
on the issuer relating to bribery, extortion,
fraud and money laundering.
(o) BFHBITABEARRENHEEEEREH
BER o
KPI(s) B7.1 Number of concluded legal cases regarding | Anti-Corruption and
FARENIEE corrupt practices brought against the issuer or | Reporting
its employees during the Reporting Period and | & &35 & 223§
the outcomes of the cases.
RERAAHBTAREEERBLECELN
B HRARMNEE RFDRER ©
B7.2 Description of preventive measures and | Anti-Corruption and
whistleblowing procedures, how they are | Reporting
implemented and monitored. RESRER
W SRR BHREF - URAEBEAITRE
Eap
B7.3 Description of anti-corruption training provided | Anti-Corruption and
to directors and staff. Reporting
HmEERE TRENREISE - RETRER
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

RIE - HERELGRSE

Subject Areas, Aspects

TEGRE B\

Description
it

Corresponding Section

HEAEE

Aspect B8: Community Investment

[EmBs: #ERE

General Disclosure B8 Policies on community engagement to | Supporting Community
—iR e understand the needs of the communities | Development
where the issuer operates and to ensure | X#FHE#RRE
its activities takes into consideration
communities’ interests.
FRUHEZHERTHREENTHETEMNE
REXBEZDHEZRLEBFIRVBER
KPI(s) B8.1 Focus areas (such as education, environmental | Supporting Community
FASRAERUEE matters, labor demand, health, culture, and | Development
sports) of contribution. TEHTEEE
EIEREE (WHE - RIRBE - HIER
B - Xt - 8BF) -
B8.2 Resources (such as money or time) | Supporting Community
contributed to the focus areas. Development
EEFEHEMBAER (NEEHEMHE) - THRHEERE
KPI(s) AdA Description of significant climate-related | Climate Change
FASRERUEE issues which have impacted, and those | &Rt

which may impact the issuer, along with the
corresponding actions taken in response.
HMERRAREHBRITAELEZENERR
RAEEEE - REHTE -
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Independent Auditor’s Report
BB BT R

Independent auditor’s report to the members of
JF Wealth Holdings Ltd
(Incorporated in Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of JF Wealth
Holdings Ltd (“the Company”) and its subsidiaries (“the Group”)
set out on pages 196 to 288, which comprise the consolidated
statement of financial position as at December 31, 2023, the
consolidated statement of profit or loss, the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the consolidated
statement of changes in equity and the consolidated cash flow
statement for the year then ended and notes, comprising material
accounting policy information and other explanatory information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at
December 31, 2023 and of its consolidated financial performance
and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in
compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in
the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated
financial statements section of our Report. We are independent
of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for
Professional Accountants (“the Code”) together with any ethical
requirements that are relevant to our audit of the consolidated
financial statements in Cayman Islands, and we have fulfilled our
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements
and the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

KN UF Wealth Holdings Ltd  Annual Report 2023
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KEY AUDIT MATTER

Key audit matter is the matter that, in our professional judgement,
was of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. This matter was addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a
whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a

separate opinion on this matter.

Revenue recognition

Refer to Note 3 to the consolidated financial statements and the

accounting policies in Note 1(p).

The Key Audit Matter
FREZEE

The Group generates revenue from provision of online
investment decision-making solution services in
China, including Smartlnvest Pro, Smartinvest Info and
Smartinvest Intro. The revenue from Smartinvest Pro,
Smartinvest Info and Smartinvest Intro (see note 1(p)(i)
were RMB1,174 million, RMB791 million and less than
RMB1 million, respectively, for the year ended December
31, 2023.

EXERTEESRERKBRIERY  8FNAFER
MR - W BRBERKRBEEEEE NS - B1E2023
F12A3MBLEFE  MHERERENR - W5 ERBEMR
FREEE GSHEME1(p)() iIBRESHAEARKE
1,174BE T - ARBTINEEARIRARBIBET -

Revenue from all the three types of the services is
recognised during the subscription period on a straight-
line, time-elapsed basis. Due to the high volume of
transactions, the Group uses its information technology
system to record the contracts with its customers,
including the contract price and the periods of the
services.

Z =B IR PG W A R] B HA A9 DU E AR VA BB RS
HERER - ARRZEBRA» EXEEAHEERNAR
BREEEFNEE  SESRERRRBHR -

Independent Auditor’s Report
B EET R &

PSS EIA

ARELSEERMARBERAE - Y
FHEEHUBREELTRBEENS
o ZEBHCHERMEXRERSHIBR
KERHARRKBETEE  HATHZES
HEFRKRER -

W 2 B S
BEHE G BRI 3 R AT 1(0) F A9
BRI ©

How the matter was addressed in our audit

AERPINEAEEZSER

Our audit procedures to assess the revenue recognition
included the following:
BB ARINEZRFEIELT ¢

° Obtaining an understanding of and assessing
the design, implementation and operating
effectiveness of key internal controls over the
revenue recognition process;

o TERRIMMEWARIBEDBEEANBEENR
BENREENRD

° Assessing, with the assistance of KPMG IT
specialists, the design, implementation and
operating effectiveness of the general control
environment and system automated controls
related to the IT system involved in the Group’s
revenue recognition process;

s HEEBRITEXRNHYT >t EXEEWAER
BREAMSRNITASHEBEN —REZFRBERES
BEMLIEHINRET - BRREERD
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Independent Auditor’s Report
BB BT R

KEY AUDIT MATTER (continued)

The Key Audit Matter
FREZER

We identified revenue as a key audit matter because
revenue is one of the key performance indicators for the
Group and involved the use of IT systems which a large
volume of revenue transactions was being processed.
EMEKEREARERELRSZE  RAkaR B55E
MERBNIEE 22— USRERITEAREERERER
5 o

@ JF Wealth Holdings Ltd Annual Report 2023
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How the matter was addressed in our audit

HEERPINEAEEZER

On a sample basis, inspecting the terms and
conditions of the sales contracts and assessing
whether the revenue recognition policy is
appropriate with reference to the requirements of
the prevailing accounting standards;

MR EEESENRRRESE  XS2RBITER
ZBMNER » FENERIARRREEE

On a sample basis, comparing the gross billings
and service period for revenue transactions
recorded during the current year with original
service contracts and bank in slips;
HARFEZESNBRARZNETESHERRBHAR
ERJR RIS S B RER1T A BUARETHIBREL 8

Recalculating, on a sample basis, the amounts of
contract liabilities and revenue recognized during
the year; and

HEEFTEFANGREERKNEHEREE &

Evaluating whether the disclosures relating
to revenues complying with the disclosures
requirements of the prevailing accounting standard.
AHEEWEAEN R EREFERTE T ER MK
BER -



Independent Auditor’s Report

INFORMATION OTHER THAN THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND AUDITOR’S REPORT THEREON

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises all the information included in the Annual
Report, other than the consolidated financial statements and our
auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is
a material misstatement of this other information, we are required
to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

I % AT R &

SHAGRRRAAZBENRE
D)t 2

ESAHHMENAS - AERNEETH
REEREANAEEY  ERBESHY
BHRRRRMNZHEMRE o

BMYSHMBHRRNBERETREEME
# BATAHZEHENBEREATR
HVEETR 455 o

REMHESHUBRRNVELMS - RN
EEEMEEMER  ELBERT  ZEH
WENERESHUBRRARMEFLE
BRERTHNBAFEENEBIEUTE
HEERERRAAIEDR

EREMEHTHIE  HEMIBEME
HEEEREREL - RAAREZEE -
HEEHE @ BMLEEFHRS o
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Independent Auditor’s Report
BB BT R

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS
FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable
the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors are assisted by the Audit Committee in discharging
their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting
process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to
issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. This Report is
made solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do
not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other
person for the contents of this Report.

P8 JF Wealth Holdings Ltd Annual Report 2023

ﬁgﬁéﬁﬁﬁﬁiﬁﬁEME

BRI EE R R BB QR AMRGINIRERER
REBEAFHEHUBERE  ARABHAR
EEHMBRRNVAERNFEHNRTFRE
SR T 25 BH Y BB A BH SRR P A6 T MO O B2 o

ERBSOHPMBEHRRE  EXETTME &
SESESENED  AEERABRTRE
ESECEARNSEE  URERFESES
REFTER  RFESHER SREER
FFLEE N EEMERTITHERS

=

ERZEEHPDESETHRE BB B
SENMBRERE

ZHETME & & HABRR AR
ST

EMNERDHEHUBRREEBRSIE
T A BRFF S EE BR T B B B A S ERFRALEL
BRERRE  YHASERMERNZHE
BE - AREED BT FREE)ED
BRitZ MR EEM AR - AL FARARE
ZRBHEMEMA T FRIEEAEERES
EfIEH -



Independent Auditor’s Report

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on
the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

° Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations,
or the override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.

I % AT R &

ZHETME R & HUABRRAR
EMEE (F)
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Independent Auditor’s Report
BB BT R

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to
draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures
in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures
are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may
cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

o Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the Group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal
control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that
we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence and communicate with them all relationships and
other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence and, where applicable, actions taken to eliminate
threats or safeguards applied.

m JF Wealth Holdings Ltd Annual Report 2023
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Independent Auditor’s Report

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit
of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are
therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Wong Yuen Shan.

Certified Public Accountants
8th Floor, Prince’s Building
10 Chater Road

Central, Hong Kong

March 26, 2024
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss

SfEER

for the year ended December 31, 2023 #£2023F 1231 H L F[E
Expressed in Renminbi (‘RMB”) LA B# ([ AR )) Z 7~

2023 2022
20235 20224
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
MiEE ARETT AR¥T T

Revenue Wz 3 1,965,387 1,850,141
Cost of sales SHERA (322,123) (235,276)
Gross profit EF 1,643,264 1,614,865
Other income HA A 4 231,052 230,373
Sales and marketing expenses SHEREHBAX (957,292) (972,686)
Research and development expenses i 4E (287,422) (229,528)
General and administrative expenses —RRITHEAX (419,039) (159,264)
Impairment loss on receivables ERREERX (2,162) -
Profit from operations EERF 208,401 483,760
Finance costs [ Ey 9N (1,660) (2,330)
Profit before taxation Bt A iga F1 5 206,741 481,430
Income tax FriS®i 6 (16,022) (20,876)
Profit for the year E Rz 190,719 460,554
Attributable to: AT &FHFEM :

Equity shareholders of the Company AT RERIRR 190,719 460,554

Non-controlling interests IR ER - -
Profit for the year E Rz 190,719 460,554
Earnings per share BREAM 9
Basic E=/N 0.45 1.22
Diluted e 0.44 1.22

The notes on pages 202 to 288 form part of these financial %202 2288 B M sE A AN A TS 3Rk A — 2P
statements. 7 e

N
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

EHERREMEEER

for the year ended December 31, 2023 i £2023%F 12431 H L FE
Expressed in Renminbi (‘“RMB”) YA B# ([ A R# ) Z7~

2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETRT ARBETT

Profitfortheyear ... . ° Fhw® 190719 460554
Other comprehensive income FREMBEERE

for the year (after tax) (Bx#i1%)
Item that may be reclassified subsequently HEWEEH 2 EZERN

to profit or loss: A :
Exchange differences on translation of HRE R i R SRS

financial statements of operations B SRR

outside the Mainland China EHER 21,790 (353)
Other comprehensive income for the year FRAEERE 00 2790 (353)
Total comprehensive income for the year FRREWIEEE 212,509 460,201
Attributable to: UT&FHRELN :
Equity shareholders of the Company PAYNETL 212,509 460,201
Non-controlling interests IR R - -
Total comprehensive income for the year FAEHEKGEEE 212,509 460,201

The notes on pages 202 to 288 form part of these financial 26202 2288 B KMzt A AN B TS 3R R A — 3P
statements. Do

N
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

SHMBRRAR

Expressed in Renminbi (“RMB”) YA R4 ([ A R#)) F7F

December 31,

December 31,

2023 2022
20234 20224
12A31H 12831H
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
g ARETR ARET T
Non-current assets IEmENEE
Property, plant and equipment W RERZE 10 21,036 19,667
Right-of-use assets FREEE 11(a) 5,829 46,147
Intangible assets B EE 12 2,053 5,671
Deferred tax assets BEERIBEE 20(b) 102,817 78,075
M7 149,560
Current assets WENEE
Financial assets measured at fair value ~ RAFEFEEHEE
through profit or loss (“FVPL”) STABRNEmERE 14 1,322,532 713,704
Financial assets purchased under resale EBEARES@ERE
agreements 30,831 -
Prepayments and other receivables FERRERHEMEWRERIE 15 227,335 146,913
Restricted cash ZREIEE 303 =
Cash and cash equivalents ReERBESEEY 16(a) 745,870 352,987
. ._.2326871 1,213,604
Current liabilities HRENBE
Financial liabilities measured BRAVEFTEREEE
at fair value through profit or loss FFABRNERIEE 19,545 —
Financial assets sold under EfOEsmEE
repurchase agreements 13,233 -
Contract liabilities BREaE 17 689,322 577,152
Income tax payable S FriBsi 20(a) 47,218 19,400
Accrued expenses and other EsrEAREMREEE
current liabilities 18 168,584 188,669
Lease liabilities HEE8E 11(a) 5,873 38,765
9487 823,986
Netcurrentassets =~ #W#W&Z®E = 1383006 389,618
Total assets less current liabilities _S&AZEMABAR® 1514831 539,178
Non-current liability IEREERE
Lease liabilities HEaE 11(a) 34 9,755
. . 4 9,755
NET ASSETS EEFE 1,514,797 529,423
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

SHMBRRER

Expressed in Renminbi (“RMB”) LA R# ([ A R#)) FI7F

December 31, December 31,

2023 2022
2023 2022
12A31H 12H31H
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
FiEE ARETR ARBTT
CAPITAL AND RESERVES BEXRfHE

Share capital [N 21(a) 4 .
Reserves i 21(b) 1,514,793 529,423

Total equity attributable to equity EATIHES R RIEL
shareholders of the Company HExmEaE 1,514,797 529,423
Non-controlling interests FEIEREAE - -
TOTAL EQUITY g 1,514,797 529,423

*

The balance represents an amount less than RMB1,000.

Approved and authorized for issue by the board of directors on
March 26, 2024.

Chen Wenbin

Directors
Cai Zi

The notes on pages 202 to 288 form part of these financial
statements.

* BRAESRIE DR AR 1,000 £ FE

EE2N2024FE3 26 AL AL TR o

BR S H

TF =
56202 £ 288 H VM RE B AR AN FE #R &% A9 — &P
/J-J\ o
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

SHERBEHR

for the year ended December 31, 2023 #£2023F 1231 H L F[E

Expressed in Renminbi (‘RMB”) LA B# ([ AR )) Z 7~

Attributable to equity shareholders of the Company

FATERRFREE
Share Treasury Capital Exchange  Retained
Capital sharereserve  reserve reserve profits Total
k% ExkbGEE EXRE  MERE BHEE At
Note ~ RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000  RMB’000
M ARETR ARETRT ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR
Balance at January 1, 2022 202251 A1 B RS * * - - 69,222 69,202
Change in equity for 2022: 2020FMIEREE :
Profit and other comprehensive FREfkEt
income for the year e - - - (353) 460,554 460,201
Balance at December 31, BE2022F 120318 %
2022 and January 1, 2023 202351 A1 BMEE * * - (353) 529,776 529,423
Changes in equity for 2023; 2023 EHMEREE -
Profit and other comprehensive FRafRkEt
income for the year 2EKE - - - 21,790 190,719 212,509
Issuance of ordinary shares BITERRA
and capitalization, EXM Mk
net of share issuance costs REAEITHRAR 21(a) 4 - 853572 - - 853576
Dividends approved in respect EiRNE—FE
of the previous year RE 21(c) - - (214,861) - - (214,861)
Share-based compensation MR AR B E R A 2B 19 - - 128910 - - 128910
Debt exemption EBHE - - 5,240 - - 5,240
Balance at December 31, 2023 2023512731 HAYEES 4 * o T72,861 21,437 720495 1,514,797
* The balance represents an amount less than RMB1,000. & BRAESRIE VDD ARE1,000THEREE ©

The notes on pages 202 to 288 form part of these financial

statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
EHRERER

for the year ended December 31, 2023 i £2023%F 12431 H L FE
Expressed in Renminbi (‘“RMB”) YA B# ([ A R# ) Z7~

2023 2022

20234 20225
Note RMB’000  RMB’000
Mz ARETFR AR¥TR

Operating activities FEEE
Cash generated from operations BERBRE 16(b) 456,928 297,232
Income taxes paid 2SR (12,946) (59,310)
Net cash generated from CEEHMBRETHE
__Operating activites 443982 | 287,922
Investing activities BEEH
Payment for the purchase of property, BEYE BMERSEE

plant and equipment, intangible assets B EEREMIER

and other non-current assets BEENRIE (11,789) (9,778)
Proceeds from sale of property, HEME - BEREME -

plant and equipment, intangible assets BREEREMIER

and other non-current assets BENMEMRIE 43 33
Proceeds from sale of financial assets HESREEMNTERE 4,503,094 5,523,267
Payment for purchase of financial assets BESmMEENRIE (5,073,136)  (5,408,990)
Prepayment for acquisition of subsidiaries W BB B A TR IR (63,552) =
Interest received 2 WFI S 12,834 =
Dividends received from investments REZRSERE

in securities 166 -
Net cash (used in)/generated from ®&EH (FA)
__investing activities | PeSeRR  (632340) 104,532
Financing activities BLEEE
Proceeds from issuance of ordinary HERABREERREN

shares relating to the initial public EEREBTHEBRIE

offering 904,187 —
Capital element of leases rentals paid TSNS 16(c) (60,894) (29,420)
Interest element of leases rentals paid FTHHEESNFEHD 16(c) (1,660) (2,332)
Dividends paid 2RRE 21(c) (214,861) =
Listing expense paid 2 Emx (46,099) (981)
Net cash generated from/(used in) AL HEFRR(FTH)
_financing activites =~ ®We®&E 00000000000 580,673  (32.733)
Net increase in cash and R RIFEEEY

cash equivalents HniREE 392,315 309,721
Cash and cash equivalents at January 1 R1A1BMIRERIREEEY 352,987 43,239
Effects of foreign exchange rate changes [EZREEHRIE 568 27
Cash and cash equivalents at B12A31HNIRE R

December 31 HEZEEY 16(a) 745,870 352,987

The notes on pages 202 to 288 form part of these financial F202E 288 E WM T8 s A ISR FTHY — 2R
statements. Do
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

S ERRMEE

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (Z{F8I9 U R#FIT -+ b5 BHai8H50)

1

202

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(a)

(b)

Statement of compliance

These financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with all applicable Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”), which collective
term includes all applicable individual Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting
Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(“HKICPA”) and the requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance. These financial statements also
comply with the applicable disclosure provisions of the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. Material accounting
policies adopted by the Group are disclosed below.

The HKICPA has issued certain amendments to
HKFRSs that are first effective or available for early
adoption for the current accounting period of the Group.
Note 1(c) provides information on any changes in
accounting policies resulting from initial application of
these developments to the extent that they are relevant
to the Group for the current accounting period reflected
in these financial statements.

Basis of preparation of the financial statements
The consolidated financial statements for the year
ended December 31, 2023 comprise the Company and
its subsidiaries (together referred to as the “Group”).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B I BRRMEE

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (Z#B1GUN REFT » BrZ B H5))

1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(b)

Basis of preparation of the financial statements
(continued)

The measurement basis used in the preparation of the
financial statements is the historical cost basis except
that the following assets and liabilities are stated at their
fair value as explained in the accounting policies set out
below:

- investments in debt and equity securities (see note

1(e));

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with
HKFRSs requires management to make judgements,
estimates and assumptions that affect the application
of policies and reported amounts of assets, liabilities,
income and expenses. The estimates and associated
assumptions are based on historical experience and
various other factors that are believed to be reasonable
under the circumstances, the results of which form the
basis of making the judgements about carrying values
of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent
from other sources. Actual results may differ from these
estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed
on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates
are recognised in the period in which the estimate is
revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the
period of the revision and future periods if the revision
affects both current and future periods.

Judgements made by management in the application
of HKFRSs that have significant effect on the financial
statements and major sources of estimation uncertainty
are discussed in note 2.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

S ERRMEE

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (Z{F8I9 U R#FIT -+ b5 BHai8H50)

1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(c) Changes in accounting policies
The HKICPA has issued the following amendments to
HKFRSs that are first effective for the current accounting
period of the Group:

HKFRS 17, Insurance contracts

° Amendments to HKAS 8, Accounting policies,
changes in accounting estimates and errors:
Definition of accounting estimates

° Amendments to HKAS 1, Presentation of financial
statements and HKFRS Practice Statement 2,
Making materiality judgements: Disclosure of
accounting policies

° Amendments to HKAS 12, Income taxes: Deferred
tax related to assets and liabilities arising from a
single transaction

° Amendments to HKAS 12, Income taxes:
International tax reform — Pillar Two model rules

None of these developments have had a material effect
on how the Group’s result and financial position for
the current or prior periods have been prepared or
presented. The Group has not applied any new standard
or interpretation that is not yet effective for the current
accounting period.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B I BRRMEE

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (Z#B1GUN REFT » BrZ B H5))

1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(d)

Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The
Group controls an entity when it is exposed to, or has
rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the
entity and has the ability to affect those returns through
its power over the entity. The financial statements of
subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial
statements from the date on which control commences
until the date on which control ceases.

Intra-Group balances and transactions, and any
unrealised income and expenses (except for foreign
currency transaction gains or losses) arising from intra-
Group transactions, are eliminated. Unrealised losses
resulting from intra-Group transactions are eliminated in
the same way as unrealised gains, but only to the extent
that there is no evidence of impairment.

For each business combination, the Group can elect
to measure any non-controlling interests (“NCI”) either
at fair value or at the NCI’s proportionate share of the
subsidiary’s net identifiable assets. NCI are presented in
the consolidated statement of financial position within
equity, separately from equity attributable to the equity
shareholders of the Company. NCI in the results of the
Group are presented on the face of the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income as an allocation of the total profit or loss and
total comprehensive income for the year between NCI
and the equity shareholders of the Company. Loans
from holders of NCI and other contractual obligations
towards these holders are presented as financial
liabilities in the consolidated statement of financial
position in accordance with note 1(m) depending on the
nature of the liability.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B I ERRMEE

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (Z{F8I9 U R#FIT -+ b5 BHai8H50)

1

206

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(d)

(e)

Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests
(continued)

Changes in the Group’s interests in a subsidiary that do
not result in a loss of control are accounted for as equity
transactions.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, it
derecognises the assets and liabilities of the subsidiary,
and any related NCI and other components of equity.
Any resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or
loss. Any interest retained in that former subsidiary is
measured at fair value when control is lost.

In the Company’s statement of financial position,
an investment in a subsidiary is stated at cost less
impairment losses, unless it is classified as held for sale
(or included in a disposal Group classified as held for
sale).

Investments in debt and equity securities

The Group’s policies for investments in debt and equity
securities, other than investments in subsidiaries and
associates, are set out below:

Investments in debt and equity securities are
recognised/derecognised on the date the Group
commits to purchase/sell the investments. Investments
in debt and equity securities are initially stated at fair
value plus directly attributable transaction costs, except
for those investments measured at fair value through
profit or loss (FVPL) for which transaction costs are
recognised directly in profit or loss. For an explanation
of how the Group determines fair value of financial
instruments, see note 22(f). These investments are
subsequently accounted for as follows, depending on
their classification:
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B I BRRMEE

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (Z#B1GUN REFT » BrZ B H5))

1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(e) Investments in debt and equity securities
(continued)

Non-equity investments held by the Group are
classified into one of the following measurement
categories:

- amortised cost, if the investment is held
for the collection of contractual cash flows
which represent solely payments of principal
and interest. Interest income from the
investment is calculated using the effective
interest method.

= fair value through other comprehensive
income (FVOCI) - recycling, if the contractual
cash flows of the investment comprise solely
payments of principal and interest and the
investment is held within a business model
whose objective is achieved by both the
collection of contractual cash flows and
sale. Changes in fair value are recognised
in other comprehensive income, except for
the recognition in profit or loss of expected
credit losses, interest income (calculated
using the effective interest method) and
foreign exchange gains and losses. When
the investment is derecognised, the amount
accumulated in other comprehensive income
is recycled from equity to profit or loss.

- fair value through profit or loss (FVPL) if the
investment does not meet the criteria for
being measured at amortised cost or FVOCI
(recycling). Changes in the fair value of the
investment (including interest) are recognised
in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

S ERRMEE

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (Z{F8I9 U R#FIT -+ b5 BHai8H50)

1

208

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(e) Investments in debt and equity securities
(continued)

An investment in equity securities is classified
as FVPL unless the equity investment is not held
for trading purposes and on initial recognition of
the investment the Group makes an election to
designate the investment at FVOCI (non-recycling)
such that subsequent changes in fair value are
recognised in other comprehensive income. Such
elections are made on an instrument-by-instrument
basis, but may only be made if the investment
meets the definition of equity from the issuer’s
perspective. Where such an election is made,
the amount accumulated in other comprehensive
income remains in the fair value reserve (non-
recycling) until the investment is disposed of. At
the time of disposal, the amount accumulated in
the fair value reserve (non-recycling) is transferred
to retained earnings. It is not recycled through
profit or loss. Dividends from an investment in
equity securities, irrespective of whether classified
as at FVPL or FVOCI, are recognised in profit or
loss as other income in accordance with the policy
set out in Note 1(p)(iii).

(f) Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses (see
note 1(i)(ii)).

Gains or losses arising from the retirement or disposal of
an item of property, plant and equipment are determined
as the difference between the net disposal proceeds
and the carrying amount of the item and are recognised
in profit or loss on the date of retirement or disposal.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B I BRRMEE

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (Z#B1GUN REFT » BrZ B H5))

1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(f)

(9)

Property, plant and equipment (continued)
Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of items
of property, plant and equipment, less their estimated
residual value, if any, using the straight-line method over
their estimated useful lives are as follows:

— Motor vehicles 4 years

— Electronic and other 3-5 years
office equipment

— Leasehold the shorter of the
improvements unexpired term of lease

and estimated useful lives

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment
have different useful lives, the cost of the item is
allocated on a reasonable basis between the parts and
each part is depreciated separately. Both the useful life
of an asset and its residual value, if any, are reviewed
annually.

Intangible assets

Intangible assets that are acquired by the Group are
stated at cost less accumulated amortisation (where the
estimated useful life is finite) and impairment losses (see
note 1(i)(ii)). Expenditure on internally generated goodwill
and brands is recognised as an expense in the period in
which it is incurred.

Amortisation of intangible assets with finite useful lives is
charged to profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the
assets’ estimated useful lives. The following intangible
asset with finite useful life is amortised from the date
it is available for use and its estimated useful life is as
follows:

— Software
— Trademark and license

2 years
2 years
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

S ERRMEE

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (Z{F8I9 U R#FIT -+ b5 BHai8H50)

1

210

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(9)

Intangible assets (continued)

The estimates and associated assumptions of useful life
determined by the Group are based on technical and
commercial obsolescence, legal or contractual limits on
the use of the asset and other relevant factors. Based
on the current functionalities equipped by the softwares
and the daily operation needs, the Group considers a
useful life of 2 years to be their best estimation.

Both the period and method of amortisation are
reviewed annually.

Intangible assets are not amortised while their useful
lives are assessed to be indefinite. Any conclusion
that the useful life of an intangible asset is indefinite
is reviewed annually to determine whether events and
circumstances continue to support the indefinite useful
life assessment for that asset. If they do not, the change
in the useful life assessment from indefinite to finite is
accounted for prospectively from the date of change
and in accordance with the policy for amortisation of
intangible assets with finite lives as set out above.

Research expenditures are recognised as an expenses
as incurred. Costs incurred on development projects
are capitalised as intangible assets when recognition
criteria are met, including (a) it is technically feasible
to complete the software so that it will be available
for use; (b) management intends to complete the
software and use or sell it; (c) there is an ability to use
or sell the software; (d) it can be demonstrated how
the software will generate probable future economic
benefits; (e) adequate technical, financial and other
resources to complete the development and to use or
sell the software are available; and (f) the expenditure
attributable to the software during its development can
be reliably measured. Other development costs that do
not meet those criteria are expensed as incurred. There
were no development costs meeting these criteria and
capitalised as intangible assets as of December 31,
2023.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B I BRRMEE

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (Z#B1GUN REFT » BrZ B H5))

1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(h)

Leased assets

At inception of a contract, the Group assesses whether
the contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or
contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to
control the use of an identified asset for a period of
time in exchange for consideration. Control is conveyed
where the customer has both the right to direct the use
of the identified asset and to obtain substantially all of
the economic benefits from that use.

Where the contract contains lease component(s) and
non-lease component(s), the Group has elected not
to separate non-lease components and accounts for
each lease component and any associated non-lease
components as a single lease component for all leases.

At the lease commencement date, the Group recognises
a right-of-use asset and a lease liability, except for short-
term leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less
and leases of low-value assets. When the Group enters
into a lease in respect of a low-value asset, the Group
decides whether to capitalise the lease on a lease-by-
lease basis. The lease payments associated with those
leases which are not capitalised are recognised as an
expense on a systematic basis over the lease term.

Where the lease is capitalised, the lease liability is
initially recognised at the present value of the lease
payments payable over the lease term, discounted
using the interest rate implicit in the lease or, if that
rate cannot be readily determined, using a relevant
incremental borrowing rate. After initial recognition,
the lease liability is measured at amortised cost and
interest expense is calculated using the effective interest
method. Variable lease payments that do not depend on
an index or rate are not included in the measurement of
the lease liability and hence are charged to profit or loss
in the accounting period in which they are incurred.
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1

212

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(h)

Leased assets (continued)

The right-of-use asset recognised when a lease is
capitalised is initially measured at cost, which comprises
the initial amount of the lease liability plus any lease
payments made at or before the commencement
date, and any initial direct costs incurred. Where
applicable, the cost of the right-of-use assets also
includes an estimate of costs to dismantle and remove
the underlying asset or to restore the underlying asset
or the site on which it is located, discounted to their
present value, less any lease incentives received. The
right-of-use asset is subsequently stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses (see
notes 1(f) and 1(i)(ii)).

The lease liability is remeasured when there is a change
in future lease payments arising from a change in
an index or rate, or there is a change in the Group’s
estimate of the amount expected to be payable under
a residual value guarantee, or there is a change arising
from the reassessment of whether the Group will be
reasonably certain to exercise a purchase, extension
or termination option. When the lease liability is
remeasured in this way, a corresponding adjustment is
made to the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset,
or is recorded in profit or loss if the carrying amount of
the right-of-use asset has been reduced to zero.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B I BRRMEE

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (Z#B1GUN REFT » BrZ B H5))

1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(h)

(i)

Leased assets (continued)

The lease liability is also remeasured when there is a
change in the scope of a lease or the consideration for
a lease that is not originally provided for in the lease
contract (“lease modification”) that is not accounted
for as a separate lease. In this case the lease liability is
remeasured based on the revised lease payments and
lease term using a revised discount rate at the effective
date of the modification. The only exceptions are rent
concessions that occurred as a direct consequence of
the COVID-19 pandemic and met the conditions set
out in paragraph 46B of HKFRS 16 Leases. In such
cases, the Group has taken advantage of the practical
expedient not to assess whether the rent concessions
are lease modifications, and recognized the change
in consideration as negative variable lease payments
in profit or loss in the period in which the event or
condition that triggers the rent concessions occurred.

The Group presents right-of-use assets that do not
meet the definition of investment property and lease
liabilities separately in the consolidated statement of
financial position. The current portion of long-term
lease liabilities is determined as the present value of
contractual payments that are due to be settled within
twelve months after the Reporting Period.

Credit losses and impairment of assets

The Group recognises a loss allowance for
expected credit loss (ECLs) on financial assets
measured at amortised cost (including cash and
cash equivalents, debt investments and other
receivables).

Other financial assets measured at fair value are
not subject to the ECL assessment.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (Z{F8I9 U R#FIT -+ b5 BHai8H50)

1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 1 BEXEstEsk (8)
(continued)
(i) Credit losses and impairment of assets () EEBERSEREE)

(continued)

Measurement of ECLs R EERT2
ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of FEEEEEE T U= m
credit losses. Credit losses are measured as the EMTTNEEEE -G8
present value of all expected cash shortfalls (i.e. BIEUMEESER S ER
the difference between the cash flows due to the (BMIRIBEENEN TFAEER
Group in accordance with the contract and the HIEE£RE R EEEH
cash flows that the Group expects to receive). KEHEEREZEANE
BE)NWREE -
The expected cash shortfalls are discounted using HMHBREEBEKXN  FHH
the following discount rates where the effect of ERESEEANUL TR
discounting is material: =R ¢
- fixed-rate financial assets and trade and - EBEENEZEeMEEUN
other receivables: effective interest rate RE S RHEMERN
determined at initial recognition or an B S RARETE
approximation thereof; W B R A R H A
&;
- variable-rate financial assets: current - ZFEEHAESHEE
effective interest rate; EAIERFIE ;
The maximum period considered when estimating RETRBAGEEFERE
ECLs is the maximum contractual period over B & = HA [ A A< 5 B &
which the Group is exposed to credit risk. TEERBINEREGNEH
BE
In measuring ECLs, the Group takes into account EFfEEHEEEBEE
reasonable and supportable information that rEBERCERGER
is available without undue cost or effort. This MEBAMNETBER KR
includes information about past events, current HBHEAEEBNER -
conditions and forecasts of future economic EEEBESEH - BRI
conditions. W R R A AR R FRORI &
B o
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B I BRRMEE

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (Z#B1GUN REFT » BrZ B H5))

1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 1 BEXEsEK (B
(continued)
() Credit losses and impairment of assets () EEBERSEREE)

(continued)

Measurement of ECLs (continued)
ECLs are measured on either of the following
bases:

- 12-month ECLs: these are losses that are
expected to result from possible default
events within the 12 months after the
reporting date; and

- lifetime ECLs: these are losses that are
expected to result from all possible default
events over the expected lives of the items
to which the ECL model applies.

Loss allowances for trade receivables are always
measured at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs.
ECLs on these financial assets are estimated using
a provision matrix based on the Group’s historical
credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that
are specific to the debtors and an assessment of
both the current and forecast general economic
conditions at the reporting date.

For all other financial instruments, the Group
recognises a loss allowance equal to 12-month
ECLs unless there has been a significant increase
in credit risk of the financial instrument since initial
recognition, in which case the loss allowance is
measured at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(i)

Credit losses and impairment of assets
(continued)

Basis of calculation of interest income

Interest income recognised in accordance with
note 1(p)(ii) is calculated based on the gross
carrying amount of the financial asset unless
the financial asset is credit-impaired, in which
case interest income is calculated based on the
amortised cost (i.e. the gross carrying amount less
allowance for impairment losses) of the financial
asset.

At each reporting date, the Group assesses
whether a financial asset is credit-impaired. A
financial asset is credit-impaired when one or
more events that have a detrimental impact on the
estimated future cash flows of the financial asset
have occurred.

Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired
includes the following observable events:

- significant financial difficulties of the debtor;

- a breach of contract, such as a default or
delinquency in interest or principal payments;

— it becoming probable that the borrower
will enter into bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation;

- significant changes in the technological,
market, economic or legal environment that
have an adverse effect on the debtor; or

- the disappearance of an active market for a
security because of financial difficulties of
the issuer.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B I BRRMEE

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (Z#B1GUN REFT » BrZ B H5))

1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 1 BEXEsEK (B
(continued)
() Credit losses and impairment of assets () EEBERSEREE)

(continued)

Write-off policy

The gross carrying amount of a financial asset is
written off (either partially or in full) to the extent
that there is no realistic prospect of recovery. This
is generally the case when the Group determines
that the debtor does not have assets or sources of
income that could generate sufficient cash flows
to repay the amounts subject to the write-off.

Subsequent recoveries of an asset that was
previously written off are recognised as a reversal
of impairment in profit or loss in the period in
which the recovery occurs.

Internal and external sources of information are
reviewed at the end of each Reporting Period to
identify indications that the following assets may
be impaired or, except in the case of goodwill, an
impairment loss previously recognised no longer
exists or may have decreased:

- property, plant and equipment;
- intangible assets;

- right-of-use assets;

- investment properties; and

- investments in subsidiaries in the Company’s
statement of financial position.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

() Credit losses and impairment of assets
(continued)

If any such indication exists, the asset’s
recoverable amount is estimated. In addition,
for goodwill, intangible assets that are not yet
available for use and intangible assets that have
indefinite useful lives, the recoverable amount is
estimated annually whether or not there is any
indication of impairment.

— Calculation of recoverable amount

The recoverable amount of an asset is the
greater of its fair value less costs of disposal
and value in use. In assessing value in
use, the estimated future cash flows are
discounted to their present value using a pre-
tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money
and the risks specific to the asset. Where an
asset does not generate cash inflows largely
independent of those from other assets, the
recoverable amount is determined for the
smallest Group of assets that generates cash
inflows independently (i.e. a cash-generating
unit).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (Z#B1GUN REFT » BrZ B H5))

1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 1 BEXE:TER (&

(continued)
EEBEREERE (E)

(i) Credit losses and impairment of assets (i)
(continued)

Recognition of impairment losses

An impairment loss is recognised in profit
or loss if the carrying amount of an asset,
or the cash-generating unit to which it
belongs, exceeds its recoverable amount.
Impairment losses recognised in respect of
cash-generating units are allocated first to
reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill
allocated to the cash-generating unit (or
Group of units) and then, to reduce the
carrying amount of the other assets in the
unit (or Group of units) on a pro rata basis,
except that the carrying value of an asset will
not be reduced below its individual fair value
less costs of disposal (if measurable) or value
in use (if determinable).

Reversals of impairment losses

In respect of assets other than goodwill, an
impairment loss is reversed if there has been
a favourable change in the estimates used
to determine the recoverable amount. An
impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not
reversed.

A reversal of an impairment loss is limited to
the asset’s carrying amount that would have
been determined had no impairment loss
been recognised in prior years. Reversals
of impairment losses are credited to profit
or loss in the year in which the reversals are
recognised.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

)]

(k)

0

Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when a payment is
received from a customer before the Group transfers the
related services. Contract liabilities are recognised as
revenue when the Group performs under the contract.
The customers are entitled to the refund of payments in
relation to the proportionate services not yet rendered.
The refund to customers will be accounted for as a
decrease in the contract liabilities.

Trade and other receivables

A receivable is recognised when the Group has an
unconditional right to receive consideration. A right
to receive consideration is unconditional if only the
passage of time is required before payment of that
consideration is due. If revenue has been recognised
before the Group has an unconditional right to receive
consideration, the amount is presented as a contract
asset (see note 1(j)).

Receivables are stated at amortised cost using the
effective interest method less allowance for credit losses
(see note 1(i)(i))-

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank
and on hand, demand deposits with banks and
other financial institutions, and short-term, highly
liquid investments that are readily convertible into
known amounts of cash and which are subject to an
insignificant risk of changes in value, having been within
three months of maturity at acquisition. Cash and cash
equivalents are assessed for ECL in accordance with
the policy set out in Note 1(i)(i).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (Z#B1GUN REFT » BrZ B H5))

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(m) Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are initially recognised at
fair value. Except for financial guarantee liabilities,
trade and other payables are subsequently stated at
amortised cost unless the effect of discounting would
be immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost.

(n) Employee benefits

Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave,
contributions to defined contribution retirement
plans and the cost of non-monetary benefits
are accrued in the year in which the associated
services are rendered by employees. Where
payment or settlement is deferred and the effect
would be material, these amounts are stated at
their present values.

The fair value of restricted share units (“RSUs”)
granted to employees is recognised as an
employee cost with a corresponding increase in
a capital reserve within equity. The fair value of
restricted share units is measured at grant date
using the market price of the Company’s shares.
Where the employees have to meet vesting
conditions before becoming unconditionally
entitled to the RSUs, the total estimated fair value
of the RSUs is spread over the vesting period,
taking into account the probability that the RSUs
will vest.
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(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (Z{F8I9 U R#FIT -+ b5 BHai8H50)

1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(n) Employee benefits (continued)

During the vesting period, the number of RSUs
that is expected to vest is reviewed. Any resulting
adjustment to the cumulative fair value recognised
in prior years is charged/credited to the profit or
loss for the year of the review, unless the original
employee expenses qualify for recognition as
an asset, with a corresponding adjustment to
the capital reserve. On vesting date, the amount
recognised as an expense is adjusted to reflect
the actual number of RSUs that vest (with a
corresponding adjustment to the capital reserve)
except where forfeiture is only due to not achieving
vesting conditions that relate to the market price of
the Company’s shares. The equity amount related
to RSUs is recognised in other reserve until the

RSUs become vested.

(o) Income tax

Income tax for the year comprises current tax and
movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities. Current
tax and movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities
are recognised in profit or loss except to the extent that
they relate to items recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity, in which case the relevant
amounts of tax are recognised in other comprehensive

income or directly in equity, respectively.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable
income for the year, using tax rates enacted or
substantively enacted at the end of Reporting Period,
and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous

years.
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(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (Z#B1GUN REFT » BrZ B H5))

1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(o)

Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities arise from deductible
and taxable temporary differences respectively, being
the differences between the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and their
tax bases. Deferred tax assets also arise from unused
tax losses and unused tax credits.

Apart from certain limited exceptions, all deferred tax
liabilities, and all deferred tax assets to the extent that
it is probable that future taxable profits will be available
against which the asset can be utilised, are recognised.
Future taxable profits that may support the recognition
of deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary
differences include those that will arise from the reversal
of existing taxable temporary differences, provided
those differences relate to the same taxation authority
and the same taxable entity, and are expected to
reverse either in the same period as the expected
reversal of the deductible temporary difference or in
periods into which a tax loss arising from the deferred
tax assets can be carried back or forward. The same
criteria are adopted when determining whether existing
taxable temporary differences support the recognition of
deferred tax assets arising from unused tax losses and
credit, that is, those differences are taken into account if
they relate to the same taxation authority and the same
taxable entity, and are expected to reverse in a period,
or periods, in which the tax loss or credit can be utilised.
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1

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(o)

Income tax (continued)

The limited exceptions to recognition of deferred tax
assets and liabilities are those temporary differences
arising from goodwill not deductible for tax purposes,
the initial recognition of assets or liabilities that affect
neither accounting nor taxable profit (provided they are
not part of a business combination), and temporary
differences relating to investments in subsidiaries to the
extent that, in the case of taxable differences, the Group
controls the timing of the reversal and it is probable that
the differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future,
or in the case of deductible differences, unless it is
probable that they will reverse in the future.

The amount of deferred tax recognised is measured
based on the expected manner of realisation or
settlement of the carrying amount of the assets and
liabilities, using tax rates enacted or substantively
enacted at the end of Reporting Period. Deferred tax
assets and liabilities are not discounted.

The carrying amount of a deferred tax asset is reviewed
at the end of each Reporting Period and is reduced to
the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient
taxable profits will be available to allow the related tax
benefit to be utilised. Any such reduction is reversed
to the extent that it becomes probable that sufficient
taxable profits will be available.

Additional income taxes that arise from the distribution
of dividends are recognised when the liability to pay the
related dividends is recognised.
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B I BRRMEE

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (Z#B1GUN REFT » BrZ B H5))

1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(o)

Income tax (continued)

Current tax balances and deferred tax balances, and
movements therein, are presented separately from each
other and are not offset. Current tax assets are offset
against current tax liabilities, and deferred tax assets
against deferred tax liabilities, if the Company and the
Group has the legally enforceable right to set off current
tax assets against current tax liabilities and the following
additional conditions are met:

- in the case of current tax assets and liabilities, the
Company and the Group intends either to settle on
a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the
liability simultaneously; or

- in the case of deferred tax assets and liabilities,
if they relate to income taxes levied by the same
taxation authority on either:

- the same taxable entity; or

- different taxable entities, which, in each
future period in which significant amounts of
deferred tax liabilities or assets are expected
to be settled or recovered, intend to realise
the current tax assets and settle the current
tax liabilities on a net basis or realise and
settle simultaneously.
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1

226

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(p)

Revenue recognition

Income is classified by the Group as revenue when it
arises from the provision of services in the ordinary
course of the Group’s business.

Revenue is recognised when service is transferred to
the customer at the amount of promised consideration
to which the Group is expected to be entitled, excluding
those amounts collected on behalf of third parties.
Revenue excludes value added tax (“VAT”) or other sales
taxes and is after deduction of any trade discounts.

Where the contract contains a financing component
which provides a significant financing benefit to
the customer for more than 12 months, revenue is
measured at the present value of the amount receivable,
discounted using the discount rate that would be
reflected in a separate financing transaction with the
customer, and interest income is accrued separately
under the effective interest method. Where the contract
contains a financing component which provides a
significant financing benefit to the Group, revenue
recognised under that contract includes the interest
expense accreted on the contract liability under the
effective interest method. The Group takes advantage
of the practical expedient in paragraph 63 of HKFRS 15
and does not adjust the consideration for any effects
of a significant financing component if the period of
financing is 12 months or less.
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B I BRRMEE

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (Z#B1GUN REFT » BrZ B H5))

1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 1 EXEFHER (&)
(continued)
(p) Revenue recognition (continued) (p) UWrsHEsD (&)
Further details of the Group’s revenue and other income REE WS R E MU ATERBE
recognition policies are as follows: HIE—DSHBFOT ¢
Smartinvest Pro N ERIEREIR

For Smartinvest Pro, the Group earns revenue by
providing a data services to paying customers in
China during the subscription period for a fixed
fee. These data services, including market data
processing, indicator analysis tools, cloud chart
viewing, prerecorded online investor education
courses, livestreaming broadcasts, express
market reviews, as well as various online high-
end premium services, are tailored for the mass
affluent class of individual investors. The revenues
are recognized during the subscription period on a
straight-line, time-elapsed basis.

Smartinvest Info

For Smartinvest Info, the Group provides financial
information software services to paying customers
in China during the subscription period for a fixed
fee. These services, including professional, timely
and broad financial market related information,
data analysis, and investment decision-making
support, are tailored to customers with greater
investment experience and more complex
needs. The revenues are recognized during the
subscription period on a straight-line, time-elapsed
basis.
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1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 1 BEXEstEsk (8)
(continued)
(p) Revenue recognition (continued) (p) WrHEs2 (&)
Smartinvest Intro BT

228

For Smartinvest Intro, the Group provides financial
knowledge and asset management skills for
novice investors during the subscription period for
a fixed fee. The revenues are recognized during
the subscription period on a straight-line, time-
elapsed basis.

Interest income is recognised as it accrues under
the effective interest method using the rate that
exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts
through the expected life of the financial asset to
the gross carrying amount of the financial asset.
For financial assets measured at amortised cost
or FVOCI (recycling) that are not credit-impaired,
the effective interest rate is applied to the gross
carrying amount of the asset. For credit-impaired
financial assets, the effective interest rate is
applied to the amortised cost (i.e. gross carrying
amount net of loss allowance) of the asset (see
note 1(i)(i)).

Dividends income from equity investments is
recognised when the investor’s right to receive
payment is established.
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B I BRRMEE

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (Z#B1GUN REFT » BrZ B H5))

1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(p)

(q)

Revenue recognition (continued)

Government grants are recognised in the
consolidated statements of financial position
initially when there is reasonable assurance that
they will be received and that the Group will
comply with the conditions attaching to them.
Grants that compensate the Group for expenses
incurred are recognised as income in profit or
loss on a systematic basis in the same periods
in which the expenses are incurred. Grants that
compensate the Group for the cost of an asset are
deducted from the carrying amount of the assets
and consequently are effectively recognised in
profit or loss over the useful life of the asset by
way of reduced depreciation expense.

Translation of foreign currencies

Foreign currency transactions during the year are
translated at the foreign exchange rates ruling at the
transaction dates. Monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the
foreign exchange rates ruling at the end of the Reporting
Period. Exchange gains and losses are recognised in
profit or loss except those arising from foreign currency
borrowings used to hedge a net investment in a foreign
operation which are recognised in other comprehensive
income.
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1

230

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(a)

Translation of foreign currencies (continued)

Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured
in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are
translated using the foreign exchange rates ruling at the
transaction dates. The transaction date is the date on
which the Group initially recognises such non-monetary
assets or liabilities. Non-monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies that are stated at fair
value are translated using the foreign exchange rates
ruling at the dates the fair value was measured.

The results of foreign operations are translated into
RMB at the exchange rates approximating the foreign
exchange rates ruling at the dates of the transactions.
Statement of financial position items are translated
into RMB at the closing foreign exchange rates at the
end of the Reporting Period. The resulting exchange
differences are recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated separately in equity in the
exchange reserve.

On disposal of a foreign operation, the cumulative
amount of the exchange differences relating to that
foreign operation is reclassified from equity to profit or
loss when the profit or loss on disposal is recognised.

Related parties

(@ A person, or a close member of that person’s
family, is related to the Group if that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;

(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iliy is a member of the key management
personnel of the Group or the Group’s
parent.
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(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (Z#B1GUN REFT » BrZ B H5))

1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(r) Related parties (continued)

(b) An entity is related to the Group if any of the
following conditions applies:

(i)

(ii)

(i)

(iv)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

The entity and the Group are members of the
same Group (which means that each parent,
subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to
the others);

One entity is an associate or joint venture
of the other entity (or an associate or joint
venture of a member of a Group of which the
other entity is a member);

Both entities are joint ventures of the same
third party;

One entity is a joint venture of a third entity
and the other entity is an associate of the
third entity;

The entity is a post-employment benefit plan
for the benefit of employees of either the
Group or an entity related to the Group;

The entity is controlled or jointly controlled
by a person identified in (a);

A person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of
the key management personnel of the entity
(or of a parent of the entity); or

The entity, or any member of a Group of
which it is a part, provides key management
personnel services to the Group or to the
Group’s parent.
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1

232

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

()

(s)

Related parties (continued)

Close members of the family of a person are those
family members who may be expected to influence, or
be influenced by, that person in their dealings with the
entity.

Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment
item reported in the financial statement, are identified
from the financial information provided regularly to the
Group’s most senior executive management for the
purposes of allocating resources to, and assessing the
performance of, the Group’s various lines of business
and geographical locations.

Individually material operating segments are not
aggregated for financial reporting purposes unless the
segments have similar economic characteristics and are
similar in respect of the nature of products and services,
the nature of production processes, the type or class of
customers, the methods used to distribute the products
or provide the services, and the nature of the regulatory
environment. Operating segments which are not
individually material may be aggregated if they share a
majority of these criteria.

The Group’s chief operating decision maker has been
identified as the Chief Executive Officer, who reviews
consolidated results when making decisions about
allocating resources and assessing performance of the
Group.

For the purpose of internal reporting and management’s
operation review, the Group’s Chief Executive Officer
and management personnel do not segregate the
Group’s business by service lines. All service categories
are viewed as one and the only operating segment.
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(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (Z#B1GUN REFT » BrZ B H5))

ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT AND
ESTIMATES

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies,
management has made the following accounting judgements:

(a)

(b)

Recognition of income taxes and deferred tax
assets

Determining income tax provision involves judgement
on the future tax treatment of certain transactions.
Management evaluates tax implications of transactions
and tax provisions are set up accordingly. The tax
treatments of such transactions are reconsidered
periodically to take into account all changes in tax
legislation. Deferred tax assets are recognised in respect
of deductible temporary differences. As those deferred
tax assets can only be recognised to the extent that it
is probable that future taxable profits will be available
against which the deductible temporary differences
can be utilised, management’s judgement is required
to assess the probability of future taxable profits.
Management’s assessment is revised as necessary
and additional deferred tax assets are recognised if it
becomes probable that future taxable profits will allow
the deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Fair value of share-based compensation
payments

As mentioned in Note 19, the Group has granted Pre-
IPO RSU Scheme to its employees. The Group has
used discounted cash flow method to determine the
total fair value of the Pre-IPO RSU Scheme granted to
employees, which is to be expensed over the vesting
period. Significant estimate on assumptions, such as
the discount rate, terminal value and terminal growth
rate, discount for lack of marketability and target share
price, is required to be made by the Group in applying
the discounted cash flow method.
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2 ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT AND
ESTIMATES (continued)

(c) Impairment of other receivables

The Group estimates the amount of loss allowance
for ECLs on other receivables that are measured at
amortised cost on the credit risk of the respective
financial instruments. The loss allowance amount
is measured as the assets carrying amount and the
present value of estimated future cash flows with the
consideration of expected future credit loss of the
respective financial instrument. The assessment of the
credit risk of the respective financial instrument involves
high degree of estimation and uncertainty. When the
actual future cash flows are less than expected or more
than expected, a material impairment loss or a material
reversal of impairment loss may arise, accordingly.

3 REVENUE

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers by
major products or service lines is as follows:

AU R ik (1)

(c) HibFEWRIERE
AEEZRREBESMIANER
[ B i 5T R 8 R AN T B AV H At
FEYGRENTREREANER
BETHE BREBBSEINERE
ERAERMGTRRESRER
HitE  TEZEHEEESHMIA
MM ARRERERX - HESH
TANERRRFESRSEM
SR AEEN  c BEMARES
RELREMASREAD - 78
it HIRE X ERKHEARE
EHERAEE -

g

BEEXRERIBBRETNEFSHW
@A -

2023 2022
20234 2022%F
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBFT ARBTT

Revenue from contracts with customers BARAYBEIRELERE1555
within the scope of HKFRS 15 HENEFS
Smartlnvest Pro T BRIEER 1,173,934 1,140,362
Smartlnvest Info NFERIBER 791,452 707,583
Smartlnvest Intro BEEE 1 2,196
1,965,387 1,850,141
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(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (Z#B1GUN REFT » BrZ B H5))

REVENUE (continued)

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers by
the timing of revenue recognition is as follows:

Over time — BB R A

3 Wz (&)

RN EREEE 2 NEFEIRED
T:

2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBFT ARBT T

1,965,387 1,850,141

The Group’s customer base is diversified and no customer
individually accounted for more than 10% of the Group’s total
revenue in 2022 and 2023.

Remaining Performance Obligation

The Group has elected the practical expedient not to disclose
the information about remaining performance obligations
which are part of contracts that have an original expected
duration of one year or less and do not disclose the value of
remaining performance obligations for contracts in which the
Group recognises revenue at the amount to which the Group
has the right to invoice.

All of the Group’s operating assets are located in the PRC and
all of the Group’s revenue and operating profits are derived
from the PRC during the years of 2022 and 2023. Accordingly,
no segment analysis based on geographical locations is
provided.
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4 OTHER INCOME 4 HiprA
2023 2022
20235 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR AREET T
Government grants BB
- VAT refund —IBEF R 150,140 121,927
— other government grants — H At BT 40,722 29,533
Net gain on financial assets at fair value BRAFETTEREEBTA
through profit or loss BRErEE N FEE 15,349 25,950
Interest income FE U A 12,834 673
Gain on software copyright transfer B REEE RS 8,373 50,381
Others Hith 3,634 1,909
Total #Et 231,052 230,373
5 PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION 5 BR¥iEmF
Profit before taxation is arrived at after charging: PR RAEHBRA T ERERBH
(a) Staff cost (@ BImF
2023 2022
20235 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR ARET T
Salaries, wages and other benefits e TEREMER 894,840 671,384
Contributions to defined contribution  [A1 5L E L FR AR 5T IR ()
retirement plan (i) 55,833 6,727
Equity-settled share-based DEREEURD A
compensation expenses EE R H R 128,910 -
Total et 1,079,583 678,111
Included in: itA
Cost of sales SHEE AN 307,575 223,406
Research and development expenses  Aff3%BE % 259,562 196,141
General and administrative expenses ~ —MRR1THBEIX 224,209 54,145
Sales and marketing expenses HERZHEFEX 288,237 204,419

pA{N JF Wealth Holdings Ltd Annual Report 2023



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B B R T
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5 PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION (continued)

(a)

(b)

Staff cost (continued)

Note:

Employees of the Group’s subsidiaries in the PRC
are required to participate in a defined contribution
retirement scheme administered and operated by the
local municipal government. The Group’s subsidiaries in
the PRC contribute funds which are calculated on certain
percentages of the average employee salary as agreed by
the local municipal government to the scheme to fund the
retirement benefits of the employees.

Contributions to the PRC local retirement schemes
pursuant to the relevant labour rules and regulations in
the PRC are recognised as an expense in profit or loss
as incurred and not reduced by contributions forfeited by
those employees who leave the plans prior to vesting fully
in the contributions.

5 Br¥ianaF (&)

(@) BEIRAE(E)
PyeE -

REBETEMEARNESR
2PN T TR E TR O
B R ERFRAREE - AEE
o B0 B B8 2 R AR 4 75 T B 1R
ENFHEEFEN—EBD
LeEt E R ET SR - AR
BERAKAER

AR IE o B A AR B 55 B AR B A1
B - B B E R RET B4R
REZERBERRERNI
e MTheEEEETERE
BRI RE R RT B TR U HO R

Finance cost (b) BAFERRA
2023 2022
20235 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®BFR AREET T
Interest expense on lease HESBEWFIEHX
liabilities (note 11) (FfiEE11) 1,660 2,330
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B I ERRMEE

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (Z{F8I9 U R#FIT -+ b5 BHai8H50)

5 PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION (continued) 5 PM#HanaF(E)
(c) Other items (c) HIaH
2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBFT ARBTT

Internet traffic procurement expenses B EREREAX 669,055 768,269
Depreciation of right-of-use FEREEENITE
assets (note 11) (FffaE11) 58,937 37,721
Taxes and surcharges BrERHINE 25,257 17,647
Listing expenses FhRx 22,680 17,884
Cloud server operation fee EfRFGREE 18,192 18,852
Rental and property fee HERYFEE 17,874 10,014
Technology service fee HATARIS & 13,315 8,618
Depreciation charge TERX 9,077 8,251
Office and travel expenses AR EREX 8,815 7,153
Donation B 5,604 -
Amortisation of intangible assets (note 12) #EE E#H (FizE12) 4,940 3,757
Audit fee EitE 2,300 1,641
Impairment loss EEE 2,162 =
Rental Exemption of COVID-19 FEERENHEER - (6,658)
6 INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED 6 EFTASHIEERRBFAEH
STATEMENTS OF PROFIT OR LOSS
(@) Taxation in the consolidated statements of (a) EpHERFTPAIHIE -

profit or loss:

2023 2022
2023% 20224
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
Mt =E AREBTR ARBT T
Current tax BPRABIIE
- PRC Enterprise Income Tax — FRAEEEMEH
(“EIT”) Provision ([ EHR )
for the year e 20(a) 47,218 19,400
— Over-provision in respect  — BIFFEBIERE
of prior years 6(b) (6,454) (27,845)
Deferred tax REHIE
- (Origination)/reversal of - IEMEEN (EL),/
temporary differences Be 20(b) (24,742) 29,321
16,022 20,876
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B B R T

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (Z#B1GUN REFT » BrZ B H5))

INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED 6
STATEMENTS OF PROFIT OR LOSS
(continued)

(b)

Reconciliation between tax expense and
accounting profit at applicable tax rates:

st A S HIEmRIIFTEH

(%)

RE AR ET B RBLIER TR
ErTiFIBIEER

(b)

2023 2022
2023% 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARET T
Profit before taxation BB R gz F1 206,741 481,430
Notional tax on profit before taxation, REAREREEEERERN
calculated at the rates applicable BRI E BRI AT
in the jurisdictions concerned A B EBIE 71,553 125,058
Tax effect of PRC preferential tax rate R EIEER RPWBIIFEE (14,984) (32,459)
Super-deduction of research and INET BRI EEBE
development expense (62,624) (41,743)
Tax effect of non-deductible expenses A H1%iBE X BT 75 22 15,919 289
Tax effect of tax losses and temporary ~ RFEFRFIEEE KR
differences not recognised TR ERNT TR 13,435 6,625
Recognition of previously unrecognised HEsR TRl R HERRFLIEE1E K
tax losses and temporary differences TRMER - (8,152)
Over-provision in prior year B FEHEEERE (6,454) (27,845)
Others Hith (823) (897)
Actual income tax expense ERmEHAX 16,022 20,876
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B B R M T

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (Z{F8I9 U R#FIT -+ b5 BHai8H50)

6

240

INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENTS OF PROFIT OR LOSS
(continued)

(b)

Reconciliation between tax expense and
accounting profit at applicable tax rates:
(continued)

Notes:

Cayman Islands and BVI

Under the current laws of the Cayman Islands and BVI, the Group
is not subject to tax on income or capital gains. Additionally,
upon payments of dividends by JF Wealth Holdings Ltd to its
shareholders, neither Cayman Islands nor BVI withholding tax will
be imposed.

Hong Kong

The Company’s Hong Kong subsidiary, are subject to an income
tax rate of 16.5% for the year ended December 31, 2023. No
provision for Hong Kong Profits tax was made as the Group'’s
Hong Kong subsidiary had no estimated assessable profit that
was subject to Hong Kong Profits tax during the years of 2022
and 2023.

PRC

All the Company’s subsidiaries established in the PRC, are subject
to an income tax rate of 25%, according to the PRC Enterprise
Income Tax Law (the “EIT Law”) in the years ended December 31,
2022 and 2023.

Shanghai Jiufangyun Intelligent Technology Co., Ltd. (“Jiufangyun”)
was granted the “Key Software Enterprise” status in May 2023,
and therefore was entitled to a preferential income tax rate of 10%
for the fiscal year of 2022.

Jiufangyun was granted the “Eligible high-tech enterprise” status
in November 2021 and therefore was entitled to a preferential
income tax rate of 15% for the years ended 2021, 2022 and
2023, as long as it continues meeting the related requirements.

JF Wealth Holdings Ltd Annual Report 2023
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B B R T

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (Z#B1UN REFR + b5 B85,

7 DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS 7 ESis
Salaries,
allowances Retirement
Directors’  and benefits  Discretionary scheme Share-hased 2023
Fees in kind bonuses  contributions Sub-Total payments Total
fid o BHR i) WkiE ANE
EEL BYEh EfaTal HEEE Nt BRBRR L h)

RMB00O  RMB'000  RMBOO0  RMBOO0  RMBOO0  RMBO0O  RMB'0O
ARRFR  ARBTR  ARBTR  ARBFR  ARWIR  ARRFR ARETR

Executive directors HrEs

Caizi 1t - 670 300 0 1,040 32,239 33,279
Chen Jigeng RER - - - - - 64,455 64,455
Chen Wenbin (3¢ - - - - - - -
Non-executive directors  FH{TEE
Yan Ming BH - - - - - - -
CHEN NINGFENG CHEN NINGFENG - - - - - - -
Fan Yonghong HER - 225 - - 225 - 225
Tian Shu ] - 225 - - 25 - 225
Zhao Guoging HEE - 205 - - 205 - 205
- 1,345 300 10 1,715 96,694 98,409
Salaries,
allowances Retirement

Directors’  and benefits  Discretionary scheme Share-based 2022
fees in kind bonuses  contributions Sub-Total payments Total
§o 2R R Uk A0E

£k B Mgt HE 25 N EROAR 5

RVB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARMTT  ARBTR  ARMTr  ARRTR  ARMTx  ARRTR  ARETR

Executive director e

Gaizi 1 - 991 - 65 1,056 - 1,056
Non-executive directors  FH{TEE
Chen Wenbin B - - - - - - -
Yan Ming B9 = = = = = = =
CHEN NINGFENG CHEN NINGFENG - - - - - - -
Chen Jigeng RER - - - - - - -
LiFeng 5k - - - - - - -
Fan Yonghong BT - - - - - - -
Tian Shu i - - - - - - -
Zhao Guoging el - - - - - - -
- 91 - & 1,056 - 1,056
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B I ERRMEE

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (Z{F8I9 U R#FIT -+ b5 BHai8H50)

7 DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (continued) 7

Notes:

(i) During the year, no emoluments were paid by the Group to the
director as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as
compensation for loss of office. No director of the Group waived
or agreed to waive any emoluments during the year.

(i) The emoluments shown above includes remuneration received
from the Group by them in their capacity as employees of the
Group during the year.

8 INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST 8
EMOLUMENTS

The number of directors and non-directors included in the five
highest paid individuals for the years ended December 31,
2023 and 2022 are set forth below:

ESWNE (&)
fiE

) RAFEAR AREHEAEESN
B2 (E A DA SN A A SR B 1% 1) 22 )
HEERAEE c RAFER - AEEE
EENENF BT REEAME

(i)  EXFIRENE BREKEERAEEAR
SEBEE FHEAEEREREB -

maNEAL

HZE2023FEK2022%F 12 A31 HILE
B IRBRoHMATHhNESRIESE
BAHHFHIWMT :

2023 2022

20234 20224

Number of Number of

individuals individuals

AE N

Directors = 2 -
Non-directors FES 3 5
5 5

The emoluments of the directors are disclosed in Note 7.
The aggregate of the emoluments in respect of the remaining
highest paid individuals are as follows:

EEMESRNMETIRE - ABRRSHM

ATHENSAZENT ¢
2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBFT ARBF T

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind e EAREYER 5,201 13,081
Retirement scheme contributions EIRETEIHK 250 274
Discretionary bonuses B ETEAL 1,845 6,293
Share-based payments LR 0 BERR TR 128,910 =
Total st 136,206 19,648
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B I BRRMEE

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (Z#B1GUN REFT » BrZ B H5))

INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST 8
EMOLUMENTS (continued)

The emoluments of the other individuals with the highest 2

meEANt (E)

thEEMEALHME N FUTE

/

emoluments are within the following band: :
2023 2022
20234 20224
Number of Number of
individuals individuals
A AE
Nil - HKD1,000,000 2£%1,000,0005& T - =
HKD1,000,001 — HKD1,500,000 1,000,0013& T £ 1,500,000 7T - =
HKD1,500,001 — HKD2,000,000 1,500,001 7t £2,000,0007% T - =
HKD2,000,001 — HKD2,500,000 2,000,001 &7t £2,500,0007% 7T - =
HKD2,500,001 — HKD3,000,000 2,500,001 /& 7t 23,000,000 7T 1 -
HKD3,000,001 — HKD3,500,000 3,000,001 /& 7t £ 3,500,000 7T 1 2
HKD3,500,001 — HKD4,000,000 3,500,001 /& 7t £4,000,0007%& 7T - 2
HKD4,000,001 — HKD4,500,000 4,000,001 /& Tt £4,500,0007%& 7T - =
HKD4,500,001 — HKD5,000,000 4,500,001 &7t £5,000,0007% 7T - =
HKD5,000,001 — HKD5,500,000 5,000,001 /& 7t £5,500,0007%& 7T - =
HKD5,500,001 — HKD6,000,000 5,500,001 /& 7t £6,000,0007%& 7T - 1
HKD36,500,001 — HKD37,000,000 36,500,001 /& 7t 237,000,000 T 2 -
HKD71,500,001 - HKD72,000,000 71,500,001 &t £ 72,000,000 7T 1 -
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B I ERRMEE

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (Z{F8I9 U R#FIT -+ b5 BHai8H50)

9 EARNINGS PER SHARE

(a) Basic earnings per share (a)

9 HREF

BREXERT
SREFBANHERERAA
R B IR R R R B

The calculation of basic earnings per share is based on

the profit attributable to ordinary equity shareholders
of the Company and the weighted average number of
ordinary shares in issue.

THEER NI -

Weighted average number of ordinary shares (basic): SRR METIE (BER) :
2023 2022
20234 20224
Ordinary shares at beginning BRI E B AR 81,230 81,230
Effect of treasury shares EERONEE (5,686) (5,686)
Effect of Capitalization Issue on 720233 B10HE A1t
March 10, 2023 (note 21(a)) BITHEE (MEE21(a) 377,644,456 377,644,456
Effect of shares issued upon the HRADAHBETKEDEIT
completion of the IPO (note 21(a)) RGP L (iEE21(a)) 48,750,585 -
Weighted average number of EER IR H (EAR)
ordinary shares (basic) 426,470,585 377,720,000
Basic earnings per share: BREREF :
2023 2022
2023% 20224
Profit attributable to ordinary equity KAREBER
shareholders of the Company P 5RFE 4y 3R A
(RMB’000) (AR#F ) 190,719 460,554
Weighted average number of ERIRMET I
ordinary shares 426,470,585 377,720,000
Basic earnings per share attributable 2N & B IRR
to ordinary equity shareholders EheREREF
of the Company (RMB per share) (BERART) 0.45 1.22
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Diluted earnings per share

9 EARNINGS PER SHARE (continued) 9

On February 3, 2023, the Company granted all Awards
under the Pre-IPO RSU Scheme with an aggregate of
5,686 Shares, which was adjusted to 28,430,000 Shares
upon completion of the Capitalization Issue.

The calculation of diluted earnings per share for the
year is based on profit attributable to ordinary equity
shareholders of the Company and the weighted average
number of ordinary shares outstanding after adjustment
for the effect of unvested shares under the Pre-IPO RSU

Scheme.

Weighted average number of ordinary shares (diluted):

B I BRRMEE

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (Z#B1GUN REFT » BrZ B H5))

Bik&EA (E&)

(b) BiREFRF
2023%2H3H » AAAEREH
BRDBEREAZREIRMDEN
STEITWATEREIS 5,686 %
B RERNMLBITEREARE
728,430,000 R IR1D ©

FEEBRBERANNTER
RAD T E BERDRREEEFR
RHERDFEBENZRERMD
BN ERBEERONTEET
ARRNERITEBERHOMEF
o

HERNEF I (HF)

2023 2022
20234 20224
Weighted average number of ZBERINETHE
ordinary shares 426,470,585 377,720,000
Effect of unvested shares under the BRABBER Z RG]
Pre-IPO RSU Scheme (note 19) BB EMNFTEIREB
RO EZE (MEE19) 6,162,851 -
Weighted average number of TR METEIE (EE)
ordinary shares (diluted) 432,633,436 377,720,000
Diluted earnings per share: FREERR
2023 2022
20235 20224
Profit attributable to ordinary equity AN AIEEERRR
shareholders of the Company EfaF (AR#TT)
(RMB’000) 190,719 460,554
Weighted average number of BB METIIE (EE)
ordinary shares (diluted) 432,633,436 377,720,000
Diluted earnings per share attributable 72 B @R IR
to ordinary equity shareholders it ERIEE R
of the Company (RMB per share) (BRARYT) 0.44 1.22
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B I ERRMEE

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (Z{F8I9 U R#FIT -+ b5 BHai8H50)

10 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 10 W% - RERRE

Electronic and
other office Motor Leasehold
equipment vehicles  improvements Total
ST REM HEYE
ARG RE K& st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT
Cost: %N
As at January 1, 2022 R2022E1 B1R 25,198 264 2,893 28,355
Additions NE 4,758 - 1,770 6,528
Disposals HE (57) - - (57)
As at December 31, 2022/ R2022%12A318/

January 1, 2023 2023F181H 29,899 264 4,663 34,826

Additions B 10,305 - 161 10,466
Disposals HE (104) - - (104)
AsatDecomberd, 2023 MosF12A31R 40 B4 4 45188
Accumulated depreciation: RitiE:
As at January 1, 2022 2022F1 A1H (5,931) (113) (900) (6,944)
Charge for the year FRMK (7,792) (36) (423) (8.251)
Disposals & 36 - - 36
As at December 31, 2022/ 20225128318,/

January 1, 2023 2023E181H (13,687) (149) (1,323) (15,159)
Charge for the year ERMk (8,884) (57) (136) (9,077)
Disposals HE 84 - - 84
AsatDecomber31, 2028 1 MoosFi2AstR (2481 o (1459 (24152)
Net book value: FREFE:

As at December 31, 2023 R2023%F12831H 17,613 58 3,365 21,036
As at December 31, 2022 R2022F12A31H 16,212 115 3,340 19,667
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B B R T

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (Z#B1UN REFR + b5 B85,

11 LEASE 11 8
(a) Amounts recognised in the consolidated (a) MNEHMBIRAREZNE
statements of financial position: B
2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR ARET T
Right-of-use assets ERESE
— Buildings —BF 5,829 46,147
Lease liabilities HEaRF
— Current —RE (5,873) (38,765)
- Non-current — IR (34) (9,755)
(5,907) (48,520)

The analysis of the net book value of right-of-use assets

is presented below:

T:

EREEEREFEDT25M

Office buildings

AN

RMB’000

AREBTT

As at January 1, 2022 12022561 H1H 46,975
Additions nE 19,942
Lease terminations HERLE (958)
Lease modifications HEEH 17,909
Charge for the year FRHR (37,721)
As at December 31, 2022 M2022%12 831 H 46,147
Additions NE 35,274
Lease terminations &R (16,655)
Lease modifications HEBER -
Charge for the year FAHR (58,937)
As at December 31, 2023 M20235F12H31H 5,829
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B B R M T

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (Z{F8I9 U R#FIT -+ b5 BHai8H50)

11 LEASE (continued)

248

(a)

Amounts recognised in the consolidated
statements of financial position: (continued)

The following table shows the remaining contractual of
the Group’s liabilities at each Report date:

11 #HE (&)
(a)
8 (E)

REHIHBSIK R REZ &

TRIFAEERN SRS B HE
AMEENEHNRE:

As at December 31, 2023
$:2023%12A31H

Present value
of the minimum
lease payments

Total minimum
lease payments

RKHEE =KHEE
HREIRIE ARE N
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®FT ARETR
Less than 1 year 1FER 5,873 5,941
After 1 year but within 2 years 1E%{B2ER 34 34
Subtotal NEF 5,907 5,975
Less: total future interest expenses i, : ARIF BB A% (68)
Present value of lease liabilities HEBEMNRE 5,907
As at December 31, 2022
20225612 H31H
Present value of
the minimum Total minimum
lease payments  lease payments
HEHEE HEHEE
NRHBRE B EE
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREEF T AR¥T T
Less than 1 year 15K 38,765 39,279
After 1 year but within 2 years 1F#%&E2ER 9,721 9,777
After 2 years but within 5 years 2FZ{B5FER 34 34
Subtotal NEF 48,520 49,090
Less: total future interest expenses i : A3 F BB X 458 (570)
Present value of lease liabilities HEREBENRE 48,520
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B B R T

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (Z#B1UN REFR + b5 B85,

11 LEASE (continued) 11 #HE (&)
(b) The analysis of expense items in relation to (b) MiERERHEASHRENMMX
leases recognised in profit or lost is as follows: IHE ST :
2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETRT AR®TR

Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets & S EMNTEE H 58,937 37,721
Interest expense on lease liabilities HESENFERX 1,660 2,330
Expense relating to short-term leases ESHIEE AR 96 292
Gain on lease terminations HEL RIS

and modifications (338) (20)
COVID-19-related rent EWF B R ERBEESER

concessions received - (6,658)
Total #at 60,355 33,665

Details of total cash outflow for leases, and the future HENBESRHAERARESRENFERS
cash outflows are set out in Note 16(c) and Note 22(b), 2 BRI KTEE16(c) R FEE22(b) °
respectively.
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B I ERRMEE

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (Z{F8I9 U R#FIT -+ b5 BHai8H50)

12 INTANGIBLE ASSETS 12 WP EE

Trademark
Software and license Total
B EE R st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFT ARETR AR&TR
Cost: B
As at January 1, 2022 120221818 25,538 6,024 31,562
Additions NE 3,250 - 3,250
As at December 31, 2022/ 20225128318,/

January 1, 2023 2023%1H1H 28,788 6,024 34,812
Additions NE 1,321 1 1,322
As at December 31,2023 ] R2023%12A4818 30109 6025 36134
Accumulated amortisation: BT
As at January 1, 2022 #202251 818 (25,110) (274) (25,384)
Charge for the year FRMR (757) (3,000) (3,757)
As at December 31, 2022/ R2022&12A318/

January 1, 2023 2023F181H (25,867) (3,274) (29,141)
Charge for the year FRHR (2,189) (2,751) (4,940)
As at December 31,2023 R2023%12A318 (28056) (6,025 | (34,081)
Net book value: ARTH(E :

As at December 31, 2023 2023512 H31H 2,053 - 2,053
As at December 31, 2022 M2022F12H31H 2,921 2,750 5,671
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B I BRRMEE

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (Z#B1GUN REFT » BrZ B H5))

INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES AND

STRUCTURED ENTITIES

(a)

Investments in subsidiaries:

The following list contains only the particulars of
subsidiaries which principally affected the results, assets
or liabilities of the Group. The class of shares held is
ordinary unless otherwise stated.

Company names

L5

JF Wealth (3V) Limted
ARHERVERAF

Silver Runner Limite

Silver Runner Limited

JF Weath (HK) Limied
NANE (BR)ERAR

JF (Shanghaj Information Technology
Co.,Ltd (‘JF Shanghal’)
B LB)EERTERAA
(notes (i) and i)

i (LB)RERITARAT
(7% L) (R i)

Shanghai Fudong Culture Media
Co., Ltd. (‘Fudong’)
LRIV ERERAR
(notes () and (i)
LEEIN(ERERAR (28]
(HaEDR i)

Shanghai Jiufangyun Intelligent
Technology Co, Ltd. ("iufangyun’)
IBNREERREERAA
(notes () and (i)

LENREERNRERAA
(TARE]) (W0 R i)

Place of incorporation or other
establishment/principal place
of operation/kind of legal entity

EAE/ TS/ B

BVI/N/A/Limited liability company
RERLHE/TER/ARLA

BVIN/AlLimited liabiity company
ARELES/RER/HRAR
Hong Kong/Hong Kong/Limited
liabiity company
/58 /BROA
China/China/
Limited liabilty company

e/ 48/ AL

China/China/
Limited liabilty company

HE/4E/BRAT

China/China/
Limited liabilty company

HE/4E/BRAA

Particulars of

Date of Registered and
incorporation paid-up capital
=t HRRARESER
May 14, 2021 USDIN
2021 E5R14R 1%7/%
June 1, 2021 HKDO.05/
HKDO 05

AN E6A1R 00557,/ 0058
June 1, 2021 HKD1/Nil
2021 E651R 1%7/%
July 23, 2001 RMB500,000,000/
RVB426,871.23

ANETRBA  ARES000000007/
NR#426871. 87

October 10, 2009 RB10,000,000/
RVB10,000,000

AWVENAI0R  ARE0000000%/
AR10,000000%

August 19, 1996 RVB100,000,000/
RIMB100,000,000

1906E6A198  ARM1000000007%/
ABE100000000%

R&

(a)

Group's
effective
interest

FRERRER

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

2023F 3 MBMEIERBRAT

R EASIMIRE

UTHREHAEETE
EESEENMHE LA

ES

13 RHEBABRGIEMEEN

FELREH

B BRIESEHA  BAAER

HERRHEER o

Heldbythe  Held by the
Company Subsidiary
KAARE  WELTNE
100% -
100% -
100%

100%

- 100%

- 100%

Principal
activities

b2

Investment holding

REER

RSU Holding Enty

Investment holding
Investment holding

RRER

Media promotion

RESE

Smartinvest Pro and
Smartinvest Info

AREREENR
hRERERER
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(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (Z{F8I9 U R#FIT -+ b5 BHai8H50)

13 RHBATREHEIEEREN

13 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES AND
STRUCTURED ENTITIES (continued)
(@) Investments in subsidiaries: (continued)
Place of incorporation or other Particulars of
establishment/principal place  Date of Registered and
Company names of operation/kind of legal entity  incorporation paid-up capital
ATeR EARY/TEEEM /BN RRHIEY ARRARASHE
Shanghai Yingma Computer Network ~ China/China/ Qctober 19, 2018 RMB100,000,000/
Technology Co., Ltd. (*Yingma') Limited iabiity company RMBG0,000,000
LR ERBANEERIT
(notes () and (i)
LEREHEMBANAERAY  4E/%8/HRAT 18EI0A19R  ARE1000000007/
(D (R AR600000007
Shanghai Shangjie Network Technology  China/China/ April 30, 2021 RMB20,000,000/
Co., Lid. [*Shangji) Limited iabiity company RMB16,000,000
LERREANAERAT
(notes (j and (i)
LERREANGEROA(HR)  hE/ME/ARLA WIFARNE  ARE200000007%/
(HaER ) ARH#16,0000007
Shanghai Juxinge Network Technology ~ China/China/ May 31, 2021 RMB22,000,000/
Co., Ltd. (‘Juxingg’) Limited liabiity company RMB22,000,000
LEBARRANRER L
(notes () and (i)
LEBABELNAARAA(TAR) wE/ME/ARAF AFSAHA  ARE2000000%/
(kR AE#2,0000007
Shanghai Pianjin Network Technology ~ China/China/ April 30, 2021 RMB20,000,000/
Co., Ltd. (Pianjn’) Limited fabiity company RMB30,000
LERERSNRERAT
(notes () and (i)
IEGEBANAERAG (BE)  4E/%E/ARAE AEAANE  ARE20000000%/
(R0 Rei) AE#300007
Notes:
(i) These entities are limited liability companies established in
the PRC.
(ii) This entity was registered as a foreign-invested enterprise
under the laws and regulations in the PRC.
(iii) The official name of these entities is in Chinese. The English
name is for identification purpose only.
pLYA JF Wealth Holdings Ltd Annual Report 2023

®E (&)
(a) MKBATMRE : (&)
Group's
effective ~ Heldbythe  Heldbythe Principal
interest Company Subsidiary  activities
KEMEREE KON MEASRE IEER
100% - 100%  Smarthnvest Intro
H
100% - 100%  Mutti-channgl
Network
operation
SREAMES
100% - 100%  Mult-channel
Network
operafion
SREAMES
100% - 100%  Information
and
technology
EERH
PR -
0] ZEBRANTEIKIHERA
(ii) ZERBRBRENERERTMAINE
E
(i) HEEENBEAIELBRTX  BXH
TE(EMHER -
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B B R T

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (Z#B1UN REFR + b5 B85,

INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES AND
STRUCTURED ENTITIES (continued)

(b) Investments in structured entities:

The Group also consolidated structured entities as
disclosed in note 14(v).

FINANCIAL ASSETS MEASURED AT FVPL

13 RHEBABRGIEMEEN

R& (&)
(b) MEHBEEIEIRE

WHEE14(v) TR SR - AKBT S
PHEBMERE -

14 BATERERBBA

BRI ERMEE

2023 2022

The Group rEE 20234 20224

Notes RMB’000 RMB’000

g AREBFR ARBFT

Funds He (i) 686,776 -

Listed equity securities LFRBRAES (ii) 386,612 89,245

Bonds &% (i) 138,175 -

Asset management plan EETETE (iv) 105,858 201,804

ABS EERMES 5,101 -

Wealth management products HUER 10 422,655

1,322,532 713,704

2023 2022

The Company ¥ NN 20234 20224

Notes RMB’000 RMB’000

By aE ARETT ARBFT

Funds He (i) 515,621 -

515,621 -

Notes: MisE

(0] Funds are managed by fund management companies, the [0} HEHmESEENGEE - HEERE

underlying investments are mainly restricted shares, government
bonds, corporate bonds and other fixed income investments. All
of which have readily determinable fair values and are measured
at fair value. Funds can be redeemed upon demand.

(i) Listed equity securities include listed stocks, funds and tradable
convertible bonds. All of which have readily determinable fair
values and are measured at fair value.

(i)

TEREREIKN - BFES - A8
B M EAEE WS E - A %S
AESHARHIRETNDTE WK
NFEFE - RS PIRFED -

ETRABSEELTRE SR
TR SARBRES - FB%S LMK
ABFHEESNETHATE
BATEIE -

20235 A HMEBRERAT
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(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (Z{F8I9 U R#FIT -+ b5 BHai8H50)

14 FINANCIAL ASSETS MEASURED AT FVPL
(continued)

(i)

(iv)

(vi)

Bonds include government bonds, corporate bonds, and private
equity bonds. All of bonds have readily determinable fair values
and are measured at fair value.

Asset management plans are managed by fund management
companies, the underlying investments are mainly listed
stocks and fixed income investments, all of which have readily
determinable fair values and are measured at fair value.

The Group determines whether or not to consolidate structured
entities depending on whether the Group has control over them.

The Group enjoys equity in structured entities initiated by third-
party institutions through direct or indirect holding of investments.
The unconsolidated structured entities mainly including funds,
asset management plans and wealth management products. The
purpose of the Group holding these structured entities is to obtain
investment returns, capital appreciation, or a combination of
both. There was no contractual liquidity arrangement, guarantee
or other commitment between the Group and unconsolidated
structured entities.

As at December 31, 2023, the interests held by the Group
in the consolidated and unconsolidated structured entities
are RMB1,255,439,000 and RMB792,644,000 (2022:
RMB46,005,000 and RMB624,459,000), respectively.

As at December 31, 2023, the individual investment exceeding 5%
of total assets before the consolidation of the structured entities is
as follows:

14 BATEEAXBBHHA
RIS MEE (8)

(i

(iv)

EFBREMES - AREFRLE
BRES - MEREEFAEBZNE
EHATE - WIRATFEFE -

EETEMIHESEBRARER -
HEREEER ETREREE W
RE  AREREYEBSNERE
WAFE - WEAFERS -

AEERBEASEESEHEBLEE

BIRERDAHERIEERE -

AEERBEEIEERARENE
AR RBRERTMEREIEER
HEHE - FEHIEBLEERIZER
A BETEAIMEVER &
SEFAZSHABLEEENENER
TEF/REDHmAEAREE  HMmE
A o NEEEIESHHERIEER
BB S AR BNE LT - FEREK
H it

M2023F12 A31 8 - AEMAAH
MIEEHERMEERRAENERD
Bl A AR#1,255,439,000TT R AR
#792,644,0007T (20224 : ARHE
46,005,00070 & A R #624,459,000
TT) °

202312 A31H  BiRREES%
MERRE (AHHABEEINDIT

2023
20234
RMB’000
AREFRT

Panhou Weiran Wisdom Select Private ~ Z2ERA - EEBR10GMERFREES

Securities Investment Fund No.10
Galaxy Product No.10 ST R Em
Jinxin Jinfu Dingzeng No. 1 Single 2ELETEE
Asset Management Plan

278,447
250,202

214,698
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B I BRRMEE

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (Z#B1GUN REFT » BrZ B H5))

15 PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER 15 FEFRIAR HibFEUEIE

RECEIVABLES
2023 2022
20234 20224
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
The Group AEE MiaE ARETRT ARBT T
Prepayment for acquisitions BB TR FRIE (FfFEE23)
of subsidiaries (note 23) 63,552 -
Prepayment to suppliers FEHL R RIE 54,950 18,511
Amounts due from related parties, FEUR BE B 5 FRIE
net of loss allowance NEREERE (i) 35,675 36,981
Loan to a third party, BFE=ZFEF
net of loss allowance HRREERE (ii) 23,831 25,000
Deposits REE 14,871 13,763
Employee loans EEER 11,600 5,900
VAT refund receivable FE W ERR 9,720 34,272
Receivables from software FEURER {4 W e B T FR 1E
copyright transfer 9,497 5,500
Clearing amounts BESE 797 =
Receivables from internet platforms ~ FEUWR B B4 & 708 328 327
Deferred listing expenses IEFE E TR - 5,466
Others Hth 2,514 1,193
227,335 146,913
2023 2022
The Company ¥IN/NC| 20234 2022%F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETRT ARBT T
Amounts due from related parties FE UL BB 5 FRIE 5,378 =
Prepayment to suppliers FE(T R ERRIE 851 36
Deposits RES 181 178
Deferred listing expenses EHE TR - 30
Others Hith 975 -
Total #Et 7,385 244
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B I ERRMEE

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (Z{F8I9 U R#FIT -+ b5 BHai8H50)

15 PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER 15 FEfTRIE R H it FEWFRIE
RECEIVABLES (continued) (&)
Notes: FtsE :
0] As at December 31, 2023, the nature of amounts due from (i) 72023512 318 » [EUEIE: X
related parties is as follows: HRMHEEWT -

2023 2022

2023 20224

RMB’000 RMB’000

AREBTR ARBET T

Amounts due from related parties FEWS BRES HFRIE
—Trade -85 35,675 36,981
- Non-trade —3kE5 - =
35,675 36,981
(i)  On December 1, 2022, the Group granted a RMB25,000,000 (i)  M2022F1281H  XEERE=H
loan to third party with the term of one year and the annual Tﬁﬁ-é@ﬁﬁ}%/\EﬁM&OO0,000E
interest rate was 5%. On November 30, 2023, the maturity of the BER  HIRA EHE\*‘J$E5% °
loan was extended to November 30, 2024 with annual interest R2023411 A30H + EHRBIMAL
rate of 4%. As at December 31, 2023, the loan will mature within KZE2024%11/8308 - iﬂ xR
one year and is reclassified as current asset accordingly. 4% ° 72202312 A31H - HEFH
P1EREE - WHEEEHSERR
(iif) Movement in the loss allowance account in respect of (i) FNE TR FOR R AL IR
prepayments and other receivables during the year is as follows: BERERESDH AT
Movement in the
loss allowance
51 AR EE)
RMB’000
AR¥TR
Balance at January 1, 2022 ©202241 81 BHEER =
Impairment losses recognised BRI ERSE =
Balance at December 31, 2022 1220224F 12 A 31 BEY45ER -
Balance at January 1, 2023 %2023 1 A1 HH94EER -
Impairment losses recognised HERRERSE 2,162
Balance at December 31, 2023 2023512 A 31 BH4EER 2,162
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B B R T

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (Z#B1UN REFR + b5 B85,

16 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, 16 IRERIINEZEEY - TR
RESTRICTED CASH, AND OTHER CASH REeERHEMBIRERESHE
FLOW INFORMATION
(a) Cash and cash equivalents comprise: (a) BRERRLEEYEIE :

2023 2022
The Group AEE 20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETFRE AR®TR

Cash at banks RITESE 737,036 343,466
Cash equivalents (i) WEZEEY() 8,630 9,344
Cash on hand FHRE 204 177
Cash and cash equivalents HEeERRESEEY 745,870 352,987
2023 2022

The Company b N/NCT| 2023 20225
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTR ARBTR

Cash at banks RITHS 108,284 1

Cash and cash equivalents HERBESEEY 108,284 1

i) Cash equivalents represents cash balances kept in third 0] e EBYIEEHNRE= A XN AF
party payment companies, which can be withdrawn by the IR 4R - AEE T FERFIRER -

Group at any time.

20235 A HMEBRERAT
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B I ERRMEE

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (Z{F8I9 U R#FIT -+ b5 BHai8H50)

16 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS,
RESTRICTED CASH, AND OTHER CASH

16 RMERREFRY - TRH
ReERAMREREEH

FLOW INFORMATION (continued) (#8)
(b) Reconciliation of profit before taxation to cash (b) BaFimimFIEIERZFRFIREH
generated from operations: fR :
2023 2022
2023 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARSETT AR¥T T
Profit before taxation FRBE A A 206,741 481,430
Adjustments for: BT & E 2
Depreciation charge wEEH 9,077 8,251
Amortisation of intangible assets I EE#E 4,940 3,757
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREESENITE 58,937 37,721
Finance cost BAFE AR 1,660 2,330
Net realised and unrealised gain from BRAFEFTEEEEBTA
financial investments at fair BalEriRENSER
value through profit or loss R AREIH W R FRE (15,349) (25,950)
Interest income FE U A (12,834) (673)
Dividends income from investments BRENREWA (166) =
COVID-19-related rent W EREER
concessions received HEER - (6,658)
Gain on lease terminations HEL I RIEHHE
and modifications (338) (20)
Gain on sale of property, plant and HEWE  BMEKRSERE
equipment, intangible assets and BREERHEMIE
other non-current assets RBEENKRE (23) (12)
Equity-settled share-based DREREEURD A
payment expenses HEBNZ X 128,910 =
Foreign exchange gain SN U 2R (568) (27)
Changes in working capital EEZELEE
(Increase)/decrease in prepayments FEATFRIE I H Ath FE YRR IE
and other receivables (3ghn),wmd (22,336) 15,521
Increase/(decrease) in contract liabilites &#I& &M, AL ) 112,170 (87,840)
Decrease in accrued expenses EstEAREMEERD
and other liabilities (13,893) (130,598)
Cash generated from HETBMEERS
operating activities 456,928 297,232
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B I BRRMEE

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (Z#B1GUN REFT » BrZ B H5))

16 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, 16 HEREEEY  ZRHI
RESTRICTED CASH, AND OTHER CASH ReRkHMRESREEN
FLOW INFORMATION (continued) (&)

(c) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from (c) MEFHRELBBHR :
financing activities:
The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities TRAJAEERETEEEEEN
from financing activities, including both cash and non- 28 SRATRIRSLH - MET
cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities BELEENRERECKAERSE
are liabilities for which cash flows were, or future cash FESERAEESHESRERDE
flows will be, classified in the Group’s consolidated cash ARETHMEREREMNERE -

flow statement as cash flows from financing activities.

Lease liabilities

HEaE
RMB’000
ARETT
AtJanuary1,2022 = ] W2022%1/848 47,727 _
Changes from financing cash flows: RIEREREEE :
Capital element of lease rentals paid SR RE kAl RN o (29,420)
Interest element of lease rentals paid FHIHEENRE D (2,332)
Total changes from financing cash flows  BAEREREME®RE (31.752)
Exchange adjustments BERSE T
Other changes: Hith 8 :
Increase in lease liabilities from entering REFERNLHELINEE
into new leases during the year =Rl 19,942
COVID-19-related rent BB R EERE S TR
concessions received (6,658)
Lease terminations HERLE (973)
Lease modifications HEEH 17,904
Interest expenses FMEEX 2,330
Totalotherchanges ___ Ht=ewmes 32,545
At December 31, 2022 #2022512H31H 48,520
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(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (Z{F8I9 U R#FIT -+ b5 BHai8H50)

16 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, 16 IRERIINEEEY - TR
RESTRICTED CASH, AND OTHER CASH RERHEMBIRERESHE
FLOW INFORMATION (continued) (48)

(c) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from (c) RIEEENFIELBRHAR :
financing activities: (continued) (#&)

Lease liabilities

HEaE
RMB’000
ARETT
AtDecember3t, 2022 ==~ ] K2022f12A31B 48520
Changes from financing cash flows: AHEIR &R EEE -
Capital element of lease rentals paid T HHEENAEH D (60,894)
Interest element of lease rentals paid T HHEESNFEHD (1,660)
Total changes from financing cash flows ¢ Eﬁ éﬁéﬁ%ﬂ’ﬂ@@]@%ﬁ 777777777777777777777 (62,554)
Exchange adjustments | ERsE ol
Other changes: Hith 2 #) :
Increase in lease liabilities from entering REFAFTZFENH
into new leases during the year HESEEM 35,274
Lease terminations HERLE (16,993)
Interest expenses MEREX 1,660
Total otherchanges ] Hgope® 19,941
At December 31, 2023 #22023%F12A318 5,907
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B I BRRMEE

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (Z#B1GUN REFT » BrZ B H5))

17 CONTRACT LIABILITIES

17 EHEE

2023 2022
20235 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR AREET T
Advances received from customers BREF B 689,322 577,152
Movements in contract liabilities SHEBEH
2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARET T
Balance at January 1, M1 81 BWEeR 577,152 664,992
Additions g 2,536,175 2,218,145
Decrease in contract liabilities as a result RENFINEHNERBH
of recognising revenue during the year FRER R FTE
that was included in the contract liabilities EHNEERD
at the beginning of the year (481,074) (594,180)
Decrease in contract liabilities as a result BEi e
of recognising revenue during the same year &K EBERD (1,484,313) (1,255,960)
Decrease in contract liabilities as a result m&EFRAREIZ
of refund to customers EHEERD (458,618) (455,845)
Balance at December 31 MA12 31 BRI 689,322 577,152

The contract liabilities relate to the advance subscription fees
received from customers, for which revenue is recognised
over time. Subscription fees of RMB2,218 million and
RMB2,536 million were received in the year 2022 and 2023
respectively, of which, RMB1,256 million and RMB1,484
million were recognised as revenue in the same year.

EHEEHEREEFWENENITHEE

R RRZEEER - R2022F K

2023 F DRI EIFT BRI B ARYE2,2188

BETRARE2536BET  HPAR

B 256 HBTRARK1,484EE T
R AR F R o
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(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (Z{F8I9 U R#FIT -+ b5 BHai8H50)

18 ACCRUED EXPENSES AND OTHER

262

CURRENT LIABILITIES

18 FEstERRHEMBREEE

2023 2022

The Group AREE 20234 2022%F

Note RMB’000 RMB’000

MisE AREBTR ARBT T

Amounts due to related parties FE(SBEEE 5 7RIE (i) 2,516 20,654

Accrued payroll and welfare BT ERER 90,943 84,522

VAT and surcharges payable BB ER R NE 27,811 27,306

Accrued listing expenses FEst EmE X - 14,132

Accrued internet traffic st BB RARERERX

procurement expense 14,282 32,414

Advances from customers BFEEX 6,849 5,345

Amount due to employee EEERIE 9,112 =
Other accrued expenses HittETTERAR

and other payables HAit I FIE 17,071 4,296

Total Fob 168,584 188,669

2023 2022

The Company b /N 20234 20225

RMB’000 RMB’000

AREBTRT ARET T

Amounts due to related parties FE(SBEEE 5 FRIE - 13,109

Accrued listing expenses FEET EhBE % - 6,070

Accrued payroll and welfare Bt TEREF 204 -
Other accrued expenses and HittETTERAR

other payables H it FRIE 3,053 17

Total #ast 3,257 19,196
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B I BRRMEE

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (Z#B1GUN REFT » BrZ B H5))

ACCRUED EXPENSES AND OTHER
CURRENT LIABILITIES (continued)

Note:

(i) As at December 31, 2023, the nature of amounts due to related

18 FEstERAREMRENEHE
(%)
2 -

[0} 2023412 4318 » FEfTRER: K

parties is as follows: THWMHEEAT -
2023 2022
20235 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREBTR ARET T

Amounts due to related parties FE{BRES T RRIE

- Trade -E5 2,516 511
— Non-trade -¥E5 - 20,143
2,516 20,654

EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED
TRANSACTIONS

On February 3, 2023, the Company granted all Awards under
the Pre-IPO RSU Scheme with an aggregate of 5,686 Shares,
which adjusted to 28,430,000 Shares upon completion of
the IPO. The RSUs granted would vest in tranches from the
grant date over a certain service period, on specific service
condition that the employees remain in service and scheduled
to be vested over two to five years without any performance
condition requirements.

19 LIERERE RGBSR

X5

MR2023F2H3H » ARAFEREEX
AHBRENZIREARMOEMNTETH
FrEEE4E 5,686 XM » MEIRLD
FRETREFAES28,430,0008% %
7 - EREZREIRMEMAERE B
MR ERESHRAD RS (B8
RE G2 EESFERY)  WitEIR
MERFREFEE - B TREEERYS
ER o
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19 EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED 19
TRANSACTIONS (continued)

Set out below are the movements in the number of equity
instruments under the equity incentive plan:

MiiEm s H LU (5 B B 5
X5 (&)

T SCHB B S 88 T T A8
B2 :

2023

20234

At the beginning of the year RED -
Exercised 217 -
Granted B 28,430,000
Forfeited 2R -
Cancelled [EE=5! -
At the end of the year RER 28,430,000

The total expenses recognized in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss for RSUs granted to the Group’s employees
under the Pre-IPO RSU Scheme are RMB128,910,000 during
the year 2023.

20 INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED 20
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

(@) Current taxation in the consolidated statement
of financial position represents:

2023%F - REERREZRNRER
RABBRERNZRARMDENTERT
AEBETNZRARMOEMNBEZE
A AK#128,910,0007T °

SHMBRRRPFEHR

(a) ESHMBRARPHIENABIE

15 :
2023 2022
20234 2022%F
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETRT ARBTT

PRC Corporate Income Tax FEIEMER
At January 1 M A1H 19,400 87,155
Charged/(credited) to profit REZEBR (Gt AEBR)

or loss (note 6) (Hff5E6) 40,764 (8,445)
Payments during the year FREN (12,946) (59,310)
At December 31 M12H831H 47,218 19,400
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B I BRRMEE

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (Z#B1GUN REFT » BrZ B H5))

20 INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED 20 SHHABRKRARPIIRFH
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION (%&)
(continued)
(b) Deferred tax assets and liabilities recognised: (b) EEDREBEHESEERAR :
The components of deferred tax assets recognised REGI BRI REZN
in the consolidated statements of financial position EERIBE EMNHRI 2
and the movements during the year are as follows: URFERSBIERMOT :
Other
Changes deductible
in the Contract Credit loss temporary
fair value liabilities allowance differences Total
Deferred tax Hib a8
arising from: EERELR ATEES AR EEBEEE | IRNEE st

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETE  ARMTRE  ARBTR  ARETR  ARETR

At January 1, 2022 R202251A18 (1,012) 99,420 = 8,988 107,396

(Charged)/creditedto  (FABZEHIRR) /3T A
profit or loss (note 6(@) 1B (HizF6(a)) 1,356 (12,848) - (17,829) (29,321)

At December 31,2022  M2022F12A31A K

and January 12023 2023%1RA1H 344 86,572 - (8,841) 78,075
Credited to profit or SRS (KE6(a)

loss (note 6(a)) 342 16,826 136 7,438 24,742
At December 31, 2023 R2023F 125318 686 103,398 136 (1,403) 102,817
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(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (Z{F8I9 U R#FIT -+ b5 BHai8H50)

20 INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED 20 SHEABRRAFRPIIPFTIES

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION (#8)
(continued)
(b) Deferred tax assets and liabilities recognised: (b) EEDREBEHESEERAR :
(continued) (#&)

2023 2022

20234 20224

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBFT ARBTT

Net deferred tax assets recognised REGHEIIEAR T RIEZH

in the consolidated statements EERIBEEFE

of financial position 102,817 78,075
Net deferred tax liabilities RE BRI R B

recognised in the consolidated EESIEEEFE

statements of financial position - -
At the end of year RER 102,817 78,075
The Group has not recognised deferred tax 72022F % 2023512 A 31
assets in respect of cumulative tax losses of B AEBARZFTHE
RMB84,139,623 and RMB137,548,370 as at E51E A FE#84,139,623 7T
December 31, 2022 and 2023, as it is not probable ® AR¥137,548,370 0FE
that future taxable profits against which the losses RELERBEE  FEA
can be utilised will be available in the relevant tax EEHA  EEBEBKR

jurisdiction before they expire.
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20 INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
(continued)

(b)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities recognised:
(continued)

At December 31, 2023, temporary differences
relating to the undistributed profits of subsidiaries
in Mainland China amounted to RMB796,712,992
(2022: RMB465,523,035). Deferred tax liabilities
have not been recognised in respect of the tax
that would be payable on the distribution of these
retained profits as the Company controls the
dividend policy of these subsidiaries and it has
been determined that it is probable that these
profits will not be distributed in the foreseeable
future.

21 CAPITAL AND RESERVES

(a)

Share capital

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman
Islands in May 2021 with an authorised share capital
of HK$20,000 divided into 2,000,000,000 shares of a
nominal or par value of HK$0.00001 each.

On July 20, 2021, 81,230 shares were allotted and
issued to shareholders of the Company with par value of
HK$0.00001 each.

Upon completion of the IPO, the Company issued
4,999 shares for each share and issued 59,937,000
new ordinary shares at par value of HK$0.00001 each
for cash consideration of HK$17.00 each, and raised
gross proceeds of approximately RMB904,187,000. The
share issuance costs paid and payable mainly include
underwriting commissions, lawyers’ fees, reporting
accountants’ fee and other related costs, which were
incremental costs directly attributable to the issuance
of the new shares and were treated as a deduction
against the share premium arising from the issuance.
The respective share capital amount was approximately
RMB4,000 and share premium arising from the issuance
was approximately RMB853,572,000, net of the share
issuance costs.

20 SHMBRARPEIFTEH

(%)

(b)

ERPEEBREERERS :

(%)

MA2023%F12H31H K
B A b B S B A R 2 1
KD TREF TS R 2 b
=RAAREET96,712,992
T (2022%F : AR¥
465,523,0357T) ° R
ANAREHZERB AR Z
BREBE  FEREHLEA
ERENARRRITELED
KZERA - IR D
TKZERE BT B R
HERELEHIESE -

21 EXRNGE

(a)

1.

ARDFR2021F5 A RHERE
ML EERR A £20,0007E
7T » 9 /2,000,000,000 8% =R HE
{E0.00001 /&8 TTRIARAD °

202157 H20H @ 81,2301 &=
JREI{E0.00001 78 7T 49 IR 19 B iR
BRBITTFARATRR o

REXAHBEZTRE A4
AABRKRMEITL999R K
3 WAFIR17.008 TR €
K18 2$1759,937,000 R ERME
fE0.00001 B T Z B -
EEMMBREBEBLABENARY
904,187,0007T ° EfF REFH
ROBTREATECTEBHEME
® - EHE - BRFEMES

B HAEBRTHREEEM
I A - RIEBBITEEN
B0 BRI © HBRAR 1D 25 1T
BA%  HEREASENAAR
#4,0007T  BITEENRMDE
BB ARYS53,572,0007T °
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21 CAPITAL AND RESERVES (continued)

21 HXRf#E(E)

(b) Reserves

268

Silver Runner Limited was incorporated in the
BVI with limited liability and wholly-owned by
the Company’s ultimate owners (“RSU Holding
Entity”), holding ordinary shares for and on behalf
of employees under the Pre-IPO RSU Scheme
which was adopted on June 1, 2021.

As the Company has power to govern the relevant
activities of Pre-IPO RSU Scheme and can derive
benefits from the contributions of the eligible
employees who are awarded with the shares
under the Pre-IPO RSU Scheme. Therefore, the
ordinary shares of 5,686 issued to RSU Holding
Entity, which adjusted to 28,430,000 Shares upon
completion of the IPO was presented as treasury
shares. These treasury shares represent the
shares held by employee share trust controlled by
the Company for the Pre-IPO RSU Scheme.

The capital reserve mainly comprises the following:

- the portion of the grant date fair value of
restricted share units (“RSUs”) granted
to employees that has been recognised
in accordance with the accounting policy
adopted for share-based payments in note
1(n)(ii); and

- the share premium arising from the issuance
as set out in note 21(a).
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21 CAPITAL AND RESERVES (continued)

Reserves (continued)

The exchange reserve comprises all foreign
exchange differences arising from the translation
of the financial statements of foreign operations.
The reserve is dealt with in accordance with the
accounting policies set out in note 1(q).

Statutory reserve is established in accordance
with the relevant PRC rules and regulations and
the articles of association of the companies
comprising the Group which are incorporated in
the PRC.

In accordance with the PRC Company Law,
certain subsidiaries of the Group which are
domestic enterprises are required to allocate
10% of their profit after taxation, as determined
in accordance with the relevant PRC accounting
standards, to their respective statutory reserves
until the reserves reach 50% of their respective
registered capital. For the entity concerned,
statutory reserves is non-distributable other
than in liquidation and can be used to make
good previous years’ losses, if any, and may be
converted into capital in proportion to the existing
equity interests of investors, provided that the
balance of the reserve after such conversion is not
less than 25% of the entity’s registered capital.

21 EXRfHEE (E)
(b) Mkt ()

5 iERmEREEN
ERMBHRMEENFT
BELEZMH - ZHBERE
MYEE1(q) TEE ST BUR R
Ho

EERBILREREBETE
#5 B R 3R A BA e A< S= 8 7R
TRHPEFEMALADF
HARERMAIRY -

BREFZEARZANE QA
E o AKEETHELR
(ARERE) BARIERKR
BIEAA10% (ARIBEAEE
TEEFEAEE)EH
BEEWNEAEME  EEMH
BEIHZEANEMER
50% - FLEARAERMS -
FEMEBBIITDIK GFE
B RR M) K ] AR SRR 1
FEBB(WME) » LAR
REERBRELHIER
RER  HEBRERRHES
BRABIRERIMER
25% °
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21

270

CAPITAL AND RESERVES (continued)
(c) Dividends

On March 26, 2024, the Board of directors
proposed the payment of a final dividend of
HK$0.22 per share, amounting to approximately
HK$102.5 million, for the year ended December
31, 2023. The proposed final divided is subject to
the approval by shareholders of the Company at
the forthcoming annual general meeting. The final
dividend proposed after the end of the Reporting
Period has not been recognised as a liability at the
end of the Reporting Period.

21 HXRf#E(E)

(c)

Final dividend in respect of the REEHRBHER IR

iz 8

2024%F3H26H  EEg
ERIREEE2023F12 5
STHIEFENREKRES
f%0.225% 7T wﬁﬁﬁﬁ’]j‘%
1025EF£5%75° gl
%z,s%«zmwxaimn
BRITWERBFARAE L
ok - EHBEZRRS
BEAERESHRABRA

=L
2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBFT ARBETT

previous financial year, FESBEERBRE

approved and paid during BER505E1

the year, of HK50 cents (20224 : &)

per share (2022: Nil) 214,861 -
(d) Capital management (d) BEXERE

The Group’s primary objectives when managing capital
are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern, so that it can continue to provide returns
for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders,
by pricing products and services commensurately with
the level of risk and by securing access to finance at
a reasonable cost. Neither the Company nor any of its
subsidiaries are subject to externally imposed capital
requirements.
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22 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Exposure to credit risk, liquidity risk, interest rate risk, foreign
exchange risk and price risk arises in the normal course of the
Group’s business. The Group’s exposure to these risks and
the financial risk management policies and practice used by
the Group to manage these risks are described below.

(a)

(b)

Credit risk

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will
default on its contractual obligations resulting in a
financial loss to the Group. The Group did not have
trade receivables. The counterparties of the Group’s
other receivables are mainly the Group’s related parties,
management makes periodic assessments on the
recoverability of other receivables based on historical
settlement records and past experience to accrue
impairment loss (see note 15(iii)). The exposure to credit
risk arising from cash and cash equivalents is limited
because the counterparties are banks and financial
institutions with a low credit risk.

The Group does not provide any guarantees which
would expose the Group to credit risk.

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will not be able
to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. The
Group’s approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as
far as possible, that it will have sufficient cash to meet
its liabilities when they are due, under both normal and
stressed conditions, without incurring unacceptable
losses or risking damage to the Group’s reputation.

The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor current and
expected liquidity requirements, and to ensure that it
maintains sufficient reserves of cash to meet its liquidity
requirements in the short and longer term.

The following tables show the remaining contractual
maturities at the end of 2022 and 2023 of the Group’s
financial liabilities, which are based on contractual
undiscounted cash flows (including interest payments
computed using contractual rates or, if floating, based
on rates current at the end of the Reporting Period) and
the earliest date the Group can be required to pay.

22 HAEEMEERESRT AN
AFE

HHNEERR R

PEREER - FIRE

B~ SNE R K B E RN A KB —
REBBREPHR - AEEHEHERZSE
kA KB EEZE R TR
PEEBRREREAIWT -

(a)

(b)

2023%F 3 NAEMEERERAE

ELEELLT
EERBREHFHIRBITEEYN
ERERAEERZTHKEL
HIRERR - AREE B E S B
15 o REBEHMBRRIENEF
FEERBAREEMNERS B8
BREERLAECHERBEILR
9 L 4th & U 50 IE Y BT U B AT
EHFEE U ERESE (R
MIEE15(iii) - AHHRERES
LEYFEEEERBRER K
AHFHABREREERKRNRE
TRERMEE -

AEEHERESEAKEER
FERRIEFER -

A ED B

RBMERBREAEEE T REET
HIBMPMBEEINRER - AEH
EERBMUNLH - RRTER
HREEEERZBERLTHER
RRE UERIHEE mF

SELBEBRARSIBAEEE
BB

FEBNBREEMERRER
EHRBDESER  LREHEE
BrEREMHE  URERES
RBEEFER °
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B EAEESREENEYN
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22 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 22 EiEREERESETER

VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS A2FE(E)
(continued)
(b) Liquidity risk (continued) (b) FEErMEERE (&)

As at December 31, 2023
2023%12A31H

Contractual undiscounted cash flow
SHAMBRERE
Within ~ Morethan ~ More than
1 year 1yearbut  2years but

oron less than lessthan ~ More than Carrying
demand 2 years 5years 5years Total amount
15 ailE a2

REX  EOR2E  BORSE 5ELLL @t fREE

RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
AREFR  ARETRT ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR

Accrued expensesand  FEFTE R EAt

other current liabilitles ~ REIE(E 168,584 - - - 168,584 168,584
Lease liabilities REEE 5,94 34 - - 5,975 5,907
174,525 34 - - 174,559 174,491

As at December 31, 2022
12022F12H31R

Contractual undiscounted cash flow
BHABBRESTE

Within More than More than
1 year 1yearbut 2 years but

oron less than less than More than Carrying
demand 2 years 5 years 5 years Total amount
1R BB1EF B@2F

FEX BOME  BORSE SELLE At REE

RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARBTR ARBTR ARETR AR®TR ARETR ARETR

Accrued expensesand [T ERR HA

other current liabilities ~ FREIE(E 188,669 - - - 188,669 188,669
Lease liabilities REEE 39,279 9,777 34 = 49,090 48,520
207,948 9,777 34 = 237,759 237,189
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22 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(continued)

(c)

(d)

Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future
cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate
because of changes in market interest rates. The interest
risk arising from financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss is not significant due to the short-term
maturity of these financial instruments. Thus, the Group
is not exposed to significant interest rate risk during the
years of 2022 and 2023.

Foreign exchange risk

The Group is exposed to currency risk primarily through
sales and purchases which give rise to receivables,
payables and cash balances that are denominated in a
foreign currency, i.e. a currency other than the functional
currency of the operations to which the transactions
relate. The currencies giving rise to this risk are primarily
Hong Kong dollars and United States dollars. The Group
manages this risk as follows:

22 HAEEMEERESRT AN

AFECGE

(c)

(d)

2= JE Pz
FZEpESm T EAFES R
R\ REARE TSR EEE
BERER - RAFEFERH
B ABRNEREEMEL
FZRABAK  LIRRZES
T AR AERE - Hitt » K&
E742022 F K 2023 & It FE H iR
BAFZERE o

SIS BE [ B
AEEEHNEEERERRE
HE&MmESE U (R FFr
BREBNDEEEUINE
BETERNEWRIER - BARE
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22 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR

22 HAEEMEERESRT AR

VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AFE (B
(continued)
(d) Foreign exchange risk (continued) (d) SMEERPE (&)

The following table details the Group’s exposure
at the end of the Reporting Period to currency
risk arising from recognized assets or liabilities
denominated in a currency other than the
functional currency of the entity to which they
relate. For presentation purposes, the amounts

TRELAEERHEH
KPR E ER LAAE B B BE Th BE
ERLUIERITENT R
REERREMEENE
WREkE - BMEINmME - B
BEBRUAAREIR I

of the exposure are shown in Chinese Yuan, FEREZE BHWENHAE =R
translated using the spot rate at the year end date. BnE o
2023 2022
20235 20225
United United
Hong Kong States Hong Kong States
Dollars Dollars Dollars Dollars
& ET BT EYH
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR ARETR NS ARBT T
Trade and other B2 RHMERFE
receivables 18,554 11,130 877 36
Cash and cash ReRBEEEY
equivalents 108,322 440 2 434
Financial assets at fair BAFEGERHE
value through TABENEREE
profit or loss 177,106 87,695 - -
Trade and other BaRHMENTE
payables (18,528) (12,421) (3,984) (13,175)
Net exposure to foreign ~ SMNERKRHO 58
exchange risk 285,454 86,844 (3,105) (12,705)
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22 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 22 EiEREERSETER

VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 2AFE (E)
(continued)
(d) Foreign exchange risk (continued) (d) SMEERPE (&)
The following table indicates the instantaneous TRETMMEAEEME
change in the Group’s profit after tax and MEHREAE  HARE
accumulated loss that would arise if foreign ERBEHREEERR
exchange rates to which the Group has significant BRI NERE RN Z A B E
exposure at the end of the Reporting Period had 28 NEBERSEEFR
changed at that date, assuming all other risk R EFHEIB TR LR ED
variables remained constant. BrEeE o
2023 2022
20235 2022
Increase/ Increase/

(decrease) Effect on (decrease) Effect on
in foreign profit after tax in foreign  profit after tax
exchange  and retained exchange  and retained

rates profits rates profits
HRHE HRBR

MEEE  RAREE NEEZR  BARER
E#/(FR) WEMEE LA (THR) BN E

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTRT AT

HKD BT 1% 2,426 1% (26)
(1%) (2,426) 1%) 26

usb ES 1% 738 1% (108)
(1%) (738) (1%) 108
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22 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(continued)

276

(e)

Price risk

The Group is exposed to price changes arising from
equity securities (see note 14).

Price risk the Group facing is mainly the proportionate
fluctuation in the Group’s net profits and equity due to
the price fluctuation of the financial instruments at fair
value through profit or loss.

The sensitivity analysis indicates the instantaneous
change in the Group’s net profit and equity that would
arise assuming that the changes in the stock market
index or other relevant risk variables had occurred at
the end of the Reporting Period and had been applied
to re-measure those financial instruments held by the
Group which expose the Group to price risk at the
end of the Reporting Period. It is also assumed that
the fair values of the Group’s equity securities would
change in accordance with the historical correlation
with the relevant stock market index or the relevant risk
variables, and that all other variables remain constant.

As of December 31, 2022 and 2023, it is estimated
that with all other variables held constant, an increase/
decrease in the fair values of equity securities by 1%
would have increased/decreased the Group’s profit
before tax by RMB7,137,000 and RMB13,225,000,
respectively.
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22 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(continued)

(f) Fair value measurement

The following table presents the fair value of the Group’s
financial instruments measured at the end of each
Reporting Period on a recurring basis, categorised into
the three-level fair value hierarchy as defined in HKFRS
13, Fair value measurement. The level into which a fair
value measurement is classified is determined with
reference to the observability and significance of the
inputs used in the valuation technique as follows:

o Level 1 valuations: Fair value measured using only
Level 1 inputs i.e. unadjusted quoted prices in
active markets for identical assets or liabilities at
the measurement date

° Level 2 valuations: Fair value measured using Level
2 inputs i.e. observable inputs which fail to meet
Level 1, and not using significant unobservable
inputs. Unobservable inputs are inputs for which
market data are not available

o Level 3 valuations: Fair value measured using
significant unobservable inputs

22 HAEEMEERESRT AN

AFECGE

(f)

AT{HEIHE

TREJAEEEH T ERE R
HHPRREEHELEFEND T
B TE=FRL2FEER(EX
REBMBHREEDEIIHRIF
EFB)ETOE - ED D FE
STERBIE - TS REERMA
R AENTBEEERERME
EMT :

.« E-RIEE: EEAE-
FWAE (DEREERE
R B AMEERED S
LR AEBRRE) SR
AT

e E_HMHE:FERE=H
AE (REFEE R
KA ER B8 A B 0 A
AERF AR AE)
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AEARZ TS EHENS
AE
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22 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 22 EiEREERESETER
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AFE(E)
(continued)

() Fair value measurement (continued) ( AFEEGE)

As at December 31, 2023
2023%12A31H

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
E— ==tk 41} E=8
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETT ARETRT ARETT

Assets &aE
Funds 2 456,212 230,564 -
Listed equity securities EmRAES 185,226 201,386 -
Bonds &% 138,175 - -
Asset management plan EEEEE - 105,858 -
ABS EEENES - 5,101 -
Wealth management products IEBIE @ - 10 -
Total St 779,613 542,919 -

Liability Bff

Financial liabilities measured ~ #ZAFEFEH
at fair value through HE g ABm
profit or loss HEmas - 19,545 -
Total st - 19,545 -
As at December 31, 2022
M2022%F12H31H

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
F—& FR E=4,
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AREET T ARET T ARET T

Assets &E
Asset management plan EEEEE = 201,804 =
Listed equity securities FRRAES 89,245 - -
Wealth management products IEBE @ - 422,655 -
Total st 89,245 624,459 -
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22 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(continued)

22 HAEEMEERESRT AN
AFE (E)

(f) Fair value measurement (continued)

During the years of 2022 and 2023, there were no

(f)

AFEHNE ()

2022 F K 20235 » E—4REd

transfers between Level 1 and Level 2, or transfers into FZR o EMEET  EEA
or out of Level 3. HEHE=4 o

The fair value of funds, asset management plan,
listed equity securities, ABS and wealth management
products in level 2 is determined by using the net asset
value or quoted prices as at the reporting date. The
underlying investments include listed equity securities
and other fixed income investments, all of which have
readily determinable fair values and are measured at fair
value.

BoREE  EEEHETE - £
mRAES EEEARSZRE
MEMNDFEEARE B BN
BEEFEIREET - HBRE
BELETRAESRHMEE R
BmIRE - HR 2R SZREE
MR FELRDFETE -

23 KiE

WEAFEEFEREPEHBREOR
2023512 A 31 H i KRBT HEE

23 COMMITMENTS

Commitments outstanding as at December 31, 2023 not
provided for in the annual financial Report

At At

December 31, December 31,

2023 2022

20234 20224

12A31H 12A31H

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETT AREET T

Contracted for acquisition of subsidiaries EENENE A 109,868 —
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23

280

COMMITMENTS (continued)

On January 3, 2023, the Company entered into an equity
transfer agreement with Zenitera Co., Ltd. (the “Vendor”)
and Shanghai Woruiou Information Technology Co., Ltd.
(the “Target Company”, together with its subsidiaries,
the “Target Group”), pursuant to which the Company has
agreed to conditionally acquire, and the Vendor has agreed
to conditionally sell, the entire equity interest of the Target
Company. Shanghai Yunwan Fund Distribution Co., Ltd., a
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Target Company, possesses
a fund distribution license issued by the China Securities
Regulatory Commission (the “CSRC”) in the PRC. The total
consideration of the Proposed Acquisition is RMB135 million.
As at December 31, 2023, the consideration prepaid by the
Group for acquisition is RMB40,500,000. The transaction was
cancelled on March 2024.

On December 22, 2023, JF (Shanghai) Information
Technology Co., Ltd (“JF Information”), an indirect wholly
owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into the Exclusive
Option Transfer Agreement to acquire the entire ownership
in Shanghai Beixun Industrial Co., Ltd (“Shanghai Beixun”).
The total Consideration payable by Jifu for the Acquisition
is RMB38,420,000. As at December 31, 2023, the first
instalment of Consideration was RMB23,052,000, which has
been paid by Jifu.
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EERABAEFTEFETEESEEE
BZEg (BRI PEZES])EEN
HeHERR ZRWEBNEARES
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(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (Z#B1GUN REFT » BrZ B H5))

24 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY 24 EXFBFHRXS
TRANSACTIONS
(@) Name and relationship with related parties (a) FAREAH BEREHZER
During the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2023, B E2022F K 2023F12H31H
the Group entered into related party transactions with: LEE REBBENTE G

BHMLIRS :

Name of the entities Relationship
HiEEH £21E2
Shanghai Qi Jian Information Technology Co., Ltd. Company Controlled by the Ultimate Owners

(“Qijian”) (formerly known as Sina Shi Jin (Shanghai)
Information Technology Co., Ltd.)

PERARBEERMERAR ((HMED (AIBITREE HERAEBAZEFNATF
(BB EEHEMBRARE)

Shanghai Yin Sai Computer Technology Co., Ltd. Company Controlled by the Ultimate Owners
(“Yinsai”) (formerly known as Shanghai Yin Tian Xia
Technology Co., Ltd.)

EEREBEFTERBRBRAT ([RE HRREE AZFINAF
(A8 LB A T ERRMARAE)

Yintech Enterprise (HK) Co., Ltd. (“Enterprise (HK)”) Company Controlled by the Ultimate Owners
(formerly known as Win Yin (HK) Gold Investment Co.,
Ltd.)

Yintech Enterprise (HK) Co., Ltd. ([ Enterprise (HK) ) HRAER AZESIH AT
(BTFWin Yin (HK) Gold Investment Co., Ltd.)

Yintech Investment Holdings Limited (“Yintech Company Controlled by the Ultimate Owners
Investment Holding”)
RAHREZERARA A ([RAHREZER 1) HREAER AZGNAT

Shanghai Yintech Investment Group Co., Ltd (“Yintech ~ Company Controlled by the Ultimate Owners
Investment”)

LERNMARKRESERRLF ((HEMAIR D) HEKER AZFNLF
Shanghai Lugian Technology Co., Ltd. (“Lugian”) Company Controlled by the Ultimate Owners
EERTRRAERAE (M) HRREE AZFINAF
Shanghai Yi Shi Information Technology Co., Ltd. Company Controlled by the Ultimate Owners
J:ggg;f)%'%\ﬂﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ (TE£2)) HEKER AZSNLF
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(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (Z{F8I9 U R#FIT -+ b5 BHai8H50)

24 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(a)

282

Name and relationship with related parties
(continued)

Name of the entities

HiEEHE

Shanghai Chun Da Asset Management Co., Ltd.
(“Chunda”)
ez EEERARAR ([F3E )

Shanghai Hong Xi Private Equity Management Co., Ltd.
(“Hongxi”) (formerly known as Guangdong Hong Feng
Asset Management Co., Ltd.)

PRABIEESEEER AT ([418 ] -
FIBERAMEEEEERAF)

Shanghai Xie Yu Properties Co., Ltd. (“Xieyu”)
FEREMREEBRA R ([EEIH )

Shanghai Gui Di Network Technology Co., Ltd.
(“Guidi”)
LisEAERRERAT ([ )

Shanghai Rong Qi Information Technology Service
Co., Ltd. (“Ronggqi”)
EBRBEEERMREERAR (A&

Forthright Securities Co., Ltd. (“Forthright Securities”)
Forthright Securities Co., Ltd.([ Forthright Securities |)

Forthright Management Services Co., Ltd.
(“Forthright Management Services”)

Forthright Management Services Co., Ltd.
([ Forthright Management Services J)

Shanghai Beixun Industrial Co., Ltd
(“Shanghai Beixun”)
EEEHEXFRAR ([ LEHEB )

JF Wealth Holdings Ltd Annual Report 2023

24 EXEEEHRS (E)

A B R H 2 R

(%)

(a)
Relationship
FAf%
Company Controlled by the Ultimate Owners
HRAEAAZFINATE
Company Controlled by the Ultimate Owners

A AR I A

Company Controlled by the Ultimate Owners

HRAERAZSINATE

Company Controlled by the Ultimate Owners

HEXKEBAZFNLF

Company Controlled by the Ultimate Owners

A AR A

Company Controlled by the Ultimate Owners
HREER AZFINATE

Company Controlled by the Ultimate Owners

HERARERAZEFN AT

Company Controlled by the Ultimate Owners

HRAEBAAZFINATE
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B B R T

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (Z#B1UN REFR + b5 B85,

24 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(b)

(c)

24 EXEABHRS (E)

Key management personnel remuneration

Remuneration for key management personnel of the

Group during the year is as follows:

(b) EEEEASHM

AEERFANTEEEASH
BT -

2023 2022

2023 20224

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETT ARET T

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind &% ~ R EYEF 3,204 4,643
Discretionary bonuses EYETEAL 1,404 1,600
Retirement scheme contributions ERETEIHR 320 323
Share-based payment LR 10 BEBEIRK 96,694 =
Key management personnel remuneration EZEEIE A & M 101,622 6,566

The significant related party transactions are

summarised as follows:

Services provided by related parties
— Rongaqi

- Yinsai

— Yishi

- Yintech Investment

- Lugian

Gain on software copyright transfer
- Yinsai

— Guidi

- Yishi

— Qijian

— Chunda

BRI 5 R AR RS
~ &8

~RE

-89
—BRAIR
—BF

R R
—RE
— it
—-EZ
—-MR
—fE

(c) EXEBAZSBMAINT :

2023
20234
RMB’000
ARETT

2022
20224
RMB’000
ARET T

5,486 914
2,516 13,618
- 231
- 3,031
- 573

- 20,152
- 1,798
- 8,159
- 6,720
- 2,824

20235 A HMEBRERAT
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(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (Z{F8I9 U R#FIT -+ b5 BHai8H50)

24 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY 24 EXEBEARS ()
TRANSACTIONS (continued)
(c) The significant related party transactions are (c) EXFBtAHRZSEARIT -
summarised as follows: (continued) (#&)
2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETRT ARBT T

Photographic services income BERARFEWA
— Chunda —4fiE - 1,117
Purchase of property, REYXE BERRE

plant and equipment
- Yintech Investment —RBIRIR - 779
— Yinsai —iRE - 598
Purchase of intangible assets REELEE
— Yinsai —RE - 1,400
Expenses paid by related parties FAEt A 2T ER
- Yintech Investment Holding —IRBHREZR 4,408 6,709
— Enterprise (HK) — Enterprise (HK) - 1,583
— Forthright Securities — Forthright Securities 3,068 -
— Forthright Management — Forthright Management

Services Services 149 -
Office lease from Xieyu BIRFAERAE
- Depreciation charges during the year - FRIFEEH 57,851 37,721
— Interest expenses during the year - FRAEHEX 1,589 2,330
On December 22, 2023, Jifu, an indirect wholly owned MN2023E 128228 » AAFEES
subsidiary of the Company, entered into the Exclusive BEWEATBEI I BRE R EE
Option Transfer Agreement to acquire the entire W IKE FEEENESREe
ownership in Shanghai Beixun. The total Consideration o eSS EENNARES
payable by Jifu for the Acquisition is RMB38,420,000. ARH¥38 420,0007T ° }A2023F12 8
As at December 31, 2023, the first instalment of 310 BEDZNE—HRABARE
Consideration was RMB23,052,000, which has been 23,052,000 °
paid by Jifu.
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TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(d)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B I BRRMEE

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (Z#B1GUN REFT » BrZ B H5))

24 EXEABHRS (E)

The balances of transactions with related (d) EdRAEEARI3E 5 E6R -
parties:
2023 2022
20235 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
Trade B35 AREBTR ARBT T
Prepayments and other receivables  FE{3R1E & H th FEU3RIE
- Xieyu — BRI 17,974 10,886
- Yinsai —RE 17,244 20,152
— Ronggqi — & 457 5,943
Accrued expenses and FEstE A Rt
other current liabilities RENEE
- Yinsai —RE 2,516 -
- Yintech Investment Holding —IRBHEEIZRR - 41
— Enterprise (HK) — Enterprise (HK) - 470
Right-of-use assets ERESE
— Xieyu — B2 4,707 43,939
Lease liabilities HEARE
- Xieyu — BRI 4,758 46,303
Non-trade FES
Accrued expenses and fEstERREMTEGRE
other current liabilities
— Enterprise (HK) — Enterprise (HK) - 13,158
- Yintech Investment Holding —IRBHRE R - 6,985

The above non-trade balances were unsecured, interest-

free and repayable on demand.

LB S EHAEER 28

RIEEREE -

202358 AFMEBRERAT
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(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (Z{F8I9 U R#FIT -+ b5 BHai8H50)

25 COMPANY-LEVEL STATEMENT OF 25 AS]EEMMEIRRET
FINANCIAL POSITION

December 31, December 31,

2023 2022
20234 20224

12H31H 12A31H

Note RMB’000 RMB’000

BfRE ARETT ARBTT

Current assets MENEE
Financial assets at fair value BRATVEFEEHEZE

through profit or loss STABENEMERE 14 515,621 -
Prepayments and other receivables  FB{SFIE R E A FEUREIE 15 7,385 244
Cash and cash equivalents RERBEEEY 16 108,284 1
Current liability i )=
Accrued expenses and other EstEAREMRBEE

current liabilities 18 3,257 19,196
NETASSETS/(LIABILITIES) =~ #AZ(Af)¥& 628033 (18,951)
CAPITAL AND RESERVES IR A Rt
Share capital &N 21(a) 4 e
Reserves i 21(b) 628,029 (18,951)
TOTAL EQUITY/(DEFICIT) i (Ed) 488 628,033 (18,951)
* The balance represents an amount less than RMB1,000. * BRABRIEL R ARK1,000CH &

o

Approved and authorized for issue by the board of directors HEZESMN2024F3 26 A#LENIR
on March 26, 2024. FEEE A o

P2l JF Wealth Holdings Ltd Annual Report 2023



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B I BRRMEE

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (Z#B1GUN REFT » BrZ B H5))

26 POSSIBLE IMPACT OF AMENDMENTS, 26 EEM{EEE2023F12H 31
NEW STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS B 1k £ B s R A B I8ET
ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE FOR HTAH| R ER T EESs e
THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2023
Up to the date of issue of these financial statements, the BEEAUKRETIZBE > BB
HKICPA has issued a number of new or amended standards, NEEMZIEEE2023F 12831 H1E
which are not yet effective for the year ended December 31, F [ e 2R A 3K B 3 MR A R B S S R R R
2023 and which have not been adopted in these financial MBI RAMEFT R - ZERREE
statements. These developments include the following which T s LB AT REAEREE ©

may be relevant to the Group.

Effective for accounting periods
beginning on or after

RUUT HRjZ 2 & FF1EHY
BRI

Amendments to HKAS 1, Presentation of financial statements: January 1, 2024
Classification of liabilities as current
or non-current (“2020 amendments”)

BRETHERESE (IBRTR) 2581 5#H#% - BESHES 2024%1A1H
JE B2t HE B ([ 2020 F 1E5T A ))

Amendments to HKAS 1, Presentation of financial statements: January 1, 2024
Non-current liabilities with covenants (2022 amendments”)
BEEHERIE R (IBRTAR) 2251 B - WERHS 2024%1H1H
FHREEE ([2022F155T 7))
Amendments to HKFRS 16, January 1, 2024
Leases: Lease liability in a sale and leaseback
BERUBIRELRE165% BFTAR) » HE - EAHOINHERR 2024%1H1H
Amendments to HKAS 7, Statement of cash flows and HKFRS 7, January 1, 2024
Financial Instruments: Disclosures: Supplier finance arrangements
EBGEAETE (B5]R) B2 nEXREBUKEE 2024%1H1H
ERIFE7H 2T A @ HE REFHEZH
Amendments to HKAS 21, The effects of changes in foreign January 1, 2025
exchange rates: Lack of exchangeability
BEBGERE215E (BRIR) - EXZHHZE RS AR 2025%F1H1H
The Group is in the process of making an assessment of what REBEEFEZEERERRIDERIRE
the impact of these developments is expected to be in the WIEHISE - eSS NEwRD - BRINEE
period of initial application. So far it has concluded that the BT AR H &I B RRIEKEKR
adoption of them is unlikely to have a significant impact on o

the consolidated financial statements.
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27

288

SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

On March 8, 2024, JF Information, an indirect wholly owned
subsidiary of the Company, entered into the Equity Transfer
Agreement with Qijian to acquire the entire ownership
in Beijing Guangfa Insurance Brokerage Co., Ltd. The
total Consideration payable by Jifu for the Acquisition is
RMB52,000,000.

On January 3, 2023, the Company entered into an equity
transfer agreement to conditionally acquire the entire equity
interest of Shanghai Woruiou Information Technology Co.,
Ltd. whose wholly-owned subsidiary possesses a fund
distribution license issued by the China Securities Regulatory
Commission in the PRC (the “Proposed Acquisition”). On
March 2024, the Proposed Acquisition has been terminated.

JF Wealth Holdings Ltd Annual Report 2023
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BB EIR

M2024%3H8H » AR AEEEZENK
B amE B R 5] T IREEE
Wik - Ut RERRBEL TR
AHEIRAE o BEHUBSIEESH
#REAARES52,000,0007T °

M2023%F1 A3 H » AR TE R REE
EiRE o UBRMWE DERARBER
B ERABIMNEIRE  H2EMEB
AREFEFEHEERSFEBEEEZE
EREENESHERBR ((ERWES
15 |) ° R2024F3 A - BEWEBEIED
RIE o



“Al”
[AlL

“AlIGC”
[AIGC

“Annual Report”

[ FEHRS

“App(s)”
[APP ]

“Articles” or
“Articles of Association”

[ ENEAE R s U

“Asset Management Agreements”

[EEEERE]

“Asset Management Plan”

[EEEEE

“associate(s)”

R YN

Definition

R

the forthcoming annual general meeting for the year ended December
31, 2023 of the Company
AARBE2023F12 A1 B ELFENEERREFRE

artificial intelligence

ALTEg

Al generated content

ATEEERAR

the annual report of the Company for the year ended December 31,
2023 as published on April 26, 2024
RAFN2024F4 26 AR HNBZ2023F12A31 B LFENFER

H
=

application software designed to run on PC, smartphone and other
mobile devices

RETHEPC ~ B FHREMBERE LBITHRARMA

the articles of association of the Company, conditionally adopted on
February 23, 2023 with effect from the Listing Date, and as amended
from time to time

M2023F2 B23 B AMKRMRAKR A LH ABAERA L TABERMAA -

EREHER

the Jinxin Jinfu Dingzeng No. 1 single asset management plan
management agreement entered into between the Group, Jinxin
Futures Co., Ltd. and China Merchants Securities Co. Ltd. on April
24, 2023, pursuant to which the Group agreed to participate in the
Asset Management Plan operated by Jinxin Futures Co., Ltd. and
a supplemental agreement entered into between the Group, Jinxin
Futures Co., Ltd. and China Merchants Securities Co. Ltd. on May 19,
20283, pursuant to which each of the parties thereto agreed to amend
the term of the asset management agreement entered in on April 24,
2023 in relation to investment amount

REE - SEHEERQAFEBHESROERAAN2023F4 8248
BIINECELEER1RE—SEBETAEEEENSE Bt &K%
ERS2HEHSEHNEARVAEENEEEETE  UREAER - £F
HEBRAREBEES RO ERLBN2023F5 A 19 BT LA T i
Fo Bt ELEEBITINR2023F4 24 BEFTNEEERGET SR
RE SRR

the Jinxin Jinfu Dingzeng No. 1 single asset management plan
EEEEEH1RE-—EETETS

has the meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules

BEREWRAIFETREE

20235 K MEBRERAT



Definition

R

“Audit Committee”

[EREEE]

“Award(s)”
[ 528 |

“Board” or “Board of Directors’

=

“certified lecturers”

E

“CG Code”

[bsEa<FAl

“Company”, “our Company”,
“the Company” or
“JF Wealth”

[EAYNCIRE
[MEWE]

“connected person(s)”

[BAEAL

“connected transaction”

[BERS ]

“controlling shareholder(s)

R R

“Corresponding Period”

eI

“customers” or “paying users”

[ZEFIHNERF]

“Director(s)”

[E%]

the audit committee of the Board

E=SENRZEES

award of restricted share units under the Pre-IPO RSU Scheme
RIBEXARZBEAZREIRMOENFTEIR FHZRHIIR D ENIEE

the board of Directors

BExg

employees of the Group who provide lecturing services under the
Group’s online high-end investor education services and financial
information software services. The securities investment advisor
qualification is required for all certified lecturers in the Group.
Employees with the securities investment advisor qualification can
concurrently take on the role as certified lecturers as well as one-on-
one consultants
REEENERSHRBBER S REERGRFRUBRBBHAE
EEE - AEERFERRBMIAEFESRERBELR - ABES
REBEEENREEIREAFBMNE —H—FE”H

the Corporate Governance Code and Corporate Governance Report
EEERTAIRDEERRE

JF Wealth Holdings Ltd, an exempted company incorporated in the
Cayman Islands with limited liability on May 3, 2021, with its Shares
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange on the Listing Date
under the stock code 9636

NAMEZRERLT - R2021F5A3AEHERH ST M WEE
REMDT - ERHN L BEEBRFER LD (R - 9636)

has the meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules

B EmARAIFRETRHEE

has the meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules
BE LR AT HEE

has the meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules

BEEEWmRAIFRETRRE

the year ended December 31, 2022
B E2022512A31BLEEFE

individuals that purchase our offerings during a specific period

RS EHIREEERMERMNRBAEA

the director(s) of our Company

RARES

P[0l JF Wealth Holdings Ltd Annual Report 2023



“Existing Registered
Shareholders”

[RAEEMRR

“Fintech”
[ Fintech ]

“gross billing”

[T &5

“Group”, “our Group”,

“the Group”, “we”,
“US”, or “Our”

S I8
El

“Guangfa Insurance”
[EE R

“Hong Kong” or “HK”
[&E ]

“HKD”
Bi-vll

“HKFRS”
[EBMBREER ]

“HKFRS 16”

[ BRI EREERE 1655

“IPO”
[BRDRMEE]

Definition

R

Mr. CAl Zi, a former Director, who ceased to be a Director on April
22, 2024 and Mr. CHENG Wei, a former director of Shanghai Fudong
Culture Media Co., Ltd., a company incorporated in the PRC on
October 10, 2009, and an indirect wholly owned subsidiary of the
Company, who ceased to be its director on August 8, 2023

RMEZEES FE4E (R2024F4A22 AT HERESR) R DEEHULEE
BRLE (R2009F10 B 10 B EHBEEMR LW AT - BAQ AR E
2 EMBAR)AIESEELEE (R2023F8A8HTHERHES)

financial technology

EEBHR

the total amount of cash received for the sale of product/service in
such period including tax, net of the total amount of refunds for a
specific period

REBRMBERNEEER, REMBRSLE (S SMBRESEHEN
RE#EEE)

the Company and its subsidiaries and, in respect of the period before
the Company became the holding company of its present subsidiaries,
the businesses operated by such subsidiaries or their predecessors (as
the case may be)

ARBREMBARUR (RARARAHREMNBLRANERLAT 2
AINHREM S ) ZEWBARREA B AR (RIFRME) KENFEL

Beijing Guangfa Insurance Brokerage Co., Ltd., a company
incorporated in the PRC with limited liability on November 2, 2009

T HEERRBELHERAT - R2009F11 B2 AEFPBEFEMA AR
]

the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the PRC
FEARATBEEBERITHE

the lawful currency of Hong Kong

BEBEEEY

Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants

BRI ASEHNE B IEREZER

Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standard 16 “Leases”, effective on
January 1, 2019

BERMBRELERE165EHEE] B2019F1 A1 ABEN

the initial public offering of the Shares on the Listing Date
RLEm B ERABEBEERD

20235 K MEBRERAT



Definition

R

“JF Information”

[R5

g

£l

“KOL(s)”

KoL

“Listing Date”

[Em A

“Listing Rules”

[ £ Al

“Main Board”

[EM ]

“mass affluent class’

[MCN |

“MCN channel(s)”

[MCN#EE |

JF (Shanghai) Information Technology Co., Ltd., a company
incorporated in the PRC on July 23, 2021, and an indirect wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company
B (L8 EREMERAT > R2021F7 A23 B EHREIFMELHA
8 AAATNEEEZENE AT

acronym for “key opinion leaders”, the users of an internet product
who are accepted or trusted by other users of the internet product and
can significantly influence their decisions

[BAREREM INRNES BEMAERNEMEAERTHEE

WHEREBEARFEINERRERERE

March 10, 2023, the date on which the Shares are listed and on which
dealings in the Shares are first permitted to take place on the Stock
Exchange

20233 A108 - RO LM ERBROBEXBEREXMEENA
=

the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited, as amended, supplemented or otherwise
modified from time to time

(BRBEXZMERATES LMHRA)  BFREHER] - BRIUHEM
FRBH

the stock exchange (excluding the option market) operated by the
Stock Exchange which is independent from and operates in parallel
with the Growth Enterprise Market of the Stock Exchange

MR FrEENRSRZ M (TREPETS) - BIY N AMTGEMIL L
HI1TELE

individual investors in China with a balance of investible securities
equal to or above RMB300,000 or typically an average annual
household/individual income within RMB500,000
TEAEFURERFEBRBENR SN ARKES00,000 THRE,EA
FHRANBE A ARYS00,000 T ARMBEARES

acronym for “multi-channel network,” is an organization that offers
assistance in areas such as production, content programming,
monetization and audience development to the internet KOLs or
internet celebrity

[ZREAKX INENES  RRAEHRAKOLKBARMELF MEE - B
w2 - SR RBRARE S EIBHB IS

accounts operated by MCNs on various internet platforms including
Kuaishou, Douyin, WeChat and Weibo, etc.
MCNERF - BH1EF - MERMESZEERRAFE LELNERF
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“Model Code”

Mg |

“New Registered Shareholders”
[ et e

“Over-allotment Option”
[EZERL AR #E

iiPCll
[PCJ

“Pre-IPO RSU Scheme”

[BRDFREERNR
PRI RAD E (5t 8

the “PRC” or “China”
or “Mainland China”

[FRE k[ R A

“Personal Information
Protection Law”

[fEAfE B REED ]

“Period” or “Reporting Period
[ZAHR e[ ¥R HA

“Prospectus”

[BRER ]

“RMB”
PN

“SAC”
[P Bl SiHE

“SFO”
[R5 RS RM

Definition

R

the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed
Issuers

(EmBTAESETESXZNRETAD

Mr. YAN Gangxun and Ms. LYU Ya, individuals who are independent
third parties of the Company
BfBEEREELE  BAEAQRABIE=FHNEA

has the meaning as defined in the Prospectus
BEERRERMERNEE

acronym for “personal computer”

[MEAER IR AR

restricted share unit scheme adopted pursuant to a resolution of the
Board dated June 1, 2021
R1520215F6 A1 BNEESREBEREMN Z RSB (0BT 2

the People’s Republic of China excluding, for the purpose of this
announcement, Hong Kong, Macau Special Administrative Region and
Taiwan

FEARREFE > SiAQNEMS - TEESSE  BRBITHERSE
The Personal Information Protection Law of the PRC (F# A RHFE
BAEEFRER))

(RZEARLMEEAGEBREE)

the year ended December 31, 2023
BZE2023F12A31HLEE

the prospectus of the Company dated February 28, 2023
RAFEHR20235F2 A28 HNBRER

the lawful currency of the PRC
HEEES

Securities Association of China

FEIRSEHS

the Securities and Futures Ordinance
(BHEREAEGRAE)
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Definition

R

“Shanghai Beixun”
[ a8 ]
“Shanghai Fudong”
[EEEE]

“Shanghai Jiufangyun’

[EBABE]

“Shanghai Shangjie”
(abi=cE
“Shanghai Yingma”
(abi=3 80
“Shanghai Xieluo”

[ £ ]

Shanghai Beixun Industrial Co., Ltd., a company established in the
PRC on November 28, 2011, and is owned as to 65% and 35% by Mr.
YAN Gangxun and Ms. LYU Ya, respectively

EHBEEEEERATE  R2011FE11 B28BEPERINAT » 25
FR S 46 8f) 2 4 B2 B T 2 + 355 65% F135% I IR 15

Shanghai Fudong Culture Media Co., Ltd., a company established
in the PRC on October 10, 2009, and an indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company

EBEBHULEEBR AT 0 H2009F10 B 10 BEFBEIKZNAF -
AXNTNEEZEWB LR

Shanghai Jiufangyun Intelligent Technology Co., Ltd., (formerly known
as Shanghai Xinhuitong Investment Consulting Co., Ltd., Xiamen
Xinhuitong Investment Consulting Co., Ltd. and Xiamen Bubutong
Mobile Phone Accessories Co., Ltd., a company established in the
PRC on August 19, 1996, and an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Company

EBAFEEEREERAR(AIBLEHMERBREERBRAR -
EfTmHEBREZAERABAREMNTSTEBRDHEERGTERA
a)) » M1996F8 A19REHEIR LMW AR » BARANERZ2EWER

]

Shanghai Shangjie Network Technology Co., Ltd., a company
established in the PRC on April 30, 2021 and an indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company
PEmARKMEERAR » R2021F4 8308 EFERINAT » B
ARBNEEZENE AT

Shanghai Yingma Computer Network Technology Co., Ltd., a
company established in the PRC on October 19, 2018, and an indirect
wholly owned subsidiary of the Company
PERSHERRABREERATE » R20185F10 8198 EF B LH
DA RARARNBEEZERE AT

Shanghai Xieluo Information Technology Co., Ltd., a company
established in the PRC on July 26, 2016, an indirect wholly owned
subsidiary of Yintech Holdings

EEEREERMAERAT - R2016F7B26 AEFBERINATE B
IERHERBE2EHE LR
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“Shanghai Xieyu”

[ EigERIR |

“Share(s)”
[ ]

“Shareholders”

[ 3R ]

“Smartinvest Info”

[NAERBRER]

“Smartinvest Intro’

“Smartinvest Pro”

[N ERIERR

“Stock Exchange”
[ B8 32 P |

“subsidiary(ies)”

[F 2 F

“traffic”
g

“VAT”
[EEH

Definition

R

Shanghai Xieyu Chuanzhang Property Co., Ltd., a company
incorporated in the PRC on September 22, 2015, and an associate of
Mr. CHEN Wenbin

FEBEMREEZERAT  R2015F9 22 B EPBEEMA LD
7] BRI ERERNBEA

ordinary share(s) in the share capital of our Company with a par value
of HKD0.00001 each
RATRASEHIREE0.00001 B THE B

holder(s) of the Share(s)
ROFBAA

hFHBERIBEER, the proprietary App with both mobile and PC versions
through which the Group provides its financial information software
services

NEERBER - FEBEEEWNAPP - EFHIRRPCIR » AEEZEBH
RESHESBGRE

®BEBEZEE, the proprietary mobile App through which the Group
provides its online financial literacy education services

BEEE  FAEEBRENFHRIRAPP  AEBEEBHREHERUBHRE
BR#5

N FERFEENR, our proprietary App with both mobile and PC versions
through which the Group provide services

TAERERER - NEEBEMNAPP » BF#EIRKRPCHR » NEEEBRHE
R

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
BEBBMERZMARLR

has the meaning ascribed thereto in section 15 of the Companies
Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong), as amended,
supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time
BEBFBEHE622F (X ARA)) GERIFER] - BAIUHME X E
B0 BB 1SR BR T AR

in terms of traffic in our market matrix, the flow of audience on various
media platforms

BEMTSEETHRENS  RSERBFENIRRE

Value-added tax
BER

20235 K MEBRERAT



Definition

R

“Yintech Holdings”

[RAHER

“YOY”
[k |

“oy”
%]

Yintech Investment Holdings Limited, an exempted company
established in the Cayman Islands on November 4, 2015 with limited
liability, whose American depositary receipts were previously listed on
the NASDAQ (ticker symbol: YIN) and were delisted from the NASDAQ
on November 18, 2020. It was ultimately controlled by Mr. CHEN
Wenbin, Mr. YAN Ming and Ms. CHEN NINGFENG, all being Directors
and controlling shareholders of the Company, as to 36.14%, 23.72%
and 21.10%, respectively, as at the date of this Annual Report
IRRIREEREIRAT - R2015F 11 B4BEHERERINWERRE
RAF HEFGFAREZAEMITER LT (RERE | YIN) » ER
2020F 11 B 18 HEMMERRT - RAFERE AN » ZLAHRKH
AARESRERBRRBRIWEL - BA%EERCHEN NINGFENGZ £
D RIIEHI36.14% ~ 23.72% K 21.10% I #E

year-on-year
B R =

percent

Bk
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